
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 
 
 

THE EXECUTIVE AGENDA 
 

You can view the 
agenda online by using 
a smart phone camera 
and scanning the code 
below: 

 
 

Date: 
 

Thursday, 1 July 2021 

Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: 
 

The Octagon Lounge, Pavilion Gardens, Buxton 

23 June 2021 
 

PART 1 

1. Apologies for absence  

2. Declarations of Interest  

 i) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests 
ii) Other Interests 

 
 

3. To approve the minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 

4. Climate Change Plan (Part 1) (Pages 9 - 46) 

5. Parks Strategy (Pages 47 - 258) 

6. Community Safety Partnership Review and Refreshed Community Safety Strategy 
(Pages 259 - 302) 

7. Working in Partnership to Deliver Aim 1 of the Corporate Plan (Pages 303 - 330) 

8. Purchase of Additional Stock to the HRA (Pages 331 - 340) 

9. Appointments to Outside Bodies (Pages 341 - 348) 

10. To resolve that the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as defined in 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.  

PART 2 

11. To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting (Pages 349 - 354) 

 (Paragraph 1, 3, 4, 5 - Information relating to any individual.  
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 
person (including the authority holding that information)  
Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 
consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations matter 

 

Public Document Pack



arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and employees of, or 
office holders under the authority.  
Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could 
be maintained in legal proceedings. ) 
 

12. Glossop Town Hall Complex Update (Pages 355 - 368) 

 (Paragraph 3 - Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information) ) 
 

 
MARK TRILLO 
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND MONITORING OFFICER 
 

Membership of The Executive 
Councillor A McKeown (Chair) Councillor D Greenhalgh (Vice-Chair) 
Councillor A Barrow Councillor F Sloman 
Councillor J Todd  

 



 
 

 

 
THE EXECUTIVE 

 
Meeting: Thursday, 1 April 2021 at 6.00 pm - Virtual Meeting 

 
Present: Councillor A McKeown (Chair)  

 
 Councillors A Barrow and J Todd 

 
Councillors Ashton, Collins, Thrane and Young were also in attendance 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillors D Greenhalgh and 
F Sloman 
 

20/116 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
(Agenda Item 2) 
 
Councillor Ashton - other interest - Item 9 - Working with the Voluntary, 
Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sector (Trustee of New Mills 
Volunteer Centre). 
 

20/117 TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 3) 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 25 February 2021 
be approved as a correct record.  
 

20/118 PERFORMANCE FRAMEWORK 2021/2024 
(Agenda Item 4) 
 
The purpose of the report was to provide members with an opportunity to 
scrutinise the draft Performance Framework and associated targets for 
2021/24  The framework was considered by the Corporate Select 
Committee on 29 March 2021.  It was reported that a meeting would take 
place between councillors and officers with view to making future reports to 
committees more succinct. 
 
Options considered: 
 

Members were asked to consider the proposed targets and to suggest 
amendments if they considered that they were necessary. A Performance 
Framework Sub Committee took place on 15 March where it was resolved 
that the Committee supported the broader Framework whilst also 
recommending a review of the content and focus of the quarterly 
performance reports, based on a smaller set of core measures as 
determined by the Committee.    
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the Performance Framework 2021/24 be approved.        
 

 High Peak Borough Council 

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



The Executive 
Thursday, 1 April 2021 

 

 
 

20/119 HIGH PEAK LOCAL PLAN REVIEW 
(Agenda Item 5) 
 
The report notified members of the importance of  keeping the Local Plan up 
to date and  reviewed within 5 years of adoption  to ensure development 
plan policies were relevant and to reflect emerging government planning 
policy guidance and regulations.   The report was considered by the 
Economy and Growth Select Committee on 25 March 2021 which 
suggested that the Working Group consider its terms of reference further. 
 
Options considered: 
 
If the  Council were not to undertake  a review of the Local Plan within 5 years of its 
adoption, it would not be complying with its statutory duty and over time the Local 
Plan would increasingly have less weight in the planning process. It also had the 
potential to lead to the Council being highlighted by Government as failing to have 
an up to date Local Plan. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the requirement for the Council to review the Local Plan at least 

every five years be noted. 
 
2. That the proposed Terms of Reference for a Local Plan Steering Group 

to consider development plan policy evidence and analysis be approved, 
subject to further consideration by the Working Group. 

 
3. That following the Local Plan Steering Group’s consideration of 

development plan policy evidence base and analysis, a further Executive 
Report be prepared setting out conclusions and recommendations for 
updating the Local Plan and the timetable for statutory preparation 
processes. 

 
20/120 NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY FRAMEWORK AND NATIONAL DESIGN 

CODE : CONSULTATION PROPOSALS 
(Agenda Item 6) 
 
The report notified Councillors of the current consultation on revisions to the 
National Planning Policy Framework and the new National Model Design 
Code. A draft response to the consultation was also provided for 
consideration.  The report was considered by the Economy and Growth 
Select Committee on 25 March 2021 following which the Council’s response 
to the consultation had been submitted by the deadline of 27 March 2021, 
taking into account the feedback from councillors. 
 
Options considered: 
 

Option 1 (recommended) – that the Council submits a response to the 
consultation which reflected the draft response outlined in the Appendix to 
the report and others comments deemed appropriate by Councillors. The 
option will enable the Council’s voice to influence national policy.  
 

Page 4



The Executive 
Thursday, 1 April 2021 

 

 
 

Option 2 – that the Council decides not to submit a response. The option 
would not provide the Government with an opportunity to consider the views 
of the Council before finalising the proposals.  
 
RESOLVED: 

 
That the consultation proposals and their possible implications be noted. 
 

20/121 HOUSEHOLD DUTY OF CARE 
(Agenda Item 7) 
 
The report sought to help to prevent unlawful depositing of waste within the 
Borough by agreeing the level of fixed penalty notices that could be issued 
to those individuals that do not take reasonable measures to ensure proper 
disposal of their household waste. The report was considered by the 
Community Select Committee on 30 March 2021. 
 
Options considered: 
 
The Council could keep the fixed penalty amount at the statutory level (£200) with 
no reduction for prompt payment. 
 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the fixed penalty amount for failure to comply with the household 

duty of care be set at £400. 
 

2. That the fixed penalty notice be reduced to £300 if paid in full within 10 
days be agreed. 

 
20/122 PARKS STRATEGY 

(Agenda Item 8) 
 
The Parks Strategy was deferred to a later meeting of the Executive. 
 

20/123 WORKING WITH THE VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND SOCIAL 
ENTERPRISE (VCSE) SECTOR 
(Agenda Item 9) 
 
The report provided an update on High Peak’s VCSE Sector and use of the 
Council’s Community Support Grant funding, and set out the Council’s 
future approach to collaborative working with the Sector. The report was 
considered by the Community Select Committee on 30 March 2021. 
 
Options considered: 
 

None identified. The Council needed to work with its partners and the 
community to address issues such as health inequality, food and fuel 
poverty, mental health and loneliness. 
 
 
 
 
 Page 5



The Executive 
Thursday, 1 April 2021 

 

 
 

RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the Council should formalise its working arrangements with the 

VCSE sector through a compact agreement or a collaborative working 
protocol. 

 
2. That the Council should work with High Peak CVS to jointly deliver an 

annual awards event for the community and voluntary sector. 
 

3. That the Council should produce a plan setting out how it intends to 
collaborate with and support the VCSE sector as a means of delivering 
the Corporate Plan and achieving further efficiencies. 

 
4. That the Council should adopt the principles set out in the report as a 

means of achieving a more strategic approach to funding the VCSE 
Sector. 
 

5. That the funding contribution to New Mills Volunteer Centre should be 
increased in 2021/22 to the same level as Connex and The Bureau (from 
£2,500 to £5,000) to support the organisation to improve their levels of 
support in areas such as Chapel-en-le-Frith and Whaley Bridge. 

 
6. That levels of core Community Support Grant Funding for other 

organisations should remain the same for 2021/22. 
 

7. That the Council should provide additional funding where necessary for 
those VCSE Sector organisations (The Bureau and Glossopdale 
Furniture Project) that were experiencing short-term financial difficulties. 
 

8. That councillors should be provided with regular updates on work with the 
VCSE Sector and key partnerships with an emphasis on how this has 
helped to achieve the Council’s corporate objective. 

 
20/124 REQUEST FOR MATCH FUNDING FROM THE OUTDOOR SPORTS AND 

RECREATION CAPITAL FUND TO SUPPORT CEMETERY ROAD 
FOOTBALL AND COMMUNITY PROJECT 
(Agenda Item 10) 
 
The report sought approval to allocate capital funding towards the 
development of a new football and community hub facility at Cemetery Road 
in Glossop. The report was considered by the Community Select Committee 
on 30 March 2021. 
 
Options considered: 
 

There were in reality three options available to the council: 
 
1. To provide £200,000 capital funding along with a £50,000 contribution 

from the Outdoor Sports and Recreation Capital Fund in support of this 
key project.  (Recommended) 
 

2. To provide a £50,000 capital contribution towards the project from the 
£100,000 budget assigned for outdoor sports facilities and choose not to Page 6



The Executive 
Thursday, 1 April 2021 

 

 
 

allocate the further amount of £200,000. This decision would jeopardise 
the future of this project and create an unexpected funding shortfall. (Not 
Recommended) 

 
3. To do nothing – This would place the project in jeopardy of not 

progressing and would leave a large and possibly unachievable funding 
shortfall for the Club to secure from other sources. (Not Recommended) 

 
RESOLVED: 

 
1. That the allocation of £200,000 capital funding towards the development 

of a new football and community hub facility at Cemetery Road in 
Glossop be approved. 
 

2. That the allocation of £50,000 from the Outdoor Sports and Recreation 
Capital Fund towards development of the same project be approved, on 
the basis that the remaining project costs are secured by the Club. 

 
20/125 TO RESOLVE THAT THE PUBLIC AND PRESS BE EXCLUDED FROM 

THE MEETING FOR THE FOLLOWING ITEMS BECAUSE THERE MAY BE 
DISCLOSURE TO THEM OF EXEMPT INFORMATION AS DEFINED IN 
PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972. 
(Agenda Item 11) 
 
RESOLVED: 
 
That the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items because there may be disclosure to them of exempt information as 
defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972. 
 

20/126 TO APPROVE THE EXEMPT MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING 
(Agenda Item 12) 
 
RESOLVED:  
 
That the exempt minutes of the meeting of the Executive held on 25 
February 2021 be approved as a correct record.  
 

20/127 NEW MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 
(Agenda Item 13) 
 
The Executive approved a report that:  

 

 Proposed a new management structure across the strategic 
alliance 

 Outlined the process for establishing the new structure of 
Executive Directors and Heads of Service 

 Confirmed the recruitment / appointment process 

 made proposals for a new grading structure 
 
 
 
 Page 7



The Executive 
Thursday, 1 April 2021 

 

 
 

20/128 TRANSFER OF BUILDING CONTROL TO DERBYSHIRE CONSORTIUM 
(Agenda Item 14) 
 
The Executive approved a report that informed and advised members of the 
proposal for the Council’s Building Control service to be transferred to the 
Derbyshire Building Control Partnership. 
 

20/129 MARKET STREET DEPOT, BUXTON - DISPOSAL 
(Agenda Item 15) 
 
The Executive approved a report that Members of the intention to dispose of 
the freehold title to the Council owned depot and car park at Market Street in 
Buxton. 
 

20/130 HRA CAPITAL AND EXTERNAL RENDERING AND INSULATION WORKS 
- CONTRACT AWARD REPORT 
(Agenda Item 16) 
 
The Executive approved a report that sought authority to award a fixed term 
contract for the HRA Capital Programme of external rendering and 
associated works across the High Peak Borough Council housing stock. 
 

20/131 PAVILION GARDENS - PHASE 2 WORKS 
(Agenda Item 17) 
 

The Executive approved a report that requested an increase in budget 
allowance as set out in the current capital programme within the Medium 
Term Financial Plan for additional capital works required for Phase 2 of the 
Pavilion Gardens Project.  
 
 
The meeting concluded at 6.54 pm 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 8



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
The Executive 

 
1 July 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Climate Change Plan (Part 1) 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Jean Todd - Executive Councillor 
for Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Mark Forrester - Head of Democratic & 
Community Services 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All Wards 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix 1 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) 2021/22 
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 To present the Council’s 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) ‘Towards 

Carbon Neutrality 2030’. 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 To approve the 2021/22 Climate Change Plan (Part 1) subject to comments 
received at the next Climate Change Working Group which the Executive 
Councillor for Climate Change will consider for inclusion in the Plan. 

 
2.2 To give approval for the Executive Councillor for Climate Change, to make any 

subsequent amendments and additions to part one of the plan, subject to 
agreement at the Climate Change Working Group. 

 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 On October 15th 2019 High Peak Borough Council passed a resolution 

declaring a climate emergency. 
 
3.2 The Council has initiated a series of actions to procure data, analyse options 

and introduce measures to reduce its own Carbon emissions. 
 

3.3 The Plan has been developed in two parts: Part 1 considers the Council’s own 
greenhouse gas emissions and is presented to Executive for approval 
(Attached). Part 2 will consider the wider greenhouse gas emissions from the 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



  

Borough and remains in development. 
 

3.4 By its nature the Climate Change Plan is a dynamic document with additional 
actions and milestones to be added in year in response to new opportunities 
for earlier action, new information and the results of option studies. 
 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan: Protect and improve the environment including 

responding to the climate emergency. 
 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 To approve the Climate Change Plan (Part 1). 
 
5.2 To amend or delay approval of the draft Climate Change Plan (Part1) pending 

further development (Not recommended – by its nature the Plan needs to be 
dynamic with further actions to be developed and included as more analysis is 
completed and in response to opportunities such as may arise from new 
Government policy initiatives). 

 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
No implications 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
Heads of Service working with their teams are responsible for the 
delivery of various elements of the Plan. As an additional resource 
the Council will be creating a specialist Climate Change Officer 
post. 
 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
No implications 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
The measures proposed are within current budgets including the 
Climate Change reserve fund. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
No implications 
 

6.6 Climate Change 

Page 10



  

 
The report recommends the approval of a plan to enable the 
Council to work towards its goal of carbon neutrality by 2030 in 
relation to its own greenhouse gas emissions. 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
All Heads of Service have been involved in the process of 
developing the Climate Change Plan (Part 1). The Climate Change 
Working Group including reprsentatives of the High Peak Green 
Network received and  commented on action plan table  (pages 18 
to 31) of the plan (Attached). 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
There is a risk that public expectation of the Council’s ability to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions at the district level is not 
matched by the Council’s current powers and resources.  
 

 
MARK TRILLO 

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

Various background papers and reports Mark Forrester 
Head of Democratic & Community Services 
mark.forrester@staffsmoorlands.gov.uk 
 

 
7. Detail 
 
7.1 In 2015, the UK adopted the Paris Agreement, committing to: 
 

 Strengthening the global response to the threat of climate change by 
keeping global temperature rise this century well below 2°C above pre 
industrial levels.  

 Encouraging efforts to limit the temperature increase even further to 1.5°C. 

 Tackling the climate crisis is a long-standing issue in the UK, reflected in 
the legally binding target in the 2008 Climate Change Act. This was 
updated in 2019 to reflect an updated target of net zero carbon by 2050. 

 
7.2 On October 15th 2019 High Peak Borough Council passed a resolution 

declaring a climate emergency as follows: 
 

Climate Change is an existential threat. Humans have already caused 
irreversible climate change, the impacts of which are being felt around the 
world. Global temperatures have increased by 1⁰C from pre-industrial levels. 
Atmospheric CO2 levels are above the 400 parts per million (ppm). This far 
exceeds the 350 ppm deemed to be safe for humanity. Extreme weather 
events have already caused damage and destruction in this country. Locally 
the effects of climate change are seen in falling water levels and erratic 

Page 11



  

weather conditions affecting farming and infrastructure. Natural habitats, 
wildlife and biodiversity are in peril not only from Climate Change but also from 
human intervention, which in turn is increasing the effects of the climate and 
biodiversity crises.  

 
Scientists warn that we have little over a decade to implement urgent action to 
reduce and limit CO2 emissions before we reach a global tipping point. Action 
is required at international, national and local level to achieve the carbon 
reduction levels needed. Councils around the world and in UK are  responding 
by declaring a Climate Emergency and committing the resources to address 
this emergency. 

 
 
7.3 Actions to date 
 
7.3.1 Due to the Covid response, the initial development of the plan was delayed, 

and Officers have worked to both develop the plan, and also put in place 
practical actions to address issues around climate change. 

 
7.3.2 Housing: The Council has submitted a proposal to the Midlands Energy Hub 

for Green Homes Grant Local Authority Delivery 2 scheme. The scheme will 
focus between July and the end of December on up to 84 council 
houses/properties with the lowest energy efficiency ratings. The Council will be 
installing energy efficiency measures such as cavity wall insultation, loft 
insulation and triple glazing and is supported by a Government grant of 
£485,000 with the Council also committing its own funds. The Council also 
continued to support the Derbyshire Healthy Homes scheme which focuses on 
those households in fuel poverty with low energy efficient housing and 
suffering from ill health. 

 
7.3.3 Leisure Centres:The Council has commissioned work which includes an 

assessment of options and measures to reduce carbon emissions from the 
Council’s leisure centres. This is due to be completed in July 2021. 
 

7.3.4 Council fleet vehicles: AES, the Council’s direct services company, is currently 
trialling an electric light goods vehicle and an electric refuse vehicle. The 
Council has engaged with the Energy Saving Trust to undertake an analysis of 
the Council’s vehicle fleet and options for decarbonisation to inform the 
Councils fleet replacement programme. This is due to be competed in 
December 2021. 
 

7.3.5 New ways of working: The response to Covid-19 has accelerated the Council’s 
move to new ways of working – staff home working and increased use of 
virtual meetings have reduced staff busines miles by over 60%, an increase in 
customer self-service, reduced use of paper and printing. Work began in 2020 
to sustain these ways of working post pandemic. 
 

7.3.6 The Council has re-joined the Association of Public Service Excellence 
(APSE) and APSE Energy the specific climate change network. 

 

Page 12



  

7.3.7 The Council’s Climate Change Working Group including representatives of the 
High Peak Green Network has been meeting and has mainly focused on the 
Borough wide greenhouse gas emissions, the actions of key agencies and 
development of potential actions to be taken by the Council. This work will 
inform part 2 of the Council’s Climate Change Action Plan. 

 
7.3.8 The Council has also established a Biodiversity group which brings together 

representatives from a range of local groups to offer support for the Council in 
developing and improving its response to Biodiversity issues. Work is also 
underway to develop a green infrastructure plan and ensure that climate 
change issues are more developed in the local plan. 

 
7.4 Data 
 
7.4.1 Council CO2 emissions: During 2021 further work will be undertaken to 

establish an as complete as possible estimate of the Council’s CO2 emissions, 
including direct and indirect emissions such as the CO2 embedded in the 
products and services the Council procures, technically referred to as Scope 
1,2 & 3 emissions. The current known figures for emissions related to Council 
buildings, fleet and travel for 2019/20 are included as an initial baseline in the 
plan for 2021/22. 

 
7.4.2  Borough wide CO2 emissions: The UK Government Department for Business, 

Energy and Industrial Strategy publishes annual data for the estimated CO2 
emissions by local authority area. This is currently available from 2005 to 
2018. The CO2 emission sources are split into four main categories – Industry 
and commerce, domestic, transport, land use and land use change and 
forestry. There are numerous sub categories which allow for a closer analysis. 

  
 The Council has commissioned Anthesis to produce an analysis of the 
Borough greenhouse gas emissions including the current baseline data and a 
series of projections based on scenarios – ‘do nothing’ through to ‘ambitious’ 
actions to address climate change locally. This analysis will be available in 
July 2021. 

 
7.5 The Climate Change Plan. 
 
 The plan will be in two parts. 
 
7.5.1 Part 1 (Attached) concerns the Council’s own CO2 emissions – i.e. where 

High Peak Borough Council has direct control and responsibility. Part 1 is in 
the form of an action plan to cover the period 2021/22 but leading to the 
Council’s 2030 carbon neutral target.  

 
7.5.2 Part 2 remains in development and will focus on the broader greenhouse gas 

emissions in the Borough. The Council has levers of influence over some 
causes of the emissions but the role of others, including the community and 
voluntary sector, business sector and other statutory agencies such as the 
County Council and the Government, is critical. 
 

Page 13



  

7.5.3 Both parts of the plan will be published as one document in a more publicly 
accessible format in time for COP 26 in November 2021. 

 
7.5.4 It should be noted that both parts of the plan will be living/dynamic documents 

with the potential for targets and actions to be added as work progresses and 
in response to opportunities – such as changes in Government policy or new 
funding opportunities. 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 14



© Crown copyright and database rights 2021. Licence No. 10018411

TOWARDS CARBON 
NEUTRALITY 2030

CLIMATE CHANGE PLAN 
2021/22
(PART 1)

P
age 15



2
CONTENTS

CONTENTS
Introduction ...........................................................3

Background ...........................................................4

The Paris Agreement ..........................................5

UK commitment ....................................................6

High Peak - Declaring a  
climate emergency .............................................8

High Peak - Current emissions profile ......... 10

Carbon budget ................................................... 12

Mapping the emissions of High Peak 
Borough Council ................................................ 13

Initial activity ....................................................... 14

HPBC plan - 2021/22 ........................................ 16

HPBC Emissions - council offices .................. 18

HPBC Emissions - council offices .................. 19

HPBC Emissions - other buildings ............... 20

HPBC Emissions - vehicles/travel ................. 21

HPBC Emissions - procurement ................... 24

HPBC Emissions - operations ....................... 25

HPBC Emissions - enabling ........................... 26

Budgets ................................................................ 29

Tackling greenhouse gas emissions  
across the Borough - towards the  
climate change action plan part 2 .............. 30P

age 16



3
INTRODUCTION

INTRODUCTION
Following the declaration of a climate 
emergency in 2019 the Council began work 
on the development of a plan of action to 
achieve its stated goal of achieving Net Zero 
greenhouse gas emissions by 2030.

It was intended that the plan should also 
address how to enable the whole Borough 
to achieve that same goal, with the ambition 
of developing a full detailed plan of action 
in 2020. The impact of the Covid Pandemic 
on the Council and our need to focus on 
supporting the community has delayed the 
development of some elements of the Plan. 
As a result the Plan is now in two parts.

The first part of that Climate Change 
Plan is set out in this document - Part 1 is 
concerned with how the Council achieves a 
net zero target for carbon dioxide equivalent 
emissions by 2030. Part 2 will be concerned 
with how the Council, working with others, 
intends to help the whole Borough to 
achieve net zero emissions and is due for 
publication by November 2021.

Inevitably, the Climate Change Plan (both 
Part 1 &  Part 2) will be ‘dynamic’: that is, 
they will be added to and amended as 
more data is acquired; as we build on the 
initial options assessment work; and as new 
opportunities arise from the Government’s 
own policy response and from new 
technologies.

 Throughout, this report refers to carbon 
dioxide equivalent emissions, or greenhouse 
gas emissions, recognising that there are 
several greenhouse gases, of which carbon 
dioxide is easily the most common, but not 
the most impactful. Tonnage of carbon 
dioxide equivalent emissions (CO2e) is the 
standard and international currency for 
representing these emissions, which the 
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial 
Strategy (BEIS) supports by regularly 
updating relevant conversion data. 

2030

P
age 17



4

BACKGROUND

CLIMATE CHANGE NOW

There is clear scientific evidence to show 
that climate change is happening and that 
cumulative emissions of CO2e from human 
activity are the principle driver of long-term 
global warming. Measurements show that 
the average temperature at the Earth’s 
surface has risen by about 1°C since the pre-
industrial period. Seventeen of the eighteen 
warmest years on record have occurred in 
the 21st century and each of the last three 
decades have been hotter than the previous 
one. This change in temperature has not 
been the same everywhere: the increase has 
been greater over land than over the oceans 
and has been particularly fast in the Arctic.

The UK is already affected by rising 
temperatures. The most recent decade 
(2008-2017) has been on average 0.8°C 
warmer than the 1961-1990 average. All 
ten of the warmest years in the UK have 
occurred since 1990 with the nine warmest 

occurring since 2002.

Along with warming at the Earth’s surface, 
many other changes in the climate are 
occurring:

• warming oceans

• melting polar ice and glaciers

• rising sea levels

• more extreme weather events

Across the world we are already seeing 
devastating consequences from more 
frequent and intense droughts, storms, heat 
waves, rising sea levels, and melting glaciers 
upon people’s lives and livelihoods as well 
as whole communities and ecosystems. 
As climate change worsens, dangerous 
weather events are becoming more frequent 
or severe and the environmental, economic 
and social costs increasing. 

BACKGROUND

P
age 18



5
THE PARIS AGREEMENT

THE PARIS AGREEMENT

The Paris Agreement is an agreement within 
the United Nations Framework Convention 
on Climate Change (UNFCCC) on climate 
change mitigation, adaptation, and 
finance, signed in 2016. The agreement was 
negotiated by representatives of 196 state 
parties at the 21st Conference of the Parties 
of the UNFCCC held near Paris, France, and 
adopted by consensus on 12th December 
2015. As of February 2021, 191 members of 
the UNFCCC are parties to the agreement. 
The United States withdrew from the 
agreement in 2020, but officially re-joined 
on 19th February 2021. 

The Paris Agreement’s long-term 
temperature goal is to hold the increase in 
global average temperature to well below 
2°C above pre-industrial levels, and to 
pursue efforts to limit the increase to 1.5°C, 
recognising that this would substantially 
reduce the risks and impacts of climate 
change. This should be done by reducing 
emissions as soon as possible. It also aims 

to increase the ability of parties to adapt 
to the adverse impacts of climate change, 
and make “finance flows consistent with 
a pathway towards low greenhouse 
gas emissions and climate-resilient 
development.”

Under the Paris Agreement, each country 
must determine, plan, and regularly report 
on the contribution that it undertakes to 
mitigate global warming. No mechanism 
forces a country to set a specific emissions 
target by a specific date, but each target 
should go beyond previously set targets.

The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate 
Change (IPCC) special report on the impacts 
of global warming of 1.5 °C above pre-
industrial levels was issued in October 2018. 
This report stated that, in order to remain 
within a 1.5 °C  increase, governments must 
cut emissions of greenhouse gases (globally) 
by 45% by 2030.

The UN Environment Programme, in their 
2019 Emissions Gap Report, found that 
the Nationally Determined Contributions 
were insufficient to ensure that global 
temperature rises stay below 1.5°C, and that 
nations must triple their efforts in order to 
meet even a 2°C target. It also found that 
global emissions had increased in 2018 
after a period of stability between 2014 and 
2016. Since that Report, evidence is that 
greenhouse gas emissions embedded in 
the atmosphere continue to rise, despite the 
dislocating effect of the coronavirus.

A key finding of the report is that: ‘…non-state 
and subnational action plays an important 
role in delivering national pledges. Emission 
reduction potential from non-state and 
subnational action could ultimately be 
significant, allowing countries to raise 
ambition.’

P
age 19



6
UK COMMITMENT

UK COMMITMENT
The Climate Change Act 2008 introduced 
the UK’s first legally binding target for 2050 
to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by at 
least 80% compared to 1990 levels.

On 27th June 2019 the UK government 
amended the Climate Change Act and set 
a legally binding target to achieve net zero 
greenhouse gas emissions from across the 
UK economy by 2050 with five yearly carbon 
budgets to set actions and review progress. 

The achievement of this target will bring 
to an end the UK’s contribution to climate 
change.

In April 2021, responding to growing 
evidence of the impact of climate change, 
the UK government upped its ambitions 
further by committing to set into law a more 
ambitious UK climate change target. Its 
policy now is to reduce UK emissions by 78% 
by 2035, compared to 1990 levels.

The Climate Change Committee, originally 
named the Committee on Climate Change, 
is an independent non-departmental public 
body, formed under the Climate Change Act 
to advise the United Kingdom and devolved 
Governments and Parliaments on tackling 
and preparing for climate change.

In December 2020 the CCC produced a 
report Local Authorities and the Sixth Carbon 
Budget which considered the role of local 
authorities in the achievement of the UK’s 
Net Zero target.

P
age 20



7
UK COMMITMENT

KEY MESSAGES

• The UK Government and local authorities 
share a common goal to deliver Net Zero.

• The Sixth Carbon Budget can only 
be achieved if Government, regional 
agencies and local authorities work 
seamlessly together.

• More than half of the emissions cuts 
needed rely on people and businesses 
taking up low-carbon solutions - decisions 
that are made at a local and individual 
level. Many of these decisions depend 
on having supporting infrastructure and 
systems in place. Local authorities have 
powers or influence over roughly a third 
of emissions in their local areas.

• Top-down policies go some way to 
delivering change, but can achieve a 
far greater impact if they are focused 
through local knowledge and networks.

• Four key things are needed to achieve this 
vision of collaborative delivery:

• Framework: An agreed framework for 
delivery for Net Zero incorporating local 
and national climate action

• Financing: Appropriate long-term 
financing to support local authorities in 
delivering Net Zero

• Flexibility: Local operational flexibility 
around how local areas address 
climate change

• Facilitation: coherent policy and powers 
for the facilitation of delivery

The report notes that over 300 local 
authorities have declared Climate 
Emergencies and a third have developed 
strategies and action plans to deliver 
ambitious targets by 2030 and 2050. 

More than half of these have a Net Zero 
target date of 2030. 

But the Report also found that ‘gaps in 
powers, policy and funding barriers, and 
a lack of capacity and skills at local level, 
means such ambitions are unlikely to be 
delivered’.

P
age 21



8
HIGH PEAK - DECLARING A CLIMATE EMERGENCY

Climate Change is an existential threat. 
Humans have already caused irreversible climate 

change, the impacts of which are being felt around 
the world. Global temperatures have increased by 1⁰C 

from pre-industrial levels. Atmospheric CO2e levels are above 
the 400 parts per million (ppm). This far exceeds the 350 ppm 

deemed to be safe for humanity. Extreme weather events have 
already caused damage and destruction in this country. Locally the 
effects of climate change are seen in falling water levels and erratic 
weather conditions affecting farming and infrastructure. Natural 
habitats, wildlife and biodiversity are in peril not only from Climate 
Change but also from human intervention, which in turn is increasing 

the effects of the climate and biodiversity crises. 

Scientists warn that we have little over a decade to implement urgent 
action to reduce and limit CO2e emissions before we reach a global 

tipping point. Action is required at international, national and 
local level to achieve the carbon reduction levels needed. 

Councils around the world and in UK are  responding by 
declaring a Climate Emergency and committing 

the resources to address this emergency.

HIGH PEAK – DECLARING A CLIMATE EMERGENCY 
On October 15th 2019 High Peak Borough Council passed a resolution declaring a 

climate emergency as follows:

P
age 22



9
HIGH PEAK - DECLARING A CLIMATE EMERGENCY

The inclusion of local residents and businesses chosen in accordance with ‘citizens’ assembly’ principles in 
drawing up this strategy and plan.

To report back to Council by end of March 2020 with this plan

Ensure that all Council committees and scrutiny panels consider the impact on climate change 
and the natural environment when taking decisions and reviewing policies.

Review progress against the target and report back every six months.

To address this emergency, establish a cross-party working group to  assist in investigation, prioritisation, drafting 
and delivery of a strategy, action plan and timetable including targets for CO2e reduction, working with officer 

support and drawing on wider expertise. 

Work to mitigate the biodiversity crisis in its actions across the Borough

This Council pledges to:

Declare a Climate Emergency

Make High Peak Borough Council carbon neutral in its internal operations and the services it 
delivers by 2030, and work with partners to achieve this target across High Peak

Call on the UK Government to provide the powers and resources to make the 2030 target possible.

Work with partners across the county and region to deliver this new goal through all relevant strategies

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10

P
age 23



10
HIGH PEAK - CURRENT EMISSIONS PROFILE

HIGH PEAK – CURRENT EMISSIONS PROFILE
The Governments Department for Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) publishes an annual 
data set of data for Local Authority territorial CO2e emissions estimates. The latest data set is 
for 2018.

2018 Emissions Industry and 
Commercial

Domestic Transport Land Use Net 
Emissions

Total

Kt CO2e 2,543.20 151.7 154.8 -16.7 2,833.00

Since 2005 CO2e emissions in the Borough have fallen. The decarbonisation of electricity 
supplies has played a significant part in this.

Domestic Total
Transport Total
Land Use Net Emissions

Industry and Commercial Total
Grand Total

Grand Total

-500.0
-

500.0
1,000.0
1,500.0
2,000.0
2,500.0
3,000.0
3,500.0
4,000.0

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Industry and
Commercial
Total

Domestic Total
Transport Total

Land Use Net Emissions

Overall emissions in High Peak are very 
high compared to other districts and to 
the national average – as measured by 
emissions per head of population (per 
capita). The most significant factor is 
the presence in the Borough of cement 
manufacture – the chemical process 
involved produces large quantities of CO2e.

HIGH PEAK EMISSIONS (KT-CO2e) 2005 - 2018

P
age 24



11
HIGH PEAK - CURRENT EMISSIONS PROFILE

The following table provides a comparison with other Derbyshire districts and the data on emissions from large industrial installations which 
includes the cement works shows how this contributes to the Borough’s high CO2e emissions.

Derbyshire CO2e emissions estimates 2018 (kt CO2e) 
Council Large Industrial 

Installations
Industry and 
Commercial Total

Domestic Total Transport Total Grand Total Per Capita 
Emissions (t)

Amber Valley - 227.5 215.8 226.3 659.0 5.2

Bolsover 402.3 543.2 167.9 328.3 1,030.1 13.0

Chesterfield 1.8 144.9 178.1 141.7 459.7 4.4

Derbyshire Dales 0.0 222.1 129.4 231.0 545.8 7.6

Erewash 8.7 130.1 175.2 247.6 549.6 4.8

High Peak 2,222.6 2,543.2 151.7 154.8 2,832.9 30.7

North East Derbyshire 0.0 126.3 173.3 237.6 516.1 5.1

South Derbyshire 0.1 203.5 168.8 332.7 695.1 6.7

Derbyshire Total 2,635.5 4,140.7 1,360.1 1,900.0 7,288.3 9.2

P
age 25



12
CARBON BUDGET

CARBON BUDGET

Based on analysis by the Tyndall Centre 
for Climate Change Research, High Peak’s 
‘fair’ contribution towards the Paris Climate 
Change Agreement would be to:

• Stay within a maximum cumulative 
carbon dioxide emissions budget of 10.8 
million tonnes (MtCO2e) for the period of 
2020 to 2100. At 2017 CO2e emission levels, 
High Peak would use this entire budget 
within 6 years from 2020.

• Initiate an immediate programme 
of CO2e mitigation to deliver cuts in 
emissions averaging a minimum of 
-15.8% per year to deliver a Paris aligned 
carbon budget. These annual reductions 
in emissions require national and local 
action, and could be part of a wider 
collaboration with other local authorities. 

• Reach zero or near zero carbon no later 
than 2038

When setting targets for the Borough’s 
‘fair’ contribution to UK targets the CO2e 
emissions from the chemical process 
involved in cement production are not 

included. Cement production is regarded as 
a national challenge; in part this recognises 
that the cement produced in High Peak is in 
fact used elsewhere.

25%
Transport

24%
Domestic

51%
Industry & Commercial

CO2e CO2e

CO2e

COMPARING EMISSIONS FOR HIGH PEAK 2018 -  
EXCLUDING LARGE INDUSTRIAL INSTALLATIONS

P
age 26



13
MAPPING THE EMISSIONS OF HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL

MAPPING THE EMISSIONS OF HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL
The Council has calculated its CO2e emissions 
related to our main office buildings, leisure 
centres, fleet vehicles, staff travel during 
work and Councillors’ travel. A total of over 
3,704 tonnes of CO2e in 2019/20. These 

represent part of the council’s overall CO2e 
emissions. During 2021/22 further work will be 
undertaken to ensure all data is included to 
form a baseline against which progress on 
CO2e reduction can be measured.

0 500 1000 1500 2000

Council o�ces energy use

Leisure centres energy use

Council vehicles

Sta� travel

Councillor's travel

Technically for the purpose of reporting these figures cover the two types of Greenhouse gas emissions – referred 
to as scope 1 and 2. Scope 1 covers direct emissions from owned or controlled sources – such as the fuel used 
by council vehicles. Scope 2 covers indirect emissions from things like the generation of electricity the Council 
purchases. There is a third type of emission, Scope 3, which includes all other indirect emissions that occur in a 
Council’s ‘value chain’ including both upstream and downstream emissions. Currently the Council does not have 
data on its Scope 3 related greenhouse gas emissions.

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL CO2e EMISSIONS 2019/20 
(METRIC TONNES CO2e)

P
age 27



14
INITIAL ACTIVITY

INITIAL ACTIVITY
Since the declaration of a climate 
emergency a number of ‘enabling’ actions 
have already taken place:

TRAINING: 

(1) Carbon literacy training delivered 
to Members on 20th January 2020 (2) 
Negotiated an agreement with Keele 
University to provide training for staff.

DATA: 

(1) We have access to the Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy 
estimates of carbon emissions by sector 
(2005 – 2018). 

(2) We have Council data for fleet vehicles, 
staff travel and energy supplies but further 
work is required to ensure all emissions are 
included.

TOOLS: 

The Council has access to: (1) Carbon 
budget tool - produced by the Tyndall 
Centre and funded by the government this 
tool identifies the Borough wide Carbon 
budget and CO2e reduction trajectory to 
align with the UK commitment. 

(2) SCATTER – a tool being developed to 
model locally the impact of policy measures 
by key sectors (business, transport, housing 
etc.) and trajectories to carbon net zero. 

(3) We have drafted a form for the 
Modern Gov. report management system 
- managers can use this to set out the 
climate change implications of report 
recommendations.

POWERS, BLOCKS AND 
ENABLERS: 

All Heads of Service have contributed to an 
initial assessment of the powers we have, 
the opportunities, the blocks, the potential 
enablers and the potential for the Council to 
take action now to reduce greenhouse gases 
and respond to climate change.

P
age 28



15

PARTNERSHIP AND ENGAGEMENT: 

Meetings have been held and attended to 
lay the foundations for future partnership 
and joint work on climate change. 

(1) Derbyshire County Council has drafted 
a Derbyshire Environment and Climate 
Change Framework 

(2) A Derbyshire Climate Change Officer 
Working Group has been established to 
support delivery through a partnership 
approach. 

(3) Zero Carbon Peak District National Park 
(PDNP) Climate Change Summit - 15th 
October 2019 and follow up by meeting with 
PDNP officers to discuss working together.

(4) Climate Change Summit on 15th January 
2020 for local community stakeholder 
groups and individuals. 

(5) Transition Town and other local 
community groups and established a 
regular meeting with the High Peak Green 
Network.

The Council’s Climate Change Working 
Group was established to help develop the 
Council’s Climate Change Plan.

Approach – working group, engagement, 
partnerships, dates

INITIAL ACTIVITY

Climate Change Summit, 
January 2020

P
age 29



16
HPBC PLAN - 2021/22

HPBC PLAN – 2021/22
The Council’s Plan of Action focuses on the 
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions 
from the use of Council buildings (heat 
and power); travel and transport (Council 
vehicles and business travel by staff 
and Councillors); and procurement (the 
greenhouse gas emissions associated with 
the products and services we buy). 

In addition, the Plan includes supporting 
activity such as the development of relevant 
staff skills; revising the Council’s policies and 
strategies across the range of its activities 
and decision making processes to ensure 
climate change is always considered; 
and performance management to ensure 
progress is measured and reported. 

Offsetting is not considered in the Plan 
at this time. The priority is to focus on the 
reduction of the Council’s greenhouse gas 
emissions (Scope 1,2,&3) to as close to zero 
as possible. Once this element of the Plan 
is developed more fully the possibility of 
actions to offset the Council’s greenhouse 
gas emissions will be considered.

2021/22 activity in relation to Council owned 
buildings involves a full assessment of 
building conditions, future requirements, 
and options for reducing CO2e emissions. 
A report with recommendations for action 
will inform specific plans and future CO2e 
reduction targets which will feature in 
the 2022/23 updated Plan. There is an 
expectation that quick wins can be identified 
and that where these produce cost savings 
they may be implemented within the current 
financial year.

P
age 30



17
HPBC PLAN - 2021/22

2021/22 activity in relation to the Council’s 
vehicles involves working with the Energy 
Saving Trust and AES (the Council owned 
company responsible for waste collection, 
street scene and parks maintenance) 
to assess the Council’s needs, options 
in relation to developing technology 
(electric/ hydrogen/other), the investment 
in infrastructure required to support new 
vehicles and the production of a fleet 
replacement strategy up to 2030. 

This assessment is expected to be 
available in late 2021 or early 2022 and 
in the meantime, where vehicles must be 
replaced, the Council is choosing the lowest 
CO2e emitting vehicles. The Council has 
undertaken an initial trial of an electric light 
goods vehicle and an electric waste vehicle.

The Council has set a specific 2021/22 target 
for the reduction in CO2e from business miles 
undertaken by staff based on implementing 
new ways of working that have been 
developed in response to the Covid-19 
pandemic and which saw the Council’s CO2e 
emissions from staff travel reduce by over 
60%

2021/22 activity in relation to Council 
procurement is focused on developing 
a new procurement strategy to include 
measures to reduce greenhouse gas 
emissions. Currently the Council does not 
have baseline data or estimates for CO2e 
emissions related to procurement.

P
age 31



18
HPBC EMISSIONS - COUNCIL OFFICES

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

BUILDINGS

Council offices HPBC 
Gas and 
electricity = 1413 
metric tonnes

The current 
electricity 
supply source 
mix includes 
47% renewable 
and 9% nuclear

Reduce energy 
use/ improve 
energy efficiency

Improve insulation 
-reduce waste.

Use of technology 
- LEDs and 
improved control 
systems. 

Asset 
Management 
Strategy

Capital 
Programme

Commission expert 
advice to review 
the estate and 
determine the 
action plan. By April 
2022

Develop a costed 
plan for measures. 
April 2022

Head of Assets

Head of 
Finance

An external 
consultant can be 
employed to meet 
the deadline.

The potential for 
energy reduction 
will be set by April 
2022.

The target 
for 2030 is as 
close to zero as 
possible (this to 
be determined 
during the 
2021 assets 
review and 
detail including 
milestones to 
be included in 
the 2022 plan 
update)

Staff practice – 
Ensure all staff are 
taking practical 
measures to 
reduce energy 
use.

Organisational 
Development 
Strategy

Nominate service 
champions. 

Provide Carbon 
Literacy training  
to all Heads of 
Service and Service 
Champions.

Regular 
awareness raising 
communication

Head of 
Transformation

Head of 
Community 
and Climate 
Change

Climate Change 
champions/ Carbon 
literacy training

P
age 32



19
HPBC EMISSIONS - COUNCIL OFFICES

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

Council offices 
continued

Switch to Green 
energy

Purchase green 
energy

Procurement 
Strategy

ESPO Framework 
– use the annual 
negotiation to seek 
an improved green 
energy supply.  

Head of 
Finance

The energy mix 
from current 
provider (ESPO 
contract) will 
improve year on 
year – to end of 
contract in 2024 
when 100% green 
energy will be 
purchased.

2024 –  
100% green

Generate green 
energy for Council 
property

Asset 
Management 
Strategy

Capital 
programme

Investigate potential 
as part of the review  
- for example solar 
panels on council 
property.

Head of Assets The potential 
contribution of 
generated energy 
will be identified 
and measures 
installed over a 
period of time up to 
2024.

Project 
complete by 
2024

Alternative 
heating

Investigate 
alternative heating 
systems - ground 
source heat pumps 
etc by April 2022

Determined 
during the 
2021 assets 
review and 
detail including 
milestones to 
be included in 
the 2022 plan 
update

P
age 33



20
HPBC EMISSIONS - OTHER BUILDINGS

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

Leisure Centres 
Council owned 
buildings 
not directly 
controlled.

HPBC 
(2019/20):

Electric – 732 
metric tonnes

Gas - 823.9 
metric tonnes

Reduce energy 
use/ improve 
energy efficiency

Switch to Green 
energy

All above 
measures

Asset 
Management 
Strategy

Leisure contract

Leisure 
Improvement 
Plan

Capital 
Programme

Work with LC 
partners to develop 
a plan for each 
centre and agree 
investment and 
targets.

Engage consultants 
to advise on 
appropriate energy 
saving/ green 
energy measures as 
part of the Leisure 
Transformation Plan

Head of Service 
Commissioning

Head of Assets

Head of 
Finance

In the current 
contract  
responsibility for 
utilities is with 
the contractor – 
changes will need 
to be negotiated.

The current contract 
has created an 
incentive towards 
energy efficiency 
– e.g. LED lights 
have been installed 
– and this trend will 
continue.

Determined 
during the 2021 
leisure centre 
review and 
detail including 
milestones to 
be included in 
the 2022 plan 
update.

HPBC Council 
Housing

Current EPC 
ratings:

Improve energy 
efficiency 
ratings.

Install green 
heating systems

Encourage 
tenants to 
purchase green 
energy

Major retrofitting 
programme 
including new 
heating, insulation 
and triple glazing. 
Options for 
generating own 
power and off-set

Housing 
Strategy/ HRA 
Business Plan 

Capital 
Programme

Comprehensive 
review of the 
options for strategy, 
delivery and 
funding required. 
Consultants to be 
engaged to assist in 
strategy and action 
plan development 
by April 2022 

Submit a proposal 
and deliver a Green 
Homes Grants LAD 
scheme.

Head of Assets 

Head of 
Finance 

Head of 
Housing 

Head of Assets

It is likely that 
Government 
funding 
programmes will 
continue to be 
available.

TBD – 
• number/% 

of properties 
with improved 
EPC rating.

• % of 
properties 
that are band 
A and B

• CO2e 
emissions 
prevented

Deliver GHG 
LAD Scheme 
targets (detail 
to be included 
once proposal 
is approved)

P
age 34



21
HPBC EMISSIONS - VEHICLES/TRAVEL

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

Other buildings TBD TBD TBD Asset 
Management 
Strategy

Baseline data for 
other buildings to 
be assessed by Jun3 
2021.

Review of assets 
completed and plan 
developed by April 
2022

Head of Assets TBD Determined 
during the 
2021 assets 
review and 
detail including 
milestones to 
be included in 
the 2022 plan 
update

P
age 35



22
HPBC EMISSIONS - VEHICLES/TRAVEL

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

VEHICLES/ TRAVEL

Fleet vehicles

HPBC 
702 metric 
tonnes

Reduce CO2e 
from Fleet 
vehicles

Reduce miles 
travelled. 

Efficient planning 
of vehicle 
movements & use

Invest in the 
infrastructure to 
support EV’s or 
hydrogen vehicles.

Purchase green 
vehicles

Fleet 
Procurement 
Programme

AES contract

Capital 
Programme

Complete analysis 
of options. Dec 2021

Vehicles purchased 
in 2021 to be lowest 
carbon emitting 
within available 
budget.

Identify the 
Investment in 
infrastructure 
required to support 
switch to green 
vehicles and 
develop the capital 
programme.

Trial fuel additives 
to improve 
performance and 
EV alternatives when 
available.

Head of Service 
Commissioning

Head of 
Finance

Dependent upon 
the Energy Saving 
Trust being able 
to complete its 
analysis work within 
the timescale.

Technological 
developments 
providing an 
alternative to 
petrol/diesel 
vehicles will 
accelerate but it 
is uncertain this 
will fully provide 
alternatives by 
2030.

The infrastructure 
to support such 
vehicles will form 
part of the Council’s 
capital programme.

Fleet vehicles are 
replaced on an 
ongoing basis as 
they reach the end 
of their productive 
life.

To be 
determined 
during the 
2021 fleet 
review and 
detail including 
milestones to 
be included in 
the 2022 plan 
update

2030 – All fleet 
vehicles to run 
on green fuels. 
But dependent 
on technology.

P
age 36



23
HPBC EMISSIONS - VEHICLES/TRAVEL

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

Vehicles/travel 
continued

Business miles: 
SMDC & HPBC 
staff combined

CO2e – 64.59 
metric tonnes.

Mileage – 
290,870 miles.

Reduce Business 
miles and switch 
travel mode and 
use EVs.

Creative 
incentives in the 
expenses system, 
car loan scheme, 
essential car user 
designation and 
lease cars to 
switch to EV’s

Use of the pool 
car.

Encourage remote 
working and 
virtual meetings 
(as a default).

HR Policies

Covid recovery 
Plan

Develop the 
Council’s travel 
policy and plan – 
Draft December 
2021.

Develop the 
Council’s policy to 
support remote 
working and 
investment required 
in IT to support, 
including virtual/
hybrid meetings – 
draft April 2021.

Head of OD & 
Transformation

Head of Assets

There has been 
a 67% reduction 
during the Covid 
period to date 
compared to 2019.

The assumption 
is that in 2021 a 
proportion of this 
reduction will be 
maintained by 
changed working 
practices.

Beyond 2021 the 
assumption is 
that measures to 
switch to green 
vehicles/travel will 
increasingly reduce 
CO2e

2021 - Maintain 
reduction at 
40% from 2019 
level.

2025 – 75% 
reduction from 
2019 level.

2030 - 100% 
reduction (with 
any residual 
CO2e emissions 
subject to 
offsetting)

P
age 37



24
HPBC EMISSIONS - PROCUREMENT

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

Vehicles/travel 
continued

Travel to work

CO2e is not 
currently 
known.

Reduce CO2e 
from staff travel 
to work

Encourage 
walking and 
cycling, use of 
public transport, 
and car sharing.

Support home/ 
remote working

HR Policies Undertake a Staff 
survey and establish 
a monitoring 
system.

Consider options 
to support or 
incentivise green 
alternatives.

Run awareness 
campaigns

Head of OD & 
Transformation

2020/21 is an 
atypical year in 
which to establish a 
baseline and makes 
setting a specific 
CO2e target difficult 
– propose to use 
2019. The target 
could include the 
proportion of staff 
switching transport 
modes or reporting 
reduced travel with 
more specific CO2e 
targets to follow.

CO2e target 
TBD

2021 
30% of staff 
report a 
reduction in 
travel to work 
by petrol/
diesel engine 
car. (from 
estimated 2019 
level)

2025 
60% of staff 
report a 
reduction in 
travel to work 
by petrol/
diesel engine 
car. (from 
estimated 2019 
level)

HPBC 
Councillors

1.7 metric 
tonnes

Reduce Business 
Miles and switch 
travel mode

Encourage 
walking and 
cycling, use of 
public transport, 
and car sharing.

Continued use of 
virtual meetings 
where permitted.

Consultation with 
Councillors – by 
September 2021

Head of 
Democratic  
Services

Current Covid 
related regulations 
which allow for 
virtual meetings 
ended in May 2021.

Other meetings are 
within the Council’s 
control..

2021 
TBD

2030 
TBD

P
age 38



25
HPBC EMISSIONS - OPERATIONS

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

PROCUREMENT TBD Minimise 
the amount 
of products 
purchased.

Choose low 
carbon/ 
carbon neutral 
products where 
possible. Use 
the principles of 
- reduce, reuse, 
recycle, buy 
local.

(Include measures 
from the strategy 
when agreed)

Develop measures 
to assess at 
planning stage 
the CO2e in goods, 
products and 
services to be 
procured.

Encourage staff to 
reduce waste.

Procurement 
Strategy

Single use 
plastic policy

Approval of revised 
strategy. June/July 
2021

Commission an 
assessment of 
CO2e embedded in 
procured products 
and  services – to 
identify the baseline.

Training for all 
managers.

Staff training 
and awareness 
campaign.

Head of 
Finance

Baseline measures 
will be developed.

In response to 
customer demand 
and/or legislation 
information about 
CO2e embedded 
in products will 
be increasingly 
become available.

To be 
determined 
as part of the 
development 
of the new 
strategy in 
2021 and detail 
including 
milestones to 
be included in 
the 2022 plan 
update.

Use contractors 
/suppliers 
who working 
or achieving 
carbon 
neutrality.

Develop 
measures to 
assess contractors 
bidding for work.

Provide support 
to develop local 
companies ability 
to win contracts 
with the council.

Engage with 
current contractors/ 
suppliers to assess 
their practice in 
relation to achieving 
carbon neutrality.

Local contractors 
have the 
advantage of lower 
CO2e emissions 
from travel.

P
age 39



26
HPBC EMISSIONS - ENABLING

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

OPERATIONS The CO2e 
emissions 
related to 
this section 
are identified 
elsewhere 
(energy/ 
buildings, 
vehicles/travel, 
procurement).  

Improve the 
management 
of the Council’s 
green spaces/
parks etc.

Reduce grass 
cutting.

Increase tree 
cover.

Improve wildlife 
habitats and 
biodiversity.

Parks and 
open spaces 
management 
policies.

Tree planting 
policy.

HPBC - Pilot 
changes to current 
practice 

Integrate changes 
into the AES 
contract.

Develop a 
biodiversity strategy. 
March 22

Head of Service 
Commissioning

Head of 
Development 
Control

External support 
will be obtained to 
develop the policy 
and strategy.

Measures such 
as reduced 
grass cutting, 
tree planting 
and biodiversity 
improvements 
contribute to 
reduced CO2e 
emissions, carbon 
sequestration and 
adaptation to the 
impact of climate 
change.

To be 
determined 
following 
pilot work in 
2021/22.

P
age 40



27
HPBC EMISSIONS - ENABLING

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

OFFSETTING Currently offsetting is not part of the plan. The priority at this stage is to identify measures to reduce the Council’s CO2e emissions. Part of the Council’s 
plan and activities in relation to the management of parks and open spaces could result in the sequestration of CO2e but targets for offsetting will be 
addressed at a later stage.
Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

ENABLING Decisions Ensure Climate 
change impact 
is considered 
as part of 
all Council 
decisions.

All Council 
decision reports to 
include a section 
on the climate 
change related 
impact of the 
decision.

All managers 
to be trained 
to assess the 
climate change 
implications in 
their work.

Declaration 
of a climate 
emergency.

Introduce the 
climate change 
assessment 
reporting tool into 
the Modern Gov 
report management 
system.

Provide specific 
training to 
managers in the 
use of the tool 
and specifically 
in relation to their 
service.

Head of 
Democratic 
Services

Head of 
Community 
and Climate 
Change.

Head of 
Transformation

Policies Ensure key 
Council 
strategies and 
policies support 
the Council’s 
Commitment to 
Carbon zero by 
2030

Integrate 
climate change 
commitments into 
key strategies and 
policies.

Declaration 
of a climate 
emergency.

Asset Management 
Strategy

Procurement 
Strategy

Fleet Replacement 
Programme

Head of Assets

Head of 
Finance

Head of Service 
Commissioning

There will be 
opportunities 
during the year 
to review other 
policies.

P
age 41



28
HPBC EMISSIONS - ENABLING

HPBC/SMDC: COUNCIL EMISSIONS

Baseline

CO2e (2019 
unless 
otherwise 
stated):

Aim Measures Council 
Strategy/Plan

Activity - 2021/22 Responsibility Risks/ 
assumptions

Target (CO2e)

ENABLING 
continued

Skills Ensure staff 
have the skills 
required to 
contribute to the 
Council’s carbon 
zero target.

Staff / Member 
induction, training 
& awareness

HR Strategies 
and Plans

Communication 
strategy

Make carbon 
literacy training 
available to all staff 
and Members.

Provide service 
specific training to 
staff.

Provide regular 
updates and 
awareness 
raising through 
Council internal 
communications 
including team 
meetings

Head of 
Transformation

Head of 
Community 
and Climate 
Change

Performance 
Management

Ensure the 
Council has 
sufficiently 
detailed data 
on its own CO2e 
emissions and 
that of the wider 
Borough.

Ensure the 
Council’s 
performance on 
climate change 
is reported to 
Members.

Develop the 
Councils climate 
change data set.

Integrate climate 
change targets 
into the Council’s 
performance 
reporting system.

Identify areas of 
weakness and 
commission work 
where necessary to 
fill data gaps.

Integrate climate 
change targets 
into the Council’s 
performance 
reporting system

Head of 
Transformation

P
age 42



29
BUDGETS

BUDGET
The Council has established an earmarked 
reserve to fund the initial development 
and delivery of its Climate Change Plan. 
The reserve will be added to each year 
depending on the Council’s financial 
situation. 

Most of the actions identified for 2021/22 
will be funded from within the established 
Council Service budgets rather than from 
a specific climate change budget. The 
work being undertaken this year to assess 
Council buildings and the Council’s fleet of 
vehicles will identify measures that will be 
included in the Council’s Capital Investment 
Programme.

The specific budgets related to development 
of the Plan for the financial year 2021/22 are 
as follows:

 £146,850 Green Homes Grant * 
  (Council funding)

 £25,000 Climate Change Reserve Fund

 £32,000 Derbyshire Warmer Homes 
  contribution

 £3,000 Local Authority Energy 
  Partnership

 £2,333 APSE (Energy subscription)

P
age 43



30
TACKLING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS ACROSS THE BOROUGH -  

TOWARDS THE CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION PLAN PART 2

TACKLING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS ACROSS THE BOROUGH -  
TOWARDS THE CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION PLAN PART 2
Nationally the Climate Change Committee 
in its December 2020 report stated that 
local authorities are directly responsible for 
between 2- 5% of their local area’s emissions. 

However, local authorities have many levers 
that can be used to deliver wider local action 
to reduce emissions and prepare local areas 
for a changing climate (in our case local 
authorities means the Borough and County 
Council together). Key powers and duties are

• An overarching role to support the 
economic, health and social wellbeing of 
communities

• Planning powers over buildings and 
transport

• Enforcement of building regulations

• Powers to ensure buildings meet basic 
energy efficiency standards

• Duties to prevent homelessness and 
prevent hazards in housing

• Duties to manage risk including climate 
risks such as flooding

• Duties and powers to protect the 
environment, wildlife and heritage

• Duties to collect and dispose of waste

• Borrowing and investment powers

The Council’s Climate Change Working 
Group has been working through the wider 
issue of greenhouse gas emissions from 
the Borough, considering greenhouse 
gas emissions from travel and transport, 
housing, industry, agriculture, land use and 
biodiversity, waste, and energy production.

They have received evidence from 
many outside agencies and experts and 
considered suggested actions which could 
reduce emissions. 

P
age 44



31
TACKLING GREENHOUSE GAS EMISSIONS ACROSS THE BOROUGH -  

TOWARDS THE CLIMATE CHANGE ACTION PLAN PART 2

The important role played by community 
and voluntary organisations has been 
highlighted and the Working Group has 
been looking at what the Council may be 
able to do to assist, control or influence 
greenhouse gas emissions locally, as well as 
what is needed from Government and other 
agencies.

It is only through the joint efforts of many 
agencies, businesses and local voluntary 
organisations working together that 
greenhouse gas emissions from the Borough 
can be reduced to Net Zero.

The Council has a part to play but it does 
not, on its own, have the power to make 
these things happen. The Council will be 
drawing together the results of the Working 
Group’s work together with the results of 
public consultation into Part 2 of the Climate 
Change Plan to be published in the autumn 
of 2021. 

The Council has commissioned work by 
Anthesis to produce data on the Borough’s 
greenhouse gas emissions and to model the 
pathways to reduce these emissions locally 
in line with the UK’s current commitments to 
net zero.

P
age 45



T
his page is intentionally left blank



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
The Executive 

 
1 July 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Parks Strategy 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Damien Greenhalgh - Deputy 
Leader & Executive Councillor for 
Regeneration, Tourism and Leisure 
 
Councillor Jean Todd - Executive Councillor 
for Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Robert Wilks - Principal Officer (Leisure and 
Recreation) 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All 

 
Appendix 1 – Parks Strategy 
Appendix 2 – Park Management Plans 
Appendix 3 – Parks Strategy Consultation Summary 
Appendix 4 – Park Management Plans Consultation Responses 
Appendix 5 – Play & Outdoor Sports Facilities Investment and Delivery Plan 
Appendix 6 – List of HPBC parks and green spaces 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 To present documents which deliver on the corporate priority of Develop a 

Parks Development Plan as part of Aim 4 of the Council’s 2019-2023 
Corporate Plan to protect and improve the environment, including responding 
to the climate change emergency. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive approves the following: 

 New Parks Strategy and associated Park Management Plans.  

 The proposed introduction of a Parks Development Fund. 

 Play and Outdoor Sports Facilities Investment and Delivery Plan. 

3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 Aim 4 of the Council’s 2019-2023 Corporate Plan sets out an aspiration to 

protect and improve the environment, including responding to the climate 

Page 47

Agenda Item 5



  

change emergency. One of the key actions within this aim was to develop a 
Parks Development Plan and following further scoping work, this  has been 
refined to include:  

 

 Development of a new Parks Strategy and individual Park 
Management Plans for an initial set of formal parks. 

 Proposal to establish a Parks Development Fund. 

 Development of a ‘Play and Outdoor Sports Facilities Investment and 
Delivery Plan’. 

 
3.2 Since April 2020 the maintenance of the Council’s parks and green spaces 

has been undertaken by the Council’s service provider, Alliance Environmental 
Services (AES). The Council retained overall responsibility for the 
management and ongoing development of its parks and green spaces, 
supporting AES and valuable community partners such as ‘Friends of the 
Park’ groups. 
 

3.3 The community, individual and wider benefits of parks and green spaces, set 
alongside the recent transfer of maintenance responsibilities to AES supports 
the need to develop a strategy and management plans for our formal parks. 
Having these documents will ensure these spaces develop and are maintained 
effectively in the future given their size, individual features and assets.   
 

3.4 Creating a Parks Strategy will: 
 

 Set the overarching context and direction for the management and 
development of our parks and green spaces. 

 

 Outline the approach for managing, protecting and developing parks 
and green spaces which is considerate to the Council’s resources, 
management and maintenance responsibilities, including the 
contributions made by community and interest groups. 

 

 Highlight a set of principles to guide future maintenance, investment, 
community engagement decisions and actions regarding our parks and 
green spaces. 

 

 Agree a set of priorities and objectives which focus effort, resources 
and decision making to ensure that parks and green spaces remain 
high quality spaces for everyone to enjoy. 

 

 Help secure additional investment and external funding to enhance the 
parks infrastructure, facilities and opportunities for the benefit of the 
community. 

 
3.5 The vision for our parks and greenspaces is that they will be vibrant, attractive 

and appropriately maintained spaces for the whole community to enjoy for a 
wide range of benefits. 

 
3.6 The Parks Strategy uses an evidence base to identify four Strategic Priorities: 
  

Page 48



  

1) Make investment in parks and green spaces a priority. 
 
2) Use resources effectively and sustainably. 
 
3) To increase the use of parks and green spaces for all. 
 
4) Work effectively with our communities and partners through positive 

community engagement. 
 

3.7 A set of 4 Principles have also been developed for use when considering any 
changes that affect the current or future management or maintenance of parks 
and green spaces. The reason these principles have been developed is to 
ensure that any changes to the management and ongoing development of 
parks and green spaces are appropriate, affordable, sustainable and deliver 
clearly against the aspirations of the Parks Strategy. 

  
3.8 Feeding out of the priorities and principles is a set of 8 Objectives that 

contribute significantly towards delivering the priorities of the Strategy. These 
objectives are carried forward into action plans within each park management 
plan, from which local actions or projects will be developed. 

 
3.9  Park management plans have been developed for the formal parks listed 

below due to their size, key features and complex maintenance regimes 
(Appendix 2). Management plans for Ashwood Park and Bankswood Park will 
be developed during 2021/22. 

 

 Buxton: Pavilion Gardens including The Serpentine. 

 Glossop: Howard Park and Manor Park. 

 Whaley Bridge: Memorial Park. 
 
3.10 Park management plans will be working documents, each containing action 

plans that detail how the objectives of the strategy will be delivered. These will 
evolve over time, be developed between the Council, service providers and 
community groups who have an interest in each park and be reviewed 
annually to ensure they continue to deliver against the Parks Strategy priorities 
and objectives.  

 
3.11 It is important to highlight that the Council owns and maintains many other 

highly valued parks, recreation grounds and green spaces (Appendix 6). 
These assets will be managed and developed using the principles of this 
strategy and existing maintenance regimes already in place that are specific to 
each site. Opportunities for future development, including work with 
community groups to improve or care for them will also be prioritised. 

 
3.12 As the Parks Strategy and Management Plans are new strategic documents 

for the Council, a period of 4 weeks public consultation was completed 
between Monday 18th January 2021 and Sunday 14th February 2021. A total 
of 85 responses were received to the parks strategy consultation and a further 
33 responses were received regarding park management plans. A summary of 
the responses can be found in Appendices 3 and 4. 

 

Page 49



  

3.13 A summary of the Parks Strategy consultation responses is included in 
Appendix 3 but the headline results for the main sections of the consultation 
are included below:  

 
o Priorities - 61.54% strongly agreed or agreed that the priorities 

proposed in the strategy were the right ones. 
 

o Principles - An average of 82.72% strongly agreed or agreed that the 
principles proposed in the strategy were the right ones. 

 
o Objectives (commitments) – 63.29% strongly agreed or agreed that 

the commitments (objectives) proposed in the strategy were the right 
ones. 

 
3.14 Where people disagreed or strongly disagreed with the proposed priorities or 

objectives, the majority of responses suggested that a greater emphasis 
should be placed on enhancing biodiversity.  

 
3.15 The Council is committed to producing a biodiversity strategy during 2021/22 

which will identify priorities for how the Council will enhance biodiversity as 
part of its commitment to tackling climate change. Whilst we wait for this 
document to be completed, opportunities to enhance biodiversity in our parks 
will continue with actions included in each action plan, under objective 1. 

 
3.16 To help take forward ideas that have been suggested via the public 

consultation process, consideration should be given to establish a Parks 
Development Fund. The suggested amount of £50,000 is proposed and would 
be allocated to be spent during the 2021/22 and 2022/23 financial years. If 
approved, the fund will be used support the development of projects which 
deliver against the priorities and objectives set out in the strategy. 

 
3.17 Should a parks development fund be agreed, the approved amount would be 

managed by Service Commissioning, seen as a revenue growth item and 
need to be factored into the MTFP accordingly.    

 
3.18 Play and outdoor sports facilities are important assets in many of our parks  

and it is important these facilities are provided, maintained and developed 
effectively. To ensure this happens, the proposed investment and delivery plan 
at Appendix 5 has been developed and highlights a proposed programme of 
refurbishment or/and replacement of selected facilties over a 4 year rolling 
period. 

 
3.19 The overall cost to deliver the first 4 years of this plan is estimated to be 

£393,000 and this would need adding to the recently approved medium term 
financial plan (MTFP) as a growth item. Where feasible these costs will be 
offset by Section 106 monies secured from housing developments where 
improvements to play or outdoor sports facilities is required. The impact of this 
results in additional revenue borrowing costs that are detailed in section 6.4. 

  
4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities 
 

Page 50



  

4.1 Aim 4 of the Corporate Plan is to provide “Effective provision of quality parks 
and open spaces”. In order to deliver this objective a commitment was given to 
develop a Parks Development Plan to support the widest community use of 
parks and support community / friends of the park groups.  

 
 Aim 2 of the corporate plan is to be “A responsive, smart, financially resilient 

and forward thinking council” 
 
5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 There are three options available to the council: 
 

1. To recommend that the Executive approve the documents within the scope 
of this report to help deliver on Aim 4 of the Council’s 2019-2023 Corporate 
Plan which sets out an aspiration to protect and improve the environment, 
including responding to the climate change emergency. (Recommended) 

2. Option to review areas of the proposed documents where there is concern 
or changes required with these documents brought back to committee for 
further review at a later stage. (Not Recommended) 

3. Do nothing (Not Recommended) 
 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
Parks provide a range of opportunities for people of all ages to 
engage in positive activities. Outdoor play and sports facilities can 
provide an outlet for young people and help deter them from 
antisocial behaviour, therefore it is important these facilities are 
provided and kept in a good condition.  
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
None 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
An EIA has been completed in accordance with the Council’s 
policy. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
There is no budgetary provision for introduction of a Parks 
Development Fund in the current financial year as this was 
identified via the public consultation process earlier this year. 
Consequently any spend in 2021/22 would need to be met from 
within existing resources; ideally savings within the service. In-year 
spend in excess of that which can be accommodated from such 
savings, would need to be funded from general reserves and 
balances. The 2022/23 budget cycle would allow the opportunity 
for inclusion of a growth item in the Medium Term Financial Plan to 

Page 51



  

cover the proposed spend in 2022/23 and any on-going 
requirement for future years. 
 
The proposed Play and Outdoor Sports Facilities Investment and 
Delivery Plan includes a request for £390,000 of capital funds to 
improve identified facilities over the course of the next 4 years. This 
is a growth item and results in additional revenue borrowing costs 
of £50 (2021/22) £3,576 (2022/23), £16,593 (23/24) and £26,593 
(24/25). Where it is appropriate to do so, s106 receipts will be used 
to reduce the reliance on the Council funding. The risk remains that 
should there be a delay or shortfall in anticipated s106 funding the 
on-going costs would have to be met by the Council. 
 
AES are responsible for the maintenance of play and outdoor 
sports facilities which the Council owns. The maintenance costs 
associated with these schemes can be contained within existing 
revenue budget provision. 
 
Key objectives proposed in the strategy may have a financial 
implication, however, until further scoping works are undertaken 
these implications are unknown. Further reports detailing any 
projects which have a financial implication for the Council would 
need to be brought forward at the appropriate time. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
There are no specific legal considerations at this stage.  
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
Aim 4 of the Council’s 2019-2023 Corporate Plan sets out an 
aspiration to protect and improve the environment, including 
responding to the climate change emergency. Development of a 
‘Parks Development Plan’ was highlighted as a key action. 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
A period of 4 weeks public consultation was completed between 
Monday 18th January 2021 and Sunday 14th February 2021. A 
web based survey collected responses via the Council’s website.  
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
Appropriate assessment will be made as per each project within 
the strategy 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director (People) and Monitoring Officer 
 

Page 52



  

Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

High Peak Corporate Plan 
High Peak Local Plan 
High Peak Open Space Study (2017) 
High Peak Tree Strategy (2016) 
Towards an Active High Peak (2017) 
Green Flag Award Framework 
 

Robert Wilks 
Principal Officer (Leisure and Recreation) 
robert.wilks@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
7. Detail 
 
7.1 Aim 4 of the Council’s 2019-2023 Corporate Plan outlines an aspiration to 

protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate 
change emergency and one of the key actions within this aim was to develop a 
Parks Development Plan. 

 
7.2  Our parks and green spaces have a major part to play in community and 

family life. They are places for us to socialise, enjoy being active, connect with 
nature and wildlife, relax, and reflect. Many parks contain heritage features 
which tell a story about the past. They can also play a part in providing a more 
sustainable future, contributing towards wider aspirations and priorities which 
the Council has.  

 
7.3  Since April 2020 the maintenance of the Council’s parks and green spaces 

has been undertaken by the Council’s own company and service provider, 
Alliance Environmental Services (AES). The Council retained overall 
responsibility for the management and ongoing development of its parks and 
green spaces, supporting AES and valuable community partners such as 
‘Friends of the Park’ groups. 

 
7.4 The community, individual and wider benefits of parks and green spaces, set 

alongside the recent transfer of maintenance responsibilities to AES, supports 
the need to develop a strategy and management plans for the formal parks. 
Having these documents will help ensure these spaces develop and are 
maintained effectively in the future given their size, individual features and 
assets.   

 
8.0 Parks Strategy 
 
8.1 For any new Parks Strategy to be effective, it is important to recognise the key 

evidence base and supporting documents which frame the provision, 
protection and development of our parks. It is also equally important for people 
to understand the current context in which our parks are managed and 
maintained as this will play a part in decision making and delivery of future 
projects.  

 
8.2 In the absence of a national Parks Strategy, there are a number of key 

strategies, plans and frameworks which help to set context and will inform the 
development of a new Parks Strategy. These are listed below:   

 

 Corporate Plan (2019-2023) 

Page 53

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/424/High-Peak-Corporate-Plan-2015-2019/pdf/HP_corp_plan_2015-2019.pdf
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/160/The-High-Peak-Local-Plan-Adopted-April-2016/pdf/The_High_Peak_Local_Plan_Adopted_April_2016.pdf?m=1514473710280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/3843/High-Peak-Open-Space-Standards-Paper/pdf/High_Peak_Open_Space_Standards_Paper.pdf?m=1544024522533
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/117/Good-practice-guide-3---trees-on-development-sites/pdf/Tree_Strategy_-_Good_Practice_Guide_3_-_Trees_on_Development_sites_2016.pdf?m=1518172718280
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/media/2765/HP-Physical-Activity-Strategy/pdf/Active_High_Peak_Strategy_document_final_version.pdf
https://www.greenflagaward.org/media/1019/green-flag-award-guidelines.pdf


  

 High Peak Local Plan (2016) 

 High Peak Open Space Study (2017) 

 High Peak Tree Strategy (2016) 

 Towards an Active High Peak (2017) 

 Green Flag Award Framework 
 
8.3  The vision for our parks and greenspaces is that they will be vibrant, attractive 

and appropriately maintained spaces for the whole community to enjoy for a 
wide range of benefits. 

 
8.4 The Parks Strategy uses this evidence base to identify four priorities; 
  

1) Make investment in parks and green spaces a priority 
 
2) To use resources effectively and sustainably 
 
3) To increase the use of parks and green spaces for all 
 
4) Work effectively with our communities and partners through positive 

community engagement 
 
8.5 In order to meet the objective of creating a Parks Development Plan and 

following further scoping work, this has been refined to include:  
 

 A new Parks Strategy and individual Park Management Plans for an 
initial set of formal parks. 

 Proposal to establish a Parks Development Fund. 

 Play and Outdoor Sports Facilities Investment and Delivery Plan. 
 
8.6 Creating a Parks Strategy will: 

 

 Set the overarching context and direction for the management and 
development of our parks and green spaces. 

 

 Outline the approach for managing, protecting and developing parks 
and green spaces which is considerate to the Council’s resources, 
management and maintenance responsibilities, including the 
contributions made by community and interest groups. 

 

 Highlight a set of principles to guide future maintenance, investment, 
community engagement decisions and actions regarding our parks and 
green spaces. 

 

 Agree a set of priorities and objectives which focus effort, resources 
and decision making to ensure that parks and green spaces remain 
high quality spaces for everyone to enjoy. 

 

 Help secure additional investment and external funding to enhance the 
parks infrastructure, facilities and opportunities for the benefit of the 
community. 

Page 54



  

 
8.7 A set of guiding principles have been developed for use when considering any 

changes that affect the current or future management or maintenance of parks 
and green spaces. The reason these principles have been developed is to 
make sure that any changes to the management and ongoing development of 
parks and green spaces are appropriate, affordable, sustainable and deliver 
clearly against the aspirations of the Parks Strategy. 

 
8.8 The guiding principles are as follows: 

 

 Use key strategies and industry recognised evidence as a base to inform 
decision making so that any changes, improvements or projects are the 
right thing, in the right place and for the right reason.  

 

 Ensure that any projects to protect or enhance our parks and open spaces 
are in keeping and proportionate with the overall purpose and heritage of 
our parks and deliver against one or more of the priorities listed in the 
strategy. 

 

 Any projects or improvements are developed with accessibility in mind, 
ensuring that wherever practical our parks are accessible to all. 

 

 Any new projects which have an impact on the ongoing maintenance of our 
parks are both affordable and sustainable. 

 
8.9 Feeding out of the priorities and principles is a set of 8 objectives that will 

contribute towards delivering the Strategy. These objectives are carried 
forward into action plans within each park management plan, from which local 
actions or projects will be developed. 

 
Objective 1: We will review maintenance regimes to ensure our parks and 

green spaces are maintained to a high standard, in an affordable 

and sustainable way and consider improvements to increase and 

enhance biodiversity and positively affect climate change. 

(addresses priorities 1, 2 and 4). 

Objective 2: We will ensure that infrastructure and heritage features are 

protected and well maintained, in accordance within the 

resources available to the Council (addresses priority 1, 2, 3 and 

4). 

Objective 3: Encourage and enable positive physical and mental wellbeing by 

developing strong partnerships with community groups, sports 

clubs and other stakeholder groups to ensure parks fulfil their 

potential for enabling healthy lifestyles for all ages (addresses 

priority 3 and 4). 

Objective 4: Ensure parks are safe, welcoming and accessible places for the 

whole community and that the highest possible standards of 

Page 55



  

health and safety are maintained by our service providers, event 

organisers and when engaging the community in projects 

(addresses priority 3 and 4). 

Objective 5: Actively encourage community engagement and involvement in 

the protection, maintenance and development of our parks 

(addresses priority 3 and 4). 

Objective 6: Effectively manage internal budgets and attract external funding 

wherever possible towards the ongoing maintenance and the 

future development of our parks (addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4). 

Objective 7: We will review park management plans and their associated 

actions plans annually to ensure these objectives are being 

delivered against effectively (addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4). 

Objective 8: We will create a Parks Development Fund to be used to make 

improvements to our parks and green spaces. (addresses 

priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

 
9 Park Management Plans  
 
9.1 Park Management Plans provide clear direction for the future management 

and maintenance of specific formal parks, ensuring they are maintained and 
developed effectively, whilst balancing the needs of residents and visitors 
alike.  

 
9.2 Due to the significant number of formal parks, informal parks, recreation areas 

and green spaces that the Council has responsibility for managing, it is not 
possible to have detailed management plans for all of them. Park 
management plans have been developed for the formal parks listed below due 
to their size, key features and complex maintenance regimes.  

 

 Buxton: Pavilion Gardens including Serpentine Walks, (Ashwood Park 
to be completed in 2021/22) 

 Glossop: Howard Park, Manor Park and Bankswood Park (to be 
completed in 2021/22)  

 Whaley Bridge: Memorial Park 
 

9.4 Management Plans for Ashwood Park and Bankswood Park will be completed 
during 2021/22 as there are currently a number of projects within both parks 
that are in development and these could fundamentally affect the contents of 
both plans. 

 
9.5  It is important to highlight that the Council owns and maintains many other 

highly valued parks, recreation grounds and green spaces (Appendix 6). 
These assets will be managed and developed using the principles of this new 
strategy and existing maintenance regimes already in place which are specific 

Page 56



  

to each site. Opportunities for future development, including work with 
community groups to improve or care for them will also be prioritised. 

 
9.6 Park Management Plans will: 
 

 Take a holistic approach to the future management of the park by 
assessing professional and community needs and desires. 

 To establish a shared vision and objectives for the park. 

 Ensure community involvement within the development and 
management of the park. 

 Establish standards that are effective and accountable to ensure clear 
management and maintenance objectives are identified and 
implemented. 

 Benchmark the park and analyse the management regimes and policies 
against best practice. 

 Prioritise resources and action to ensure effective management of the 
park and the success of any future developments. 

 
9.7 Park Management Plans include detailed information on a wide range of 

issues specific to each park, including heritage features, assets, historical 
information and facilities. Each plan also details how each park interacts with 
the communities surrounding them and highlights opportunities for their future 
development. 

 
9.8 As a result Park management plans will be working documents, each 

containing action plans that detail how the objectives of the strategy will be 
delivered. These will evolve over time and be developed between the Council, 
service providers and community groups who have an interest in each park. 

 
9.9 Action plans will be reviewed annually to ensure they continue to reflect the 

local circumstances and opportunities and that they are delivering sucessfuly 
against the objectives outlined in the parks strategy and opportunities 
highlighted locally. 

 
9.10 The Green Flag awards scheme regognises and rewards well managed parks 

and green spaces, setting the benchmark standard for the management of 
recreational outdoor spaces. Whaley Bridge Memorial Park is currently the the 
Council’s only park which holds this award and has done so for six successive 
years. Should Members wish to consider applying for a Green Flag award at 
other parks, officers would be able to advise on which park would be best 
positioned to achieve this and what implications may need to be considered 
further in order to achieve the award.   

 
10 Consultation  
 
10.1 As the Parks Strategy and Management Plans are new strategic documents 

for the Council, a period of 4 weeks public consultation was completed 
between Monday 18th January 2021 and Sunday 14th February 2021.  

 
10.2  The consultation process provided an opportunity for residents, friends of park 

groups, interest groups and partners to provide feedback on the documents 

Page 57



  

via the Council’s website. Direct communications, press releases, regular 
social media posts, email circulars to partners and professional networks were 
the main methods used to ensure as many people as possible had the 
opportunity to engage in the consultation process.  

 
10.3 A total of 85 responses were received to the Parks Strategy consultation, with 

some choosing to respond each of the 13 questions asked and others only 
replying to a selection of the questions.  

 
10.4 A summary of the parks strategy consultation responses is included at 

Appendix 3 but the  headline results for the main sections of the consultation 
are included below;  

 
o Priorities - 61.54% strongly agreed or agreed that the priorities 

proposed in the strategy were the right ones. 
 

o Principles - An average of 82.72% strongly agreed or agreed that the 
principles proposed in the strategy were the right ones. 

 
o Objectives (commitments) – 63.29% strongly agreed or agreed that 

the commitments proposed in the strategy were the right ones. 
 
10.5 Where people disagreed or strongly disagreed with the proposed priorities or 

objectives, the majority of responses suggested that a greater emphasis 
should be placed on enhancing biodiversity.  

 
10.6 The Council is committed to producing a biodiversity strategy during 2021/22 

which will identify priorities for how the Council will work to enhance 
biodiversity as part of its commitment to tackling climate change. Whilst we 
wait for this document to be completed, work to identify opportunities to 
enhance biodiversity in our parks begins and that action plans within each 
park management plan will be delivered uder objective 1 of the parks strategy. 

 
10.7 Once a biodiversity strategy has been developed, the parks strategy and 

management plans will be reviewed to ensure that biodiversity is sufficiently 
recognised. New objectives can be taken into account via a refresh of these 
documents at the appropriate time.        

 
10.8 A total of 33 responses were received for the individual park management 

plans and each of these responses detailed comments and ideas as to how 
each park could deliver against the objectives outlined in the strategy. Many of 
these responses were extremely relevant and changes to the management 
plans have been made to reflect these.  

 
11 Parks Development Fund 
 
11.1 Projects involving biodiversity, habitat creation/preservation, physical activtity 

and accessibility were highlighted in a number of the consultation responses. 
To help these ideas develop, consideration should be given to establish a 
parks development fund. The fund would be an approved amount of funding 
which could be utilised to deliver some of the ideas suggested via the 

Page 58



  

consultation. This fund could also be used as match funding to attract external 
funding to enhance our parks. 

 
11.2 A suggested amount of £50,000 to be spent during the 2021/22 and 2022/23 

financial years should be considered to support the development of projects 
which contribute towards delivery of the strategy. A different amount and focus 
for the Parks Development Fund could be considered, should Members feel 
there is an alternative approach to take.   

 
11.3 Should a Parks Development Fund be approved, the agreed budget would be 

managed by the Service Commissioning Team. The agreed budget would be 
classed as a revenue growth item and need to be factored into the MTFP at 
the appropriate time.    

 
12 Play and Outdoor Sports Facilities – Investment and Delivery Plan 
 
12.1 Play and outdoor sports facilities are important assets in many of our parks 

and green spaces. They are key attractions that help children, young people 
and adults keep active, build confidence, physical literacy and social skills.  

 
12.2 It is important that these facilities are provided, maintained and developed 

effectively. To ensure this happens, the proposed investment and delivery plan 
(Appendix 5) has been developed and highlights a proposed programme of 
refurbishment or/and replacement of selected facilties over a 4 year rolling 
period.  

 
12.3 To develop the plan, quality assessments of existing Council owned play and 

outdoor sports facilities have taken place. This highlights the facilties which 
require improvements, the approximate timeframe for when these 
improvements need to be delivered by and a budget estimate for how much 
the improvements are likely to cost.  

 
12.4 Delivery of the plan will be managed by Service Commissioning and this will 

include an annual review process where projects that have been delivered will 
be reclassified and any new projects included into the cycle for delivery in 
future years.  

 
12.5   The overall cost to deliver the first 4 years of this plan is estimated to be 

£393,000 and this amount would need adding to the recently approved 
medium term financial plan (MTFP) as a growth item. The impact of this 
results in the additional revenue borrowing costs detailed in section 6.4. 

 
12.6 There is scope to offset these costs by utilising section 106 monies that have 

been secured from housing developments where improvements to play or 
outdoor sports facilities is required. Where section 106 monies have been 
received by the Council, budget estimates take this into account and the 
request for funds has been reduced accordingly.  

 
12.7 Where section 106 monies have been requested from housing developers but 

not yet received, these have not been taken into account. However, as trigger 

Page 59



  

points for these monies to be paid to the Council are achieved in the future, 
the amount of capital funds required can be reduced accordingly. 

 
12.8 It also may be possible in some cases to secure external funding towards 

some of these projects and by doing so, budgets could be adjusted down 
accordingly. Whilst there are no guarantees external funding can be secured 
at this stage, and full costs included on that basis, the Council does have an 
excellent track record in partnership working and securing external funding to 
develop improvements to open space and sports facilities such as the 
example from Furness Vale where the Council has worked collaboratively with 
Community Organising Green Space (COGS) to enhance maintenance and 
facilities, including attracting significant amounts of external funding towards 
this work from a wide variety of sources.  

 
 

 

Page 60



P a g e  1 | 9 

 

 

High Peak Borough Council 

Parks Strategy 

2021-2031 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 61



P a g e  2 | 9 

 

Executive Foreword   

We are delighted to bring forward this strategy which brings together our ambitions together with 

the hard work and contributions from a wide range of sources including those from our officer team, 

partner organisations, community groups and councillors who each play an important and valuable 

role in maintaining, developing and improving the amazing parks in the High Peak.  

The High Peak is a beautiful place to live with so many valuable parks and green spaces on our 

doorstep. The challenge over the coming years is to protect, maintain and improve these wonderful 

assets to ensure they meet the current and future needs of our residents, whilst also delivering on 

some of the Councils wider aspirations such as ensuring our biodiversity can respond to climate 

change. 

We are up to that challenge, and this strategy will be used as a framework to prioritise how we 

manage our parks and green spaces in the future. It will inform work with our service partners, be 

used as a reference point to guide discussions and help develop new initiatives in our parks by 

working cooperatively together with community and interest groups so that our parks and green 

spaces become even better.  

Having a Parks Strategy will help the Council focus its internal resources to help attract additional 

resources and funding to enhance our parks and green spaces further and to deliver projects 

detailed in the individual park management plans which accompany this strategy.  

We would like to take this opportunity to thank once again those who have contributed so positively 

and generously towards the development of this strategy and look forwards to delivering our shared 

aspirations together in the years to come so that our Borough’s parks are better community spaces 

at the end of this strategy’s implementation. 

Cllr Damien Greenhalgh and Cllr Jean Todd 

Introduction 

High Peak has a population of approximately 92,000 (census 2011) and covers an area of 208 square 

miles. The Borough has a fantastic array of parks and green spaces which are enjoyed by 

communities for a vast array of different reasons. We are extremely proud of our parks and the 

value they bring to communities from a wide range of perspectives including biodiversity, economic, 

education, heritage and health and wellbeing and in developing this strategy, we wish to recognise 

these benefits and develop clear priorities which will protect and enhance them in the future.  

The list of parks below is defined as formal parks and each of these will have an individual park 

management plan which reflects their size, key features and complex maintenance regimes. Each 

management plan also includes a bespoke action plan to identify where local improvements can be 

made and that recognises the ongoing contribution of community groups and partners in delivering 

some of these actions with us. The parks strategy and management plans will also be particularly 

useful when planning for or recovering from any large scale or significant events which affects our 

parks, such as the incident in 2019 involving Toddbrook Reservoir in Whaley Bridge. 

 

Page 62



P a g e  3 | 9 

 

Formal Parks 

Buxton: Pavilion Gardens including Serpentine Walks, Ashwood Park (to be completed in 2021/22) 

Glossop: Howard Park, Manor Park and Bankswood Park (to be completed in 2021/22) 

Whaley Bridge: Memorial Park  

Neighbourhood Parks and Green Spaces 

Our smaller neighbourhood parks and informal green spaces are extremely valuable assets and 

contribute individually to the broad benefits already highlighted. They play an important part in 

community life and are extremely important to the people that use them.  

Each of our neighbourhood parks and green spaces will be managed and developed using the 

guiding principles within this strategy and via existing maintenance regimes that are specific to each 

site.   

As in many cases these spaces often contain their own natural features, have unique heritage value 

and in some cases, play facilities for children. Whilst they may not require detailed management 

plans, it is important to state that these are vitally important assets for local communities we are 

committed to improving these to ensure they remain that way.   

Why have a Parks Strategy? 

Parks and green spaces have such a major part to play in community and family life. They are places 

for us to socialise, enjoy being active, connect with nature and wildlife, relax and reflect. Many 

contain heritage features which tell a story about the past. They also play an important part in 

providing a more sustainable future, contributing towards climate change and biodiversity 

aspirations. 

Because of their wide variety of uses and benefits, it is important that their management and 

ongoing development is recognised and prioritised in a way in which everyone can understand and 

support.  

The reason for developing this Parks Strategy is to;  

 Set the overarching context and direction for the management and development of our 

parks and green spaces.  

  

 Outline the approach for managing, protecting and developing parks and green spaces which 

is considerate to the Council’s resources, management and maintenance responsibilities and 

the contributions made by community and interest groups. 

 

 Highlight a set of principles which guide future maintenance, investment, community 

engagement decisions and actions regarding our parks and green spaces.  

 

Page 63



P a g e  4 | 9 

 

 Agree a set of priorities and objectives which focus effort, resources and decision making to 

ensure that parks and green spaces remain high quality spaces for everyone to enjoy. 

 

 Help secure additional investment and external funding to enhance the parks infrastructure, 

facilities and opportunities for the benefit of the community. 

 

Strategic Context 

For this strategy to focus on the future effectively, it is important to recognise the key influencing 

documents and evidence base which frame the provision, protection and development of our parks 

and green spaces. It is also equally important for people to understand the current context in which 

these spaces are managed and maintained as this will play a part in decision making and the delivery 

of future projects.  

Corporate Plan (2019-2023) 

In 2019 a 4-year Corporate Plan was approved which identifies the main priorities which the Council 

will focus its resources on.  

The Parks Strategy makes a positive contribution to the four main aims of the plan highlighted 

below; 

Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak 

Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward-thinking council 

Aim 3: Protect and create jobs by supporting economic growth, development and regeneration 

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate emergency.  
 
An objective under Aim 4 is to provide “Effective provision of quality parks and open spaces” and in 
order to deliver this objective a commitment was given to Develop a Parks Development Plan to 
support the widest community use of parks and support community / friends of the park groups.  

 
High Peak Local Plan (2016) 

Local Plans are documents which ensure Councils deliver sustainable housing development. They 

should, as far as possible, reflect the aspirations of local communities and should strive to contribute 

towards their wider social, economic and environmental objectives.  

The five points below are taken from the High Peak Local Plan and the aspirations of this Parks 

Strategy contributes towards a number of them.  

Housing - setting the scale, distribution and mix of housing to be developed to support a changing 

population, identifying sufficient land to meet requirements and supporting policies 

Business - supporting the economy by providing sites for existing and new businesses, supporting 

the sustainability of town centres and specifying policies that address changing business needs 

Page 64



P a g e  5 | 9 

 

Environment - helping to mitigate climate change and adapt to its effects and conserving the natural 

and historic environment 

Health and wellbeing - supporting the needs of local people by enabling opportunities for leisure 

and recreation 

Infrastructure - enabling the provision of new infrastructure such as education, transport, health 

care and water supplies 

High Peak Open Space Study (2017) 

The High Peak open space study provides an evidence base that is used to help protect parks and 

open spaces, inform the future provision of parks and open spaces and helps to secure 

improvements to parks and open spaces. Using the evidence base contained in the study, the 

Council can secure investment from housing developments via Section 106 agreements which is 

then used to provide new or enhance existing facilities locally.  

Movement, physical activity and sport strategies  

Parks play a huge part in encouraging active lifestyles for the whole population. Our aspiration is for 

parks to be places which contain a range of facilities and opportunities where people will  be 

inspired to move more and realise the physical and mental benefits this is proven to bring about. 

Each management plan contains actions that encourage this and build on the existing offering 

contained within parks. Facilities such as skateparks, pump tracks, tennis courts and multi-use games 

areas will be maintained to a safe standard. We will work with communities to enhance these 

facilities, develop new facilities where appropriate and encourage activities within the parks which 

attract people of all ages to be more active.    

Play and outdoor sports facilities 

Council play areas and outdoor sports facilities in parks are important assets that help children, 

young people and adults keep active, build confidence, Improve physical literacy and social skills. We 

aspire to ensure our facilities are fun, accessible and free, helping to make parks an inviting 

destination for recreation and family time.  

It is important these facilities are provided, maintained and developed effectively and to ensure this 

happens, the open space study includes a quality assessment of all children’s play provision across 

the Borough that the Council is responsible for. This evidence base is used to identify where future 

provision or improvements are required and will support the business case for investing in these 

facilities in the future.  

Existing Council play facilities are maintained and repaired by the Councils service provider Alliance 

Environmental Services (AES). The Council leads in developing new play areas or the replacement of 

existing facilities. Projects to improve or develop play and outdoor sports facilities are included 

within park management plans and are specific to the needs locally.     

High Peak Tree Strategy (2016) 

Page 65



P a g e  6 | 9 

 

The High Peak Tree Strategy sets out how the Council will manage trees, both on its own land and  

private trees protected by legislation. The policy outlines the Council’s approach to tree 

management and is supported by detailed Good Practice Guides. These guides detail how tree works 

decisions are made and implemented by and summarises  how we manage risk and undertake 

inspections of trees.   

In situations where works to trees within our parks are required, or when projects are developed 

which propose to add new trees to our parks, the Council’s Arboricultural Officer will be consulted 

with and their recommendations implemented accordingly.  

Climate Change 

In 2019 the Council declared a climate change emergency and is committed to become 

carbon neutral in its internal operations and the services it delivers, by 2030. The 

environmental impacts of all planning and decision making relating to delivery of this 

strategy will be considered, so that our parks and green spaces contribute towards the 

Council’s targets for zero carbon emissions.   

High Peak Biodiversity Strategy 

The Council is developing a biodiversity strategy which will summarise how the Council will enhance 

biodiversity, a key contributor towards tackling climate change. Once this strategy is finalised, 

priorities from it will feed into the Parks Strategy relevant action plans within Park Management 

Plans. 

Green Flag 

The Green Flag Award scheme recognises and rewards well managed parks and green spaces, setting 

the benchmark standard for the management of recreational outdoor spaces. The Council is proud 

to have one Green Flag Award, at the Memorial Park in Whaley Bridge and we have a commitment 

to retain this award each year. 

The purpose and aims of the Green Flag Award are: 

• To ensure everybody has access to quality green and other open spaces, irrespective of 

where they live. 

• To ensure that these spaces are appropriately managed and meet the needs of the 

communities that they serve. 

• To establish standards of good management. 

• To promote and share good practice amongst the green space sector. 

• To recognise and reward the hard work of managers, staff and volunteers. 

Other related priorities 

In addition to these strategies and plans, parks and open spaces contribute to many other priorities 

which the Council, partners and communities share including economic, regeneration or preventing 

crime and antisocial behaviour. Links will be made to these through park management plans and in 

the delivery of their respective action plans.  

Page 66



P a g e  7 | 9 

 

Management Responsibilities  

High Peak Borough Council is responsible for the overall management of the parks listed in this 

strategy along with a range of other smaller parks, pocket parks and open spaces across the borough 

that are not listed. In addition to having the overall management responsibility, we work proactively 

with service providers, partners, community and interest groups to develop and deliver projects that 

protect, maintain or improve parks.  

Alliance Environmental Services (AES) is responsible for maintaining each of the Council’s parks and 

open spaces across the Borough. Park management plans and their associated action plans detail an 

agreed schedule of maintenance standards undertaken in each park, where no management plan 

exists for a park or open space, pre agreed maintenance schedules are adhered to. AES support the 

Council and community groups to deliver agreed projects that help protect and enhance parks for 

the benefit of the community. 

Community and interest groups including ‘Friends of the Parks’ are a vital and valued support 

network which play an important role in assisting the Council and AES in undertaking specific 

maintenance tasks and development projects. These groups are also viewed by the Council as the 

formal voice for the community to bring forwards ideas, energy and act as a mechanism to attract 

additional funding to protect, maintain or enhance aspects of the parks. 

*A diagram will be included to show this relationship in pictorial format rather than in text 

Vision 

Our parks and green spaces will be vibrant, attractive and actively maintained spaces for the whole 

community to enjoy for a wide range of benefits.  

Key Priorities 

1) Make investment in parks and green spaces a priority 

 

2) Use resources effectively and sustainably 

 

3) Increase the use and accessibility of parks and green spaces for all 

 

4) Work cooperatively with our communities and effectively with partners through positive 

community engagement 

*Priorities will be displayed using a diagram rather than in text 

Guiding Principles 

Guiding principles will be used when considering any changes that affect the current or future 

management or maintenance of parks and green spaces. The reason these principles have been 

developed is to make sure that any changes that are made to these spaces are appropriate, 

affordable, sustainable and deliver clearly against the aspirations of this strategy. 

Page 67



P a g e  8 | 9 

 

1) To use key strategies and industry recognised evidence to inform decision making so that 

any changes, improvements or projects are the right thing, in the right place and for the 

right reason.  

  

2) To ensure that any projects to protect or enhance our parks are in keeping and 

proportionate with the overall purpose and heritage of our parks and deliver against one of 

the priorities listed in this strategy. 

 

3) Any projects or improvements are developed with accessibility in mind, ensuring that 

wherever practical our parks are accessible to all. 

 

4) Any new projects which have an impact on the ongoing maintenance of our parks are both 

affordable and financially sustainable. 

Objectives 

Objective 1 We will review maintenance regimes to ensure our parks and green spaces are 

maintained to a high standard, in an affordable and sustainable way and make 

improvements to increase and enhance biodiversity and positively affect climate 

change. (addresses priorities 1, 2 and 4) 

Objective 2 We will ensure that infrastructure and heritage features are protected and well 

maintained, in accordance within the resources available to the Council. (addresses 

priority 1, 2, 3 and 4) 

Objective 3 Encourage and enable positive physical and mental wellbeing by developing strong 

partnerships with community groups, sports clubs and other stakeholder groups to 

ensure parks fulfil their potential for enabling healthy lifestyles for all ages. 

(addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 4 Ensure parks are safe, welcoming and accessible places for the whole community 

and that the highest possible standards of health and safety are maintained by our 

service providers, event organisers and when engaging the community in projects. 

(addresses priority 3 and 4)  

Objective 5 Actively encourage community engagement and involvement in the protection, 

maintenance, development and positive environmental impacts of our parks. 

(addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 6 Effectively manage internal budgets and attract external funding wherever possible 

towards the ongoing maintenance and the future development of our parks. 

(addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

Objective 7 We will review park management plans and their associated actions plans annually 

to ensure these objectives are being delivered against effectively. (addresses priority 

1,2,3 and 4) 

Page 68



P a g e  9 | 9 

 

Objective 8 We will create a Parks Development Fund to be used to make improvements to our 

parks and green spaces. (addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

Page 69



This page is intentionally left blank



P a g e  1 | 22 

 

 

 

 

 

 Howard Park  

 
Management Plan 

 
2021 - 2031

Page 71



P a g e  2 | 22 

 

 
1. Forward 
 
Howard Park is a Victorian Park, originally designed to maximise its natural features and provide 
an oasis in what was a rapidly growing urban environment fuelled by the expansion of the mills in 
the town.  It is thanks to both the benefactors (The Wood family) and the vision of the renowned 
landscape architect Henry Milner that we have today a park that provides a valuable recreational 
resource to this area of Glossop.  
 
With limited resources it is of paramount importance that priorities for the development of the 
park are identified. This management plan will recognise all of the valuable work that has been 
done to date and focus on the future management and maintenance of the park.  Taking into 
account sustainable considerations it will ensure that any developments or refurbishment are 
completed in a manner, which are sensitive to local community needs and the nature of the park 
in terms of its historic, ecological, and environmental value.  
 
 
        

2. Introduction 
 
This plan will define the current and future management and maintenance of Howard Park for a 
10-year period from 2021 to 2031 with a review annually. In compiling the plan we acknowledge 
the essential and valuable contribution from all key stakeholders, partners, councillors and 
community groups. Without their contribution this plan would be meaningless.  
 

 
 

3. The Purpose of the Management Plan 

It is imperative that this management plan provides clear direction for the future management 
and maintenance of the park, ensuring that the park is conserved and enhanced in its entirety 
whilst balancing the needs of visitors and residents alike.  
 
This management plan seeks to: - 

 Take a holistic approach to the future management of the park by assessing 
professional and community needs and desires. 

 To establish a shared vision and objectives for the park. 

 Ensure community involvement within the development and management of the park. 

 Establish standards that are effective and accountable to ensure clear management 
and maintenance objectives are identified and implemented. 

 Benchmark the park and analyse the management regimes and policies against best 
practice. 

 Prioritise resources and action to ensure effective management of the park and the 
success of any future developments. 

 

 

Page 72



P a g e  3 | 22 

 

 
 
4. Responsibility of the plan 
 
High Peak Borough Council is responsible for the overall management of all of our parks and open 
spaces.  
 
The Service Commissioning section of High Peak Borough Council working in partnership with all 
stakeholders and the community has compiled this plan.  Implementation of the plan will also be 
led by the Service Commissioning section with specific project leads as shown in the Action Plan.   

 
Likewise, the monitoring and review of the plan will be led by the Service Commissioning section. 
It is recognised that regular effective monitoring and review of the plan will ensure that the 
document evolves to meet changing priorities. 
However, all key stakeholders and users of the park together with the wider local community will 
be engaged to ensure that future revisions reflect a combination of views, needs and aspirations. 
 

 

5 Strategic Context of the Management Plan  
 

The Parks Strategy is the overarching document that sets out the strategic context which informs 
the management of all our parks.  For this strategy to focus on the future effectively, it is 
important to recognise the key influencing documents and evidence base which frame the 
provision and development of parks. It is also equally important for people to understand the 
current context in which parks are managed and maintained as this will play a part in decision 
making and delivery of future projects which aim to maintain and enhance the parks. 

 

The purpose of our Parks Strategy is to bring these key issues into focus and by doing so:- 
 
1) Set the overarching context and direction for the management and development of our 

parks and green spaces.  
2) Outline the approach for managing and developing parks and green spaces which considers 

the Councils resources, management and maintenance responsibilities and the 
contribution of partners, community and interest groups. 

3) Highlight a set of principles which will guide future maintenance, investment and 
community engagement in our parks and green spaces. 

4) Agree a set of priorities and objectives which focus effort, resources and decision making 
to ensure that parks and green spaces remain high quality spaces for everyone to enjoy. 

5) Help secure additional investment and external funding to enhance the parks 
infrastructure, facilities and opportunities for the benefit of the community. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 73



P a g e  4 | 22 

 

 

6 Site Details 
 
6.1 Site Address and Access 
 

Howard Park lies about 0.5km to the north-west of Glossop town centre. The 4.4-hectare site 
which rises from south to north sits in an area that is predominantly residential. Wood's Baths 
(Glossop swimming pool) is sited at the south-west corner of the park and Wood's Hospital 
(Reubens Retreat) at the north-west corner.  
 
The address for the park is: - 
 
Howard Park, Park Crescent, Glossop, SK13 7BQ 
 
It should be noted however that postal correspondence relating to the park should be directed 
to:   
 
Service Commissioning, Buxton Town Hall, Market Place, BUXTON. SK17 6EL 
 
A plan of the site is shown below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



P a g e  5 | 22 

 

 

Page 75



P a g e  6 | 22 

 

Car parking at the park is very limited with a small car parking area situated adjacent to Glossop 
Swimming pool. This car park can be accessed from Park Crescent. 
 
Although car parking is restrictive the park is easily accessible from the town centre of Glossop 
with a short walk of approximately 15 minutes. Glossop town centre has transport links via buses 
and train to Manchester, Sheffield and the surrounding areas of the High Peak and Tameside. 
 
The main entrance to the park is from Dinting Road, to the south with a secondary entrance at the 
north-east corner of the park at the junction of North Road and Park Crescent. Both entrances are 
clearly identified with stone gate pillars and iron railing in keeping with the original layout of the 
site as a public park. 
 
6.2 Ownership and Designations 
 
The site is exclusively owned by High Peak Borough Council and is designated as a Protected Major 
Park.   
 
The site is designated as a Conservation Area, Howard Park Conservation Area. 
 
The park sits within the Dinting Ward of High Peak Borough Council. The town of Glossop lies 
within the High Peak area of Derbyshire, with a resident population c33,000.  In recent years there 
has been an increase in residential developments and as such it is likely that population growth for 
the area will continue to rise. 
 
There are no rights of way across the site. 
 
Howard Park is within Old Glossop Conservation Area and the trees are an essential element of 
the landscape setting of the Conservation Area. The council will manage the trees accordingly 
following the principles set out in the Tree Policy and good practice guides.  
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
An aerial view of Howard Park in 1930 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 76



P a g e  7 | 22 

 

7 Physical Assets 
 
It is essential to fully understand the physical assets of Howard park including both natural and 
manmade features. This will assist in determining the strengths and weaknesses in the 
information base for the park. This in turn will provide a better understanding of the context of 
the park and inform how we might develop and effectively manage the park for the future. 
 
Howard Park is classed as a formal park. Its recognised value by all regular users and visitors to the 
park lies in its heritage, water courses, natural landscape, and formal planting. The park is an oasis 
of calm that creates a sense of peace and tranquillity. Howard Park has retained much of the 
original layout and as such the path network provides visitors with the opportunity to enjoy the 
natural contours of the park and the varied interest of the planting and landscape. 
 
Although the range of facilities on offer to visitors are limited this serves to add to its overall value 
and appeal, as a park that feels unchanged in an ever-changing world. 
 
The park has a small toddler play area that is regularly used by both visitors to the park and 
families using the swimming pool. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
8 Historical Heritage 
 

The heritage value of Howard Park is recognised by its Historic England classification as a Grade II 
Registered Park and Garden (List Entry No 1001517). 
 
In 1606, the manor of Glossop was acquired by the Howard family, whose head was the Duke of 
Norfolk and who also carried the title of Lord Howard of Glossop.  In the 19th century, the twelfth 
and thirteenth Dukes began the development of new Glossop, also now known as Howard Town, 
by constructing a new Town Hall, Market Hall, and railway station.  It was at this time that Lord 
Howard donated the land, now known as Howard Park, as a Jubilee gift to the town.  However, the 
money for its design and layout was provided by the Wood family, in particular Mrs Ann Kershaw 
Wood. 

Page 77



P a g e  8 | 22 

 

 
The Wood family were prominent wealthy local mill owners, Victorian Philanthropists who had an 
enormous influence on the development of industrial Glossop.  Ann Wood was married to Samuel 
Wood, the third son of John Wood who built Howard Town Mills.  Samuel and his brothers 
followed their father into the family businesses and made many gifts to the town.  It could be said 
that the Wood’s had developed a conscience about the needs of the workers, and this followed 
the national trend at the time in most large industrial towns, to provide a public park for 
recreational facilities. 
 
The triangular plot of land chosen for the park was on the northern edge of the town and was 
known as Barbers Clough.  It comprised of several small fields with a stream running through a 
gully (known as Robin Hood’s Gutter) and was traversed by footpaths.  A reservoir at the south-
eastern corner was to become the lake. 
 
The landscape architect who was employed for the design and layout of the park was Henry 
Milner.  Henry was the son of Edward Milner, who himself had become a well-known landscape 
architect and was renowned for his designs at Crystal Palace and more closer to home at the 
Pavilion Gardens in Buxton.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The design ideas of the time, particularly those of botanical specialisation, were put into practice 
at Howard Park.  These included a fernery, rock garden, clumps of tree species and an American 
garden.  It was a time when plants were better appreciated for their form and colour and the 
contribution, they made to garden design.  Trees were also planted to compliment the scheme 
and provide contrasting colour of foliage.  Milner enhanced the natural topography of the site to 
create changes of level, hiding and separating parts of the park so that the whole cannot be seen 
from any viewpoint.  Wood’s Hospital and Wood’s Baths were built at the same time, within the 
perimeter of the plot of land, thus offering three health promoting facilities all on one site.   
 
Howard Park, which should have originally been called Victoria Park in honour of the Queen’s 
Golden Jubilee, was officially opened in June 1888.  Mrs Wood and Lord Howard agreed between 
them that it should be named Howard Park.   

Page 78



P a g e  9 | 22 

 

 
The opening ceremony was very understated at the request of Mrs Wood whose husband Samuel 
and his brother Daniel had only recently died. It is in their memory that the Wood’s statue was 
erected.  In the local paper an observer describes the ceremony ‘. . . proceeding to the gates the 
Mayor unlocked them and simply said, I declare this park open to the public, which by the way, is 
one of the briefest speeches I have ever heard and to which can be applied the description short 
and sweet.’ 
 
A detailed description of the park is recorded in the Glossop Chronicle on 23rd June 1888.  The 
main features mentioned in this article are summarised below: 
 

 Over a mile of curving paths, at two points crossing the central stream over rustic bridges 

 A central water feature created from the stream, with a series of cascades and pools and 
rocks, culminating in an ornamental lake with an island 

 A bandstand and covered seat in a circular space placed with views north-south and east-west 
across the park 

 An ornate fountain 

 A maze, rockery, fernery, and an American Garden 

 Two ‘pretty’ entrance lodges at the north and south entrances to the park 

 About 14,000 shrubs and trees described as ‘an example of almost every species of plant that 
will succeed in this district and some of them a rare kind’. 

  
Carder in his article on The Work of Edward Milner in Derbyshire, states that the combination of 
Milner’s ‘natural’ landscape with formal features (statues, fountain and bandstand) is an example 
of how ‘the Victorian garden displayed a curious amalgam of the love of the natural countryside 
with a taste for what was often a laboriously contrived ceremonial.’ 
 
 Although the park remained primarily for informal recreation serving the local community, the 
lack of investment in public parks and the impact this had on the general maintenance, meant that 
some of the park’s main focal points, deteriorated and were subsequently removed. 
 
The bandstand and its covered seat were removed and replaced with the children’s playground.  
The fountain was also removed but the original stone base was retained and is now used as a 
bedding display. 
 
It is believed that the two stone lions near to the entrance off Dinting Road, were added to the 
park at a later date as they are not mentioned in the description of the park at its time of opening.  
Greenhouses were also installed which supplied plants for both Howard and Manor Parks, 
however, these were removed in 1976.  
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 79



P a g e  10 | 22 

 

9  Value Assessments 
 
9.1  Heritage Value 
 
The conservation status of Howard Park recognises its heritage value and emphasises the 
importance of protecting and conserving the park to preserve its historical character. 
 
The key assets of Howard  Park are also its key heritage features:- 
 
 

 The Wood’s Memorial Statue 

 The Howard stone Lions  

 The ornamental lake and watercourses 

 The stone base of the fountain 

 The original layout and landscape features as set out by Henry Milner 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
9.2 Educational Value 
 
Howard Park provides a wealth of opportunities as a valuable educational resource which can be 
utilised by the local primary schools, beavers, cubs, scouts, and brownies. Its strength as an 
educational resource lies in its retention of historical features and the relatively unchanged 
landscape layout of the park. These features provide opportunities for research and interpretation 
to recognise the parks significance. 
 

Page 80



P a g e  11 | 22 

 

9.3 Recreational Value 
 
Howard Park is a Victorian urban park, which predominantly serves the local community of 
Glossop. Its purpose is very much about informal recreation.  The design and layout of the park 
lends itself to quiet enjoyment, taking in the stunning views and vistas and ornamental lake.   
 
The park does have a small play area for toddler use. 
 
9.4 Amenity Value 
 
The park is easily accessible from the centre of Glossop and sits adjacent to Glossop swimming 
pool. It is valued by those that use it for its natural feel which is in sharp contrast to the facilities 
on offer at Manor Park. The park is an extremely important amenity resource to the local 
community and has a significant impact on the quality of life for local residents. 
 
 
9.5 Ecological Value 
 
Howard Park is a valuable green space located in an urban environment which creates a wildlife 
corridor to the open moorland beyond.  It provides important habitats for flora and fauna such as 
birds, small mammals, and invertebrates.   
 
The park’s character is very formal to preserve the integrity of the heritage landscape layout. This 
seeks to prevent the establishment of extensive informal areas which would detract greatly from 
its significance as a historic park. 
 
However, the extensive variation in tree and shrub planting together with the natural 
watercourses that flow through the park will support a wide range of increased opportunities to 
enhance the existing biodiversity of the park. 

 
10 Management Responsibilities  
 
High Peak Borough Council is responsible for the overall management of the Howard Park. We 
work with partners, community, and interest groups to develop and deliver projects that improve 
the green space. 

 
Alliance Environmental Services (AES) is contracted by the Council to undertake the day-to-day 
maintenance of the park and they also have the budgetary responsibility.  A schedule for the 
associated standards of maintenance is defined by the contract with AES, and the park itself has a 
specific maintenance schedule found in Appendix 1.  
 
Community and interest groups including ‘Friends of the Parks’ are a vital and valued support 
network and play an important role in assisting with maintenance and development projects. 
These groups also can provide additional capacity, undertake selected maintenance tasks and can 
attract additional funding to improve the parks.  
 

 
 

Page 81



P a g e  12 | 22 

 

11 Health and Safety  
 
Health and safety is of primary concern for the Council. AES are responsible for the day-to-day 
maintenance and management of the site and this includes keeping the park safe for the public to 
use. Daily visual inspections, six monthly in-depth surveys and regular tree inspections are all part 
of the suite of checks and procedures, which are in place. These will ensure that all issues, repairs 
and replacements are identified quickly and scheduled into the work programmes as necessary. 

 
The park has a site-specific risk assessment which is reviewed and updated annually by the 
Operations Service Lead (AES). All AES staff are given specific training to ensure they are always 
operating in a safe manner.  Any work on our parks and open spaces, which are carried out by 
external contractors, partners, community groups/volunteers are governed by the Council’s health 
and safety policies, which they must abide and follow.   

 
 
12 Involving Communities  
 
It is well recognised that for any park to be successfully managed it must respond to the needs of 
the local community and park users. Actively engaging and encouraging community participation 
and involvement is essential in the continued development of the park. 
 
The Friends of Howard Park are an active group who aim to: 
 

 Provide a community focus for the park 

 Take practical action to improve the park  

 Raise the profile of the park  

 Continue to raise funds to improve the park 
 
In 2005 the Friends of Howard Park was established. Since that time, the group have worked 
proactively to promote Howard Park as a key historical green space in Glossop. The group have 
undertaken regular annual events and community projects which have helped to generate 
community engagement, support and ownership in the park.  
 

13 Marketing and Communications 
 

High Peak Borough Council is responsible for managing Howard Park and has a variety of 
communication mechanisms that can be utilised to give feedback on the performance and 
continued relevance of this Management Plan. As the Council is committed to reducing the need 
for paperwork there is an increased reliance on the use of the relevant sections of the High Peak 
Borough Council Website.  
 
The Council has both a Facebook page and Twitter account 
 

 Facebook - https://m.facebook.com/highpeakbc 
 

 Twitter - https://twitter.com/HighPeakBC 
 

Page 82

https://m.facebook.com/highpeakbc
https://twitter.com/HighPeakBC


P a g e  13 | 22 

 

For anything specific to Howard park the link below gives a number of options for how you might 
get in touch 
 

 https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1665/Howard-Park-Glossop 
 
 
The Council can also be contacted by writing to  
 
Service Commissioning, Buxton Town Hall, Market Place, BUXTON. SK17 6EL 
 
 

14. Action Plan 
 

The Parks Strategy provides the guiding principles and headline priorities for the management and 
development of our parks and following on from this, we can develop specific site action plans.  
These plans identify our priorities, linked to the Strategy, and ensure they are appropriate, 
relevant, resourced and provide a flexible and realistic approach to realising the aims of the 
Management Plan.  
 

Parks Strategy Objectives 

 
Objective 1 We will review maintenance regimes to ensure our parks and open spaces are 

maintained to a high standard, in an affordable and sustainable way and consider 

improvements to increase and enhance biodiversity and positively affect climate 

change. (addresses priorities 1, 2 and 4) 

Objective 2 We will ensure that infrastructure and heritage features are protected and well 

maintained, in accordance within the resources available to the Council. (addresses 

priority 1, 2, 3 and 4) 

Objective 3 Encourage and enable positive physical and mental wellbeing by developing strong 

partnerships with community groups, sports clubs and other stakeholder groups to 

ensure parks fulfil their potential for enabling healthy lifestyles for all ages. 

(addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 4 Ensure that parks are safe, welcoming and accessible places for the whole 

community and that the highest possible standards of health and safety are 

maintained by our service providers, event organisers and when engaging the 

community in projects. (addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 5 Actively encourage community engagement and involvement in the protection, 

maintenance and development of our parks. (addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 6 Effectively manage internal budgets and attract external funding wherever possible 

towards the ongoing maintenance and the future development of our parks. 

(addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

Page 83

https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1665/Howard-Park-Glossop


P a g e  14 | 22 

 

Objective 7 We will review park management plans and their associated actions plans annually 

to ensure these objectives are being delivered against effectively. (addresses 

priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

Objective 8 We will create a Parks Development Fund to be used to make improvements to our 
parks and green spaces. (addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 84



P a g e  15 | 22 

 

Howard Park Action Plan 2020 -2030 
 
 

Objective 1 To protect and enhance biodiversity, address the effects of climate change and ensure the park is sustained for 
the future 
 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Explore areas for 

naturalisation across the site 

and identify opportunities 

(underpinned by professional 

advice from DWT) for habitat 

creation  

Autumn 

2021 

unknown HPBC Existing/ External 

funds 

AES/Council/Biodiversity 

Whaley/DWT/BB&BFC 

Signage on site/PR  

 

 

 

 

 

Review current maintenance 

regimes to identify best 

practice that reflects 

emerging principles which 

address climate change 

Spring 

2022 

unknown HPBC Existing/ External 

funds 

AES/Council/Biodiversity 

Whaley /DWT 

Signage on site/PR  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 85



P a g e  16 | 22 

 

Objective 2  To protect and preserve our heritage features 
 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Ensure that the heritage 
significance  of the park is 
protected and conserved for 
the future 
 

Ongoing  Council/Friends  AES/Council/Friends   

        

 

 

 

Objective 3 To identify opportunities for encouraging physical activity 
 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to promote and 

maximise the opportunities 

for physical activity within the 

park. 

Ongoing Unknown  HPBC HPBC/ Active 

Derbyshire/ Public 

Health/Friends 

group 

Public Health/ Active 

Derbyshire/Friends 

group/AES  

  

 

 

 

P
age 86



P a g e  17 | 22 

 

Objective 4 To ensure our parks are safe, welcoming and accessible for the communities they serve 
 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Work with external partners 

to identify easily accessible 

routes for all in the park 

Autumn 

2021 

 HPBC Unknown    

 

        

 

Objective 5  Actively encourage community engagement and involvement 
 

Action 

 

When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to support the 

Friends of the Park 

Ongoing  HPBC Unknown AES/other organisations   

Continue to engage with key 

stakeholders in the park  

Ongoing  HPBC Unknown AES/other organisations    

 

 

 

P
age 87



P a g e  18 | 22 

 

 

Objective 6 To ensure effective  financial management of resources 
 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Explore further external 

funding opportunities (HLF) to 

maximise developer 

contributions that have been 

allocated to the park  

2022/23  Council/Friends Identified s106 

funds 

AES/Council/Friends   

Remove and install new 
toddler facilities 
 

2021/22  Council/Friends Identified s106 

funds 

AES/Council/Friends   

Objective 7  Review and Monitoring 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Annual condition review of 

park infrastructure including 

seating, bins, paths 

Annual  Unknown  AES/HPBC AES/HPBC/Friends Friends group  n/a  

Annual review of action plan 

for the park  

Annual  n/a HPBC Existing  AES/Friends group/wider 

community  

 

 

 

 

 
 

P
age 88



P a g e  19 | 22 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Appendix 1 – Routine Maintenance Schedule  
 
 

Routine Maintenance Schedule – Howard Parks 

 

 
                                                                                                                                   * Indicates As Required 
 

Feature Activity Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Total  

                               
 

                              
 

General Amenity 
Grassland 

Mowing ( to include specification 
for formal parkland ie weekly if this 
is achievable)     * * * * * * * * *   * 

 

                              
 

Informal Grassland Mowing       1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

                              
 

Shrub Beds - Formal Weed/delitter (routine pruning) 
    1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     15 

 

  Winter Cultivation     1             1     2 
 

                              
 

Shrub beds - Informal Weed/delitter  
      1 1 1 1 1 1 1     7 

 

       
 

                  
  

P
age 89



P a g e  20 | 22 

 

Heather bed  
alpine/rockery 

Weed/delitter (routine pruning) 
    1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     15 

 

                              
 

Herbaceous Spring maintenance     1                     
 

  Summer maintenance       2 2 2 2 2 2 2     14 
 

  Winter maintenance                     1   1 
 

                

Seasonal bedding Preparation spring bedding                   1     1 
 

  Maintenance spring bedding 
1 2 2 2 2           1   10 

 

  
              

  Preparation summer bedding 
          1             1 

 

  Maintenance summer bedding 
          1 4 4 4 1     14 

 

Hedge - Beech Hedge cutting             1       1   2 
 

Autumn Leaves Clearance                       1 1 
 

  Mulch                     3 3 6 
 

Paths / hard Surfaces Blowing/Sweeping 
1 1 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 30 

 

Water Courses Inspect and keep clear of detritus 
Daily (working week)   

 

Whole Site Litter Collection - daily       1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

 

Litter Collection - weekly 1 1 1             1 1 1 6 
 

  Graffiti remove as and when it is 
identified within 24 to 48 hours                           

 

  Dog fouling - remove and dispose 
when identified                           

 

  Vandalism - make safe and either 
repair or report for remedial action 
within 24 hours                           

 

P
age 90



P a g e  21 | 22 

 

Playground Equipment  Inspections - visual  
                          

 

  Inspections - playground inspector 
                          

 

Litter Bins Empty - Daily        1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

  Empty - Weekly 1 1 1             1 1 1 6 
 

  Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

Benches Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

  Repaint Iron Work/Re-treat Timber 
with Solignum                         * 

 

                              
 

Signage Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

                              
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 91



P a g e  22 | 22 

 

 
 
 
 
 

P
age 92



 

 

 

 

 

Manor Park  

Management Plan 
 

2021 - 2031 
 

 

 
 
 

Page 93



P a g e  2 | 32 

 

1. Forward 
 
Manor Park was once the home of the Howard family with records showing that as early as 
the 16th Century there was a Manor House on the site. However, it was in the 18th Century 
that the site was developed. The old Manor House was demolished, a new Manor House 
built, and the grounds of the Manor landscaped to create formal gardens for the house. 
Since that time, built features of the site have been lost although evidence of some features 
still remain.  
 
Over the years the park has evolved into one of the main parks that serves the residents of 
Glossop and surrounding areas. Its popularity has grown and the park now offers a full range 
of recreational facilities that will attract visitors. 
 
With limited resources it is of paramount importance that priorities for the development of 
the park are identified. This management plan will recognise all of the valuable work that 
has been done to date and focus on the future management and maintenance of the park.  
Taking into account sustainable considerations it will ensure that any developments or 
refurbishment are completed in a manner, which are sensitive to local community needs 
and the nature of the park in terms of its historic, ecological, and environmental value.  

2. Introduction 

 

This plan will define the current and future management and maintenance of Manor Park 

for a 10-year period from 2021 to 2031 with a review annually. In compiling the plan we 

acknowledge the essential and valuable contribution from all key stakeholders, partners, 

councillors and community groups. Without their contribution this plan would be 

meaningless.  

 

3. The Purpose of the Management Plan 

It is imperative that this management plan provides clear direction for the future 

management and maintenance of the park, ensuring that the park is conserved and 

enhanced in its entirety whilst balancing the needs of visitors and residents alike.  

 

This management plan seeks to: - 

 Take a holistic approach to the future management of the park by assessing 
professional and community needs and desires. 

 To establish a shared vision and objectives for the park. 

 Ensure community involvement within the development and management of the 
park. 

Page 94



P a g e  3 | 32 

 

 Establish standards that are effective and accountable to ensure clear 
management and maintenance objectives are identified and implemented. 

 Benchmark the park and analyse the management regimes and policies against 
best practice. 

 Prioritise resources and action to ensure effective management of the park and 
the success of any future developments. 

 

4. Responsibility for the Plan 
 

High Peak Borough Council is responsible for the overall management of all of our parks and 

open spaces.  

The Service Commissioning section of High Peak Borough Council working in partnership 

with all stakeholders and the community has compiled this plan.  Implementation of the 

plan will also be led by the Service Commissioning section with specific project leads as 

shown in the Action Plan.   

Likewise, the monitoring and review of the plan will be led by the Service Commissioning 

section. It is recognised that regular effective monitoring and review of the plan will ensure 

that the document evolves to meet changing priorities. 

However, all key stakeholders and users of the park together with the wider local 

community will be engaged to ensure that future revisions reflect a combination of views, 

needs and aspirations. 

 

5 Strategic Context of the Management Plan  
 

The Parks Strategy is the overarching document that sets out the strategic context which 

informs the management of all our parks.  For this strategy to focus on the future 

effectively, it is important to recognise the key influencing documents and evidence base 

which frame the provision and development of parks. It is also equally important for people 

to understand the current context in which parks are managed and maintained as this will 

play a part in decision making and delivery of future projects which aim to maintain and 

enhance the parks. 

The purpose of our Parks Strategy is to bring these key issues into focus and by doing so: - 

1) Set the overarching context and direction for the management and development of 
our parks and green spaces.  

2) Outline the approach for managing and developing parks and green spaces which 
considers the Councils resources, management and maintenance responsibilities and 
the contribution of partners, community and interest groups. 

Page 95



P a g e  4 | 32 

 

3) Highlight a set of principles which will guide future maintenance, investment and 
community engagement in our parks and green spaces. 

4) Agree a set of priorities and objectives which focus effort, resources and decision making to 
ensure that parks and green spaces remain high quality spaces for everyone to enjoy. 

5) Help secure additional investment and external funding to enhance the parks infrastructure, 
facilities and opportunities for the benefit of the community. 

 

6 Site Details 
 

Manor Park is situated to the eastern side of the town centre of Glossop.  
 
6.1 Site Address and Access 

The postal address is as follows: 
 
Manor Park, Manor Park Road, Glossop High Peak SK13 7SH 
 
It should be noted however that postal correspondence relating to the park should be 
directed to:   
 
Service Commissioning, Buxton Town Hall, Market Place, BUXTON. SK17 6EL 
 

Page 96



P a g e  5 | 32 

 

A plan of the site is shown below 

 

Page 97



P a g e  6 | 32 

 

Public car parking is located via the Corn Street entrance which is signposted off the mini 
roundabout on High Street East. This road is the main A57 which runs through Glossop. 
 
The main public access to the park is via the car park at Corn Street with spaces to park 
approximately 65 cars and an additional 5 disabled bays. From this area of the park it is 
possible to follow the network of paths into the main body of the park. The formal entrance 
to Manor Park for pedestrian access only is located on the eastern side of the park from 
Manor Park Road. There are also several other pedestrian entrances located around the 
perimeter of the park which are identified on the map of the park. 
The park is easily accessible from the town centre of Glossop with a short walk of 
approximately 13 minutes.  
 
Glossop town centre has transport links via buses and train to Manchester, Sheffield and the 
surrounding areas of the High Peak and Tameside. There are bus stops near to Manor Park 
located on the main A57 and along Manor Park Road. 
 

6.2 Ownership and Designations 

Purchased from the Howard estate in the 1920’s, the park is exclusively owned by High Peak 
Borough Council and is designated as a Protected Major Park.  In 2006 the conservation area 
of Old Glossop was extended to include in its entirety Manor Park. 
 
Manor Park is divided relatively equally between the Wards of Dinting and Old Glossop of 
High Peak Borough Council.  

The town of Glossop lies within the High Peak area of Derbyshire, with a resident population 
of c33,000.  In recent years there has been an increase in residential developments and as such it is 
likely that population growth for the area will continue to rise. 

There is a restrictive covenant pertaining to most of the site, in that its main purpose must 
be for public recreational use. 
 
There are several rights of way within and across the site. 
 
Manor Park is within Old Glossop Conservation Area and the trees are an essential element of the 
landscape setting of the Conservation Area. The council will manage the trees accordingly following 
the principles set out in the Tree Policy and good practice guides. 
 

 

 

7 Physical Assets 

It is essential to fully understand the physical assets of the park including both natural and 

manmade features. This will assist in determining the strengths and weaknesses in the 

Page 98



P a g e  7 | 32 

 

information base for the park. This in turn will provide a better understanding of the context 

of the park and inform how we might develop and effectively manage the park for the 

future. 

Manor Park is a busy park attracting regular users from Glossopdale and the surrounding 

area along with visitors from further afield. There is a varied number of facilities to attract 

both visitors and regular users of all ages and abilities: - 

 

 Historic elements  
The rose garden wall, stables and ice well are all links to the past and remind us that 
the park was once a home and formal landscaped garden. 
 

 A large children’s play area which caters for both toddlers and juniors 
There is an extensive range of equipment for all ages 

 
Miniature railway 

 A miniature railway runs along a circular route through the park. Rides operate in 
the peak season under a concession 
 

• Informal sports areas, including 5 a side kickabout, tennis courts and a crazy golf 
course 
A range of activity areas that provide resource for informal sports activities 

 
• A skatepark and youth shelter 

Located adjacent to the car park this is a popular facility for children and young 
adults alike 
 

• Formal landscaping 
This includes the lake, floral displays, specimen trees, herbaceous border, and 
shrubberies 

 
• Semi natural woodland 

 
• A pavilion incorporating a café (which operates during peak season via a 

concession) 
The pavilion incorporates a café which is run seasonally, public toilets and the 

pavilion for Manor Park Bowlers 

 

• Bowling greens 
There are 2 bowling greens which are managed and maintained by the Manor Park 
Bowling Club 

 
 

Page 99



P a g e  8 | 32 

 

 

 
 
 

8 Historical Heritage 

8.1 The development of the site prior to its designation as a public park 

In the early 16th century, a relatively small manor house was on the site, owned by the 
Howard family (Dukes of Norfolk). The family was powerful on a regional basis and of 
national importance. Whilst records from this period exist it is unlikely that any gardens of 
great significance existed. 
 
By 1755 records show that parts of the site were being developed as a garden, with the 
construction for example of a greenhouse and a “Ho-Haw” (a sunken path that allowed 
workers to get to their employment in the mills without disturbing the outlook for the 
gentry at the manor). By the early 1780’s fine avenues of beech and chestnut and fir were 
developing. Plantations for shelter were established in the early 19th century, however, 
most of these would probably have been outside of the present-day park boundary. 
 
In 1851 the manor was all but demolished and rebuilt and enlarged by a branch of the 
Howard family. It is in this period that the gardens began to be developed in earnest. An 
Italian garden was constructed in the area between the house and stables with fountains 
and parterres, vases, columns, and statues. A Winter garden was developed and an 

Page 100



P a g e  9 | 32 

 

extensive terraced garden. As with most manors it was served by a kitchen garden. Evidence 
shows that this included a summerhouse and walk. 
 
In the following two decades the gardens were further developed with extensive 
horticultural plantings, the remains of which are evident today. During this period the town 
of Glossop was growing in population and prosperity, particularly with the development of 
mill-based industry. The population reached about 21,000 in 1856 and pressure for a public 
park was already mounting.  
 
In 1887 a park was opened in Glossop, but not Manor Park, these lands were still in the 
ownership of the Howard family. It was to be Howard Park that became the first public park 
in Glossop. Finally, in 1925 after more than 300 years in the ownership of the Howard family 
the Corporation of Glossop purchased the Hall and Gardens, at a price of £16,500, a small 
fortune for the time and a huge commitment for the Corporation. Significantly the estate 
agents’ details included glowing references to the Italian Garden, terraced lawns, a chain of 
fishponds and beautiful hanging woods and parklands. Evidence that all these features still 
existed at this time, albeit that their condition was not recorded. 
 
 
8.2 The history of the site as a public park 
 
The formal acquisition of the site took place in 1927 with its opening to the public in that 
year, by Major John Edwin Buckley J.P. A plaque commemorates this by the eastern 
lodge. 
 
Work commenced to develop the gardens into a public park. Funds were limited and to 
ensure sufficient were available “surplus land was sold” and some fittings, including the old 
iron fence. Initially the Hall continued to dominate some of the vistas from the park, 
however, the building of a wall across the park gateway near the house obscured these. The 
ice pit in the woods was filled in and tennis courts were constructed in readiness for the 
official opening. Links with the Hall were fast diminishing. The site was beginning to reflect a 
far different role, one of a public park. Access was improved with new bridges across the 
river, provision for refreshments were made in a pavilion (the building by the current 
bowling greens). Toilets were provided flanking the pavilion, and the lake was made 
available as a boating lake. The former kitchen gardens were developed as formal 
ornamental areas with bedding displays and herbaceous borders. Further developments 
included the bowling greens and putting area in the 1930’s.  
 
Whilst most of the transformation of the manor gardens into a public park was undertaken 
in the 1920’s and 30’s the park has continued to develop reflecting changing local needs. A 
press release from 1946 records the Mayor having the first sail on the lake. The lake depth 
was reduced to 18” to allow safe boating. An aviary was introduced in 1955 and by 1967 the 
Ordnance Survey Map of the area showed the sensory garden, then entitled the garden for 
the blind. A further press release in 1970 celebrated the opening of the mini train, however, 
by 1976 the train’s future was in doubt; at a charge of 3 pence per ride insufficient income 
was being raised. Luckily, the train survives today.  
 

Page 101



P a g e  10 | 32 

 

In more modern times a dog loo area was introduced in the 1980’s, crazy golf in 1996 and 
basketball posts, funded by the English Basketball Association, were installed in 1999. The  
Skateboard Park was constructed in 2002. Also in 2002 there was extensive damage to the 
park by flash flooding, destroying bridges, washing away riverbanks, destabilising walls, and 
leaving a thick layer of silt across the formal gardens and other areas close to the banks of 
Glossop Brook. By the following summer of 2003, most of the aesthetical works required 
after the flood were completed. 
 
 

9  Value Assessments  

9.1 Heritage Value  

Historical features are still evident in Manor Park which reflect the site was once the 
grounds of Glossop Manor. 
 
Of historical value within the park are: 
 

 The lake 

 The ice well from the original Manor 

 A sunken pathway and steps 

 A well 

 The old steps to a previous bridge across the sunken path 

 The barn (pre-dating the grounds from the Manor) 

 The wall around the formal gardens (part of the original enclosure for the Manor 
Kitchen Gardens) 

 The remnant hanging beech woodland located to the North Western fringe of the 
park. 
 

9.2 Educational Value 

Manor Park provides an invaluable educational resource which to date has not been 

explored to its full potential. Although there are a number of primary schools in the 

Glossopdale area their use of Manor Park as an educational tool has always been on an ad 

hoc basis. Opportunities to encourage regular use of the park could be explored.  

9.3 Recreational Value 

The park is an important recreational facility in the centre of Glossop, serving a community 
of more than 33,000 people and providing a variety of activities for a diverse interest and 
age range.  

Page 102



P a g e  11 | 32 

 

 
As the main public park serving the Glossopdale area it provides a wide range of facilities for 
all ages and abilities. The park offers visitors opportunities for casual walking, picnicking, 

tennis, 5 a side football, basketball, skateboarding, bowling, train rides and play. 
 

 

9.4 Amenity Value 

Covering an area of approximately 12 hectares the park is recognised as being integral to 

the heritage, visual amenity, and wildlife value of Glossop, providing a valuable 'breathing 

space' in a more built-up area.  Particularly given its location it provides an essential amenity 

resource for the town, offering extensive recreational facilities and forming an oasis within 

the urbanised community of Glossop. This amenity value can have a significant impact on 

the health, wellbeing, and quality of life for local residents.  

The corresponding economic value of the park is also significant as the park provides a 

resource that will attract economic activity in the area. From previous park user surveys, it is 

clear the park attracts visitors from further afield, particularly from the outskirts of North 

East Manchester and Tameside, which supports local tourism and the economic benefits 

this provides. 

Page 103



P a g e  12 | 32 

 

 

9.5 Ecological Value 

Due to its location with boundaries to both open countryside and the urban environment 
and several linear wildlife corridors, Manor Park assists in the migration, dispersal and 
genetic exchange of plant and animal species. Previous ecological studies have identified 
the habitats within the park which support a range of flora and fauna. 
 
Future development, management and maintenance of the park will aim to prevent 
fragmentation or disturbance of these areas and recognise the importance of the park as a 

whole in the protection of identified habitats and species. 
 

 

10 Management Responsibilities  

High Peak Borough Council is responsible for the overall management of Manor Park. We 

work with partners, community, and interest groups to develop and deliver projects that 

improve the green space. 

Alliance Environmental Services (AES) is contracted by the Council to undertake the day-to-

day maintenance of the park and they also have the budgetary responsibility.  A schedule 

for the associated standards of maintenance is defined by the contract with AES, and the 

park itself has a specific maintenance schedule found in Appendix 1.  

Community and interest groups including ‘Friends of the Parks’ are a vital and valued 

support network and play an important role in assisting with maintenance and development 

projects. These groups also can provide additional capacity, undertake selected 

maintenance tasks and can attract additional funding to improve the parks.  

 

11 Health and Safety  

Health and safety are of primary concern for the Council. AES are responsible for the day-to-

day maintenance and management of the site and this includes keeping the park safe for 

the public to use. Daily visual inspections, six monthly in-depth surveys and regular tree 

inspections are all part of the suite of checks and procedures, which are in place. These will 

ensure that all issues, repairs, and replacements are identified quickly and scheduled into 

the work programmes as necessary. 

The park has a site-specific risk assessment which is reviewed and updated annually by the 

Operations Service Lead (AES). All AES staff are given specific training to ensure they are 

always operating in a safe manner.  Any work on our parks and open spaces, which are 

Page 104



P a g e  13 | 32 

 

carried out by external contractors, partners, community groups/volunteers are governed 

by the Council’s health and safety policies, which they must abide and follow.   

 

12 Involving Communities  

It is well recognised that for any park to be successfully managed it must respond to the 

needs of the local community and park users. Actively engaging and encouraging 

community participation and involvement is essential in the continued development of the 

park. 

The Friends of Manor Park are a long-standing group who were established in 2004. The 

group aim to: 

 Provide a community focus for the park 

 Take practical action to improve the park  

 Raise the profile of the park  

 Continue to raise funds to improve the park 
 

Since their formation, the group have worked proactively to promote Manor Park as a key 

historical and recreational green space in Glossop. The group tackle issues and desires 

highlighted by park users and visitors, as well as undertaking a variety of community 

projects. The Friends are always keen to engage with other groups to enhance and improve 

the park and have undertaken regular annual events and community projects which have 

helped to generate community engagement, support and ownership in the park. 

 
Glossop has the benefit of a range of community organisations, many of whom see the park 
as integral to projects which enhance the town and we are keen to work with an support 
community involvement and initiatives which promote and enhance the town’s green 
spaces. 

 
The use of parks for events is something we are keen to encourage and Manor Parks layout 
provides ample space to host a range of events.  
 
 

13 Marketing and Communications 

High Peak Borough Council is responsible for managing Manor Park and has a variety of 

communication mechanisms that can be utilised to give feedback on the performance and 

continued relevance of this Management Plan. As the Council is committed to reducing the 

need for paperwork there is an increased reliance on the use of the relevant sections of the 

High Peak Borough Council Website.  

Page 105



P a g e  14 | 32 

 

The Council has both a Facebook page and Twitter account 

 Facebook - https://m.facebook.com/highpeakbc 
 

 Twitter - https://twitter.com/HighPeakBC 
 

For anything specific to Manor Park the link below gives a number of options for how you 
might get in touch 
 
 

 https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1546/Manor-Park-Glossop 

 

The Council can also be contacted by writing to  

Service Commissioning, Buxton Town Hall, Market Place, BUXTON. SK17 6EL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106

https://m.facebook.com/highpeakbc
https://twitter.com/HighPeakBC
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1546/Manor-Park-Glossop


P a g e  15 | 32 

 

 

14. Action Plan 

The Parks Strategy provides the guiding principles and headline priorities for the 

management and development of our parks and following on from this, we can develop 

specific site action plans.  These plans identify our priorities, linked to the Strategy, and 

ensure they are appropriate, relevant, resourced and provide a flexible and realistic 

approach to realising the aims of the Management Plan.  

Parks Strategy Objectives 

 
Objective 1 We will review maintenance regimes to ensure our parks and open spaces 

are maintained to a high standard, in an affordable and sustainable way and 

consider improvements to increase and enhance biodiversity and positively 

affect climate change. (addresses priorities 1, 2 and 4) 

Objective 2 We will ensure that infrastructure and heritage features are protected and 

well maintained, in accordance within the resources available to the Council. 

(addresses priority 1, 2, 3 and 4) 

Objective 3 Encourage and enable positive physical and mental wellbeing by developing 

strong partnerships with community groups, sports clubs and other 

stakeholder groups to ensure parks fulfil their potential for enabling healthy 

lifestyles for all ages. (addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 4 Ensure that parks are safe, welcoming and accessible places for the whole 

community and that the highest possible standards of health and safety are 

maintained by our service providers, event organisers and when engaging the 

community in projects. (addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 5 Actively encourage community engagement and involvement in the 

protection, maintenance and development of our parks. (addresses priority 3 

and 4) 

Objective 6 Effectively manage internal budgets and attract external funding wherever 

possible towards the ongoing maintenance and the future development of 

our parks. (addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

Objective 7 We will review park management plans and their associated actions plans 

annually to ensure these objectives are being delivered against effectively. 

(addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

Page 107



P a g e  16 | 32 

 

Objective 8 We will create a Parks Development Fund to be used to make improvements 

to our parks and green spaces. (addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 108



 

Objective 1 To protect and enhance biodiversity, address the effects of climate change and ensure the park is sustained for 
the future 

 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Identify opportunities to 

protect and enhance 

biodiversity of the site 

Autumn 

2021 
 HPBC 

 

Existing/External 

Funds 

DWT 

Other industry 

recognised professional 

bodies 

Signage on 

site/PR 

 

 

 

Explore opportunities for 

creating naturalised areas 

across the site  

Autumn 

2021 

unknown HPBC  Existing/ External 

funds 

HPBC/AES/Derbyshire 

Wildlife 

Trust/community 

groups including the 

Friends 

Signage on 

site/PR 

 

Review current 

maintenance regimes to 

identify best practice that 

reflects emerging principles 

which address climate 

change 

Spring 

2022 

unknown HPBC Existing/ External 

funds 

HPBC/AES /DWT/ 

Recognised industry 

professionals in this 

field 

Signage on 

site/PR 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 109



P a g e  18 | 32 

 

Objective 2  To protect and preserve our heritage features 

 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Ensure that the heritage 

significance  of the park is 

protected and conserved for 

the future 

Ongoing  HPBC/Friends  HPBC/AES/Friends   

 

 

 

Objective 3 To identify opportunities for encouraging physical activity 

 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to promote and 

maximise the opportunities 

for physical activity within 

the park. 

Ongoing Unknown  HPBC Council/ Active 

Derbyshire/ Public 

Health  

Public Health/ Active 

Derbyshire/Friends/ 

Move More Glossop 

  

 

 

 

 

P
age 110



P a g e  19 | 32 

 

Objective 4 To ensure our parks are safe, welcoming and accessible for the communities they serve 

 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Review path network to 

identify barriers to 

accessibility 

Spring 

2022 

Unknown HPBC/HPA 

Forum 

Existing HPA Forum/Friends/AES   

 

Objective 5  Actively encourage community engagement and involvement 

 

Action 

 

When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to support the 

Friends of the Park 

Ongoing  HPBC Unknown AES/other organisations   

 

 

Continue to engage with 

key stakeholders in the 

park e.g. ParkRun, Manor 

Park Bowling Club, Manor 

Park concessions for the 

Ongoing  HPBC Unknown AES/other organisations    

 

 

P
age 111



P a g e  20 | 32 

 

café and railway 

Explore opportunities to 

increase educational 

activities in the park  

Ongoing  HPBC/Move 

More 

Glossop/DSSP 

 Local schools/DSSP   

 

 

 

 

Objective 6 To ensure effective  financial management of resources 

 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Explore opportunities to 

maximise developer 

contributions that have been 

allocated to the park 

Ongoing  Council/Friends Identified s106 

funds 

AES/Council/Friends   

     

 

   

 

 

Objective 7  Review and Monitoring 

P
age 112



P a g e  21 | 32 

 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Annual condition review of 

park infrastructure 

including seating, bins, 

paths 

Annual  Unknown  HPBC/AES AES/HPBC/Friends Friends group  n/a  

Annual review of action 

plan for the park  

Annual  n/a HPBC Existing  AES/Friends 

group/wider community  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 113



P a g e  22 | 32 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 114



Appendix 1 – Routine Maintenance Schedule 

Routine Maintenance Schedule - Manor Park                                    

                                                                                                                                   * Indicates As Required 
 

Feature Activity 
Ja
n 

Fe
b 

Ma
r 

Apri
l 

Ma
y 

Jun
e 

Jul
y 

Au
g 

Sep
t 

Oc
t 

No
v 

De
c 

Tota
l 

 

                               
 

                              
 

General Amenity 
Grassland 

Mowing ( to include 
specification for formal parkland 
ie weekly if this is achievable)     * * * * * * * * *   * 

 

                              
 

Informal Grassland Mowing       1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

Fine Lawn  Mowing - weekly       1 1 1 1 1 1 1     7 
 

  Fertiliser Application       1   1             2 
 

                             
 

Shrub Beds - Formal Weed/delitter (routine pruning) 
    1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     15 

 

  Winter Cultivation     1             1     2 
 

Herbaceous Spring maintenance     1                     
 

  Summer maintenance       2 2 2 2 2 2 2     14 
 

  Winter maintenance                     1   1 
 

Rose beds Weed/delitter      1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     15 
 

  Winter/Spring prune     1               1   2 
 

  Pest and disease control 
(natural methods only) 

      1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

  Mulch                     1   1 
 

  Fertiliser Application     1                   1 
 

Seasonal bedding Preparation spring bedding                   1     1 
 

P
age 115



P a g e  24 | 32 

 

  Maintenance spring bedding 
1 2 2 2 2           1   10 

 

  Preparation summer bedding 
          1             1 

 

  Maintenance summer bedding 
          1 4 4 4 1     14 

 

Tennis Courts Routine sweeping       1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

  Re-paint lines     1                   1 
 

  Mosskill     1                   1 
 

  Net maintenance   1   1 1 1 1 1 1   1   8 
 

Rail line Route Herbicide Application   1                     1 
 

Autumn Leaves Clearance                       1 1 
 

  Mulch                     3 3 6 
 

Paths / hard Surfaces Blowing/Sweeping (category A) 
1 1 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 30 

 

  Blowing/Sweeping (category B) 
      1 1 1 1 1 1       6 

 

Water Courses Inspect and keep clear of 
detritus Daily (working week)   

 

Hedges Hedge cutting             1       1   2 
 

Whole Site Litter Collection - Daily       1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

 

Litter Collection - Weekly 1 1 1             1 1 1 6 
 

  Graffiti remove as and when it is 
identified within 24 to 48 hours                           

 

  Dog fouling - remove and 
dispose when identified                           

 

  Vandalism - make safe and 
either repair or report for 
remedial action within 24 hours                           

 

Playground 
Equipment  

Inspections - visual  
                          

 

P
age 116



P a g e  25 | 32 

 

  Inspections - playground 
inspector                           

 

Litter Bins Empty - Daily        1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

  Empty - Weekly 1 1 1             1 1 1 6 
 

  Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

Benches Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

  Repaint Iron Work/Re-treat 
Timber with Solignum                         * 

 

                              
 

Signage Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

                              
 

 

 

 P
age 117



Appendix 2 – Site Risk Assessment 
 

SERVICE AREA: Operational Services 
GROUP/SECTION: Horticulture   
ACTIVITY AND WORKPLACE: Management Public & General Risks at 

Manor Park & Corn Mill, Glossop 

 

NAME(S) OF ASSESSOR(S): Paul Farrell 
 

DATE OF ASSESSMENT: 22
nd

 February 2011 

 

LINE MANAGER’S NAME: Martin Sollis 
 

SIGNATURE: ……………………………………… 

   

   Risk rating prior to control 
measures 

 
Risk rating following 

implementation of control 
measures 

   A      x    B C  A      x    B C 

No. Potential Hazards Who is affected? 
Hazard 
Rating 

Like-
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

Control Measures to Eliminate / 
Minimise the Risk 

Hazard 
Rating 

Like- 
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

1.  

Public health and injury associated 
with use and movement around the 
Crazy Golf & sports courts area 
(tripping, slipping, impact injuries 
etc). 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) 

2 2 4 

Monitored for defects by on site staff. 
Quarterly site inspections & bi-annual inspection by 
H/S Officer 
Routine maintenance (sweeping etc) undertaken by 
on site staff as required.  
Power washed on ad-hoc basis as required. 
Provide signage indicating limit of Council’s liability. 
Serious defects repaired immediately. 

2 1 2 

2.  

Public health and injury associated 
with use and movement around the 
play area & skate park (tripping, 
slipping, falls from height, impact 
injuries, trapped fingers, sharp 
edges). 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) 

3 2 6 

All equipment purchased from company’s must 
meet British/ EU standards. 
Safer type surface used to cushion potential impact 
of falls. 
Inspected for defects, sharps etc by trained 
operative. 

2 1 3 

3.  

Public health and injury associated 
with use of Bridges/Abutments 
(slipping, falls from height). 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees. 

3 2 6 

Bridge edges protected by hand rails.  
Decking swept and maintained free of soil/debris. 
Monitored for defects by on site staff. 
Quarterly site inspections & bi-annual inspection by 
H/S Officer. 

2 1 3 

4.  

Public health & injury associated 
with flowering water/debris in the 
Glossop Brook & lake inlet/outlet 
(drowning/hyperthermia, impact 
injuries etc). 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees. 

3 2 6 

See separate Open Water Risk Assessment.  
High-risk sections fenced off (Rose Garden, Corn 
Street)  
Monitor river flow & re-fill deep pools with shingle at 
regular intervals if close to popular paddling spots 
Property Services have engaged a consultant to 
produce a Report / Recommendations on how best 
to manage/maintain areas subject to erosion. 

3 1 3 

P
age 118



P a g e  27 | 32 

 

SERVICE AREA: Operational Services 
GROUP/SECTION: Horticulture   
ACTIVITY AND WORKPLACE: Management Public & General Risks at 

Manor Park & Corn Mill, Glossop 

 

NAME(S) OF ASSESSOR(S): Paul Farrell 
 

DATE OF ASSESSMENT: 22
nd

 February 2011 

 

LINE MANAGER’S NAME: Martin Sollis 
 

SIGNATURE: ……………………………………… 

   

   Risk rating prior to control 
measures 

 
Risk rating following 

implementation of control 
measures 

   A      x    B C  A      x    B C 

No. Potential Hazards Who is affected? 
Hazard 
Rating 

Like-
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

Control Measures to Eliminate / 
Minimise the Risk 

Hazard 
Rating 

Like- 
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

5.  

Public health & injury associated 
with open water in the lakes 
(drowning/hyperthermia, impact 
injuries etc). 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees. 

3 2 6 

See separate Open Water Risk Assessment.  
High-risk sections fenced off (Lake outfall)  
 
Schedule in regular maintenance to deal with build 
up of silt. 
Install additional Deep Water Signage. 

3 1 3 

6.  
Water quality (contamination, 
spread of diseases, algae)  

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees. 

2 2 4 

Monitoring of wildfowl and rodent populations. 
Baiting of vermin. 
Maintain adequate water flows in and out of the 
lake/s. 
Treatment of algal blooms if require with public 
warning signs. 

2 1 2 

7.  

Public Health & injury associated 
with vermin (contamination of 
surfaces, spread of diseases)  

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees. 

2 2 4 

Monitoring of avian and rodent populations. 
Regular litter/waste collection 
Baiting of vermin. 
Power wash hardstanding and seating as required 

2 1 2 

8.  
Public health & injury associated 
with operation of miniature train. 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees. 

   
See separate Risk Assessment – Operation of 
Model Train in Manor Park. 

   

9.  

Public health & injury associated 
with trees in the Park (Impact 
injuries etc) 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees. 

 3 2 6 

Monitored for defects by on site staff. 
Condition Survey & Action Plan undertaken every 5 
years by qualified arboricultural officer.  
Re-inspection of individual trees dependant on level 
of risk. 

3 1 3 

P
age 119



P a g e  28 | 32 

 

SERVICE AREA: Operational Services 
GROUP/SECTION: Horticulture   
ACTIVITY AND WORKPLACE: Management Public & General Risks at 

Manor Park & Corn Mill, Glossop 

 

NAME(S) OF ASSESSOR(S): Paul Farrell 
 

DATE OF ASSESSMENT: 22
nd

 February 2011 

 

LINE MANAGER’S NAME: Martin Sollis 
 

SIGNATURE: ……………………………………… 

   

   Risk rating prior to control 
measures 

 
Risk rating following 

implementation of control 
measures 

   A      x    B C  A      x    B C 

No. Potential Hazards Who is affected? 
Hazard 
Rating 

Like-
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

Control Measures to Eliminate / 
Minimise the Risk 

Hazard 
Rating 

Like- 
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

10.  

Public health & injury associated 
with the outside electric supply 
boxes (electric shock/death) 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children), event 
organisers, participants & 
employees 

3 2 6 

Enclosed in secure boxes with padlocked front 
doors. 
Electric installations tested and meet minimum 
standards. 
Event organiser required to undertake risk 
assessments including electrical safety and their 
equipment must be PAT tested. 
Box and door monitored for defects by on site staff. 

3 1 3 

11.  

Public health & injury associated 
with park furniture (sharps – 
splinters, loose or weak seating 
slats, unstable footings) 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) 

2 2 4 

Furniture only purchase from reputable suppliers 
and installed to their specifications. 
Monitored for defects by on site staff. 
Quarterly site inspections & bi-annual inspection by 
H/S Officer. 
Serious defects either repaired immediately or item 
removed. 

2 1 2 

P
age 120



P a g e  29 | 32 

 

SERVICE AREA: Operational Services 
GROUP/SECTION: Horticulture   
ACTIVITY AND WORKPLACE: Management Public & General Risks at 

Manor Park & Corn Mill, Glossop 

 

NAME(S) OF ASSESSOR(S): Paul Farrell 
 

DATE OF ASSESSMENT: 22
nd

 February 2011 

 

LINE MANAGER’S NAME: Martin Sollis 
 

SIGNATURE: ……………………………………… 

   

   Risk rating prior to control 
measures 

 
Risk rating following 

implementation of control 
measures 

   A      x    B C  A      x    B C 

No. Potential Hazards Who is affected? 
Hazard 
Rating 

Like-
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

Control Measures to Eliminate / 
Minimise the Risk 

Hazard 
Rating 

Like- 
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

12.  

Public health & injury associated 
with use of paths and hardstanding 
areas (slips, trips, impact with 
vehicles etc) 
 
In periods of snow and ice 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children), event 
organisers, participants & 
employees 
 
Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) 
 

2 2 4 

Monitored for defects by on site staff. 
Quarterly site inspections & bi-annual inspection by 
H/S Officer. 
Serious defects either repaired immediately. or 
temporary measure undertaken to reduce risk to 
public. 
Regular sweeping 
All vehicles in Parks to adhere to speed limits and 
display orange flashing lights. 
See also generic risk assessment for snow and ice 
management in Parks and Public Open Spaces 
 
Our policy is to discourage the use of parks under 
such circumstances where there is an alternative 
bypassing pedestrian route.  This to ensure 
pedestrians are not encouraged to enter an area 
where footing is less assured at the same time as 
preventing physical damage to parks surfaces 
through the use of gritting salt.  The Council's more 
active policy is to work with our County Council 
colleagues to ensure those heavily trafficked areas 
in our towns are cleared and gritted insofar as is 
practical. 

2 1 2 

13.  

Public health & injury associated 
with woodland paths and 
hardstanding areas (slips, trips, 
falls, eye injuries etc) 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children), event 
organisers, participants & 
employees 

2 2 4 

Monitored for defects by on site staff. 
Quarterly site inspections & bi-annual inspection by 
H/S Officer. Serious defects repaired immediately.  
Leaves and debris removed in winter. 
Vegetation at side regularly trimmed to prevent 
encroachment. 

2 1 2 

P
age 121



P a g e  30 | 32 

 

SERVICE AREA: Operational Services 
GROUP/SECTION: Horticulture   
ACTIVITY AND WORKPLACE: Management Public & General Risks at 

Manor Park & Corn Mill, Glossop 

 

NAME(S) OF ASSESSOR(S): Paul Farrell 
 

DATE OF ASSESSMENT: 22
nd

 February 2011 

 

LINE MANAGER’S NAME: Martin Sollis 
 

SIGNATURE: ……………………………………… 

   

   Risk rating prior to control 
measures 

 
Risk rating following 

implementation of control 
measures 

   A      x    B C  A      x    B C 

No. Potential Hazards Who is affected? 
Hazard 
Rating 

Like-
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

Control Measures to Eliminate / 
Minimise the Risk 

Hazard 
Rating 

Like- 
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

14.  

Public health & injury associated 
with Corn Mill Car Park (slips, trips, 
vehicle/vehicle & pedestrian/vehicle 
impact injuries 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) 

3 2 6 

Design features – speed bumps, signage etc 
Monitored for defects by on site staff. 
Quarterly site inspections & bi-annual inspection by 
H/S Officer. 
Serious defects repaired immediately or temporary 
measures undertaken to reduce the risk to the 
public 

3 1 3 

15.  

Public health & injury associated 
with human generated waste & litter 
(contamination, spread of diseases, 
sharps etc 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children), event 
organisers, participants & 
employees 

3 2 6 

Monitored for defects by on site staff. 
Regular litter picking/waste collection 
System for reporting and collecting & disposal of 
sharps. 

3 1 3 

16.  

Public health & injury associated 
with dogs in the Park (fouling, bites 
etc) 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees 

3 2 6 

Monitored for problems by on site staff. 
Enforcement Officer will respond to specific 
complaints. 
Owners must keep their dogs under close control. 
Signs are installed. 

3 1 3 

17.  

Public health & injury associated 
with machinery storage /skip area 
(falls, impact injuries etc) 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees 

3 2 6 Monitored for defects by on site staff. 3 1 3 

18.  

Public health & injury associated 
with anti-social behaviour/criminal 
activity  

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees 

3 2 6 

Design features & signage – grills on pavilion etc 
Monitored for defects by on site staff and at 
weekend and evening by police. 
Illicit behaviour reported to appropriate authorities 

3 1 3 

P
age 122



P a g e  31 | 32 

 

SERVICE AREA: Operational Services 
GROUP/SECTION: Horticulture   
ACTIVITY AND WORKPLACE: Management Public & General Risks at 

Manor Park & Corn Mill, Glossop 

 

NAME(S) OF ASSESSOR(S): Paul Farrell 
 

DATE OF ASSESSMENT: 22
nd

 February 2011 

 

LINE MANAGER’S NAME: Martin Sollis 
 

SIGNATURE: ……………………………………… 

   

   Risk rating prior to control 
measures 

 
Risk rating following 

implementation of control 
measures 

   A      x    B C  A      x    B C 

No. Potential Hazards Who is affected? 
Hazard 
Rating 

Like-
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

Control Measures to Eliminate / 
Minimise the Risk 

Hazard 
Rating 

Like- 
lihood 

(AxB) 
Risk 

19.  

Public health & injury associated 
with Park Buildings and structures 
(falling debris, illegal access, 
unstable structures etc) 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children) & 
employees 

3 2 6 

Quarterly site inspections (external only) 
Bi-annual Inspection by Health & Safety Officer. 
Serious defects either repaired immediately or 
made safe. 
Users of pavilion (café/shop, bowlers) briefed to 
report defects to Property Services. 
Toilets inspected daily by maintenance operatives.  

3 1 3 

20.  

Public health & injury associated 
with erosion of grass & other 
natural surfaces etc (trips, etc) 

Visitors to the Park (adults 
and children), event 
organisers, participants & 
employees 

2 2 4 

Monitored for defects by on site staff. 
Quarterly site inspections. Bi-annual Inspection by 
Health & Safety Officer. 
Serious defects either repaired immediately. or 
temporary measures undertaken to reduce risk to 
public. 
 
Gullies & drains to be regularly inspected and 
debris removed as required.  

2 1 2 

 
 

P
age 123



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 124



 

Memorial Park 

Management Plan 
 

2021 - 2031 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 125



P a g e  2 | 27 

 

1. Forward 
 

Memorial Park provides an invaluable cultural and recreational resource for the local community in 
Whaley Bridge.  It is the only park in the town, and is primarily used for informal recreation, sporting 
activity and events.  Many local residents appreciate the historic value of the park, particularly its 
connection to the Jodrell family and the War Memorial commemorating the sacrifices made by the 
local community in 2 World Wars. Although the park had developed over the years to cater for 
changing needs it was in need of significant investment to meet the needs of the local audience and 
provide good quality recreational opportunities for the local community and surrounding rural areas 
that used the park. The successful award of funding in 2009/10 from the Heritage Lottery Parks for 
People was the beginning of a new era for the park. The park has been revitalised, providing high 
quality facilities and activities that have improved the quality of life for local residents and visitors to 
the town. 
 
This management plan seeks to recognise the significant investment that enabled the restoration 
and renovation improvements to be completed. It will focus on the future management and 
maintenance of the park, taking into account sustainable considerations that will ensure that any 
developments or refurbishment are completed in a manner, which are sensitive to local community 
needs and the nature of the park in terms of its historic, ecological and environmental value.  

 

2. Introduction 

This plan will define the current and future management and maintenance of the Memorial Park for 
a 10-year period from 2021 to 2031 with a review annually. In compiling the plan we acknowledge 
the essential and valuable contribution from all key stakeholders, partners, councillors and 
community groups. Without their contribution this plan would be meaningless.  

 
 

3. The Purpose of the Management Plan 
 
It is imperative that this management plan provides clear direction for the future management and 
maintenance of the park, ensuring that the park is conserved and enhanced in its entirety whilst 
balancing the needs of visitors and residents alike.  
 
This management plan seeks to: - 

 Take a holistic approach to the future management of the park by assessing professional 
and community needs and desires. 

 To establish a shared vision and objectives for the park. 

 Ensure community involvement within the development and management of the park. 

 Establish standards that are effective and accountable to ensure clear management and 
maintenance objectives are identified and implemented. 

 Benchmark the park and analyse the management regimes and policies against best 
practice. 

 Prioritise resources and action to ensure effective management of the park and the 
success of any future developments. 

 
 
 
 

Page 126



P a g e  3 | 27 

 

4. Responsibility for the Plan 
 
High Peak Borough Council is responsible for the overall management of all of our parks and open 

spaces.  

The Service Commissioning section of High Peak Borough Council working in partnership with all 

stakeholders and the community has compiled this plan.  Implementation of the plan will also be led 

by the Service Commissioning section with specific project leads as shown in the Action Plan. 

Likewise, the monitoring and review of the plan will be led by the Service Commissioning section. It 

is recognised that regular effective monitoring and review of the plan will ensure that the document 

evolves to meet changing priorities. However, all key stakeholders and users of the park together 

with the wider local community will be engaged to ensure that future revisions reflect a combination 

of views, needs and aspirations. 

 

5. Strategic Context of the Management Plan  
 
The Parks Strategy is the overarching document that sets out the strategic context which informs the 
management of all our parks.  For this strategy to focus on the future effectively, it is important to 
recognise the key influencing documents and evidence base which frame the provision and 
development of parks. It is also equally important for people to understand the current context in 
which parks are managed and maintained as this will play a part in decision making and delivery of 
future projects which aim to maintain and enhance the parks. 

 
The purpose of our Parks Strategy is to bring these key issues into focus and by doing so:- 
 
1) Set the overarching context and direction for the management and development of our 

parks and green spaces.  
2) Outline the approach for managing and developing parks and green spaces which considers 

the Councils resources, management and maintenance responsibilities and the contribution 
of partners, community and interest groups. 

3) Highlight a set of principles which will guide future maintenance, investment and community 
engagement in our parks and green spaces. 

4) Agree a set of priorities and objectives which focus effort, resources and decision making to 
ensure that parks and green spaces remain high quality spaces for everyone to enjoy. 

5) Help secure additional investment and external funding to enhance the parks infrastructure, 
facilities and opportunities for the benefit of the community. 

 
 

6. Site Details 
 
6.1 Site Address and access 
 
Memorial Park is situated within the centre of Whaley Bridge and runs almost the complete length 
of the town.  It is a formal urban park but is surrounded by open countryside, adjacent to the Peak 
District National Park Authority boundary and the Goyt Valley. 
 
The postal address is as follows: 
Memorial Park, Off Wheatsheaf Close, Whaley Bridge, High Peak SK23 7JB. 
 

Page 127



P a g e  4 | 27 

 

It should be noted however that postal correspondence relating to the park should be directed to:   
Service Commissioning, Buxton Town Hall, Market Place, Buxton SK17 6EL. 
 
Public car parking is located to the side of the sports pavilion and can be accessed from the sports 
field entrance off Park Road. Although the sports pavilion and MUGA are leased to Whaley Bridge 
Town Council the car park falls outside the boundaries of this lease and is therefore still managed 
and maintained by the Borough Council.  Disabled vehicle access is available in the park at the 
Wheatsheaf and Goyt Road entrances. The Goyt Road entrance gates can be opened to allow vehicle 
access to the area adjacent to the Memorial. Access at Wheatsheaf Road is limited. The removal of 
the bollard would only allow vehicle access onto the hard surfacing just inside the park. This 
entrance is used, for example, at the Remembrance service to assist those who are less able bodied 
to gain access closer to the park.  
 
A plan of the site is shown below. 

Page 128



P a g e  5 | 27 

 

 

Page 129



P a g e  6 | 27 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Signage in the park 
 
 
 
6.2 Ownership and Designations 
 
The park sits within the Whaley Bridge ward of the High Peak and is exclusively owned by High Peak 
Borough Council.  The town of Whaley Bridge lies within the High Peak area of Derbyshire with a 
resident population of approximately 6,500. The site is exclusively owned by High Peak Borough 
Council and is designated as a Protected Major Park.  Although not within the Conservation Area of 
Whaley Bridge, the park sits closely to this designated area and as such it would be necessary to 
consult with Conservation Officers before undertaking any major redevelopment of the park. 
 
There are four public rights of way across the site; Footpath 28, 29, 32 and 105. The river Goyt runs 
along the eastern edge of the park, and as such means that part of the park is also a flood plain.  
There is a designated wildlife site along the river edge and flood plain area of the park. Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust have produced a report on the nature conservation value of the site; Whaley Bridge 
Park and the River Goyt (HP084) Ecological Survey and Assessment.  
 

Memorial Park lies adjacent to the Whaley Bridge Conservation Area.  The trees are an essential 
element of  the landscape setting of the Conservation Area and the council will manage the 
trees accordingly following the principles set out in the Tree Policy and good practice guides. 

 

7. Physical Assets 

It is essential to fully understand the physical assets of the park including both natural and manmade 

features. This will assist in determining the strengths and weaknesses in the information base for the 

park. This in turn will provide a better understanding of the context of the park and inform how we 

might develop and effectively manage the park for the future. 

Page 130



P a g e  7 | 27 

 

Memorial Park has a number of facilities to attract visitors and regular users which includes:- 

 The Memorial and its setting, 1920’s original cast iron and pitch pine benches and bespoke 
street furniture including notice boards, signage and litter bins. 
All these elements were included in the park restoration project to enhance its heritage 
value and the quality of its facilities. 

 

 Woodland and tree planting and watercourses including the River Goyt 
The park has a very important woodland habitat which is a key feature of this open space, 
and is carefully monitored and managed by the council and AES.  The River Goyt also runs 
along the eastern boundary providing important waterside habitats.  Toddbrook Reservoir 
sits above the park on its eastern edge and although owned and manged by the Canal and 
Rivers Trust, it is very much seen as part of the park landscape with established linking walks 
from the park to the reservoir and beyond. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

New bridge crossing the River Goyt 
 

 

 Extensive path network (some with natural York stone edgings) 
The park provides many opportunities for walks throughout the historical and natural 
setting. The quality of these paths was improved as part of the restoration programme 
greatly improving accessibility through the park.  

Page 131



P a g e  8 | 27 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Path network within landscape setting 
 
 

 Horticulture Features 

The HLF restoration project for the park included the introduction of a number of soft 
landscaping elements to recognise the heritage planting detail that may have been evident 
in the park and this includes rose beds in the memorial area planted with varieties that may 
have been in the park in the 1920’s, ornamental shrub areas to create colour, scent  and 
horticultural interest and native shrub planting. 

 

 Toddler and junior play area and basketball area 
As part of the improvements to the Memorial Park a new play area was installed for both 
toddlers and juniors in August 2013. In addition to a range of play equipment the play area 
project also included elements of natural play and safe access to the river. A basketball area 
was subsequently installed in this area at the request of the Friends group and local 
community.  

 

 A junior and senior football pitch 
The top part of the park is very much seen as the sports and activity area with junior and 
senior grass football pitches, multi sports court, pavilion, skate park and pump track. The 
park is home to Whaley Bridge Football Club and although the council’s contractor maintains 
the grass pitches, the football club members are an extremely pro-active group carrying out 
a lot of the maintenance work themselves. As part of the improvement works in the park the 
senior pitch was extended, further drainage installed and a barrier fence erected. The 
completion of this work ensured that the senior football team could progress to a higher 
league (Cheshire League). 

 

 In-situ concrete skatepark and adjacent Pump track for 3 levels, beginners, intermediary 
and experienced  
Following the successful award of external funding from the Changing Spaces programme 
and Aiming High fund, a new in-situ concrete skatepark was built in 2012. This funding also 
enabled the Council to install a pump track adjacent to the skatepark. The pump track has 3 
tracks for beginnners, intermediaries and advanced users. Both of these elements are 
extremely popular and very well used. 

Page 132



P a g e  9 | 27 

 

 Sports pavilion and changing rooms 
The sports pavilion, including changing rooms was built from Sport England and Football 
Foundation funding in 19xxxxxx and although owned by the council, is leased to Whaley 
Bridge Town Council who maintain it and hire it out for use. It is primarily used by Whaley 
Bridge Football Club but can be hired by a variety of sports/community groups. 
 

 3G Multi-Use Games Area 
This facility is also managed and maintained by Whaley Bridge Town Council and has to be 
booked for use, but is open to community groups on a pay as you play basis or as a training 
facility by the football club. Taxal and Fernilee Primary School use it regularly during the 
week for PE lessons and also after school activities.  

 
 
 
 
 
  
 

 
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
New skatepark installed in 2012 

 
 

8. Historical/Heritage Information 
 
The following section details a brief history of the site, an understanding and acknowledgement of 
its heritage value, the Heritage Lottery/BIG Lottery Parks for People restoration project and 
interpretation of the heritage and how this is conserved and enhanced. This information is intended 
to give the reader a brief contextual flavour.   

 
8.2 The history of the site as a public park 
 
Historically, the park as we know it today was divided into two areas.  The area where the current 
children’s play equipment is located was known as Weir Fields.  Weir Fields was opened officially on 
11th September 1920 and contained a set of swings and several benches.  Due to a strike by the 
printers at the time, there was no press coverage of the opening ceremony.  However, 10 years 
later, the swings and seats were destroyed in a massive flood. 

Page 133



P a g e  10 | 27 

 

In the 1930s, up to the Second World War, Weir Fields was the venue for the sports events 
associated with the Annual Gala, which was organised by the then Whaley Bridge and Buxton Co-
operative Wholesale Society.  A sports event was held in Weir Fields and refreshments  provided at 
the Mechanics Institute on Market Street in the Town Centre.  For many years after the war, the 
annual Rose Queen Festival was also held in Weir Fields and it also now where the annual bonfire is 
organised by the Round Table. 
 
The park, except for Weir Fields, was donated to the community in 1921 by Colonel Ramsden-Jodrell 
in memory of those who gave their lives in the First World War. The unveiling of the Memorial and 
dedication service was conducted by the Reverend Evans on 4th May 1921, and inscribed were the 
names of 108 local men killed in the war.  Since then, the names of those lost during the Second 
World War have been added. The memorial itself, which is 20 feet high, cost £600 and was 
constructed from a granite obelisk, rising from Portland stone steps and topped by an ionic cross.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Unveiling of the cenotaph 4th May 1921 
 

In 1929, Lady Haig, the widow of Earl Douglas Haig the Commander of the British Forces in France 
during World War I, attended a ceremony in the park at which a total of 1000 ex - servicemen took 
part in the parade.  After the ceremony, Lady Haig planted a copper beech tree in the area just to 
the right of the Memorial along with a cast iron plaque.  The tree still stands today but the plaque is 
no longer there. 

 
During the Second World War, band concerts were held in the park, as was the annual British Legion 
Drum Head Service.  Anecdotal evidence also confirms that local schools organised a Pageant during 
the Coronation celebration in 1936. When the park was given to the people, it was managed and 
maintained from public donation by a trust consisting of four people.  In 1936, the newly formed 
Whaley Bridge Urban District  Council took over its management, and the park and Weir Fields 
were combined.  In 1974, High Peak Borough Council took on the ownership and management of the 
park and during the following years new play equipment was installed, seating along the various 
paths and the football pitches were marked up and hired by local teams. 
 

Page 134



P a g e  11 | 27 

 

In 2001, Whaley Bridge Town Council organised for an archway to be designed and installed at the 
Wheatsheaf Road entrance to the park.  The arch which commemorated the millennium, was 
officially unveiled on 3rd June 2001. 
 
Also at this time, plans were being developed with the Whaley Bridge Sports Association, the Town 
Council and High Peak Borough Council, for the development of a new multi sports area and 
changing facility. This had been identified as a need within the local community and was included in 
the Whaley Bridge Sports Development Plan.  It was agreed to construct the new facilities next to 
the existing football pitches. An application to Sport England for £130,000 was successful and further 
match funding was secured from the High Peak Borough Council, Whaley Bridge Town Council and 
Whaley Bridge Football Club. 
 
The facility was officially opened in 2002 and is now currently managed and maintained by the Town 
Council under a long-term lease from the Borough Council. The pavilion, which has a communal 
room and changing facilities with showers is primarily used by Whaley Bridge Football Club, although 
the Memorial Park ranger/gardener also has agreed use of the facility during normal working hours.  
Further development of the park continued to focus on sports and young people’s provision at the 
top of the park. A skatepark facility funded through a variety of organisations including the 
Countryside Agency, WREN, Tesco and Whaley Bridge Town Council was officially opened in June 
2002.  A small BMX track was installed a year later in the summer of 2003. 

 
8.3 The Heritage Lottery/BIG Lottery Parks for People Fund Restoration Project 
 
In 2009 the Council were successful in securing a development grant from the Heritage Lottery/BIG 
Lottery Parks for People fund for the park and subsequently submitted a Stage 2 application in April 
2010 to secure funding for a wide range of improvements to the park. The restoration of the 
cenotaph and memorial area formed a key part of this project together with enhancement of the 
main entrances to the park and the installation of a new play area. 

 
The successful delivery of this project has created the opportunity to instigate a long-term vision for 
the future of the park which will include improved management, maintenance regimes and 
community engagement. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Refurbished cenotaph and memorial area 2014 

Page 135



P a g e  12 | 27 

 

9. Value Assessments  

9.1 Heritage Value  
 
The park has significant  heritage value, of particular note is the cenotaph and memorial area. A 
separate Conservation Management Plan for the Memorial Park sets out the historical value and 
heritage significance of the park.   

 
9.2 Educational Value 

 
Memorial Park provides a valuable educational resource which is frequently utilised by the local 
primary schools, beavers, cubs, scouts and brownies. The ranger/gardener continues to work with all 
these groups to encourage outdoor activities and learning experiences in the park. Bug hunting, 
balsam bashing and tree planting are all activities that have been well attended by the local 
community groups. In addition, both schools have participated in projects to learn more about the 
World Wars and the significance of the park to remember those who lost their lives. In 2016 a group 
of fruit trees were planted in the park by schoolchildren and several dry stone walling courses have 
taken place in the park.  Working with the park ranger and Friends group, further organised 
educational and training opportunities are planned.  
 

 
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Taxal and Fernilee Primary School exhibition to commemorate the outbreak of World War l 

 
9.3 Recreational Value 
 
Memorial Park is the only park serving the local community of Whaley Bridge and in the absence of a 
leisure centre and very few other recreational facilities; it is an extremely valuable recreational 
resource.  This lack of access to parks and recreational facilities is exceptional in a town of this size.  
The park therefore provides a range of well used sports and play related amenities. 

 
 
 
 

Page 136



P a g e  13 | 27 

 

9.4 Amenity Value 
 
The park is located centrally in the town. As shown from the demographic information it serves a 
large and diverse community.  Particularly given its location it provides an essential amenity 
resource for the town affording recreational facilities and forming an oasis within the semi urbanised 
community of Whaley Bridge.  This amenity value has a significant impact on the quality of life for 
residents.  The corresponding economic value of the park is also significant as the park provides a 
quality of life that will attract economic activity in the area. The park is seen as one of the key 
attractions in the town, and as such is a priority for enhancement. It also links the town to other 
locally significant heritage attractions such as the Transhipment Sheds, Peak Forest Canal and the 
Toddbrook Reservoir. 
 
9.5 Ecological Value 
 
The park is a valuable green space located in a semi-rural environment.  The close linkages with the 
Peak District National Park provide an important wildlife corridor to the open countryside, and its 
natural features provide important habitats for flora and fauna such as birds, small mammals, and 
invertebrates, and an ecological survey and assessment of the park was undertaken by Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust in 2005.  
 
The woodland area is of significant ecological importance, supporting several species of birds  and 
mammals.  Bluebells and other woodland under-storey flora species are also found, and the lying 
deadwood provides a key habitat for invertebrates.  There is potential to further develop the 
woodland under-storey and manage the woodland sympathetically to fallen and standing dead 
wood.  The mature trees offer roosting and nesting sites for birds as well as providing a source of 
food. A bat survey carried out in 2009 identified that bats are present in the park. As well as the 
potential to erect bird boxes, bat boxes should also be considered as summer roosts.  There is a 
badger set in the woodland area behind the Memorial, as well as fox dens with regular sightings. 
 
Running along the edge of the park boundary, the river also has significant ecological value, 
supporting a variety of fauna such as kingfishers, grey heron and dipper, aquatic invertebrates, 
brown trout, other fish species and eels; there has also been a recent sighting of an otter.  The 
riverside vegetation extends into the park creating wetland areas that also have the potential to be 
developed 
 
 

10. Management Responsibilities  

High Peak borough Council is responsible for the overall management of the Memorial Park. We 
work with partners, community and interest groups to develop and deliver projects that improve the 
green space. 

 
Alliance Environmental Services (AES) is contracted by the Council to undertake the day-to-day 
maintenance of the park and they also have the budgetary responsibility.  A schedule for the 
associated standards of maintenance is defined by the contract with AES, and the park itself has a 
specific maintenance schedule found in Appendix 1. This park also benefits from a Park Ranger 
position who is employed by AES.  This post was originally funded by the HLF as part of the 
restoration programme but was then retained by the council. Although the Park Ranger has 
responsibility for park maintenance and health and safety, the role also has a significant community 
participation element working closely with the Friends group and other community organisations as 
well as running events and activities. 

Page 137



P a g e  14 | 27 

 

Community and interest groups including ‘Friends of the Parks’ are a vital and valued support 
network and play an important role in assisting with maintenance and development projects. These 
groups also can provide additional capacity, undertake selected maintenance tasks and can attract 
additional funding to improve the parks.  

 

11. Health and Safety 

Health and safety is of primary concern for the Council. AES are responsible for the day-to-day 
maintenance and management of the site and this includes keeping the park safe for the public to 
use. Daily visual inspections, six monthly in-depth surveys and regular tree inspections are all part of 
the suite of checks and procedures, which are in place. These will ensure that all issues, repairs and 
replacements are identified quickly and scheduled into the work programmes as necessary. 

 
The park has a site-specific risk assessment which is reviewed and updated annually by the 
Operations Service Lead (AES). All AES staff are given specific training to ensure they are always 
operating in a safe manner.  Any work on our parks and open spaces, which are carried out by 
external contractors, partners, community groups/volunteers are governed by the Council’s health 
and safety policies, which they must abide and follow.   

 

12. Involving Communities 

It is well recognised that for any park to be successfully managed it must respond to the needs of the 
local community and park users. Actively engaging and encouraging community participation and 
involvement is essential in the continued development of the park. 

The Friends of Memorial Park are a very active group who aim to: 
 

 Provide a community focus for the park 

 Take practical action to improve the park  

 Raise the profile of the park  

 Continue to raise funds to improve the park 
 
Following the delivery of the restoration and renovation of the park, the group that was originally 
formed in 2005 were reinvigorated.  Some of the original members of the group were joined by new 
members, keen to become involved in ensuring that the long-term sustainability of the park was 
managed with local community input.   The Friends group widely publicise their activities and events 
through press releases in the local papers, posters in the on-site notice boards, use of High Peak 
Radio, posters and flyers sent to the local schools and displayed in the library, shops, cafes and 
churches. 

 
 
 
 

Page 138



P a g e  15 | 27 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Friends of Memorial Park 
 
 
Whaley Bridge benefits from a wealth of community organisations, many of whom see the park as 
integral to projects which enhance the town and we are keen to work with an support community 
involvement and initiatives which promote and enhance the town’s green spaces. The use of parks 
for events is something we also want to encourage and the Memorial Park is already well used by 
Taxal and Fernilee Primary School, the Royal British Legion, Junior Park Run and Christmas Lantern 
Parade to name but a few.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 

4th July 2015 Grand Opening Event 

 
 

 

Page 139



P a g e  16 | 27 

 

13. Marketing and Communications 

High Peak Borough Council has the responsibility for managing Memorial Park and has a variety of 

communication mechanisms that can be utilised to give feedback on the performance and continued 

relevance of this Management Plan. As the Council is committed to reducing the need for paperwork 

there is an increased reliance on the use of the relevant sections of the High Peak Borough Council 

Website.  The Council has both a Facebook page and Twitter account 

 Facebook - https://m.facebook.com/highpeakbc 
 

 Twitter - https://twitter.com/HighPeakBC 
 

For anything specific to Memorial Park the link below gives a number of options for how customers 

might get in touch. 

 https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1664/Memorial-Park-Whaley-Bridge 
 

The Council can also be contacted by writing to Service Commissioning, Buxton Town Hall, Market 

Place, BUXTON. SK17 6EL 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 140

https://m.facebook.com/highpeakbc
https://twitter.com/HighPeakBC
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1664/Memorial-Park-Whaley-Bridge


P a g e  17 | 27 

 

14. Action Plan 

The Parks Strategy provides the guiding principles, headline priorities and objectives for the 
management and development of our parks and following on from this, we are able to develop 
specific site action plans.  These plans identify our priorities, linked to the Strategy, and ensure they 
are appropriate, relevant, resourced and provide a flexible and realistic approach to realizing the 
aims of the Management Plan.  
 
Parks Strategy Objectives 

 
Objective 1 We will review maintenance regimes to ensure our parks and open spaces are 

maintained to a high standard, in an affordable and sustainable way and consider 

improvements to increase and enhance biodiversity and positively affect climate 

change. (addresses priorities 1, 2 and 4) 

Objective 2 We will ensure that infrastructure and heritage features are protected and well 

maintained, in accordance within the resources available to the Council. (addresses 

priority 1, 2, 3 and 4) 

Objective 3 Encourage and enable positive physical and mental wellbeing by developing strong 

partnerships with community groups, sports clubs and other stakeholder groups to 

ensure parks fulfil their potential for enabling healthy lifestyles for all ages. 

(addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 4 Ensure that parks are safe and accessible places for the whole community and that 

the highest possible standards of health and safety are maintained by our service 

providers, event organisers and when engaging the community in projects. 

(addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 5 Actively encourage community engagement and involvement in the protection, 

maintenance and development of our parks. (addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 6 Effectively manage internal budgets and attract external funding wherever possible 

towards the ongoing maintenance and the future development of our parks. 

(addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

Objective 7 We will review park management plans and their associated actions plans annually 

to ensure these objectives are being delivered against effectively. (addresses priority 

1,2,3 and 4) 

Objective 8 We will create a Parks Development Fund to be used to make improvements to our 

parks and green spaces. (addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



P a g e  18 | 27 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 142



Memorial Park Action Plan 2020 -2030 

 

Objective 1 To protect and enhance biodiversity, address the effects of climate change and ensure the park is sustained for 
the future 
 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Explore areas for 

naturalisation across the site 

and habitat creation through 

professional advice (DWT) 

Autumn 

2021 

unknown HPBC Existing/ External 

funds 

AES/Council/Biodiversity 

Whaley/DWT/BB&BFC 

Signage on site/PR  

 

 

 

 

Review current maintenance 

regimes to identify best 

practice that reflects 

emerging principles which 

address climate change 

Spring 

2022 

unknown HPBC Existing/ External 

funds 

AES/Council/Biodiversity 

Whaley /DWT 

Signage on site/PR  

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 143



P a g e  20 | 27 

 

Objective 2  To protect and preserve our heritage features 
 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to work closely with 

the Canal & River Trust 

regarding permanent spillway 

options for Toddbrook 

Reservoir 

 

2021- 

2023 

Unknown  HPBC/CRT CRT/ Council  HPBC/CRT/ Friends group/ 

Town Council/Football 

Club 

  

Reinstatement of cenotaph  

 

2021  £40,000 HPBC Existing Friends group/ Royal 

British Legion  

Press 

release/Social 

media/Friends FB 

page 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 144



P a g e  21 | 27 

 

Objective 3 To identify opportunities for encouraging physical activity 
 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to promote and 

maximise the opportunities 

for physical activity within the 

park. 

Ongoing Unknown  HPBC HPBC/ Active 

Derbyshire/ Public 

Health/Friends 

group 

Whaley Active/ Public 

Health/ Active 

Derbyshire/Friends 

group/AES  

  

Objective 4 To ensure our parks are safe, welcoming and accessible for the communities they serve 
 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Investigate accessible path to 

top of park, bypassing steps 

by cenotaph 

2021 unknown HPBC  Unknown  HPBC/AES/Friends group Press 

release/Social 

media/Friends FB 

page 

 

 

Enhancements to pump track 2021 £10,000 HPBC Existing   AES/Friends group Press 

release/Social 

media/Friends FB 

page 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 145



P a g e  22 | 27 

 

Objective 5  Actively encourage community engagement and involvement 
 

Action 

 

When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to support the 

Friends of the Park 

Ongoing  HPBC Unknown AES/other organisations   

Continue to engage with key 

stakeholders in the park e.g. 

Whaley Bridge Football Club, 

ParkRun 

Ongoing  HPBC Unknown AES/other organisations    

 

 

Objective 6 To ensure effective  financial management of resources 
 

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to support Whaley 

Bridge Town Council with 

their pavilion extension 

project. 

2021/22 £70,000 WBTC External funds to be 

secured. 

HPBC/Whaley Bridge 

FC/Friends group 

  

Ensure compost bays are 

utilised properly 

2021 Unknown  WBTC/HPBC Existing  AES/Allotment plot 

holders  

Appropriate 

signage at compost 

bays  

 

P
age 146



P a g e  23 | 27 

 

Objective 7  Review and Monitoring 

        

Action When Estimated 

Cost 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Annual condition review of 

park infrastructure including 

seating, bins, paths 

Annual  Unknown  AES/HPBC AES/HPBC/Friends Friends group  n/a  

Continue to apply for Green 

Flag status for the park and 

ensure standards are 

maintained 

Annual  Application 

fee 

HPBC Existing  AES/Friends group/other 

stakholders 

Press 

release/Social 

media/Friends FB 

page 

 

Annual review of action plan 

for the park  

Annual  n/a HPBC Existing  AES/Friends group/wider 

community  

 

 

 

 

P
age 147



Appendix 1 – Routine Maintenance Schedule  

 

Routine Maintenance Schedule - Memorial Park (Whaley Bridge)                               

                                                                                                                                   * Indicates As Required 
 

Feature Activity Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Total  

                               
 

                              
 

General Amenity 
Grassland 

Mowing (to include specification 
for formal parkland ie weekly if 
this is achievable)     2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     16 

 

                              
 

Fine Lawn  Mowing - weekly       1 1 1 1 1 1 1     7 
 

  Fertiliser Application       1   1             2 
 

                             
 

                              
 

Heritage Grassland To be confirmed by Derbyshire 
Wildlife Trust                           

 

                              
 

Shrub Beds - 
Formal 

Weed/delitter (routine pruning) 
    1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     15 

 

  Winter Cultivation     1             1     2 
 

                              
 

Rose beds Weed/delitter      1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     15 
 

  Winter/Spring prune     1               1   2 
 

  Pest and disease control (natural 
methods only) 

      1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

  Mulch                     1   1 
 

  Fertiliser Application     1                   1 
 

P
age 148



P a g e  25 | 27 

 

                             
 

Shrub beds - 
Informal 

Weed/delitter  
      1 1 1 1 1 1 1     7 

 

  Top up bark mulch     1                   1 
 

                              
 

Herbaceous Spring maintenance     1                     
 

  Summer maintenance       2 2 2 2 2 2 2     14 
 

  Winter maintenance                     1   1 
 

                             
 

Hedge - Beech  Hedge cutting             1       1   2 
 

                              
 

Autumn Leaves Clearance                       1 1 
 

  Mulch                     3 3 6 
 

                              
 

Paths / hard 
Surfaces 

Blowing/Sweeping 
1 1 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 30 

 

      
           

  
 

      
           

  
 

Water Courses Inspect and keep clear of detritus 
Daily (working week)   

 

      
           

  
 

Whole Site Litter Collection - daily       1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

 

Litter Collection - weekly 1 1 1             1 1 1 6 
 

  Graffiti remove as and when it is 
identified within 24 to 48 hours                           

 

  Dog fouling - remove and dispose 
when identified                           

 

  Vandalism - make safe and either 
repair or report for remedial action 
within 24 hours                           

 

                              
 

P
age 149



P a g e  26 | 27 

 

Playground 
Equipment, 
Skatepark and BMX 
Track  

Inspections - visual  

Daily (working week)   
 

  Inspections - playground inspector 
1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 12 

 

                              
 

Football Pitches As part of Parkwood Contract 
through Glendale                           

 

                              
 

Memorial Wash down base and memorial 
inscriptions                      1   1 

 

  Removal/repositioning of wreaths 
and tributes                     1 1 2 

 

                              
 

Litter Bins Empty - Daily  1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 12 
 

  Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

                              
 

Benches Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

  Repaint Iron Work/Re-treat 
Timber with Solignum                         * 

 

                              
 

Signage Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

                              
 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 

P
age 150



P a g e  27 | 27 

 

 
 
 
 

P
age 151



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

Pavilion Gardens and  

Serpentine Walks 
Management Plan 

 

2021 - 2031 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 153



 

 

1. Forward 

High Peak Borough Council together with its partners recognise the importance of the Pavilion Gardens 
and its value to the local and wider community and is committed to maintaining and developing where 
appropriate, the services and facilities offered and essential to this aim is engaging with the community 
to understand their needs and desires. 
 
With limited resources it is of paramount importance that priorities for the development of the park 
are identified. This management plan will recognise the valuable work that has been done to date and 
focus on the future management and maintenance of the park.  Taking into account sustainable 
considerations, it will ensure that any developments or refurbishment are completed in a manner 
which are sensitive to local community needs and the nature of the park in terms of its historic, 
ecological and environmental value.  

 

2. Introduction 

This plan will define the current and future management and maintenance of the Pavilion Gardens and 
Serpentine Walks for a 10-year period from 2021 to 2031. In compiling the plan we acknowledge the 
essential and valuable contribution from all key stakeholders, partners, councillors and community 
groups. Without their contribution this plan would be meaningless.  

 

 

3. Purpose of the Plan 

It is imperative that this management plan provides clear direction for the future management and 

maintenance of the park, ensuring that the park is conserved and enhanced in its entirety whilst 

balancing the needs of visitors and residents alike.  

This management plan seeks to: - 

 Take a holistic approach to the future management of the park by assessing professional and 
community needs and desires. 

 To establish a shared vision and objectives for the park. 

 Ensure community involvement within the development and management of the park. 

 Establish standards that are effective and accountable to ensure clear management and 
maintenance objectives are identified and implemented. 

 Benchmark the park and analyse the management regimes and policies against best practice. 

 Prioritise resources and action to ensure effective management of the park and the success of 
any future developments. 

 

 

4. Responsibility for the Plan 
 
High Peak Borough Council is responsible for the overall management of all of our parks and open 
spaces. The Service Commissioning section of High Peak Borough Council working in partnership with 
all stakeholders and the community has compiled this plan.  Implementation of the plan will also be led 
by the Service Commissioning section with specific project leads as shown in the Action Plan.  Likewise, 
the monitoring and review of the plan will be led by the Service Commissioning section. It is recognised 
that regular effective monitoring and review of the plan will ensure that the document evolves to meet 
changing priorities. However, all key stakeholders and users of the park together with the wider local 
community will be engaged to ensure that future revisions reflect a combination of views, needs and 
aspirations. 

 

Page 154



 

 

 

5. Strategic Context  
 

The Parks Strategy is the overarching document that sets out the strategic context which informs the 
management of all our parks.  For this strategy to focus on the future effectively, it is important to 
recognise the key influencing documents and evidence base which frame the provision and 
development of parks. It is also equally important for people to understand the current context in 
which parks are managed and maintained as this will play a part in decision making and delivery of 
future projects which aim to maintain and enhance the parks. 
 
The purpose of our Parks Strategy is to bring these key issues into focus and by doing so:- 
 
1) Set the overarching context and direction for the management and development of our parks and 

green spaces.  
2) Outline the approach for managing and developing parks and green spaces which considers the 

Councils resources, management and maintenance responsibilities and the contribution of 
partners, community and interest groups. 

3) Highlight a set of principles which will guide future maintenance, investment and community 
engagement in our parks and green spaces. 

4) Agree a set of priorities and objectives which focus effort, resources and decision making to ensure 
that parks and green spaces remain high quality spaces for everyone to enjoy. 

5) Help secure additional investment and external funding to enhance the parks infrastructure, 
facilities and opportunities for the benefit of the community. 

 
  
 
 

Pavilion Gardens 
6. Site Details 

6.1 Site Address and access 

The Pavilion Gardens is situated in the centre of Buxton and is a formal urban park surrounded by large 
Victorian houses, Guest houses and hotels.  The park, which is 8.54ha, provides a valuable green space 
in an urban setting and in particular its physical links to the adjacent Serpentine Walks. 
 
The postal address reflects the original main entrance being: 
The Pavilion Gardens 
St. John’s Road 
Buxton  
SK17 6BE 

 
It should be noted however that postal correspondence relating to the park should be directed to:   
Service Commissioning  
Buxton Town Hall 
Market Place. Buxton SK17 6EL 
 
Car parking is available from the main entrance to the park off Burlington Road, which is signposted 
from St. John’s Road and is pay and display. The park is served by bus stops on St. John’s Road and 
Buxton Train Station is five minutes walk from the park. There is on street parking in the surrounding 
area. 

 

Page 155



 

 

A plan of the site is shown below. 

Page 156



 

 

 

Page 157



 

 

6.2 Ownership and Designations 
 
The site is situated in the Buxton Central Conservation Area and is exclusively owned by High Peak 
Borough Council.  The park is listed as Grade II* on the Register of Historic Parks and Gardens 
maintained by English Heritage, which also include The Serpentine. Adjacent to the Gardens are the 
following listed buildings; The Octagon (Grade II), Paxton Suite (Grade II) and Opera House (Grade II*).   

 
There is a single public right of way (PROW) across the site, Footpath 73, but Footpath 83 runs next to 
the eastern edge at the park known as Broadwalk.  The park is designated as a major park within the 
High Peak Local Plan. The Pavilion Gardens and Serpentine Walks are within Buxton Central 
Conservation Area and the trees are an essential element of the landscape setting of the Conservation 
Area. The council will manage the trees accordingly following the principles set out in the Tree Policy 
and good practice guides.  

 

6.3 Area Information  

The parks itself sits within Corbar ward and also within the Buxton Central Conservation Area.  The 

town of Buxton lies within the High Peak area of Derbyshire, with a resident population of 

approximately 23,000.  There have been several recent residential developments and as such it is likely 

that growth will continue strongly.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The welcome board on the corner with Broad Walk 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 158



 

 

7. Physical Assets  

This area of Buxton is a focus for visitors from far and wide who come to see its historic attractions 
including the park. The very nature of the park’s proximity to the Pavilion Complex managed by 
Parkwood Leisure, means that visitors are very well catered for and the during the summer months the 
park is extremely busy. 

 
The park itself contains a range of assets and has a number of facilities for children, families, older 
people, visitors and locals, and these include:- 
 

 An historic parkland landscape 
Restored and enhanced as part of the HLF Programme. 

 

 Children’s play facilities for both toddlers and juniors 
Both toddler and junior play areas have been refurbished since the restoration programme, in 
2016 and 2011 respectively.  This was through grant funding secured by the Friends group and 
s106 developer contributions and is an extremely popular part of the park used by locals and many 
visitors. 

 

 Young people’s sports wall 
A popular sports wall located close to the play area which provides space for kickabout and 
basketball. 
 

 Outdoor gym equipment 
This equipment was installed as part of the junior refurbishment project in 2011 identified within 
the community consultation. Since its arrival, we have worked with the adjacent Leisure Centre to 
run outdoor gym sessions which proved very popular. All these facilities are co-located in the 
‘active zone’ of the park, bearing in mind its historical nature. 

 

 Bandstand 
This original feature was refurbished as part of the HLF restoration programme and is a key asset in 
the park.  Regular concerts are organised throughout the summer and it is used frequently for 
weddings due to its setting within the attractive formal parkland.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The bandstand  

 

Page 159



 

 

 Lakes and the River Wye with Cascades and a fountain 
All form part of the historical features within the park and enhanced as part of the restoration 
programme.  
 

 A Promenade and several walks 
The park provides many opportunities for walks throughout the historical setting, taking in the 
views and vistas.  The Promenade is a very popular route as it runs adjacent to the Octagon, 
Conservatory and Opera House and is frequently used to support events held within the Pavilion 
Complex. 
 

 A kiosk providing light refreshments with toilets 
Although managed by Parkwood Leisure, the kiosk is located close to the ‘activity area’ within the 
park and it is well used facility by families and children particularly in the summer months. 
 

 Miniature railway 
A miniature railway runs along a circular route through the park which is also managed by 
Parkwood Leisure, and is another very popular attraction for visitors to Buxton.  
  

 Floral displays   
Another key feature is the floral displays which are an integral part of the historic landscape of the 
park and are maintained as such. 
 
 
 

8. Historical/Heritage Information  
 

The following section details a brief history of the site, an understanding and acknowledgement of its 
heritage value, the Heritage Lottery Restoration Project, and interpretation of the heritage and how 
this is conserved and enhanced. This information is intended to give the reader a brief contextual 
flavour.   
 
8.1 The history of the site as a public park 

 
At the turn of the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries, Buxton had become a popular destination for 
adventurous travellers.  At that time Buxton lay in the estate of the Dukes of Devonshire. Dr William 
Robertson in 1850 writes that Buxton had ‘many and various pleasure grounds, and promenades and 
plantation walks.’  It is at this time that Sir Joseph Paxton, employed by the 6th Duke of Devonshire as 
head gardener at Chatsworth, and produced plans for the development of the landscape and public 
spaces of Buxton including the Pavilion Gardens.  Within the Gardens, Paxton’s landscape contained 
rustic bridges, lakes and fountains and cascades. There is plenty of evidence to suggest that the gardens 
were richly planted with ‘ornamental shrubberies’.  Trees, too, were planted in variety including horse 
chestnut, elm, and silver birch as well as several varieties of weeping trees.  Paxton’s developments 
also included the creation of the Broad Walk that runs along the south eastern margins of the Gardens. 

 
Evidence suggests that the Pavilions Gardens were extensively ornamented by the middle of the 19th 
century with not only ornamental planting and water features but also rustic seats, wildfowl, cast-iron 
fencing and well-surfaced paths.  The formation of the Buxton Improvements Company in 1868 saw 12 
acres of the gardens gifted to them by the 7th Duke of Devonshire, for the purpose of erecting a 
pavilion for concerts and balls. However, it was on condition that the pavilion would be embellished by 
landscape gardening.  In 1870, Edward Milner started on the development of the Winter Garden or 
Pavilion and a year later, the new public gardens and pavilion were completed.  What was notable 
about Milner’s design was the emphasis on views across the site from various focal points such as the 

Page 160



 

 

bridges and the 
bandstand, 

and this was 
complimented 

by his careful 
consideration 

of the layout of the 
landscape.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

View of the Promenade and Octagon 
 

 
In 1927 the Buxton Corporation bought the gardens, and over the following years the character of the 
park changed quite dramatically.  Landscape features and elements were lost and there were very few 
formal activities.  There was conflict between pedestrians and vehicles as there was no restriction on 
access, and cars began to utilise the Promenade to use the services of the swimming pool, Pavilion and 
Opera House.  By the mid 1990s, High Peak Borough Council recognised that although there had been 
several ad hoc developments in the Gardens, generally the park had begun to decline.  It was decided 
that there was a real need to enhance the Gardens and put them at the heart of the regeneration of 
Buxton, to enable them to be relevant for today and for the next 100 years. 
 
In 1996 the Council engaged the help of the Parklands Consortium to produce a Grounds Development 
Plan.  The plan included historical, landscape and land use surveys, consultation with the public and 
recommendations as to how to enhance the Gardens and this provided a restoration ‘blue print’ which 
was costed and phased.  The production of the Development Plan coincided with the launch of the 
National Lottery and its various grant giving bodies, and under the Heritage Lottery Fund programme 
the Council submitted an application for the restoration of the Pavilion Gardens.    
 
 
8.2 The Heritage Lottery Fund Restoration Programme 
 
After the funding application for £3.5 million was approved by the HLF, and £1.2 million from High Peak 
Borough Council was secured, a comprehensive restoration programme was initiated which due to its 
complex nature was phased over 7 years.  Over the 7-year period, the council worked in partnership 
with The HLF and specialist restoration companies including local firms Dorothea and Leander, to 
restore many of the features in the park to their former glory. Extensive consultation with the local 
community, businesses and other stakeholders was undertaken in the development of the overall 

Page 161



 

 

project, and each phase of work was also the subject of consultation focussing on the specific aspect of 
the work.   
 
The project saw the construction of a new double storey car park, new kiosk and toilets, refurbishment 
of the lake and bridges, the erection of park railings and entrance gates, tree management and planting 
along with horticultural displays based on the designs of Paxton, Milner and Hogg, pathway re-surfacing 
including the Promenade, the installation of adventure play and toddler play area and ‘Heritage’ golf, 
new bandstand, seating, litter bins, lamp standards and signage.  As well as a the production of the 
Development Plan for the park, a Conservation Plan was also created and was largely based on repair 
and enhancement of what survived of the original fabric, which inevitably, involved significant 
restoration.  Modern day usage of the park and other objectives of the Plan were also taken into 
account with a view to creating a high-quality park for the future as well as conserving the heritage of 
the past. 
There have been some minor changes in the years since the restoration programme, but the park 
remains a key green space for both Buxton’s heritage and as an important place for both locals and 
visitors alike. It should be noted that planned maintenance is co-ordinated with the results from 
inspections and may be altered according to actual and reactive requirements.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Lower lake and fountain 

 

9. Value Assessments 

9.1 Heritage Value  

The Pavilion Gardens is a nationally important public park, listed as Grade II* on the English Heritage 
Register of Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest, with exceptionally high heritage. The site was 
formally a post-medieval garden, however, there are no longer any archaeological features evident. A 
separate Conservation Management Plan for the Pavilion Gardens sets out the historical value and 
heritage significance of the park. 
 
Of particular note within the park include:- 

 
The Bandstand 
Old Bandstand plinth 
The 6 bridges 
Jordan’s Walk 

Page 162



 

 

The Broad Walk 
The large ornamental Urn 
The Fountain 
The original layout, landscape features and perimeter banking, lakes, water courses and vistas all set 
out by Edward Milner. 

 

9.2 Educational Value 
 

As a result of its heritage and culture, the educational value of the park is high, not only for children 
and young people but for the wider community. The park is mapped for orienteering with permanent 
markers.  Many of the surrounding schools and nurseries use the park for educational visits, but this 
also combined when the schools use Buxton Swimming Pool for lessons. Local Cubs, Rainbows and 
Brownie groups also use the park to help with planting and litter picking.  A Heritage Trail leaflet was 
developed for groups and families to use as part of a circular route around the park. 

 

9.3 Recreational Value 

 
The purpose of the park is very much about combining informal and formal recreation.  This is through 
recreating how the park would have been used at the turn of the 20th century for walking, taking in the 
views and vistas, admiring the decorative planting and water courses but also balancing the needs of 
modern-day users.  This includes not only the fixed facilities within the park such as the children’s play 
areas, sports wall and outdoor gym equipment but also activities which promote health, physical 
activity and well-being. The park is used by numerous groups and organisations for activities and events 
such as buggy fit group, running clubs and boot camps. Options are currently being explored to create a 
permanent cycling route through the park, which links safer routes throughout the town.  The 
management plan seeks to ensure that the park not only retains its historical integrity, but provides 
wherever possible the demonstrated needs of the local community and its considerable number of 
visitors. 

 
9.4 Amenity Value 

 
The park is situated in a highly accessible location, being adjacent to Buxton town centre and the 
historic core of the town.  The Park has its own double story car park and virtually unrestricted 
pedestrian access on all sides.  The park assists greatly in contributing towards local tourism and its 
associated economic benefits but is also an extremely important amenity resource to the local 
community.  This amenity value has a significant impact on the quality of life for local residents. 
 
9.5 Ecological value 

 
The park is within an urban area but has linkages with the other significant woodlands that surround 
Buxton, as well as the open moorland, countryside and the Peak District National Park. The Wye River 
comes from the moors through the park before being culverted under the crescent.  The park provides 
valuable green space in the centre of town that can be by used by wildlife such as birds, small mammals 
and invertebrates. Pavilion Gardens is closely linked to the Serpentine Walks being part of the same 
grade II* listing, and which although was also formally laid out, does have some areas which lend 
themselves more readily to naturalisation for the benefit of biodiversity. The links between Pavilion 
Gardens and these other areas are strengthened by the corridors of mature street trees and the 
predominantly large garden areas close to the park.  This management plan seeks to protect and 
enhance the habitats within the park, and the range of flora and fauna they support.   
 

Page 163



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Spring Flowers 

Serpentine Walks 

10.Site Details 

10.1 Site Address and transport  

Serpentine Walks is situated in the centre of Buxton and is a formal urban park surrounded by large 
Victorian houses, Guest houses and hotels.  The park, which is approx. 2ha, provides a valuable green 
space in an urban setting and in particular its physical links to the adjacent Pavilion Gardens. 
 
The postal address reflects the original main entrance being: 
Burlington Road 
Buxton  
SK17 9AR 

 
It should be noted however that postal correspondence relating to the park should be directed to:   
Service Commissioning  
Buxton Town Hall 
Market Place  
Buxton  
SK17 6EL 
 
A plan of the site is shown below. 

 
Car parking is available within the Pavilion Garden Complex from the main entrance off Burlington 
Road, which is signposted from St. John’s Road and is pay and display. The park is served by bus stops 
on St. John’s Road and Buxton Train Station is five-minute’s walk from the park. There is on street 
parking in the surrounding area. 

 
 

Page 164



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

Burlington Road Entrance 

Page 165



 

 

P
age 166



 

 

10.2 Ownership and Designations 
 
The site is situated in the Buxton Central Conservation Area and is exclusively owned by High Peak 
Borough Council.  The park is also listed as Grade II* on the Register of Historic Parks and Gardens 
maintained by English Heritage, and both Serpentine Walks and Pavilion Gardens are included as one 
area under this listing. 

 
There is one vehicular right of way along the south of the site which allows access to the privately 
owned Serpentine House and the Serpentine Community Garden. There are no designated tree 
preservation orders on account of the fact that the local authority, which has clear policies to protect 
the environment, manages the park and as such further protection is not required.  

 

10.3 Area Information  
 

The parks itself sits within Corbar ward and also within the Buxton Central Conservation Area.  The 
town of Buxton lies within the High Peak area of Derbyshire, with a resident population of 
approximately 23,000.  There have been several recent residential developments and as such it is likely 
that growth will continue strongly.  
 
 

11. Physical Assets  
 

This area of Buxton is a focus for visitors from far and wide who come to see its historic attractions, and 
particularly the adjacent Pavilion Gardens. Serpentine Walks is not used as much by visitors due to its 
limited physical attractions and in some part due to the lack of knowledge of its existence. However, it 
is very well used and appreciated by the local community. It was laid out for informal recreation and it’s 
key features include:- 
 

 An historic parkland landscape 
The park was formally laid out for visitors to enjoy walks around the site taking in the views and 
vistas, and at that time (see historical information in section 4) was very much seen as an extension 
of the Pavilion Gardens.  Serpentine Walks was not included as part of the Heritage Lottery Fund 
restoration project with Pavilion Gardens, and as such the nature of the site has become more 
informal in parts. 

 

 The River Wye with cascades and an island 
All form part of the original historical features within the park and the creation of the island was 
key to developing an interesting infrastructure. 

 

 Several walks 
The park, by the very nature of its name ‘Serpentine Walks’ traditionally provided opportunities for 
walks around the historical setting. It also now caters for a green route through to the town centre 
from this side of Buxton incorporating the Pavilion Gardens.   

 

 Wildflower area and naturalised parts  
Due to the way in which the park has been managed over the years, this has led to the site 
becoming more informal in parts. In 2005 a wildflower meadow was created alongside the river 
edge at the entrance to the park of Burlington Road. Whilst this area provided much colour and 
visual impact during the first two years, due to a lack of deliberate intervention on a regular basis, it 
has changed in nature. Its future management requires further discussion. There are other areas 
which over time have developed a more natural appearance and there is scope to look at 
developing these areas to enhance and increase nature conservation and biodiversity.  

Page 167



 

 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Wildflower area – created c 2005 
 

 
 
 
12.    Historical/Heritage Information  

 
The following section details a brief history of the site and an understanding and acknowledgement of 

its heritage value. It is intended to give the reader a brief contextual flavour as the Serpentine Walks 

are not well documented.  

The New Buxton Guide by D. Orme, first published in 1821, contains a section on the Cold Bath. This 

was situated adjacent to Bath House on the present junction of Macclesfield Road and Burlington Road 

and the guide gives directions to the Cold Bath, ‘The foot-road leads through the Grove or Serpentine 

Walk, and over two meadows’, and the Guide contains a sketch of the Serpentine Walks which is shown 

below. This sketch is not very clear but demonstrates that the Serpentine Walks were landscaped as 

early as 1821. 

 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 168



 

 

The ‘Gem of the Peak’ by W. Adam, published in 1838 contains a section on the Serpentine Walks, ‘Along 
the course of the Wye, towards its source, northward (here reduced to a small but beautiful rivulet) 
these walks have been most judiciously formed, and afford an agreeable ramble to the Buxton Visitor. 
The stream is made highly interesting by being deepened in places to give a greater expanse of water 
and banked up in others to form miniature cascades. At suitable and convenient distances seats, alcoves, 
or rustic summer-houses, are made for the comfort of the invalid. The whole is admirably laid out and 
enriched with shrubs and luxuriant plantations’. Further work seems to have been carried out as the 
description continues in the 3rd edition of the book (published in 1843). 

 
In 1854 Dr William Henry Robertson produced his ‘Guide to Buxton and the Peak of Derbyshire’ and 

describes various areas within Buxton at that time. This Guide included the Serpentine and after 

describing the Slopes Dr Robertson continues, ‘Almost contiguous to these walks, at the west end of the 

Crescent, opposite to the Hall and the Square, are still more extensive walks and pleasure grounds, 

maintained and kept in order for the free use of the public. These walks, which have been much 

extended and improved of late, are carried through a long belt of plantation, on both sides of the river 

Wye; the stream being crossed and re-crossed by rustic bridges, diversified by waterfalls, and in other 

ways subjected to the requirements of ornamental grounds. Thoroughly drained throughout the whole 

extent of these plantations, the walks having been rendered remarkably dry by these means, and by 

having been carefully made; and most having been made of an originally great capability; these walks 

are sheltered and pleasant and are much resorted to. These plantation walks, which are sometimes 

called the Serpentine Walks, and sometimes the Winding-walks, furnish a circuit of dry, well-gravelled, 

and well-kept footpaths, of considerably more than a mile in extent’. 

Bates views of Derbyshire’, published by the proprietor of the Buxton Advertiser, contains a number of 
etchings of the Serpentine Walks several one of which is shown below - the dates of these etchings are 
not known. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Page 169



 

 

In 1871 a joint stock company was formed known as ‘Buxton Improvements Company’ which began 
buying and leasing land in Buxton from The Duke of Devonshire, and after various transference of parts 
of the Serpentine over the following years, the site was eventually taken on by the Company, and by 
1876 whilst the Pavilion Gardens was enclosed by a fence and there was a charge for admission, the 
Serpentine Walks remained open to the General Public.  The conveyance of the land in 1920 from the 
Duke of Devonshire states that, ‘the Corporation shall and will within two years…….lay-out and plant 
and for ever maintain in a suitable and proper condition the lands and premises as public walks and 
pleasure grounds……for public walks and pleasure grounds only and for no other purposes whatsoever.’ 
 
Whilst Joseph Paxton was heavily involved in the layout of the Pavilion Gardens, the definitive book on 
his work, ‘The Works of Sir Joseph Paxton 1803 -1865’ by George F Chadwick published in 1961, has no 
mention of the Serpentine Walks being designed by him despite implications in a number of published 
works including Buxton Conservation Areas Character Appraisal in April 2007.  This Appraisal discusses 
the Rustic Bridges in some detail but does not give any references to prove they were designed by 
Paxton. Paxton came to work at Chatsworth in 1826 and Orme’s Guide of 1821 shows landscaping had 
already been carried out on the banks of the Wye, and Paxton may well have carried out these 
improvements.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

View of the Serpentine c 1942 
 
 
 

13. Value Assessments 

 
13.1 Heritage Value  

Serpentine Walks is a nationally important public park, listed as Grade II* on the English Heritage 
Register of Parks and Gardens of Special Historic Interest, along with the Pavilion Gardens. The 
management plan seeks to ensure that the park not only retains its historical integrity, but provides 
wherever possible the demonstrated needs of the local community. Of particular note within the park:- 

 

 Rustic bridges  

 Cascades 

 The original layout, landscape features, watercourses, walks and vistas. 
 

Page 170



 

 

13.2 Educational Value 
 

The educational value of the park is high with its historical interest. Also, in recent times the site has 
provided opportunities for Derbyshire Wildlife Trust and Nestle Waters to run an annual ‘A Day of 
Action’ involving the community and three local primary schools, around habitat enhancement and 
wildflower planting. Groundwork Derby and Derbyshire have also organised several community tree 
planting events.  
 
13.3 Recreational Value 

 
The purpose of the park is very much about informal recreation around the original laid out walks, 
taking in the views admiring the cascades, water courses and rustic bridges. The site does not include 
any fixed facilities but very much provides a green route for the local community from that part of 
Buxton accessing the town centre and linking into the Pavilion Gardens. The park is also included as a 
safer route for cycling and walking which is a new initiative being led by Buxton Town Team. 
 
13.4 Amenity Value 

 
The park is situated in a highly accessible location, being close to the historic Buxton town centre and 
the Pavilion Gardens. It is an extremely important amenity resource to the local community and has a 
significant impact on the quality of life for local residents. 

 
13.5 Ecological value 

 
The park is within an urban area but has linkages with the other significant woodlands that surround 
Buxton, as well as the open moorland, countryside and the Peak District National Park. The Wye River 
comes from the moors, through the Serpentine and into the Pavilion Gardens before being culverted 
under the crescent.  The park forms part of a valuable green corridor through the town that can be by 
used by wildlife such as birds, small mammals and invertebrates.  Due to changes in the management 
of this site over the more recent years, areas of the park have become more naturalised and a 
wildflower area was created along the northern edge of the river. Whilst this area provided a colourful 
variety of species, lack of formal management has led to a significant change in its floral structure and 
content. There has been a lot of community interest in this particular area, and other more naturalised 
areas within Serpentine Walks, and with the commitment to tackle climate change, this plan seeks to 
protect and enhance areas for nature conservation and biodiversity where it is both appropriate and 
suitable.   The links between Serpentine Walks, Pavilion Gardens and other open spaces other are 
strengthened by the corridors of mature street trees and the predominantly large garden areas close to 
the park.  This management plan seeks to protect and enhance the habitats within the park, and the 
range of flora and fauna they support.   

 

 

14. Management Responsibilities  

High Peak borough Council is responsible for the overall management of the Pavilion Gardens and 
Serpentine Walks. We work with partners, community and interest groups to develop and deliver 
projects that improve the green space. 
 
Alliance Environmental Services (AES) is contracted by the Council to undertake the day-to-day 
maintenance of the park and they also have the budgetary responsibility.  A schedule for the associated 
standards of maintenance is defined by the contract with AES, and each park has a specific 
maintenance schedule found in Appendix 1.  
 

Page 171



 

 

Community and interest groups including ‘Friends of the Parks’ are a vital and valued support network 
and play an important role in assisting with maintenance and development projects. These groups also 
can provide additional capacity, undertake selected maintenance tasks and can attract additional 
funding to improve the parks.  

 

 

15. Health and Safety 

Health and safety is of primary concern for the Council. AES are responsible for the day-to-day 
maintenance and management of the site and this includes keeping the park safe for the public to use. 
Daily visual inspections, six monthly in-depth surveys and regular tree inspections are all part of the 
suite of checks and procedures, which are in place. These will ensure that all issues, repairs and 
replacements are identified quickly and scheduled into the work programmes as necessary. 
 
The risk assessment for Pavilion Gardens and The Serpentine, which is joint, is attached in Appendix 2, 
and is reviewed and updated annually by the Operations Service Lead (AES). All AES staff are given 
specific training to ensure they are always operating in a safe manner.  Any work on our parks and open 
spaces, which are carried out by external contractors, partners, community groups/volunteers are 
governed by the Council’s health and safety policies, which they must abide and follow.   

 

 

16. Involving Communities 

It is well recognised that for any park to be successfully managed it must respond to the needs of the 
local community and park users. Actively engaging and encouraging community participation and 
involvement is essential in the continued development of the park. 

The Friends of Pavilion Gardens are a very long-standing dedicated group who formed in late 2004 and 
who aim to: 
 

 Provide a community focus for the park 

 Take practical action to improve the park  

 Raise the profile of the park  

 Continue to raise funds to improve the park 
 
The group, who has seen new members join and others leave to progress other projects, has a core 
committee who work proactively to promote the Pavilion Gardens as a key historical green space in the 
heart of Buxton, tackle issues and desires highlighted by park users and visitors, as well as undertake a 
variety of community projects.  Over the years, the Friends have secured significant external funding to 
deliver a variety of community projects, as well as organising many events and activities and 
undertaking practical works in the park.  The Friends have a Facebook page to promote their work and 
are always looking at ways to engage with other groups to enhance and improve the park.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 172



 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Friends of Pavilion Gardens ready to take on the Sport Relief Mile in the park 
 
 
There is no specific Friends of Serpentine Walks group, but the Friends of Pavilion Gardens very much 
see their role as encompassing this site, particularly with both parks being listed on the Register as one 
site. 
 
Buxton benefits from a wealth of community organisations, many of whom see the park as integral to 
projects which enhance the town.  Serpentine Walks has also benefitted from support from biodiversity 
interest groups who are keen to enhance some of the more natural areas of the site for nature 
conservation with a view to tackling climate change. We are keen to work with and support community 
involvement and initiatives which protect, enhance and promote the town’s green spaces. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

The Friends of Pavilion Gardens tackling the railings in Serpentine Walks 

 
The use of parks for events is something we are keen to encourage and the Pavilion Gardens 
benefits     greatly from the adjacent Pavilion Complex and Octagon which has a vast events 
programme, and which compliments the use of the park by locals and visitors.  The park itself has 
also hosted numerous events over the years and has played a central role in the Town’s summer 
Festival. 

 
 

Page 173



 

 

17. Marketing and Communications 

High Peak Borough Council is responsible for managing Pavilion Gardens and has a variety of 

communication mechanisms that can be utilised to give feedback on the performance and 

continued relevance of this Management Plan. As the Council is committed to reducing the need 

for paperwork there is an increased reliance on the use of the relevant sections of the High Peak 

Borough Council Website.  

The Council has both a Facebook page and Twitter account 

 Facebook - https://m.facebook.com/highpeakbc 
 

 Twitter - https://twitter.com/HighPeakBC 
 

For anything specific to the Pavilion Gardens and The Serpentine, the link below gives a number of 

options for how you might get in touch 

 https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1669/Pavilion-Gardens-Buxton 

 

The Council can also be contacted by writing to Service Commissioning, Buxton Town Hall, Market 

Place, BUXTON. SK17 6EL. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
18. Action Plan 
 

Page 174

https://m.facebook.com/highpeakbc
https://twitter.com/HighPeakBC
https://www.highpeak.gov.uk/article/1669/Pavilion-Gardens-Buxton


 

 

The Parks Strategy provides the guiding principles and headline priorities for the management and               
 development of our parks and following on from this, we can develop specific site action plans.  
 These plans identify our priorities, linked to the Strategy, and ensure they are appropriate, 
 relevant, resourced and provide a flexible and realistic approach to realising the aims of the 
 Management Plan.  
 
 Parks Strategy Objectives 

 
              Objective 1  We will review maintenance regimes to ensure our parks and green spaces are 

 maintained to a high standard, in an affordable and sustainable way and consider 

 improvements to increase and enhance biodiversity and positively affect climate 

 change. (addresses priorities 1, 2 and 4) 

              Objective 2 We will ensure that infrastructure and heritage features are protected and well 

 maintained, in accordance within the resources available to the Council. (addresses 

 priority 1, 2, 3 and 4) 

              Objective 3 Encourage and enable positive physical and mental wellbeing by developing strong 

 partnerships with community groups, sports clubs and other stakeholder groups to 

 ensure parks fulfil their potential for enabling healthy lifestyles for all ages. 

 (addresses priority 3 and 4) 

Objective 4 Ensure that parks are safe, welcoming and accessible places for the whole 

community and that the highest possible standards of health and safety are 

maintained by our service providers, event organisers and when engaging the 

community in projects.  (addresses priority 3 and 4)  

              Objective 5 Actively encourage community engagement and involvement in the protection, 

 maintenance and development of our parks. (addresses priority 3 and 4) 

              Objective 6 Effectively manage internal budgets and attract external funding wherever possible 

 towards the ongoing maintenance and the future development of our parks. 

 (addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

               Objective 7 We will review park management plans and their associated actions plans annually 

 to ensure these objectives are being delivered against effectively. (addresses 

priority  1,2,3 and 4) 

Objective 8 We will create a Parks Development Fund to be used to make improvements to our 

parks and green spaces. (addresses priority 1,2,3 and 4) 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 175



 

 

 

 

Page 176



 

 

Pavilion Gardens Action Plan 2020-2030 
 
 

 

Objective 1 To protect and enhance biodiversity, address the effects of climate change and ensure the park is sustained for the 
future 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Explore opportunities 
for creating naturalised 
areas across the site, 
where appropriate.  
 

Autumn 
2021 

unknown HPBC Existing and 
external funds 

AES/DWT/Friends 
group/BB&BFC 

Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB 
page 
 
 
 

 

Review current 
maintenance regimes 
to identify best 
practice that reflects 
emerging principles 
which address climate 
change 
 

Spring 
2022 

unknown HPBC Existing/ External 
funds 

AES/DWT/Friends 
group/BB&BFC 

Signage on 
site/PR 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 177



 

 

Objective 2  To protect and preserve our heritage features 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Ensure that the overall 
heritage significance of 
the park is protected 
and conserved for the 
future 
 
 
 

Ongoing Tbc HPBC Existing/External 
Funds  

AES/Friends group/External 
Funders  

Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB 
page 
 

 

Undertake repairs to 
the weir (near to the 
Octagon) 
 
 
 

2021-22 Tbc HPBC  Existing  AES/Friends group Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB 
page 
 

 

Repaint Milner Bridge 
and other footbridges 
within the park. 

2022-23 Tbc HPBC Existing   AES/Friends group Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB 
page 
 
 

 

Clean and re-paint the 
perimeter fencing 
(phased)  
 
 

2021-25 Tbc HPBC  Existing/Volunteer AES/Friends group/Buxton 
Town Team 

Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB 
page 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

P
age 178



 

 

Objective 3 To identify opportunities for encouraging physical activity 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to promote 
and maximise the 
opportunities for 
physical activity within 
the park 
 

2021 - 
2025 

Unknown  HPBC  Unknown  Friends group/Public Health/ 
Active Derbyshire/Lex Leisure 

Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB 
page 

 

Objective 4 To ensure our parks are safe, welcoming and accessible for the communities they serve 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to explore 
ways to improve water 
quality of upper lake. 
 

2021/22 Tbc HPBC  External funds AES/Friends group/Parkwood 
Leisure  

Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB 
page 
 

 

Objective 5  Actively encourage community engagement and involvement 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to support 
the Friends of the Park 

Ongoing  HPBC Unknown AES/External 
organisations/other 
stakeholders  
 

  

Continue to engage 
with other key 
stakeholders 

Ongoing  HPBC Unknown  Other stakeholders   
 
 
 

P
age 179



 

 

Objective 6 To ensure effective  financial management of resources 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to work with 
the Friends to develop 
old bandstand mosaic 
project 
 

2021/22 Tbc Friends group/HPBC External funding to 
be secured 

High Peak Community 
Arts/local artists/ Lottery 

Press 
release/Social 
media/Friends 
FB page 

 

Continue to seek 
external funding where 
appropriate 
 

Ongoing Tbc HPBC/Friends group External funding to 
be secured 

External organisations  Press 
release/Social 
media/Friends 
FB page 

 

Objective 7  Review and Monitoring 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Annual condition 
review of park 
infrastructure including 
seating, bins, paths 
 

Annual  Unknown  AES/HPBC AES/HPBC/Friends Friends group  n/a  

Annual review of 
action plan for the park  

Annual  n/a HPBC Existing  AES/Friends group/wider 
community  
 

n/a 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 180



 

 

Serpentine Walks Action Plan 2020-2030 
 
 
 

Objective 1 To protect and enhance biodiversity, address the effects of climate change and ensure the park is sustained 
for the future 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Explore opportunities for 
creating naturalised areas 
across the site, where 
appropriate.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Autumn 
2021 

unknown HPBC Existing and 
external funds 

AES/DWT/Friends 
group/BB&BFC 

Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB page 
 
 
 

 

Review current 
maintenance regimes to 
identify best practice that 
reflects emerging 
principles which address 
climate change 
 

Spring 
2022 

unknown HPBC Existing/ External 
funds 

AES/DWT/Friends 
group/BB&BFC 

Signage on 
site/PR 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

P
age 181



 

 

Objective 2  To protect and preserve our heritage features 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Clear some of the 
overgrown formal beds at 
the entrance to the park, 
and re-plant 
appropriately  
 

2021/22 n/a HPBC/AES Existing  Friends group/ 
BB&BFC/Buxton TT 

Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB page 

 
 

Objective 3 To identify opportunities for encouraging physical activity 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to promote and 
maximise the 
opportunities for physical 
activity within the park 
 

2021 Unknown  Council/AES/Friends Existing/external 
funds  

Council/ Friends/ Active 
Derbyshire/ Town 
Team/Public Health  

Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB page 

 

Objective 4 To ensure our parks are safe and accessible for the communities they serve 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Look to re-surface small 
section of muddy 
footpath at western end 
of the site  
 

2021 Tbc AES/Council/Friends  
 

Existing  AES/Council/Friends  Press release 
Social media  
Friends FB page 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

P
age 182



 

 

Objective 5  Actively encourage community engagement and involvement 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Continue to support the 
Friends of the Park 

Ongoing  HPBC Unknown AES/ Buxton Biodiversity & 
Buxton Field Club/External 
organisations/other 
stakeholders  
 

  

Continue to engage with 
other key stakeholders in 
the park. 

Ongoing  HPBC Unknown  Buxton Biodiversity & 
Buxton Field Club/ other 
stakeholders  
 

  

Objective 6 To ensure effective  financial management of resources 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Seek external funding  
 

Ongoing  HPBC  External organisations    

Objective 7  Review and Monitoring 
 

Action When Estimated 
Cost 
 

Responsibility  Resources Partners  Comms Status 

Annual condition review 
of park infrastructure 
including seating, bins, 
paths 
 

Annual  Unknown  AES/HPBC AES/HPBC/Friends Friends group  n/a  

Annual review of action 
plan for the park  

Annual  n/a HPBC Existing  AES/Friends group/wider 
community  

Annual review 
of action plan 
for the park  

Annual  

P
age 183



 

 

Appendix 1 – Routine Maintenance Schedule for Pavilion Gardens (Serpentine Walks below) 

Routine Maintenance Schedule - Pavilion Gardens                                   

                                                                                                                                   * Indicates As Required 
 

Feature Activity 
Ja
n 

Fe
b 

Ma
r 

Apri
l 

Ma
y 

Jun
e 

Jul
y 

Au
g 

Sep
t 

Oc
t 

No
v 

De
c 

Tota
l 

 

                               
 

                              
 

General Amenity 
Grassland 

Mowing ( to include specification 
for formal parkland ie weekly if 
this is achievable)     2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     16 

 

                              
 

Fine Lawn  Mowing - weekly       1 1 1 1 1 1 1     7 
 

  Fertiliser Application       1   1             2 
 

                              
 

Shrub Beds - Formal Weed/delitter (routine pruning) 
    1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     15 

 

  Winter Cultivation     1             1     2 
 

                              
 

Herbaceous Spring maintenance     1                     
 

  Summer maintenance       2 2 2 2 2 2 2     14 
 

  Winter maintenance                     1   1 
 

                             
 

Rose beds Weed/delitter      1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     15 
 

  Winter/Spring prune     1               1   2 
 

  Pest and disease control ((natural 
methods only) 

      1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

  Mulch                     1   1 
 

  Fertiliser Application     1                   1 
 

                             
 

Seasonal bedding Preparation spring bedding                   1     1 
 

  Maintenance spring bedding 
1 2 2 2 2           1   10 

 

P
age 184



 

 

  Preparation summer bedding 
          1             1 

 

  Maintenance summer bedding 
          1 4 4 4 1     14 

 

                             
 

Autumn Leaves Clearance                       1 1 
 

  Mulch                     3 3 6 
 

  
 

                          
 

Paths / hard Surfaces Blowing/Sweeping (category A) 
1 1 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 30 

 

  Blowing/Sweeping (category B) 
      1 1 1 1 1 1       6 

 

      
          

    
 

Water Courses Inspect and keep clear of detritus 
Daily (working week)   

 

      
          

    
 

Hedges Hedge cutting             1       1   2 
 

                              
 

Whole Site Litter Collection - Daily       1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

 

Litter Collection - Weekly 1 1 1             1 1 1 6 
 

  Graffiti remove as and when it is 
identified within 24 to 48 hours                           

 

  Dog fouling - remove and dispose 
when identified                           

 

  Vandalism - make safe and either 
repair or report for remedial action 
within 24 hours                           

 

                              
 

Playground Equipment 
(inc. MUGA wall) 

Inspections - visual  

Daily (working week)   
 

  Inspections - playground 
inspector 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 12 

 

                              
 

P
age 185



 

 

Litter Bins Empty - Daily        1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

  Empty - Weekly 1 1 1             1 1 1 6 
 

  Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

                              
 

Benches Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

  Repaint Iron Work/Re-treat 
Timber with Solignum                         * 

 

                              
 

Signage Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

                              
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 186



 

 

Routine Maintenance Schedule – Serpentine Walks                                   

                                                                                                                                   * Indicates As Required 
 

Feature Activity Jan Feb Mar April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Total  

                               
 

                              
 

General Amenity 
Grassland 

Mowing ( to include 
specification for formal parkland 
ie weekly if this is achievable)     2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     16 

 

                             
 

 
 
Wildflower Area 

 
      

 
1 

                
  

  Cut area/ rake and collect 
thatch                  1       1 

 

                              
 

Shrub Beds - Formal Weed/delitter (routine pruning) 
    1 2 2 2 2 2 2 2     15 

 

  Winter Cultivation     1             1     2 
 

                              
 

Shrub beds - 
Informal 

Weed/delitter  
      1 1 1 1 1 1 1     7 

 

  Top up bark mulch     1                   1 
 

                              
 

Herbaceous Spring maintenance     1                     
 

  Summer maintenance       2 2 2 2 2 2 2     14 
 

  Winter maintenance                     1   1 
 

                             
 

Hedge - Beech Hedge cutting             1       1   2 
 

                              
 

Autumn Leaves Clearance                       1 1 
 

  Mulch                     3 3 6 
 

                              
 

P
age 187



 

 

Paths / hard 
Surfaces 

Blowing/Sweeping 
1 1 1 4 4 4 4 4 4 1 1 1 30 

 

      
           

  
 

Water Courses Inspect and keep clear of 
detritus Daily (working week)   

 

      
           

  
 

Whole Site Litter Collection - daily       1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

 

Litter Collection - weekly 1 1 1             1 1 1 6 
 

  Graffiti remove as and when it 
is identified within 24 to 48 
hours 

                          
 

  Dog fouling - remove and 
dispose when identified                           

 

  Vandalism - make safe and 
either repair or report for 
remedial action within 24 hours                           

 

                              
 

Litter Bins Empty - Daily        1 1 1 1 1 1       6 
 

  Empty - Weekly 1 1 1             1 1 1 6 
 

  Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

                              
 

Benches Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

  Repaint Iron Work/Re-treat 
Timber with Solignum                         * 

 

                              
 

Signage Wash Down       1         1       2 
 

                              
 

 

 

 

 

P
age 188



 

 

 

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



High Peak Parks Strategy

1 / 15

16.25% 13

47.50% 38

20.00% 16

12.50% 10

3.75% 3

Q1 The five main reasons identified to help the Council prioritise the
management and development of our parks are the right ones.

Answered: 80 Skipped: 5

TOTAL 80

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 191



High Peak Parks Strategy

2 / 15

Q2 Any other comments on the five main reasons identified to help the
Council prioritise the management and development of our parks.

Answered: 51 Skipped: 34

Page 192



High Peak Parks Strategy

3 / 15

21.05% 16

56.58% 43

13.16% 10

7.89% 6

1.32% 1

Q3 Use key strategies and industry recognised evidence as a base to
inform decision making so that any changes, improvements or projects are

the right thing, in the right place and for the right reason.
Answered: 76 Skipped: 9

TOTAL 76

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 193



High Peak Parks Strategy

4 / 15

Q4 Any other comments on the principle to use of key strategies and
industry recognised evidence as a base to inform decision making so that

any changes, improvements or projects are the right thing, in the right
place and for the right reason.

Answered: 40 Skipped: 45

Page 194



High Peak Parks Strategy

5 / 15

29.87% 23

48.05% 37

10.39% 8

10.39% 8

1.30% 1

Q5 Ensure that any projects to protect or enhance our parks and open
spaces are in keeping and proportionate with the overall purpose and

heritage of our parks and deliver against one of the priorities listed in this
strategy.

Answered: 77 Skipped: 8

TOTAL 77

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 195



High Peak Parks Strategy

6 / 15

Q6 Any other comments on the principle to ensure that any projects to
protect or enhance our parks and open spaces are in keeping and

proportionate with the overall purpose and heritage of our parks and deliver
against one of the priorities listed in this strategy.

Answered: 42 Skipped: 43

Page 196



High Peak Parks Strategy

7 / 15

55.84% 43

36.36% 28

5.19% 4

2.60% 2

0.00% 0

Q7 Any projects or improvements are developed with accessibility in mind,
ensuring that wherever practical our parks are accessible to all.

Answered: 77 Skipped: 8

TOTAL 77

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 197



High Peak Parks Strategy

8 / 15

Q8 Any other comments on the principle that any projects or
improvements are developed with accessibility in mind, ensuring that

wherever practical our parks are accessible to all.
Answered: 35 Skipped: 50

Page 198



High Peak Parks Strategy

9 / 15

26.92% 21

56.41% 44

14.10% 11

2.56% 2

0.00% 0

Q9 Any new projects which have an impact on the ongoing maintenance of
our parks are both affordable and sustainable.

Answered: 78 Skipped: 7

TOTAL 78

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 199



High Peak Parks Strategy

10 / 15

Q10 Any other comments on the principle that any new projects which
have an impact on the ongoing maintenance of our parks are both

affordable and sustainable.
Answered: 33 Skipped: 52

Page 200



High Peak Parks Strategy

11 / 15

11.54% 9

50.00% 39

16.67% 13

16.67% 13

5.13% 4

Q11 The four priorities we have identified are the right ones
Answered: 78 Skipped: 7

TOTAL 78

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 201



High Peak Parks Strategy

12 / 15

Q12 Any other comments about question 11
Answered: 41 Skipped: 44

Page 202



High Peak Parks Strategy

13 / 15

17.72% 14

45.57% 36

18.99% 15

13.92% 11

3.80% 3

Q13 Please consider each of the commitments listed and indicate whether
or not you think these are the areas the Council and its partners should be

focussing on.
Answered: 79 Skipped: 6

TOTAL 79

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree
nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly
disagree

0% 10% 20% 30% 40% 50% 60% 70% 80% 90% 100%

ANSWER CHOICES RESPONSES

Strongly agree

Agree

Neither agree nor disagree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 203



High Peak Parks Strategy

14 / 15

Q14 Any other comments on the commitments listed 
Answered: 38 Skipped: 47

Page 204



High Peak Parks Strategy

15 / 15

Q15 General comments - Any comments on any other aspects of the
Strategy

Answered: 54 Skipped: 31

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



High Peak Parks Management Plans

1 / 1

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Howard Park

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Overall, it's a good overview of where responsibilities lie and is a reassurance that the parks will be looked after. Nothing revolutionary ,
which is good, perhaps lacking some detail about "exploring" naturalization. I understand the intent but if there's an overarching 
biodiversity strategy for High Peak, and there should be, Parks should only be a small part of it.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Yes

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Yes

#1#1
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Sunday, January 24, 2021 11:38:03 AMSunday, January 24, 2021 11:38:03 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Sunday, January 24, 2021 11:46:42 AMSunday, January 24, 2021 11:46:42 AM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:08:3800:08:38
IP Address:IP Address:   92.5.248.21492.5.248.214

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 207



This page is intentionally left blank



High Peak Parks Management Plans

1 / 7

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Manor Park, Glossop

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Reasonable appraisal of what is there. Surprisingly does not mention the river!

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Not enough on how the park is used. One of the Council’s aims is to improve the health of residents. Very little here on how the park 
does or could promote exercise. There is no exercise/trim trail in the park - unusual these days. Most parks seem to have something 
aimed at adult physical fitness. At one time there was an orienteering course - seems to have gone, certainly not promoted.

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

See above

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

See above. More needed to encourage physical activity.

#1#1
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Tuesday, January 19, 2021 2:27:14 PMTuesday, January 19, 2021 2:27:14 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Tuesday, January 19, 2021 2:35:41 PMTuesday, January 19, 2021 2:35:41 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:08:2600:08:26
IP Address:IP Address:   2.125.149.452.125.149.45

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 209



High Peak Parks Management Plans

2 / 7

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Manor Park, Glossop

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content,
accuracy and level of information contained in the Park
Management Plan?

Respondent skipped this question

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the
priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Respondent skipped this question

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management
Plan reflect how the park is used?

Respondent skipped this question

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing
management and development of the park?

Respondent skipped this question

#2#2
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Friday, January 22, 2021 12:33:07 PMFriday, January 22, 2021 12:33:07 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Friday, January 22, 2021 12:34:18 PMFriday, January 22, 2021 12:34:18 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:01:1000:01:10
IP Address:IP Address:   92.11.243.2692.11.243.26

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 210



High Peak Parks Management Plans

3 / 7

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Manor Park, Glossop

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Ok

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Not sure

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Probably

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

No

#3#3
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Monday, January 25, 2021 6:55:32 PMMonday, January 25, 2021 6:55:32 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Monday, January 25, 2021 6:57:10 PMMonday, January 25, 2021 6:57:10 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:01:3800:01:38
IP Address:IP Address:   151.231.242.98151.231.242.98

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 211



High Peak Parks Management Plans

4 / 7

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Manor Park, Glossop

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Fine, but I'd specific elements to be prioritised or at least recognised. The need to reestablish the bridge between the playground and 
the duck pond - for generations families with children have moved between the two, and to have not rebuilt the direct link via the bridge 
is crazy - and also sorting our the complete catastrophe below the Corn St weir - It didn't need to be done, it shouldn't have been done, 
and it was never going to work. It shouldn't be attempted again, it should just be removed and returned to its natural state.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

See my last answer, I'm not entirely sure where it should sit "Fine, but I'd specific elements to be prioritised or at least recognised. The 
need to reestablish the bridge between the playground and the duck pond - for generations families with children have moved between 
the two, and to have not rebuilt the direct link via the bridge is crazy - and also sorting our the complete catastrophe below the Corn St 
weir - It didn't need to be done, it shouldn't have been done, and it was never going to work. It shouldn't be attempted again, it should 
just be removed and returned to its natural state."

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes, though I'd like more emphasis on sport and fitness - the park run, exercise equipment being installed etc. Also what will happen 
with the cafe? It is a vital asset for park users but could be utilised much more extensively, with a wider offer servicing different 
audiences.

#4#4
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Tuesday, February 02, 2021 11:00:36 PMTuesday, February 02, 2021 11:00:36 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Tuesday, February 02, 2021 11:05:40 PMTuesday, February 02, 2021 11:05:40 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:05:0300:05:03
IP Address:IP Address:   143.159.98.30143.159.98.30

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 212



High Peak Parks Management Plans

5 / 7

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

See my previous answers. "Fine, but I'd specific elements to be prioritised or at least recognised. The need to reestablish the bridge 
between the playground and the duck pond - for generations families with children have moved between the two, and to have not rebuilt
the direct link via the bridge is crazy - and also sorting our the complete catastrophe below the Corn St weir - It didn't need to be done, 
it shouldn't have been done, and it was never going to work. It shouldn't be attempted again, it should just be removed and returned to 
its natural state." and" Yes, though I'd like more emphasis on sport and fitness - the park run, exercise equipment being installed etc. 
Also what will happen with the cafe? It is a vital asset for park users but could be utilised much more extensively, with a wider offer 
servicing different audiences."

Page 213



High Peak Parks Management Plans

6 / 7

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Manor Park, Glossop

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

I find it lacking in detail, timescales and involvelemt of local people

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

no

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

no

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

no

#5#5
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Saturday, February 06, 2021 3:57:48 PMSaturday, February 06, 2021 3:57:48 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Saturday, February 06, 2021 3:59:14 PMSaturday, February 06, 2021 3:59:14 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:01:2500:01:25
IP Address:IP Address:   31.124.143.3431.124.143.34

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 214



High Peak Parks Management Plans

7 / 7

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Manor Park, Glossop

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

First and foremost, the Risk Assessment is ten years out of date.  Although it is apparently 'updated regularly, evidence of this has not 
been provided.  Consequently, it does not take into account the situation in 2021.
There are numerous inaccuracies and omissions, such as  the fact that the dog loo area does not exist but there is a recently 
established dog training area; that the bowling club is a private entity accessible only by subscription; or that many of the elements of 
historical value are completely neglected and therefore of no public value, as no-one knows where to find them.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

In a very loose sense, yes.

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

There are significant omissions, such as dog training facilities and the Parkrun

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

It is not sufficiently rigorous in terms of providing a sustainable and exciting local facility.

#6#6
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Friday, February 12, 2021 5:09:18 PMFriday, February 12, 2021 5:09:18 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Friday, February 12, 2021 5:24:38 PMFriday, February 12, 2021 5:24:38 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:15:1900:15:19
IP Address:IP Address:   79.65.137.14979.65.137.149

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 215



This page is intentionally left blank



High Peak Parks Management Plans

1 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Good

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Yes

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Probably

#1#1
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Tuesday, January 19, 2021 5:07:22 PMTuesday, January 19, 2021 5:07:22 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Tuesday, January 19, 2021 5:08:12 PMTuesday, January 19, 2021 5:08:12 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:00:4900:00:49
IP Address:IP Address:   86.136.206.10686.136.206.106

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 217



High Peak Parks Management Plans

2 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

HPBC seem to have their finger on the pulse of the importance of these open spaces to the residents of Buxton

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Yes

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes, although no mention of the after dark activities that go on in the undercover car park.

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Yes

#2#2
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Tuesday, January 19, 2021 7:22:53 PMTuesday, January 19, 2021 7:22:53 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Tuesday, January 19, 2021 7:24:59 PMTuesday, January 19, 2021 7:24:59 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:02:0600:02:06
IP Address:IP Address:   176.248.165.130176.248.165.130

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 218



High Peak Parks Management Plans

3 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

The plan is fine as far it goes if your goals are only to meet the needs of its human users. Yet the very basis of a park is that it is a 
space in which people interact with the other parts of life, albeit often in a highly contrived format - manicured lawns, flowerbeds of 
non-native plants, exotic trees species. etc There is no doubt that given such aspirations your plan works perfectly well. Yet England 
is the 29th most denatured country on Earth, its ecosystem reduced mainly by chemical farming. Parks should be one place where an 
account of nature's own well being is addressed. You could maximise the plants that deliver pollen and nectar to insects, one of the 
most threatenened and essential parts of British ecosystems. You could have areas of grassland that were left unmown (50 spp of 
moth alone thrive in such basic grasslands, as well as butterflies, beetles and grasshoppers). You cd have a system of nest boxes, 
but especially for sparrows, starlings, house martins (where appropriate) and swifts, all of which have declined by more than 50% in 
this country. You cd have plans to introduce mainly native high-quality trees (oaks support c400 spp of insect, sycamore many fewer 
and cypress trees c16 spp). In the Pavilion Gardens you cd slectively suport breeding by resident duck and waterbirds. Above all you 
cd work with any number of long established stakeholders such as the Buxton Field Club, Buxton Civic Association to equip yourself 
with free consultancy. Equally a biodiversity strategy could build links with the community, it cd be rolled out as part of environmental 
education strategy (explaining the value of uncut verges, pollinators etc). Sponsorship cd be established to help underpin these 
policies. The overarching point is that at present there is minimal attention to nature - local native wildlife - and if this country is to 
reverse its catastophic failure in the realm of nature conservation, all parts need to implement remedial measures. A local park such 
as those in the High Peak are ripe for this innovation.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Yes it does. But I would ask you to consider adding an further conscious goal and priority - an attention to the wellbeing of nature itself,
which is the very basis of a park's quality and value

#3#3
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Thursday, January 21, 2021 9:28:06 AMThursday, January 21, 2021 9:28:06 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Thursday, January 21, 2021 9:45:53 AMThursday, January 21, 2021 9:45:53 AM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:17:4700:17:47
IP Address:IP Address:   195.147.97.109195.147.97.109

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 219



High Peak Parks Management Plans

4 / 28

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

see above

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

see above

Page 220



High Peak Parks Management Plans

5 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Very thorough and clear

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Yes, I feel that the plan should be more explicit about the Council's obligations in relation to the 2nd principle about heritage i.e. to 
maintain the listed park in a proper condition; to preserve its character and apprearance within a conservation area; to limit its 
permitted use as gardens, public walks and pleasure grounds; to keep views of the river clear.

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Yes

#4#4
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Thursday, January 21, 2021 10:11:34 AMThursday, January 21, 2021 10:11:34 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Thursday, January 21, 2021 10:34:05 AMThursday, January 21, 2021 10:34:05 AM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:22:3100:22:31
IP Address:IP Address:   176.251.76.67176.251.76.67

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 221



High Peak Parks Management Plans

6 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

The idea for a dedicated cycling link across the park to avoid unsuitable local roads is much-needed and it’s a shame this wasn’t 
developed further.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Roughly, yes, although there needs to me more emphasis on sustainable access, eg dedicated cycle routes across the park avoiding 
pedestrian conflict and installation of cycle parking stands.

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes, although fails to acknowledge that it is already well used for cycling.

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Yes, but interventions to allow cycling are needed sooner rather than later.

#5#5
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Monday, January 25, 2021 10:04:06 AMMonday, January 25, 2021 10:04:06 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Monday, January 25, 2021 10:07:06 AMMonday, January 25, 2021 10:07:06 AM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:02:5900:02:59
IP Address:IP Address:   185.69.144.88185.69.144.88

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 222



High Peak Parks Management Plans

7 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

#6#6
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Monday, February 01, 2021 10:23:34 PMMonday, February 01, 2021 10:23:34 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Monday, February 01, 2021 11:08:15 PMMonday, February 01, 2021 11:08:15 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:44:4100:44:41
IP Address:IP Address:   79.73.55.9879.73.55.98

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 223



High Peak Parks Management Plans

8 / 28

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

I think it lacks specifics. There are several points of concern. One is the references to “small mammals, birds and invertebrates” 
without ever mentioning the presence of - seemingly thriving - a wild brown trout population in the rivers, as well as the sticklebacks in 
the Upper lake. Personally, I would welcome the opportunity to purchase a permit, one day a year, to flyfish on this section of the Wye! 
Catch and release. If just one ticket for one day each week of the season was available, it would generate revenue, but more so, the 
best river conservationists are often FlyFisher men: we keep an eye on the river. I do anyway: I monitor the trout, and have reported 
mine oxide pollution to the EA when it has occurred, because I am drawn to the river. Whilst that might not be popular, illegal bait 
fishing does occur, poaching for food and fathers teaching kids fishing in ways that lead to fish being killed or taken; its management 
is not mentioned. Neither is the presence of signal crayfish in the river, and their management plan. 

A second moot point is the usage of the park for music festivals and similar. There was a recent premises licence notice given for 
such an event for August 2021, seemingly organised by persons with no qualifications or experience in staging such an event. Pre-
Covid, such events, which in Buxton seem designed typically for an elite, high carbon-consuming, affluent travelling audience, have 
caused much damage to the park grassland, and plausibly the waste management and grounds restoration of such events are not fully 
recouped from organisers and this disproportionately use funds provided by local council tax payers that are - demonstrably from the 
plans - under pressure for priorities. As we emerge into a post-Covid world, one would hope that any large public gatherings locally 
would only be managed with the highest levels of experience of event and Covid safety management: this cannot be achieved with an 
unforced event; fencing an event precludes access to the park for those of us paying for its upkeep, but more importantly for whom it 
is our only accessible green space. In any case, the noise issues and congestion, often on the few weeks of the year when we might 
have weather to enjoy these amenities, preclude us, or make them unbearable. The plan should set out a clear strategy for large scale 
public events in the park, other than bandstand performances, with guaranteed time for unimpeded access for residents and general 
visitors to the area coming for the environment, not the consumerism. 

Thirdly, the anti-social behaviour risk assessment is so generic that it’s a joke: it doesn’t work. Both parks and car park are frequented 
by drug users. 

Fourthly, there have been a lot of tree losses in recent years due to winds, and climate predictions mean there will be more. This is 
both a specific risk for the RA, but what’s the strategy for replacing them? With what? 

Fifthly, the environmental aspect is really interesting. The plan acknowledges implicitly that many other green spaces on the town’s 
periphery are likely to be developed in years to come, so the naturalised if ornamental aspects of the park will be even more vital for a 
sense of well-being. They have great avian biodiversity, and it can improve. Kingfishers, dippers, great spotted woodpeckers, tree 
creepers, nuthatches, redwings, common sandpipers, little grebe, grey and pied wagtails, tawny owls, siskins, redpoll, goldcrests, grey 
herons, bullfinches and bramblings as well as all the common garden/parkland birds, black headed and herring gulls, plus occasional 
kestrels and sparrow hawks, are annually present in season, and I’ve seen in gadwall, teal, pink-footed goose, goosander, fieldfare on 
occasions. There are non-native wildfowl that are naturalised over many generations; mandarin ducks are now the second most 
populous duck species on the wye and its tributaries, and Muscovy ducks, and an increasing population of Canada geese. Artificial 
feeding of these latter two is seemingly leading to them being unable to disperse and thrive, and is contributing to an evidently 
increasing population of brown rats which is now causing problems in adjacent properties and indeed further afield. What is the 
management plan? The wild bird life, with a little thought, could both develop, and be a better annotated feature: the information board 
on birds by the upper lake includes coot - I’ve not seen one in six years - and omits many of the more interesting species that are 
present. There are plenty of people who enjoy the two parks with binoculars and a gentle pace, rather than sprinting around in 
fluorescent Lycra! Lockdown has shown us the real value of this, and the context of this plan is the emergence through and from 
Covid: these things are as important as PE, for which the site, with a gun band swimming pool, makes more than adequate provision. 
It’s a balance of priorities, and in the plan the natural/environmental/post Covid mental wellbeing/carbon neutrality feels under balanced 
when compared to the physical jerks and carbon / consumption jerks!

Page 224



High Peak Parks Management Plans

9 / 28

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

I think it lacks specifics. There are several points of concern. One is the references to “small mammals, birds and invertebrates” 
without ever mentioning the presence of - seemingly thriving - a wild brown trout population in the rivers, as well as the sticklebacks in 
the Upper lake. Personally, I would welcome the opportunity to purchase a permit, one day a year, to flyfish on this section of the Wye! 
Catch and release. If just one ticket for one day each week of the season was available, it would generate revenue, but more so, the 
best river conservationists are often FlyFisher men: we keep an eye on the river. I do anyway: I monitor the trout, and have reported 
mine oxide pollution to the EA when it has occurred, because I am drawn to the river. Whilst that might not be popular, illegal bait 
fishing does occur, poaching for food and fathers teaching kids fishing in ways that lead to fish being killed or taken; its management 
is not mentioned. Neither is the presence of signal crayfish in the river, and their management plan. 

A second moot point is the usage of the park for music festivals and similar. There was a recent premises licence notice given for 
such an event for August 2021, seemingly organised by persons with no qualifications or experience in staging such an event. Pre-
Covid, such events, which in Buxton seem designed typically for an elite, high carbon-consuming, affluent travelling audience, have 
caused much damage to the park grassland, and plausibly the waste management and grounds restoration of such events are not fully 
recouped from organisers and this disproportionately use funds provided by local council tax payers that are - demonstrably from the 
plans - under pressure for priorities. As we emerge into a post-Covid world, one would hope that any large public gatherings locally 
would only be managed with the highest levels of experience of event and Covid safety management: this cannot be achieved with an 
unforced event; fencing an event precludes access to the park for those of us paying for its upkeep, but more importantly for whom it 
is our only accessible green space. In any case, the noise issues and congestion, often on the few weeks of the year when we might 
have weather to enjoy these amenities, preclude us, or make them unbearable. The plan should set out a clear strategy for large scale 
public events in the park, other than bandstand performances, with guaranteed time for unimpeded access for residents and general 
visitors to the area coming for the environment, not the consumerism. 

Thirdly, the anti-social behaviour risk assessment is so generic that it’s a joke: it doesn’t work. Both parks and car park are frequented 
by drug users. 

Fourthly, there have been a lot of tree losses in recent years due to winds, and climate predictions mean there will be more. This is 
both a specific risk for the RA, but what’s the strategy for replacing them? With what? 

Fifthly, the environmental aspect is really interesting. The plan acknowledges implicitly that many other green spaces on the town’s 
periphery are likely to be developed in years to come, so the naturalised if ornamental aspects of the park will be even more vital for a 
sense of well-being. They have great avian biodiversity, and it can improve. Kingfishers, dippers, great spotted woodpeckers, tree 
creepers, nuthatches, redwings, common sandpipers, little grebe, grey and pied wagtails, tawny owls, siskins, redpoll, goldcrests, grey 
herons, bullfinches and bramblings as well as all the common garden/parkland birds, black headed and herring gulls, plus occasional 
kestrels and sparrow hawks, are annually present in season, and I’ve seen in gadwall, teal, pink-footed goose, goosander, fieldfare on 
occasions. There are non-native wildfowl that are naturalised over many generations; mandarin ducks are now the second most 
populous duck species on the wye and its tributaries, and Muscovy ducks, and an increasing population of Canada geese. Artificial 
feeding of these latter two is seemingly leading to them being unable to disperse and thrive, and is contributing to an evidently 
increasing population of brown rats which is now causing problems in adjacent properties and indeed further afield. What is the 
management plan? The wild bird life, with a little thought, could both develop, and be a better annotated feature: the information board 
on birds by the upper lake includes coot - I’ve not seen one in six years - and omits many of the more interesting species that are 
present. There are plenty of people who enjoy the two parks with binoculars and a gentle pace, rather than sprinting around in 
fluorescent Lycra! Lockdown has shown us the real value of this, and the context of this plan is the emergence through and from 
Covid: these things are as important as PE, for which the site, with a gun band swimming pool, makes more than adequate provision. 
It’s a balance of priorities, and in the plan the natural/environmental/post Covid mental wellbeing/carbon neutrality feels under balanced 
when compared to the physical jerks and carbon / consumption jerks!

Page 225



High Peak Parks Management Plans

10 / 28

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

I think it lacks specifics. There are several points of concern. One is the references to “small mammals, birds and invertebrates” 
without ever mentioning the presence of - seemingly thriving - a wild brown trout population in the rivers, as well as the sticklebacks in 
the Upper lake. Personally, I would welcome the opportunity to purchase a permit, one day a year, to flyfish on this section of the Wye! 
Catch and release. If just one ticket for one day each week of the season was available, it would generate revenue, but more so, the 
best river conservationists are often FlyFisher men: we keep an eye on the river. I do anyway: I monitor the trout, and have reported 
mine oxide pollution to the EA when it has occurred, because I am drawn to the river. Whilst that might not be popular, illegal bait 
fishing does occur, poaching for food and fathers teaching kids fishing in ways that lead to fish being killed or taken; its management 
is not mentioned. Neither is the presence of signal crayfish in the river, and their management plan. 

A second moot point is the usage of the park for music festivals and similar. There was a recent premises licence notice given for 
such an event for August 2021, seemingly organised by persons with no qualifications or experience in staging such an event. Pre-
Covid, such events, which in Buxton seem designed typically for an elite, high carbon-consuming, affluent travelling audience, have 
caused much damage to the park grassland, and plausibly the waste management and grounds restoration of such events are not fully 
recouped from organisers and this disproportionately use funds provided by local council tax payers that are - demonstrably from the 
plans - under pressure for priorities. As we emerge into a post-Covid world, one would hope that any large public gatherings locally 
would only be managed with the highest levels of experience of event and Covid safety management: this cannot be achieved with an 
unforced event; fencing an event precludes access to the park for those of us paying for its upkeep, but more importantly for whom it 
is our only accessible green space. In any case, the noise issues and congestion, often on the few weeks of the year when we might 
have weather to enjoy these amenities, preclude us, or make them unbearable. The plan should set out a clear strategy for large scale 
public events in the park, other than bandstand performances, with guaranteed time for unimpeded access for residents and general 
visitors to the area coming for the environment, not the consumerism. 

Thirdly, the anti-social behaviour risk assessment is so generic that it’s a joke: it doesn’t work. Both parks and car park are frequented 
by drug users. 

Fourthly, there have been a lot of tree losses in recent years due to winds, and climate predictions mean there will be more. This is 
both a specific risk for the RA, but what’s the strategy for replacing them? With what? 

Fifthly, the environmental aspect is really interesting. The plan acknowledges implicitly that many other green spaces on the town’s 
periphery are likely to be developed in years to come, so the naturalised if ornamental aspects of the park will be even more vital for a 
sense of well-being. They have great avian biodiversity, and it can improve. Kingfishers, dippers, great spotted woodpeckers, tree 
creepers, nuthatches, redwings, common sandpipers, little grebe, grey and pied wagtails, tawny owls, siskins, redpoll, goldcrests, grey 
herons, bullfinches and bramblings as well as all the common garden/parkland birds, black headed and herring gulls, plus occasional 
kestrels and sparrow hawks, are annually present in season, and I’ve seen in gadwall, teal, pink-footed goose, goosander, fieldfare on 
occasions. There are non-native wildfowl that are naturalised over many generations; mandarin ducks are now the second most 
populous duck species on the wye and its tributaries, and Muscovy ducks, and an increasing population of Canada geese. Artificial 
feeding of these latter two is seemingly leading to them being unable to disperse and thrive, and is contributing to an evidently 
increasing population of brown rats which is now causing problems in adjacent properties and indeed further afield. What is the 
management plan? The wild bird life, with a little thought, could both develop, and be a better annotated feature: the information board 
on birds by the upper lake includes coot - I’ve not seen one in six years - and omits many of the more interesting species that are 
present. There are plenty of people who enjoy the two parks with binoculars and a gentle pace, rather than sprinting around in 
fluorescent Lycra! Lockdown has shown us the real value of this, and the context of this plan is the emergence through and from 
Covid: these things are as important as PE, for which the site, with a gun band swimming pool, makes more than adequate provision. 
It’s a balance of priorities, and in the plan the natural/environmental/post Covid mental wellbeing/carbon neutrality feels under balanced 
when compared to the physical jerks and carbon / consumption jerks!

Page 226



High Peak Parks Management Plans

11 / 28

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

I think it lacks specifics. There are several points of concern. One is the references to “small mammals, birds and invertebrates” 
without ever mentioning the presence of - seemingly thriving - a wild brown trout population in the rivers, as well as the sticklebacks in 
the Upper lake. Personally, I would welcome the opportunity to purchase a permit, one day a year, to flyfish on this section of the Wye! 
Catch and release. If just one ticket for one day each week of the season was available, it would generate revenue, but more so, the 
best river conservationists are often FlyFisher men: we keep an eye on the river. I do anyway: I monitor the trout, and have reported 
mine oxide pollution to the EA when it has occurred, because I am drawn to the river. Whilst that might not be popular, illegal bait 
fishing does occur, poaching for food and fathers teaching kids fishing in ways that lead to fish being killed or taken; its management 
is not mentioned. Neither is the presence of signal crayfish in the river, and their management plan. 

A second moot point is the usage of the park for music festivals and similar. There was a recent premises licence notice given for 
such an event for August 2021, seemingly organised by persons with no qualifications or experience in staging such an event. Pre-
Covid, such events, which in Buxton seem designed typically for an elite, high carbon-consuming, affluent travelling audience, have 
caused much damage to the park grassland, and plausibly the waste management and grounds restoration of such events are not fully 
recouped from organisers and this disproportionately use funds provided by local council tax payers that are - demonstrably from the 
plans - under pressure for priorities. As we emerge into a post-Covid world, one would hope that any large public gatherings locally 
would only be managed with the highest levels of experience of event and Covid safety management: this cannot be achieved with an 
unforced event; fencing an event precludes access to the park for those of us paying for its upkeep, but more importantly for whom it 
is our only accessible green space. In any case, the noise issues and congestion, often on the few weeks of the year when we might 
have weather to enjoy these amenities, preclude us, or make them unbearable. The plan should set out a clear strategy for large scale 
public events in the park, other than bandstand performances, with guaranteed time for unimpeded access for residents and general 
visitors to the area coming for the environment, not the consumerism. 

Thirdly, the anti-social behaviour risk assessment is so generic that it’s a joke: it doesn’t work. Both parks and car park are frequented 
by drug users. 

Fourthly, there have been a lot of tree losses in recent years due to winds, and climate predictions mean there will be more. This is 
both a specific risk for the RA, but what’s the strategy for replacing them? With what? 

Fifthly, the environmental aspect is really interesting. The plan acknowledges implicitly that many other green spaces on the town’s 
periphery are likely to be developed in years to come, so the naturalised if ornamental aspects of the park will be even more vital for a 
sense of well-being. They have great avian biodiversity, and it can improve. Kingfishers, dippers, great spotted woodpeckers, tree 
creepers, nuthatches, redwings, common sandpipers, little grebe, grey and pied wagtails, tawny owls, siskins, redpoll, goldcrests, grey 
herons, bullfinches and bramblings as well as all the common garden/parkland birds, black headed and herring gulls, plus occasional 
kestrels and sparrow hawks, are annually present in season, and I’ve seen in gadwall, teal, pink-footed goose, goosander, fieldfare on 
occasions. There are non-native wildfowl that are naturalised over many generations; mandarin ducks are now the second most 
populous duck species on the wye and its tributaries, and Muscovy ducks, and an increasing population of Canada geese. Artificial 
feeding of these latter two is seemingly leading to them being unable to disperse and thrive, and is contributing to an evidently 
increasing population of brown rats which is now causing problems in adjacent properties and indeed further afield. What is the 
management plan? The wild bird life, with a little thought, could both develop, and be a better annotated feature: the information board 
on birds by the upper lake includes coot - I’ve not seen one in six years - and omits many of the more interesting species that are 
present. There are plenty of people who enjoy the two parks with binoculars and a gentle pace, rather than sprinting around in 
fluorescent Lycra! Lockdown has shown us the real value of this, and the context of this plan is the emergence through and from 
Covid: these things are as important as PE, for which the site, with a gun band swimming pool, makes more than adequate provision. 
It’s a balance of priorities, and in the plan the natural/environmental/post Covid mental wellbeing/carbon neutrality feels under balanced 
when compared to the physical jerks and carbon / consumption jerks!

Page 227



High Peak Parks Management Plans

12 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

A long term vision compatible with the Council's declared support to address the climate change and biodiversity emergency and a 
"commitment to using the expertise of local groups is missing". Parks should be demonstrations of wildlife-friendly gardening and have 
areas to enable people to have a better contact with nature and engage in public education.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

The plan's strategies should reflect rather different priorities and principles than has been suggested (I mention some of them above). 
The "wildflower and naturalised" parts of the Serpentine should be extended and the Pavilion Gardens be manages as less of a "formal 
urban park".  than it is.

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Pavilion Gardens and Serpentine should enable increased contact of people with a more natural environment than they do at present 
for their greater appreciation of its benefits to health and enjoyment.The park should be considered  as much the home of the wildlife 
than it is that of humans.

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

With the above in mind, more natural management schemes especially in the Serpentine should be introduced eg improving soil 
health, attracting more pollinators, birds, native trees and flowers, surveying and measuring current wildlife value, less mowing and 
"tidying". The council should widen its community participation from the Friend's group (which does not cover the Serpentine) and the 
Buxton Field Club and Biodiversity group of the Civic Association would be willing to offer their particular expertise.

#7#7
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Tuesday, February 02, 2021 5:42:55 PMTuesday, February 02, 2021 5:42:55 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Tuesday, February 02, 2021 6:43:36 PMTuesday, February 02, 2021 6:43:36 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   01:00:4001:00:40
IP Address:IP Address:   79.73.53.25279.73.53.252

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 228



High Peak Parks Management Plans

13 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

#8#8
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Wednesday, February 03, 2021 8:46:57 PMWednesday, February 03, 2021 8:46:57 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Wednesday, February 03, 2021 9:00:51 PMWednesday, February 03, 2021 9:00:51 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:13:5400:13:54
IP Address:IP Address:   79.73.37.16579.73.37.165

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 229



High Peak Parks Management Plans

14 / 28

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

It is encouraging to see the Council develop plans for our public parks, especially looking longer term. However, this plan primarily 
seems to address maintenance issues and care for the ‘built environment’ of our parks and does not address, at all, how our parks can 
become more biodiverse, more linked to other open spaces and more responsive to the well-being needs of the local population 
through the development of the natural environment.
What is missing and therefore desperately needed in these plans is: 
• a long-term vision compatible with the Council’s declared Climate change and biodiversity emergency;
• proper, measurable targets for how the richness of parks will develop; 
• details of how the wider community will be engaged in making our parks more biodiverse;
• a commitment to using the expertise of local groups to ensure biodiversity sits at the heart of Parks’ Strategy
• details of how our parks will link with other open spaces to form green corridors
• details of on-going survey work so that we have an accurate view of what wildlife the parks support and whether this rises or falls 
over the 10 year period
• a comprehensive statement on reducing or stopping the use of pesticides and herbicides and how all practices become ‘nature 
friendly’ and sustainable ;
• changes in maintenance regimes to support and protect wildlife 
• planting policies which will ensure all planting is done with the aim of supporting wildlife, especially pollinators; 
• the integration of the Tree Strategy and on-going thought to the most appropriate species for increasing tree planting in our parks 
and open spaces
• commitment to supporting wildlife in our parks eg through the introduction of bird boxes for selected species
• a commitment to the training of AES staff so that they are adequately aware of the need for and details of the above.
 Detailed comments on the Plan
The introduction refers to a 5 year period for the plan – the title says 2020-2030 which is a 10 year period. This needs clarifying. 
1. Pt.2 & 3 etc There are welcome references to it being “essential” to “engage with the community to understand their needs and 
desires” and to local groups already having been involved in the plan. In the cause of openness, please can a list of who has actually 
been involved in putting the Plan together be included? Buxton Biodiversity and Buxton Field Club, for example, have not been 
involved in this draft and are keen to be actively involved in contributing their knowledge and expertise.
2. Pt. 3 ‘Purpose of the Plan’ sets out 6 purposes, however, nowhere in this plan does it describe or detail: 
a. any means of benchmarking, 
b. how community involvement will be properly achieved or 
c. what standards will be used or how their measurement will be carried out.
This needs to be addressed.
3. Pt. 5 says that context is important and refers back to the draft Parks’ Strategy on this. However, the draft Strategy does not 
include in its context:
a. the need to look at open spaces together with parks; 
b. the emerging national thinking on Nature Recovery Networks; 
c. the statutory duty under NERC 2006 to have regard to the protection and development of biodiversity in parks and open spaces 
and 
d. the role of parks in addressing the Climate Change and Biodiversity Emergency declared by HPBC in October 2019 which stated 
that “natural habitats, wildlife and biodiversity are in peril”.
This needs to be addressed.
4. Pts. 6.2 and 10.2 refer to it not being necessary to have TPOs. This is justified by saying that the land is council-owned and that 
as the Council has policies to protect the environment, TPOs are not necessary. This relies on those policies actually carrying some 
weight and being inviolable and also on future administrations not changing these policies. Therefore it would be preferable to secure 
the future of the trees by having TPOs.
5. Pt.7 refers to the physical assets in the parks. The plan should also detail the natural assets eg trees, resident bird populations, 
native plants, pollinators sustained by the planting etc
6. Pt. 9.5 says that the plan “seeks to protect and enhance the habitats within the park, and the range of flora and fauna they 

Page 230



High Peak Parks Management Plans

15 / 28

support” and references the connections with other open spaces. However, nowhere in the plan does it give details of how this will be 
achieved. There are no specific actions to this end and it is vital that these be identified and added to the plan.
7. Pt. 10.1 refers to the Serpentine as a “formal urban park” whereas pt. 9.5 says that “although.. formally laid out… does have 
some areas which lend themselves more readily to naturalisation for the benefit of biodiversity”. This is an important distinction and 
needs to be recognised, not least in the accompanying map where areas of naturalisation towards St John’s Road have not been 
identified. 
8. Pt. 11 recognises the “wildflower area and naturalised parts” as physical assets, which is welcome, as is the idea that “future 
management requires further discussion”. This is especially so as the longstanding wildflower area shown by the river has already 
been reduced by two thirds by the Council with no community consultation (a matter upheld as wrong in the decision on a formal 
complaint to the Council on this issue last year) and the routine maintenance schedule at the end of this plan already has an action 
point to “rotavate and reseed” the wildflower area. This action is contrary to advice received in August 2019 from Derbyshire Wildlife 
Trust and implies decisions already having been reached without consultation. Both Buxton Biodiversity Group and Buxton Field Club, 
amongst others, wish to be involved in these discussions.
9. Pt. 13.3 talks about the ‘recreational value’ of the Serpentine. While it acknowledges some of the more ‘sedate’ activities, it does 
not identify any of the potential for interest to be created throughout the park by a new focus on wildlife and biodiversity. 
10. Pt. 13.5 on ‘ecological value’ talks about seeking “to protect and enhance the habitats within the park, and the range of flora and 
fauna they support” but again, there is nothing in this plan that details what this means in practice or how this will be achieved, 
monitored and measured. This must be addressed if it is to be taken seriously as a statement.
11. Pt. 14 talks of a Park Ranger where “the role also has a significant community participation element working closely with the 
Friends group and other community organisations as well as running events and activities”. This is interesting as none of these 
collaborations and activities seem to be widely known about and there is no content in the rest of the plan describing what the 
Ranger’s aims, activities and targets are for the next 10 years. Again, this needs to be addressed.
12. Pt. 16 talks about the importance of “actively engaging and encouraging community participation” and the Friends’ Group for 
Pavilion Gardens, who say that they see their role as ‘encompassing’ the Serpentine.  While it is true that the Friends have done much 
valuable work on the infrastructure of the park, there are several problems here. 
a. the Friends’ Group constitution does not cover the Serpentine; 
b. the Group has absolutely no knowledge or expertise in respect of wildlife, flora, fauna or biodiversity
c.  the Group itself, though listing a reasonable membership, has only 4 active men who neither represent wider views nor 
encourage wider participation by others; 
d. their facebook page only allows posting by their committee members, there are no comments by other people and there is no 
engagement on this page other than some limited ‘liking’ of posts;
e. while the Plan refers to the group seeing “new members join and others leave to progress other projects” this glosses over the 
fact that the group neither attracts nor welcomes new members and people leave because of  being made to feel unwelcome. 
13. Given these points it is therefore disappointing and surprising that the action plan for the Serpentine names, on a repeating basis, 
only the Friends’ Group as having “responsibility” for actions, alongside the Council/AES. This must be addressed to build a proper 
level of community involvement and fulfil the stated commitment: “We are keen to work with and support community involvement and 
initiatives which protect, enhance and promote the town’s green spaces.”
14. Further points about the Action Plan:
a. While the action to “explore opportunities for creating naturalised areas across the site, where appropriate” is welcome, there are 
no specific aims or actions identified relating to how this could develop over 10 years, Also,  appropriate groups to work on this, such 
as Buxton Biodiversity or Buxton Field Club have not been identified as a being “responsible” for delivery, even though they are seen 
as potential “partners”. Again there is an over-reliance on the Friends Group who have no expertise in this respect.
b. There is no vision in the Plan or Action Plan about how the Parks should look or feel in terms of how rich they could or should be 
in terms of wildlife and nature – it is all about maintenance, built things and tidiness. But Parks are green spaces. They should be 
about how this is developed and improved. So actions such as “clear some of the overgrown formal beds at the entrance to the Park 
and plant appropriately” completely ignore the fact and the beauty of these beds as they are; rich in wilder flowers such as primrose, 
cowslip, fritillary and woodruff which are all attractive to pollinators.
15. The Maintenance Schedule for the Serpentine is equally mechanical and focused on tidiness rather than improving biodiversity. 
Why is there a perceived need for 16 cuts a year when a lower level of cutting would vastly improve flower availability for pollinators? 
And as said before, rotavating the remains of the wildflower area by the river is both against the advice of DWT and destructive of the 
native flowers already thriving there eg meadow sweet, knapweed, tufted vetch and birds foot trefoil, and providing nectar and habitat 
for pollinators and other invertebrates.
Please please rethink these plans they could be so much betterPage 231



High Peak Parks Management Plans

16 / 28

Please, please, rethink these plans, they could be so much better.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

No. There is no tie up between the Strategy and the Plans. Strategy should set quantifiable aims and objectives, the plans should 
detail how, when and by whom they should be achieved. This plan doesn't do any of that because it is, in essence, just the existing 
maintenance schedule. There is no indication of how this will be improved or changed for a ten year period

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

No. It sees the parks essentially as a created set of assets rather than as green spaces which could be hugely enriched and improved 
for wider community use and involvement, education on the natural world, and activities, both planned and unstructured to help with 
well-being and improving mental health. It gives no details on how the Ranger might work to this effect and gives no details about how 
real community engagement in the parks will be facilitated

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

No. It is merely the existing maintenance schedule and it should be so much more. It has no sense of how things will improve over the 
ten year period.

Page 232



High Peak Parks Management Plans

17 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Seems quite detailed

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Yes

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Yes

#9#9
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Thursday, February 04, 2021 8:32:09 AMThursday, February 04, 2021 8:32:09 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Thursday, February 04, 2021 8:33:38 AMThursday, February 04, 2021 8:33:38 AM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:01:2900:01:29
IP Address:IP Address:   92.31.131.24992.31.131.249

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 233



High Peak Parks Management Plans

18 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

I think it is far too complicated to  form an opinion

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Possibly

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

My only comment is that I hope you don't make the same mistakes when you created a wildflower meadow in the Serentine. It was a 
good idea but not managed correctly afterwards. It was not a wildflower meadow but a cornfield and should have been scratch 
ploughed after blooming to allow the seeds to germinate for the next year.

#10#10
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Saturday, February 06, 2021 9:53:09 AMSaturday, February 06, 2021 9:53:09 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Saturday, February 06, 2021 10:04:03 AMSaturday, February 06, 2021 10:04:03 AM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:10:5300:10:53
IP Address:IP Address:   86.149.185.5886.149.185.58

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 234



High Peak Parks Management Plans

19 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Good as far as it goes but needs to be specific about how and when the goals will be achieved and how will this be audited.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Ok

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Ok

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

The plan is good as far as it goes and it is clear the Council has a number of priorities. My main concern is that it does not emphasise 
the need for radical action on biodiversity and habitat conservation/creation. This is the moment to be bold; to move away from old-
fashioned views of clipped grasslands, tidiness and formal flower beds. The whole park can be an area of much higher ecological value
if the council saw this as a core objective in its plan. It ought to include: an audit of the insect, mammal and aquatic life; planting only 
native trees; planting nectar rich flowers in borders; reducing the 16 mowings p/a to allow grasses to  host insects and capture carbon; 
educating visitors as to why areas are allowed to run a bit wild and why rotten log piles are good  for nature. There are numerous 
possibilities for playing our part in biodiversity and climate solutions through development of our open spaces with nature recovery at 
the forefront.

#11#11
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Saturday, February 06, 2021 2:10:51 PMSaturday, February 06, 2021 2:10:51 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Saturday, February 06, 2021 2:14:46 PMSaturday, February 06, 2021 2:14:46 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:03:5400:03:54
IP Address:IP Address:   86.181.153.14786.181.153.147

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 235



High Peak Parks Management Plans

20 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

#12#12
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Sunday, February 07, 2021 4:42:54 PMSunday, February 07, 2021 4:42:54 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Sunday, February 07, 2021 4:48:13 PMSunday, February 07, 2021 4:48:13 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:05:1900:05:19
IP Address:IP Address:   146.199.28.19146.199.28.19

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 236



High Peak Parks Management Plans

21 / 28

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

The detail given is very good in terms of explaining the current approach ie “where we are now” but there is much more that merits 
inclusion in terms of “where do we want to get to?” and “how we propose to get there?”. See section “Gaps” below.

Two points of detail: 

“Exclusively owned by HPBC…” The words “on behalf of the people of the borough” should be added. The Council, although hugely 
influential in the fortunes of the parks, manages it on behalf of the people it represents, rather than in its own right.

Ashbrook Park deserves a mention. As the plans being formulated for the town centre evolve, there could be an attractive continuum, 
part natural and part cultural, from the Serpentine down to Morrisons, as existed in the past. Improvements have taken place in the 
presentation of Ashbrook Park in the recent past and plans for these to continue should be made. Using The Slopes as a part of this 
continuum is also desirable:- it deserves consideration in its ownright as an open space. 

Gaps

A key gap relates to the thinking and ensuing action plans, which fail to integrate environmental considerations with history/culture, 
health and wellbeing.
 
Floral displays could not only comprise period planting but could also be chosen with biodiversity in mind. The planting in the Pavilion 
Gardens could be related to more than one period of their history. Walks through meadows, which would have contained wild-flowers, 
on the way to the Cold Baths are specifically mentioned (The New Buxton Guide” by D. Orme 1821): this gives historical permission 
for meadow flowers to appear in a designated area of the Pavilion Gardens. They could be labelled to identify the period of history they 
related to. A herb garden, reflecting the post-medieval origin of the Pavilion Gardens (and showing what would have been used in the 
kitchens of the day) could also be given space, without spoiling the 19thcentury features. Many herbs are excellent for biodiversity, as 
well as giving off a pleasant aroma. A “physic garden” could be established on The Slopes above the Pump Room, including shrubs 
and herbs that apothecaries would have used. Again, these would be traditional plants beneficial for biodiversity: they would also form 
a link with an important section of the new Crescent Heritage Experience. History and environmental considerations should be 
integrated, not held separate from one another. Sponsorship and volunteer help might be available for such projects. 

“Modern day users” should include the natural world, of which humans are a part! 

The addition of more wild-flowers and of local Peak District tree species could make the Serpentine a richer environment for those 
enjoying walks there. An existing wildflower area has suffered through needless mowing/strimming, which does nothing to enhance its 
appearance and is destructive of its intention. This should be restored and extended. Attractive trees, vistas over the river and 
pleasing glades full of wild-flowers could make a visually arresting, educational and biodiverse environment.  

The untamed natural environment, attracting flowers, invertebrates, insects and birds have been proven in recent studies to contribute 
substantially to the psychological and emotional well-being of all age groups. Recognition of this in the Parks Strategy and robust 
integration of its implications in the strategic goals and Management Plans would be valuable and appropriate.

Page 237



High Peak Parks Management Plans

22 / 28

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Much is very good, particularly on the cultural/heritage side but the information and contents reflects the weaknesses in the main 
Parks Strategy. I refer, in particular, to the lack of  integration of environmental considerations with heritage and health/wellbeing in 
both strategic goal-setting and management plans.

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes – how it is currently used - but it does not address ways of enhancing and broadening the use of the park. There is much scope 
for enriching its offering to the user groups identified, whilst also enhancing the environmental health of the Pavilion Gardens, 
Serpentine and other areas (The Slopes and Ashbrook Park) .

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

No. A clear action plan can only reflect a clear Strategy. The draft Strategy for HPBC’s parks does not offer more than an explanation 
of the context and current approach to managing the parks. As a result, the Management Plan for the Pavilion Gardens and Serpentine 
is equally vague. There are:-
• No objectives stated eg to increase accessibility for a greater range of groups with special needs in the Pavilion 
Gardens/Serpentine
• No specific projects designed to achieve the broad objectives eg (continuing the above illustration) introduction of activities or 
facilities directly relevant to adults with learning difficulties
•  No milestones eg (continuing the theme) what the Council would aspire to achieve by the end of (say) each year in relation to the
above project illustration
• No possible costings for associated projects identified or investigation of how these might be financed. 
As a consequence……

The Council may have initiatives, timelines etc in mind – but they are not shown in the Plan. It would be very helpful if a further 
document could be prepared which does this.

One omission is very clear.  Revenue is currently gained through use of the Pavilion Gardens for venues associated with the Buxton 
International Festival and Fringe (rented space for marquees, etc). However, there may be additional ways of gaining the revenue 
necessary to take work forward in all aspects of the Strategy and Management Plans for the Pavilion Gardens/Serpentine and open 
spaces eg The Slopes, Ashbrook Park and Hogshaw. This should form an explicit part of the future Management Plan, where it is clear
that proposed initiatives will required external funding. 

Specialist groups in the fields of heritage, environment/biodiversity and exercise/health/wellbeing need to comment on the detail 
relating to Question 5 in its entirety.  I am sure they will do so. Their knowledge and expertise should be actively embraced.

Page 238



High Peak Parks Management Plans

23 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

There are no future plans other than maintaining what is already in place.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the
priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Respondent skipped this question

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management
Plan reflect how the park is used?

Respondent skipped this question

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing
management and development of the park?

Respondent skipped this question

#13#13
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Monday, February 08, 2021 3:07:17 PMMonday, February 08, 2021 3:07:17 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Monday, February 08, 2021 3:09:22 PMMonday, February 08, 2021 3:09:22 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:02:0400:02:04
IP Address:IP Address:   185.13.140.233185.13.140.233

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 239



High Peak Parks Management Plans

24 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

It seems very thorough, though 2 areas of ecological significance are possibly lacking: 
1)border areas where no mowing is carried out until after May, to allow for native wild flowers, insects and birds to flourish 
2) control of the Canada geese population, which has driven out the coots and other smaller birds and destroyed much of the 
grassland.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

I believe so

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Not the 2 items listed above under (2)

#14#14
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Friday, February 12, 2021 2:45:41 PMFriday, February 12, 2021 2:45:41 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Friday, February 12, 2021 2:54:14 PMFriday, February 12, 2021 2:54:14 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:08:3200:08:32
IP Address:IP Address:   31.50.121.9631.50.121.96

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 240



High Peak Parks Management Plans

25 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Please correct the name, consistently, across documents and document titles. Pavilion Gardens and Serpentine Walks.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Yes. But the overall stagey is light on detail for bio-diversity. There is particular scope for bio-diversity development in Serpentine 
Walks as the park has traditionally included informal planting areas.

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

In the main. More mention might be made of Serpentine Community Garden as a community asset accessed within the park. (Also 
sentence in 10.2 needs amendment. Current suggestion is that SCG is in private ownership along with Serpentine House.)

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

AES staff have suggested an aim to bring the park to Grade 1 listed standard. Their work in uncovering an original pathway should be 
celebrated.

An additional heading is required in the document at point 14 to indicate that management responsible, health and safety, involving 
communities are outlined in relation to both PG and SW. It currently just follows on from specific points about SW.

#15#15
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Friday, February 12, 2021 4:00:27 PMFriday, February 12, 2021 4:00:27 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Friday, February 12, 2021 4:11:28 PMFriday, February 12, 2021 4:11:28 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:11:0100:11:01
IP Address:IP Address:   46.208.0.7446.208.0.74

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 241



High Peak Parks Management Plans

26 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

How does this build on and relate back to the Conservation Management Plan which must have existed as part of the HLF funded 
project?
Why does it not include The Slopes?
Why does it not include Ashwood Park? (see also question 3 below)

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

The Parks Strategy specifically refers to 'Pavilion Gardens including The Serpentine, Ashwood Park' but Ashwood Park is not covered 
by the Management Plan.  This reflects HPBC's approach in the past but should not be perpetuated by a new Strategy.

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Reasonably well.

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Reasonably so.

#16#16
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Sunday, February 14, 2021 5:14:32 PMSunday, February 14, 2021 5:14:32 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Sunday, February 14, 2021 5:21:11 PMSunday, February 14, 2021 5:21:11 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:06:3800:06:38
IP Address:IP Address:   5.68.107.725.68.107.72

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 242



High Peak Parks Management Plans

27 / 28

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Pavilion Gardens (including the Serpentine), Buxton

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

The plan requires much more detail in all areas. I would like to see the principles of wildlife friendly gardening throughout the plan.

My area of expertise is biodiversity, and I am particularly worried about the Serpentine management plan for the wildflower areas. The 
wildflower areas in the Serpentine have been reduced by two thirds and this decision was upheld as wrong following a formal complaint 
made last year. This plan should commit to at least reinstate the areas using native wildflowers.

The maintenance schedule lists rotovating the wild flower areas which would damage them. This should be immediately removed from 
the schedule. 

Please seek advice on the wildflower areas. They are an asset to the park, and vital to maximise biodiversity.

There should be much more detail about the wildlife in the parks, and commitments such as stopping the use of all pesticides, using 
peat free products, increasing the use of nectar rich flowers, and providing bird and hedgeghog boxes.

The scheme in Ashwood Park to slow the flow of the river and encourage wildlife should be considered for Pavilion Gardens and 
Serpentine. There used to be water voles in the Serpentine, and suitable management to improve the river habitat could encourage 
their return.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

The Serpentine in particular is suited to an overall policy of improving biodiversity and creating habitats, which could improve the look 
of the park and the visitor experience if well designed. This priority requires much more detail and focus in the management plan.  I 
would also like to see far more emphasis on biodiversity and habitat creation in the parks strategy.

#17#17
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Sunday, February 14, 2021 11:38:31 PMSunday, February 14, 2021 11:38:31 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Sunday, February 14, 2021 11:59:43 PMSunday, February 14, 2021 11:59:43 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:21:1200:21:12
IP Address:IP Address:   84.68.44.15584.68.44.155

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 243



High Peak Parks Management Plans

28 / 28

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Many people enjoy the wildlife in the Pavilion Gardens and Serpentine. The plan doesn't acknowledge species such as Kingfisher, 
Dipper, Nuthatch, and Brown Trout, how these might be protected, or how biodiversity could actually be improved through wildlife 
friendly management and habitat creation.

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

There should be an aspiration for parks to serve multiple purposes including recreation, heritage and biodiversity. Biodiversity should 
have equal importance in the management plans, which should explore the wider benefits of wellbeing, education, and the future health 
of our environment.

Page 244



High Peak Parks Management Plans

1 / 12

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Detailed, accurate and informative

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Yes

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Yes

#1#1
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Tuesday, January 19, 2021 6:42:09 PMTuesday, January 19, 2021 6:42:09 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Tuesday, January 19, 2021 6:44:00 PMTuesday, January 19, 2021 6:44:00 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:01:5100:01:51
IP Address:IP Address:   88.105.139.18388.105.139.183

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 245



High Peak Parks Management Plans

2 / 12

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Nothing noted about cycling access.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Nothing noted about access for cycling.

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

No, fails to acknowledge existing use for cycling as an important link between Macclesfield Road and Whaley Bridge centre.

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

A signposted cycling link could be provided between Macclesfield Road (particularly the new Linglongs housing) and the centre of 
Whaley Bridge using existing or improved pathways within the park. Nothing is noted on this.

#2#2
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Monday, January 25, 2021 10:07:14 AMMonday, January 25, 2021 10:07:14 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Monday, January 25, 2021 10:09:51 AMMonday, January 25, 2021 10:09:51 AM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:02:3700:02:37
IP Address:IP Address:   185.69.144.88185.69.144.88

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 246



High Peak Parks Management Plans

3 / 12

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

The plan is fine as far it goes if your goals are only to meet the needs of its human users. Yet the very basis of a park is that it is a 
space in which people interact with the other parts of nature, albeit often in a highly contrived format - manicured lawns, flowerbeds of 
non-native plants, exotic trees species. etc. There is no doubt that given such aspirations your plan works perfectly well.  

Yet England is the 29th most denatured country on Earth, its ecosystem reduced mainly by chemical farming. Parks should be one 
place where an account of nature's own well-being is addressed. You could maximise the plants that deliver pollen and nectar to 
insects, one of the most threatened and essential parts of British ecosystems. You could have areas of grassland that were left 
unmown (50 species of moth alone thrive in such basic grasslands, as well as butterflies, beetles and grasshoppers). You could have 
a system of nest boxes, but especially for sparrows, starlings, house martins (where appropriate) and swifts, all of which have declined
by more than 50% in this country. You could have plans to introduce mainly native high-quality trees (oaks support c400 species of 
insect, sycamore many fewer and cypress trees only c16). And where you have ducks and waterbirds you could assist their breeding. 

Above all you could work with any number of established stakeholders such as the Buxton Field Club, Buxton Civic Association and 
Biodiversity Whaley to equip yourself with free consultancy. Equally a Biodiversity Strategy could build links with the community, it 
could be rolled out as part of an Environmental Education Strategy (explaining the value of uncut verges, pollinators etc). Sponsorship 
could be established to help underpin these policies. The overarching point is that at present there is minimal attention to nature - local 
native wildlife - and if this country is to reverse its catastrophic failure in the realm of nature conservation, all parts need to implement 
remedial measures. Local parks such as those in the High Peak are ripe for this innovation.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

yes

#3#3
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Monday, February 08, 2021 4:45:18 PMMonday, February 08, 2021 4:45:18 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Monday, February 08, 2021 4:50:08 PMMonday, February 08, 2021 4:50:08 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:04:5000:04:50
IP Address:IP Address:   90.195.191.14290.195.191.142

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 247



High Peak Parks Management Plans

4 / 12

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

yes

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

yes

Page 248



High Peak Parks Management Plans

5 / 12

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

unambitious

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Oh yes

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

According to an unambitious plan , yes

#4#4
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Monday, February 08, 2021 6:01:12 PMMonday, February 08, 2021 6:01:12 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Monday, February 08, 2021 6:03:27 PMMonday, February 08, 2021 6:03:27 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:02:1400:02:14
IP Address:IP Address:   92.23.80.22692.23.80.226

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 249



High Peak Parks Management Plans

6 / 12

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content,
accuracy and level of information contained in the Park
Management Plan?

Respondent skipped this question

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the
priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Respondent skipped this question

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management
Plan reflect how the park is used?

Respondent skipped this question

#5#5
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Monday, February 08, 2021 6:40:18 PMMonday, February 08, 2021 6:40:18 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Monday, February 08, 2021 6:40:42 PMMonday, February 08, 2021 6:40:42 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:00:2300:00:23
IP Address:IP Address:   2.123.66.2052.123.66.205

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 250



High Peak Parks Management Plans

7 / 12

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

The plan is fine as far it goes if your goals are only to meet the needs of its human users. Yet the very basis of a park is that it is a 
space in which people interact with the other parts of nature, albeit often in a highly contrived format - manicured lawns, flowerbeds of 
non-native plants, exotic trees species. etc. There is no doubt that given such aspirations your plan works perfectly well.  

Yet England is the 29th most denatured country on Earth, its ecosystem reduced mainly by chemical farming. Parks should be one 
place where an account of nature's own well-being is addressed. You could maximise the plants that deliver pollen and nectar to 
insects, one of the most threatened and essential parts of British ecosystems. You could have areas of grassland that were left 
unmown (50 species of moth alone thrive in such basic grasslands, as well as butterflies, beetles and grasshoppers). You could have 
a system of nest boxes, but especially for sparrows, starlings, house martins (where appropriate) and swifts, all of which have declined
by more than 50% in this country. You could have plans to introduce mainly native high-quality trees (oaks support c400 species of 
insect, sycamore many fewer and cypress trees only c16). And where you have ducks and waterbirds you could assist their breeding. 

Above all you could work with any number of established stakeholders such as the Buxton Field Club, Buxton Civic Association and 
Biodiversity Whaley to equip yourself with free consultancy. Equally a Biodiversity Strategy could build links with the community, it 
could be rolled out as part of an Environmental Education Strategy (explaining the value of uncut verges, pollinators etc). Sponsorship 
could be established to help underpin these policies. The overarching point is that at present there is minimal attention to nature - local 
native wildlife - and if this country is to reverse its catastrophic failure in the realm of nature conservation, all parts need to implement 
remedial measures. Local parks such as those in the High Peak are ripe for this innovation.

Page 251



High Peak Parks Management Plans

8 / 12

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Overall a good balanced perspective. The plan should give consideration to restriction of information regarding protected species 
location (badger/otter). Good to see an item in respect to naturalization of habitats and involvement of DWT. It would be good if the 
DWT survey information could be publically shared.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Broadly. though the parks strategy does not detail the importance of ecology and biodiversity. This is dealt with more fully in the 
management plan, but could still be a little more detailed in places.

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes. though it does maybe only touch on the importance of the children's play areas/activities which have been of vital importance 
during lockdown

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Yes though could maybe elaborate on them further.

#6#6
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Monday, February 08, 2021 9:26:39 PMMonday, February 08, 2021 9:26:39 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Monday, February 08, 2021 9:33:01 PMMonday, February 08, 2021 9:33:01 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:06:2200:06:22
IP Address:IP Address:   86.170.125.2886.170.125.28

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 252



High Peak Parks Management Plans

9 / 12

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

I don't know all I know is I've enjoyed this park all my life .my children have too. And now my grandkids come from lincoln city. They 
love it too. They don't see many flowers growing wild where they live. So yes I would love to see wild ares for bees birds and other 
animals and insects.

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Don't know answers above

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Don't know just want everyone to e joy the beautiful open spaces

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

Don't know

#7#7
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Tuesday, February 09, 2021 7:20:49 AMTuesday, February 09, 2021 7:20:49 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Tuesday, February 09, 2021 7:26:20 AMTuesday, February 09, 2021 7:26:20 AM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:05:3000:05:30
IP Address:IP Address:   92.23.81.2892.23.81.28

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 253



High Peak Parks Management Plans

10 / 12

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Comprehensive general introduction

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

Yes

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

Yes

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

No. There is no date schedule. It seems to only pay lip-service to ecological matters, with a complacency regarding the current 
situation. The park is too "tidy" and over-mown in areas adjacent to woodland and the river, which doesn't sufficiently encourage and 
support wildlife. Bird and mammal boxes are needed.

#8#8
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Friday, February 12, 2021 1:53:12 PMFriday, February 12, 2021 1:53:12 PM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Friday, February 12, 2021 2:04:14 PMFriday, February 12, 2021 2:04:14 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   00:11:0100:11:01
IP Address:IP Address:   86.149.185.9186.149.185.91

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 254



High Peak Parks Management Plans

11 / 12

Q1

Please select which parks management plan you would
like to comment on.

Memorial Park, Whaley Bridge

Q2

What do you think about the overall detail, content, accuracy and level of information contained in the Park Management
Plan?

Given I've never seen one before this is a difficult question to answer. I can tell you the way you have the survey separated from the 
main body of the report is not at all user friendly and has caused several of my friends to give up answering it. i have to keep going 
back into the report after i have read each question to find out the detail of strategy, aims,action plan etc.  I  don't think is it detailed 
enough in some sections e.g. what does "accessibility for all " really mean., over and above wheel chair access on the paths - signage 
in braille, hearing loops for visually impaired on information boards, height of boards suitable for wheel chair users to read them etc etc.
I am disappointed that it doesn't take as an urgent working premis that you should be at the fore front of working to help reduce climate 
change issues and increase in biodiversity. E.G.  it's in the action plan but the latter not to be considered until September. Why wait til 
then. there is no spark of excitement in the plan with regards to fostering nature with examples of how this could be done.  It feels very 
status quo and no forward future vision.  Quite rightly you wish  to see increased use  but the footpaths can't cope with the current 
level of use and wet weather e.g  diverted footpath due dam construction site   near football ground is a quagmire at times. How will 
that be improved. There is very little mention of links with Canal and Riverside trust and the impact the proposed new spillway will 
have on the park.  It seems a lot of ground could be lost  by these proposals and the park and residents become the poorer because of
it.

How will we know the action plan has been achieved. Where do you publish the monitoring report; indeed is there one.

Whilst I think the park is well maintained on the whole it needs to be on the cutting edge of ideas, which I don't feel is reflected in the 
Park Management Plan. Is there a monthly /regular forum which meets to discuss such things? Please do not say I will get to know 
these things via social media. We don't all use these mediums and therefore the notion of accessibility is immediately blown out of the 
window.

#9#9
COMPLETECOMPLETE

Collector:Collector:   Web Link 1 Web Link 1 (Web Link)(Web Link)
Started:Started:   Sunday, February 14, 2021 10:22:34 AMSunday, February 14, 2021 10:22:34 AM
Last Modified:Last Modified:   Sunday, February 14, 2021 10:29:50 PMSunday, February 14, 2021 10:29:50 PM
Time Spent:Time Spent:   12:07:1512:07:15
IP Address:IP Address:   95.148.139.1795.148.139.17

Page 1: Parks Management Plans 2020 – 2030

Page 255



High Peak Parks Management Plans

12 / 12

Q3

Does the information and content of the plan reflect the priorities and principles of the Parks Strategy?

As you wrote it I would expect it to. As mentioned in the above comments, to answer this question I  would have to go out of this 
survey back to the documents. I would have to  re read both documents, one 8 pages long, the park plan 27 pages. If you seriously  
wanted me to seriously answer this question prior notice of it before I set off reading both documents would  be minimum requirement. 
After all I am only an interested resident, not a research assistant or a forensic analysist

Q4

Does the information contained in the Park Management Plan reflect how the park is used?

It probably does but I only walk through it at various times of day for leisure and to enjoy the environment and don't make use of the 
play and recreational facilities., or know what formal links there are, and should be with the schools, and other youth and older age 
group organisations.

Q5

Does the action plan reflect the aspirations for the ongoing management and development of the park?

I don't think it does re how to increase use without specific increased maintenance; details of plans for wilding areas are missing; 
maybe we need a bike park somewhere too; 

It does list the exsisting maintenance schedules which is useful Given expansion often incurs increased cost it doesn't specify how 
money  will be secured and used from housing developments via section106 agreements to provide new or enhance existing facilities 
locally ( quoted in the Parks Strategy document), and the house building continues in the area increasing the current population and 
users of the park.

it doesn't specifiy how it will increase collaboration with interest groups, involve local community in learning about greening the park 
and by implication how they can green and wild seed their gardens for the benefit of biodiversity, which is essential for our long term 
existence. It may be feasible to income generate by running classes for children and adults on these topics in collaboration with other 
interest groups. I'm sure friends of  Whaley Memorial Park could offer links here.

i appreciate it is a major task developing these plans so I am pleased to have had the opportunity to comment. I hope my comments 
won't be received negatively as it is hard to respond to positively at times  to such feedback from myself and others. I have spent 
several hours on reading the reports and responding to the 2 surveys, because I care about the parks and the important contribution 
they make to our health and well being. I hope you can read these comments with this in mind.

Page 256



High Peak Neighbourhood Parks and Green Spaces Area 

Fomal Parks
Pavilion Gardens and Serpentine Walks Buxton
Manor Park Glossop
Howard Park Glossop
Whaley Bridge Memorial Park Whaley Bridge

Neighbourhood Parks
Ashwood Park Buxton
Cote Heath Recreation Ground Buxton
Green Lane Recreation Ground Buxton
Granby Road Recreation Ground Buxton
Temple Fields Buxton
Bankswood Park Glossop
Harehills Park (Philip Howard Rd) Glossop
Pyegrove Recreation Ground Glossop
Whitfield Recreation Ground Glossop
Chapel Lane Recreation Ground Glossop
Newshaw Lane Recreation Ground Glossop
Conduit Street Recreation Ground Glossop
Padfield Recreation Ground and Local Green Space Glossop
Dove Holes Recreation Ground Dove Holes

Smaller Amenity Open Spaces
Hogshaw Open Space Buxton
The Slopes Buxton
Melandra Castle Open Space Glossop
Cottage Lane Open Space Glossop
Roughfields Open Space Glossop
Greenbank Open Space Glossop
Linear Park Whaley Bridge
Linear Park Chapel 

Natural Open Spaces 
Ferneydale LNR Buxton
Woolley Bridge Open Space Glossop

Play Areas
Pavilion Gardens Buxton
Ashwood Park 
Bench Road
Green Lane 
Ashwood Close
Cote Heath 
Harpur Hill (Burlow Road)
Harpur Hill (Fernydale Avenue)
Brown Edge Road
Hogshaw
Granby Road 

Page 257



Manor Park Glossop 
Howard Park 
Shirebrook 
Pyegrove 
Bankswood 
Newshaw Lane 
Chaple Lane
Whitfield 
Brosscroft 
Padfield 
Edale Close
Centurion 
Cottage Lane 
Philip Howard Road 
Simmondley 
Conduit Street 

Whaley Bridge Memorial Park Whaley Bridge
Jodrell Road 
Elnor Lane
Mevril Road 
Bridgemont
Furness Vale 

Derby Road New Mills

Page 258



  

 
 

HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

The Executive 
 

1 July 2021 
 

 
TITLE: 

 
Community Safety Partnership Review and 
Refreshed Community Safety Strategy 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Todd - Executive Councillor for 
Climate Change, Environment and 
Community Safety 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
David Smith - Principal Officer Communities 
& Partnerships 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix A: Community Safety Partnership Plan; 
Appendix B: Summary of Council’s Contribution to the Community Safety 
Partnership 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The Borough Council is required by statute to work in partnership with other 
listed organisations to tackle community safety problems in the High Peak. The 
Council’s corporate plan committed the Council to ‘review the Community Safety 
Strategy to ensure that the Council is supportive in fighting crime and anti social 
behaviour’. This report delivers that commitment. 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive approves the creation of a Strategy Group that focuses just 
on High Peak. 

 
2.2 That the Executive notes: 

 the Community Safety Partnership’s plan; and  

 the contributions that the Council makes towards community safety. 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The Borough Council has three main duties in relation to community safety 

and must: 
 

Page 259

Agenda Item 6



  

 work with partners to formulate and implement a community safety 

strategy (Section 8); 

 ensure that it has a committee to scrutinise crime and disorder matters at 

least once a year  (Section 9); and 

 consider the crime and disorder implications when exercising its 

functions (Section 10). 

3.2 The Borough Council discharges its duty to work with partners to formulate 
and implement a community safety strategy through its involvement in the 
High Peak Community Safety Partnership (Appendix A). Appendix B provides 
a summary of the Council’s contributions to the Community Safety 
Partnership. 

 
3.3 The Community Select Committee scrutinises crime and disorder matters at 

least once a year. The Committee receives an annual report on the activity of 
the Community Safety Partnership as well as an annual update from 
Derbyshire Constabulary. 
 

3.4 Every Committee report includes a section on community safety implications, 
which ensure that such considerations form part of the Council’s decision 
making process. This includes evaluating the impact of regeneration, asset 
management or planning policies.  

 
3.5 The Council provides a range of services that contribute to improving the 

safety of High Peak. This includes CCTV in town centres across the Borough, 
the work of the Democratic and Communities Service, licensing taxis and 
places that sell alcohol, responding to statutory nuisances, managing Council 
tenancies, and providing support to vulnerable people and those at risk of 
becoming involved in crime and anti-social behavour. 
 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 This report helps to deliver Aim 1: ‘Supporting our communities to create a 

healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak’ and specifically the commitment to: 
“Review the Community Safety Strategy to ensure that the Council is 
supportive in fighting crime and anti social behaviour”.  
 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 None identified 
 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
The report describes how the Council meets its obligations under 
the Crime and Disorder Act 1998. 
 
 

Page 260



  

6.2 Workforce 
 
None  

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
None 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
None – all commitments are made from within current budgets. 
The Partnership also receives specific funding from Derbyshire’s 
Police and Crime Commissioner. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The Borough Council is required to work in partnership to tackle 
community safety issues by the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 and 
associated regulations. 
 
The Borough Council has a duty under s17 of the Crime and 
Disorder Act 1998 to exercise its functions with regard to the likely 
effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all 
that it reasonably can to prevent crime and disorder, substance 
misuse and re-offending. 
 
The Council must also ensure that it has a committee to scrutinise 
crime and disorder matters at least once a year under the Police 
and Justice Act 2006. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
The Partnership duties include a requirement to tackle behaviour 
that spoils the local environment like dumping rubbish. The Council 
intends to continue to influence the Partnership’s priorities to 
include a greater emphasis on both the local environment and 
climate change. 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
The Partnership Plan has been shared with and agreed by 
community safety partners. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
The change of Police and Crime Commissioner is likely to have 
some impact on the work of the Partnership and possibly to 
partnership funding. The Partnership will reflect any changes in 
approach when developing its future plans. 
 

 
 

Page 261



  

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) & Deputy Chief Executive 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

https://www.derbyshire-pcc.gov.uk/Home.aspx 
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/home.aspx 
Derbyshire Police and Crime Commissioners 
Vulnerability Fund: 
http://highpeakcvs.org.uk/index.asp?ID=158 
 
 
 

David Smith 
Principal Officer Communities & Partnerships 
david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

7. Community Safety 
 
7.1 The Borough Council has three main duties in relation to community safety 

and must: 
 

 work with partners to formulate and implement a community safety 

strategy (Section 8); 

 ensure that it has a committee to scrutinise crime and disorder matters at 

least once a year  (Section 9); and 

 consider the crime and disorder implications when exercising its 

functions (Section 10). 

7.2 The Council also has a general duty to promote and improve the economic, 
social or environmental wellbeing of the High Peak and specific obligations in 
relation to various functions that contribute towards making communities safer, 
such as licensing. This report primarily focuses on the specific obligations 
highlighted above.  

 
8 Working in Partnership 
 
8.1 The Borough Council discharges its duty to work with partners to formulate 

and implement a community safety strategy through its involvement in the 
High Peak Community Safety Partnership. 

 
8.2 The term Community Safety Partnership1 (CSP) is not used in legislation and 

a CSP is not a legal entity. Rather, it is the collective term used to describe 
multi-agency arrangements that allow specified organisations (“the responsible 
authorities”) to fulfil their statutory obligations under the CDA and associated 
regulations.  

 
8.3 The responsible authorities for the purposes of the Act are the: 

 Borough Council 

 County Council 

 Chief officer of police 

 Providers of probation services under section 3 of the Offender 

Management Act 2007 

                                            
1
 CSPs are sometimes referred to as Crime and Disorder Reduction Partnerships (CDRPs) or Safer 

and Stronger Communities Partnerships. 

Page 262

https://www.derbyshire-pcc.gov.uk/Home.aspx
https://www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/home.aspx
http://highpeakcvs.org.uk/index.asp?ID=158


  

 Fire and Rescue Authority; and 

 Every Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) that covers the whole or any 

part of the area. 

8.4 These responsible authorities must also act in co-operation with the relevant 
local probation board, specified providers of probation services, and anyone 
prescribed by order by the Secretary of State. 

 
8.5 The CSP members are required to work together to formulate and implement 

a strategy at borough level for: 

 Reducing crime and disorder in the area (including anti-social and other 

behaviour adversely affecting the local environment);  

 Combatting the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in the 

area; and 

 Reducing re-offending in the area. 

8.6 This work is carried out on behalf of the responsible authorities by a strategy 
group2 that is appointed to prepare an annual strategic assessment, prepare 
and implement a partnership plan, review the expenditure of partnership 
monies, and assess the economy, efficiency and effectiveness of partnership 
expenditure. 

 
8.7 In recent years, High Peak Borough Council has shared a strategy group with 

Derbyshire Dales District Council. This was largely because both areas sat 
within the same policing division. This rationale no longer exists following a 
restructure by Derbyshire Constabulary and partners have agreed that having 
separate strategy groups would allow a greater focus on the specific issues of 
the two local authority areas. However, it is envisaged that the two areas will 
work together on issues where it makes sense to do so (such as on rural or 
cross-border issues). 

 
8.8 Having separate strategy Groups also makes it easier to involve agencies and 

organisations that do not have cross-border responsibilities in partnership 
activities. High Peak CVS have now been invited to join the Strategy Group to 
represent the voluntary sector. High Peak CVS have also taken on 
responsibility for distributing small grants of up to £1000 as part of the 
Derbyshire Police and Crime Commissioners Vulnerability Fund. 

 
High Peak Community Safety Partnership 
 
8.9 Following the adoption of a single CSP for High Peak, both High Peak CVS 

and the Peak District National Park Authority have been invited to join the 
CSP’s Strategy Group. The current membership of the Strategy Group is as 
follows: 

 

 Councillor Jean Todd (Chair), High Peak Borough Council 

 County Councillor (to be nominated by Derbyshire County Council) 

 Mark Trillo, Executive Director, High Peak Borough Council 

 James Bromley, Chief Executive, High Peak CVS 

                                            
2
 Crime and Disorder (Formulation and Implementation of Strategy) Regulations 2007 

Page 263



  

 Sarah Fowler, Chief Executive, Peak District National Park Authority 

 Paul Hawker, Group Manager, Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service 

 Inspector Dave Parker, Derbyshire Constabulary 

8.10 It has been suggested that the Borough Council’s Head of Housing and a 
representative from Public Health should also be invited to Strategy Group 
meetings. Officer support for the group is provided by High Peak Borough 
Council and Derbyshire County Council. 

 
8.11 The Partnership has adopted the following vision: 
 

Our Vision is for High Peak to be a place where people feel safe and 

supported, the diversity of our community is valued, and our environment is 

protected. 

8.12 The Partnership follows a three-tier approach to enable it to achieve its vision, 
and looks to: 

 

 PREVENT problems from occurring in the first place (Primary prevention).  

 REDUCE the impact of community safety problems (Secondary 

prevention) 

 SUPPORT those affected by problems and provide support to help stop 

people from reoffending (Tertiary prevention).  

8.13 Each year, the CSP updates its priorities and partnership plan. The delivery of 
the 2020/21 plan was hampered by the Coronavirus pandemic and associated 
lockdown and several actions have been rolled-over to the 2021/22 plan. 

 
8.14 The Partnership has updated the format of its partnership plan for 2021/22 

with the aim of developing a more rounded plan that delivers the statutory 
obligations and which also links more closely to the work of other key 
partnerships. The plan, which can be found at Appendix A, describes how the 
Partnership intends to address the following priorities: 

 

 Acquisitive and Drug-Related Crime 

 Anti-Social Behaviour 

 Domestic Abuse 

 Personal Safety 

 Preventing re-offending 

 Rural Problems 

Page 264



  

8.12 The partnership has also identified two cross-cutting priorities: working with the 
community and voluntary sector, and improving mental health. 

 
Partnership Support 
 
8.14 The Borough Council provides administrative support to the partnership. This 

includes: 

 Preparing the Partnership Plan and Strategy; 

 Holding Partnership funds, overseeing expenditure, and accounting to 
the Police and Crime Commissioner; 

 Completing annual evaluation of expenditure; 

 Reporting on partnership activity to the Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
Committee; 

 Representing the partnership at County and other meetings; 

 Arranging partnership meetings; and 

 Minute-taking. 
 
8.15 Appendix B provides a summary of the Council’s contributions to the 

Community Safety Partnership. 
 
9 Scrutiny of Crime and Disorder Matters 
 
9.1 The Council must ensure that it has a committee to scrutinise crime and 

disorder matters at least once a year. The Committee must have the power to: 
 

 review or scrutinise how the responsible authorities discharge their crime 
and disorder functions and make reports or recommendations to the local 
authority about the discharge of those functions; 

 make a report or recommendations to the local authority concerning 
crime and disorder (including in particular forms of crime and disorder 
that involve antisocial behaviour or other behaviour adversely affecting 
the local environment), or the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other 
substances that affects all or part of their ward. Any member of the 
authority who is not a member of the crime and disorder committee can 
also refer any such matter to the committee; and 

 require the attendance of an officer or employee of a responsible 
authority or of a co-operating person or body in order to answer 
questions provided that reasonable notice is given. 

 
9.2 In all cases where the Committee makes a report or recommendations then it 

must provide a report to each responsible authority and co-operating body. 
 
9.3 The Community Select Committee fulfils the Council’s obligations under the 

Police and Justice Act 20063. The Committee receives an annual report on the 
activity of the Community Safety Partnership as well as an annual update from 
Derbyshire Constabulary. 

 
 
 

                                            
3
 Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 

Page 265



  

10 The Effect of the Council’s Functions on Community Safety 
 
10.1 The Borough Council has a duty to exercise its functions with regard to the 

likely effect of the exercise of those functions on, and the need to do all that it 
reasonably can to prevent: 
(a) crime and disorder (including anti-social and other behaviour adversely 

affecting the local environment);  
(b) the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances; and 
(c) re-offending, in its area. 

 
10.2 Every Committee report includes a section on community safety implications, 

which ensure that such considerations form part of the Council’s decision 
making process. This includes evaluating the impact of regeneration, asset 
management or planning policies. 

 
10.3 The Council’s actions under each of the above heads is considered below. 
 
A Crime and Disorder 
 
10.4 The police have primary responsibility for responding to crime and disorder. 

The College of Policing describes the police’s core operational duties as 
being: 

 protecting life and property 
 preserving order 
 preventing the commission of offences; and 
 bringing offenders to justice. 

10.5 The Borough Council is responsible for wide range of services. Many of these 
services can support work to tackle crime and disorder through the discharge 
of regulatory functions and by providing support for the work of High Peak’s 
Community Safety Partnership. 

 
10.6 The Council also provides a case management function in response to reports 

that it receives about anti-social behaviour. The Council will liaise both 
internally and externally, with agencies such as Derbyshire Constabulary, to 
seek to resolve issues. The Council received 230 reports of anti-social 
behaviour in 20/21 from members of the public via the reporting portal on the 
Council’s website. 

 
10.7 The Council has powers under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 

Act 2014 to issue Community Protection Notices, and apply for injunctions or 
Closure Orders in response to problems. Other agencies, notably Derbyshire 
Constabulary, also have access to the same powers. The Borough Council is 
the only authority with the power to introduce a Public Spaces Protection 
Order to introduce prohibitions and requirements in response to unreasonable 
conduct that has a detrimental impact in public places within the borough. The 
Borough Council has, for example, used this power to address dog fouling and 
to prevent wildfires. 

 
 

Page 266



  

CCTV 
 
10.8 The Borough Council makes a substantial contribution to preventing crime and 

disorder by providing a borough-wide CCTV system. The system has 34 
cameras that record images across the Borough with 24/7 monitoring from the 
control centre. The control room has recently been upgraded from analogue to 
digital at a cost of around £120,000.4 The Council also spends around 
£100,000 per year on monitoring, maintenance and line rental. 

 
10.9 The following table shows the number of incidents recorded by the CCTV 

system across the High Peak. 
 

Location 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 

Buxton 123 165 130 107 

Hadfield 9 12 9 8 

Glossop/Gamesley 53 58 63 44 

Chapel-en-le-Frith 6 18 6 14 

New Mills  12 25 18 13 

Whaley Bridge 3 4 8 11 

Total 206 282 279 197 

 
10.10 The following table depicts the number of viewings made by the Police and the 

number of evidence provided to them:   
 

 2016/2017 2017/2018 2018/2019 2019/2020 

Number of 
Reviews 

318 221 88 127 

DVD/CD/USB 
issued 

154 227 88 65 

 
Environmental Crime 
 
10.11 The definition of crime and disorder includes behaviour adversely affecting the 

local environment. The Borough Council takes the lead role in responding to 
such matters, which are often at the top of the community’s priorities for action 
and include dog fouling, litter, waste disposal, contaminated land and statutory 
nuisances (including noise). The following table provides details of some of the 
Council’s work to tackle environmental crime5. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                            
4
 The full upgrade has not yet been completed. The upgrade costs are shared equally with 

Staffordshire Moorlands District Council. 
5
 The reduction in numbers of fixed penalty notices issued in 2020/21 is due to Covid restrictions. The 

Enforcement Officers were not able to carry out patrols at certain times of the year, and at the same 
time the footfall in many hot spot areas, such as littering in town centres, was much reduced. When 
patrolling was possible, officers were instructed to maintain social distancing and to issue fixed penalty 
notices by post rather than face-to-face. This made enforcement more difficult. 

Page 267



  

Type of Action 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 

Fly tipping investigations 206 302 448 

Dog Fouling FPN 23 3 1 

Litter Only FPN 114 58 4 

Duty Of Care FPN 1 0 0 

Abandoned Vehicles 
 Investigated 
 Disposed  

321 
2 

272 
7 

199 
6 

 
10.12 The local authority also has a duty to inspect its area for statutory nuisance 

which includes investigating noise. The Council responded to around 600 
complaints about statutory nuisance/pollution in 2020. 

 
Dangerous Building and Untidy sites 
 
10.13 The Borough Council can take action in respect of dangerous buildings that 

could be a target for criminal and anti-social behaviour using its building 
control powers under the Building Act 1984. Actions can also be taken as a 
planning authority to rectify untidy sites, which can be locations for criminal 
activity.  

 
Licensing 
 
10.14 The overriding aim of the Council’s licensing function is the protection of the 

public. 
 
10.15 The Licensing Act 2003 regulates the sale of alcohol, the supply of alcohol by 

or on behalf of a club, the provision of regulated entertainment and the 
provision of late night refreshment. The Borough Council is the designated 
licensing authority under the Act and this function is considered further below.  

 
10.16 The Borough Council is also responsible for promoting public safety through 

the licensing of hackney carriage and private hire vehicles. The Authority will 
not grant a licence to drive a vehicle unless satisfied that the applicant is ‘safe 
and suitable’. This includes requiring an Enhanced DBS check for all drivers 
and compliance with the Council’s code of conduct. 

 
10.17 All drivers in the Borough are required to attend an approved safeguarding 

course and to complete and pass either the BTEC Level 2 certificate in the 
introduction to the role of the Professional Taxi or Private Hire Driver or the 
NVQ level 2 certificates in Road Passenger Vehicle Driving (Taxi and Private 
Hire Driver) or an equivalent qualification. This ensures that drivers have an 
awareness of safeguarding and how to provide safety and security for 
passengers  

 

Page 268



  

10.18 An applicant who fails to meet all required tests, conditions, code of conduct 
and standards will not be deemed a safe and suitable person and the 
application for a licence or renewal will be refused. 

 
10.19 The Borough Council is also responsible for regulating scrap metal dealers 

under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013. Every scrap metal dealer is required 
to have a licence and operating without one will be a criminal offence. The 
Borough Council can refuse to grant a licence where the applicant is judged 
not to be a suitable person to operate as a scrap metal dealer. The licensing of 
dealers contributes to community safety by helping to make it more difficult to 
commit crimes such as metal theft, fraud and money laundering. 

 
Tenancy Enforcement 
 
10.10 The Borough Council is a local housing authority and provides social housing. 

All tenants must sign a tenancy agreement, which is updated periodically, and 
includes requirements not to be convicted of a criminal offence or to: 

 carry out any illegal activity or use the property or the area around it for 

anything illegal; 

 cause a nuisance, annoyance, harassment or disturbance to someone 

else;  

 be aggressive or violent or threaten to be violent towards any other 

person; or 

 keep any weapons without the correct licence and Council permission. 

10.11 Breaches of tenancy are investigated by the Council’s Housing Officers. 
Tenants will usually be given an opportunity to resolve the issue but if they 
continue to break the tenancy conditions, or if the problem is very serious, 
then the Council will take legal action and may give notice that the tenancy will 
be terminated. In specified circumstances, such as where a serious offence is 
committed or the property is subject to a closure order, then a court must 
make an order for the possession subject to certain conditions. 

 
Physical Activity and Support 
 
10.12 The Council’s leisure provision can help with diverting people from crime and 

rehabilitating victims of crime. Involvement in physical activities can provide 
positive role models, teach life skills, offer diversion and safety, build 
confidence and encourage self-discipline. The Council’s physical activity and 
sport strategy (‘Towards an Active High Peak’) recognises that physical 
activity and sport can also play a big part in enhancing relationships and social 
networks, which can create safer and stronger communities.  

 
10.13 Some key outputs of the Council’s strategy include: 
 

 An average of over 66,000 attendances at the Council’s leisure centres in 
Buxton, New Mills and Glossop per month in the period immediately 
before the pandemic 

 Completion of over £390,000 worth of capital improvements to parks and 
recreation facilities across the Borough 

 Transformation of the Bench Road play area in Fairfield. 

Page 269



  

 Delivery of water safety talks to around 5,000 children at 31 Primary 
schools and 2 secondary schools with in the High Peak. 

 
B Misuse of Drugs, Alcohol and other Substances 
 
10.14 The Borough Council is the designated licensing authority for the High Peak 

and, as such, is responsible for developing a local policy, processing 
applications and convening hearings to consider any representations 
concerning applications or existing licences. The licensing authority must 
promote the licensing objectives when carrying out its duties: 

 

 the prevention of crime and disorder; 

 public safety; 

 the prevention of public nuisance; 

 the protection of children from harm. 

 
C Re-offending 
 
10.15 Research on the reasons for re-offending has led to the identification of seven 

pathways for reducing re-offending: 
 

Pathway 1: Accommodation (stable accommodation can reduce the 
likelihood of re-offending by more than 20% as it provides the 
vital building blocks for accessing a range of other services 
and for gaining employment). 

Pathway 2: Education, training and employment  
Pathway 3: Health (Offenders are disproportionately more likely to suffer 

from mental and physical problems) 
Pathway 4: Drugs and alcohol 
Pathway 5: Finance, benefit and debt (Ensuring that ex-offenders have 

sufficient lawful funds to live on is recognised as vital to their 
rehabilitation.) 

Pathway 6: Children and families (maintaining family relationships can 
help to prevent prisoners re-offending and can assist them to 
successfully settle into the community). 

Pathway 7: Attitudes, thinking and behaviour (Offending behaviour 
programmes within prison and probation aim to change the 
way that offenders think about their actions and their effects 
on others, and to improve their self-control). 

 
10.16 The Borough Council plays an important role in supporting Pathways 1 and 5. 

The Council can also assist in tackling alcohol misuse through its licensing 
function and the work of the Regeneration Service can support Pathway 2 
through the creation of employment opportunities. This work not only assists in 
reducing recidivisms but may also help to prevent individuals from entering 
into the criminal justice system in the first place. 

 
 
 
 

Page 270



  

Accommodation 
 
10.17 The Borough Council has a duty to take reasonable steps to help prevent any 

eligible person who is threatened with homelessness from becoming 
homeless. This means either helping them to stay in their current 
accommodation or helping them to find a new place to live before they 
become actually homeless. If someone becomes unintentionally homeless 
then the Council will take reasonable steps to help them to secure 
accommodation.  

 
10.18 The Borough Council provides financial support to: 

 

 Good News Family Care, Buxton, providers of accommodation and 
support for those who require treatment for substance misuse (£20,000 
per year). 

 Crossroads, providers of accommodation and support for survivors of 
domestic abuse (£20,000 per year). 

 

10.19 The Council: 

 

 provided accommodation for 59 households as part of the Everyone In 
policy to protect rough sleepers during the Coronavirus pandemic. 

 dealt with 39 homelessness applications in 2019 and 52 in 2020 where 
domestic abuse was  the main reason for loss of settled home. 
 

10.20 The Council also has powers to make sure that owners of private property 
maintain their properties to a good standard. The Council received 144 
complaints about private sector rented accommodation conditions in 2020/21. 

 

Finance, benefits and debt 
 
10.21 The Borough Council administers the housing benefit and council tax 

reduction schemes for eligible High Peak residents. The Council has also 
administered the Test and Trace Self-Isolation Support Payment Scheme 
during the pandemic. 

 
10.22 The Council can also assist in the delivery of the other pathways by supporting 

the Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sector and through 
its involvement in key partnerships (such as the Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership, High Peak Homelessness Forum and High Peak Rough Sleeper 
Action group). 

 
10.23 For example, the Council contributes £50,000 annually towards the Citizens 

Advice’s core funding and a further £25,000 to provide debt & money advice; 
£2,500 to the Samaritans, and £10,000 to High Peak CVS. 

 

Page 271



This page is intentionally left blank



Our Vision, Our Plan, Our Promise, Our Actions

Working together to make High Peak a place where people feel safe and supported, the 
diversity of our community is valued, and our environment is protected

2021 to 2024

P
age 273



2

A word from our Chair
We have a strong team of people from 
different agencies that work together to help 
to make High Peak a safer place for all.

This plan shows how we will continue to work 
together to focus on those problems that are 
of most concern to you.

High Peak is a beautiful part of the country and 
we want to make sure that people can continue 
to enjoy our borough without worrying about 
their safety. I’m confident that this plan will help 
us to do that.

Cllr Jean Todd –  
Chair of the Community Safety Partnership 
and Executive Member for Climate Change, 
Environment and Community Safety, High Peak 
Borough Council.

CONTENTS
Our Vision 4

Who are we? 4

Our Plan 5

What do we need to do? 5

Our Priorities 5

National drivers 5

Countywide drivers 6

Our Priorities for High Peak 6

How will we do it? 7

PREVENT  7

REDUCE 7

SUPPORT 7

How will we work together? 8

How will you know that we’ve  
done what we set out to do? 8

What do we need to deliver our plan? 8

Our Promise 9

Planning what we do 9

Taking action 9

Reporting 
back to you 9

Our Actions (2021 to 2022) 10

Key Area 1: Reducing Crime and  
Improving Safety 12

Key Area 2: Reduce disorder including 
anti-social behaviour and other  
behaviour that affects the local 
environment 19

Priority 4: Anti-social behaviour 19

Key Area 3: Combat the misuse of  
drugs, alcohol, and other substances 23

Key Area 4: Preventing re-offending 24

Key Area 5: Cross-cutting issues 26

P
age 274



3

Our Promise
We will work together to:

Focus on the most important problems in 
High Peak, Talk to our communities about local 
problems, Take early action, Provide support 
for those who most need our help, Work with 
offenders to stop them from committing more 
crime, Work with our communities to tackle 
problems together, Hold a public meeting once 
a year, Provide our community with information 
about what we are doing

Responsible authorities:
High Peak Borough Council, Derbyshire County 
Council, Derbyshire Chief Officer of Police, 
Probation service providers, Derbyshire Fire and 
Rescue Authority, North Derbyshire CCG and 
Tameside and Glossop CCG

Strategy Group members:
Executive Member, HPBC (Chair); Executive 
Director, HPBC; County Councillor, DCC; LPT 
Commander, Derbyshire Constabulary; Group 
Manager, Derbyshire FRS; Chief Executive, 
High Peak CVS; Chief Executive, Peak District 
National Park Authority.

Our Plan (strategy)
We believe that we can achieve our vision if we:

PREVENT problems from occurring in the first 
place (Primary prevention). 

REDUCE the impact of community safety 
problems (Secondary prevention)

SUPPORT those affected by problems and 
provide support to help stop people from 
reoffending (Tertiary prevention). 

Key Areas (Statutory Requirements)
We will work together to formulate and 
implement a strategy at borough level for:

• Reducing crime improving safety

• Reducing disorder including anti-social and 
other behaviour adversely affecting the local 
environment 

• Combatting the misuse of drugs, alcohol and 
other substances in the area

• Preventing re-offending

Responding to any cross-cutting issues, such as 
mental health, and involving the community and 
voluntary sector

Our Priorities
Acquisitive and Drug-Related Crime, Anti-Social 
Behaviour, Domestic Abuse, Personal Safety, 
Preventing re-offending, Rural Problems

is for High Peak to be a place where people 
feel safe and supported, the diversity of our 
community is valued, and our environment is 

protected.

shows how we will deliver our vision.

tells you how we will work together to plan, take 
action, and report back to you.

shows what we will do during the year to deliver 
the things that we set out in our plan.

Our Vision

Our Plan

Our Promise

Our Actions

High Peak Community Safety Partnership

P
age 275



4

OUR VISION
Our Vision is for High Peak to be a place where people feel safe and supported, the 
diversity of our community is valued, and our environment is protected.

WHO ARE WE?
Every borough in the country must have a 
partnership (a group of organisations) that 
meets to look at crime and disorder issues. We 
call our partnership the High Peak Community 
Safety Partnership.

The organisations that must work together 
in the partnership are set down by law. These 
organisations are known as the “responsible 
authorities” and are:

• High Peak Borough Council

• Derbyshire County Council

• The Chief Officer of Derbyshire Constabulary

• Providers of probation services

• Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Authority; and

• NHS Derby and Derbyshire Clinical 
Commissioning Group (CCG), and NHS 
Tameside and Glossop CCG. 

There are lots of other organisations who work 
with the responsible authorities to make our 
Borough safer. These include community groups, 
residents associations, parish and town councils, 
schools and colleges, and organisations such as:

• Crossroads Derbyshire;

• Derbyshire Fire and Rescue Service;

• High Peak Community and Voluntary 
Services;

• HM Prison & Probation Service;

• Peak District National Park Authority; and

• the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Derbyshire.

 

Our Vision

P
age 276



5

OUR PLAN
WHAT DO WE NEED TO DO?
By law, we must work together to tackle:

• crime and disorder;

• antisocial behaviour;

• behaviour that spoils the local environment 
like dumping rubbish (fly tipping), graffiti and 
dog fouling;

• misusing drugs and alcohol; and

• reoffending by adult and young offenders.

OUR PRIORITIES
We are required to carry out a review (a 
strategic assessment) of the problems in the 
Borough each year. We use this and other 
information to choose the most important 
problems that need to be tackled in the 
Borough in the next year to help us to work 
towards our vision.

We must then produce plans that show how we 
will work together to tackle these problems (our 
action plan).

As well as looking at the results of the review, we 
also need to think about what is happening at 
both a national and County-wide level.

NATIONAL DRIVERS

The Home Secretary sets out the key national 
threats in a document called the Strategic 
Policing Requirement. The currently recognised 
threats are terrorism, serious and organised 
crime, cyber security, threats to public order or 
public safety, civil emergencies, and child sexual 
abuse.

www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-
policing-requirement

We also need to consider how the work and 
priorities of the partnership are affected by 
any new laws, policies or guidance from the 
Government or other key bodies.

Some of the recent changes (and some that are 
due shortly) include:

• Introduction of the Domestic Abuse Act 
2021. This includes a power for senior police 
officers to issue a domestic abuse protection 
notice and for the courts to make a domestic 
abuse protection order, and a requirement 
for the Borough Council to publish a strategy 

for the provision of accommodation-based 
support in its area.

• Updated guidance on working together to 
prevent terrorism (“Channel Guidance”) was 
published in November 2020;

• Proposed introduction of a ‘Serious Violence 
Duty’ that will require local authorities, 
the police, fire and rescue authorities, 
specified criminal justice agencies and health 
authorities to work together to look at 
problems linked to serious violence in their 
area, and then produce and implement a 
strategy to respond to any issues that are 
identified.

• Proposed introduction of a new criminal 
offence of trespass.

• Changes to the probation system with a 
new National Probation Service taking on 
responsibility for managing all those on a 
community order or licence following their 
release from prison in England and Wales 
from 26 June 2021.

The Home Office are also carrying out reviews 
of and consultations about political violence and 
disruption, pet theft, violence and abuse toward 
shop staff, and pre charge bail legislation.

Our Plan

P
age 277

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-policing-requirement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-policing-requirement


6

COUNTYWIDE DRIVERS

We must also consider the picture across 
Derbyshire. We recognise that it is better to 
tackle some things, or provide some services by 
working together as a County and that other 
things are best addressed locally. The Derbyshire 
Safer Communities Board brings together 
representatives from the community safety 
partnerships for each borough as well as others 
from the responsible authorities and other key 
organisations. This allows us to work together 
to share resources, skills and experience across 
Derbyshire. 

The Safer Communities Board follows a 
similar approach to the local partnerships and 
identifies key County-wide priorities that we 
will work together to tackle. These priorities, 
and information about how we will work 
together, are described in a document called the 
Derbyshire Community Safety Agreement. The 
current priorities (2020-23) are:

• Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence

• Anti-Social Behaviour

• Modern Slavery

• Prevent (Counter Terrorism) 

• Hate Crime.

In addition to these, the Board has identified 
two “development priorities”. These are areas 
where the Board thinks that more work needs 
to be done to understand the issues and to 

develop plans to tackle the problems. The two 
development priorities are: Organised Crime, 
including County Lines, and Serious Violence

www.saferderbyshire.gov.uk/what-we-do/what-
we-do.aspx

County Lines is where illegal drugs are 
transported from one area to another, often 
across police and local authority boundaries. The 
‘County Line’ is the mobile phone line (or other 
“deal line”) used to take the orders of drugs. 
exploit children and vulnerable adults to move 
[and store] the drugs and money

The Police & Crime Commissioner for 
Derbyshire identifies a set of priorities in 
the Derbyshire Police and Crime Plan, and 
provides funding to High Peak Community 
Safety Partnership to support delivery of those 
priorities. The current priorities are:

• Working to keep the most vulnerable in our 
communities safe from crime and harm and 
supporting those who unfortunately find 
themselves a victim of crime

• Working to tackle the emerging threats of 
cyber and cyber-enabled crime on individuals, 
businesses and communities

• Working to tackle the impact of drugs and 
alcohol on communities

• Supporting those with mental health issues, 

including those with learning difficulties, who 
come into contact with the Criminal Justice 
System, as victim or offender, to get the right 
support, from the right agencies at the right 
time

• Working with young people, including those 
who have been either victims of crime or 
offenders, to understand their needs and 
prevent them becoming involved in criminal 
activities.

The Police and Crime Plan also identifies two 
organisation priorities: to increase the diversity 
of the Constabulary, and to maximise the use of 
new technology.

www.derbyshire-pcc.gov.uk/Your-PCC/Police-
and-Crime-Plan.aspx

OUR PRIORITIES FOR HIGH PEAK

We have identified the following priorities after 
considering our strategic assessment, and 
national and local drivers.

• Acquisitive and Drug-Related Crime

• Anti-Social Behaviour

• Domestic Abuse

• Personal Safety

• Preventing re-offending

• Rural Problems

We will also support the Safer Communities 
Board to deliver the countywide priorities.

Our Plan

P
age 278



7

HOW WILL WE DO IT?
In this section, we will let you know our strategy 
(approach) for tackling our priorities and 
achieving our vision for the Borough.

We believe that we can achieve our vision if we:

PREVENT 

We recognise that some people and places 
within our Borough are at more risk than others 
from crime, antisocial behaviour, fires or other 
community safety problems. 

This includes people who are currently 
experiencing repeated problems or who are at 
greater risk because of their age or for other 
reasons such as physical, emotional or mental-
health difficulties. We want to make sure that we 
support these people whenever we can.

We also recognise that adults and young people 
who commit crime and cause other problems 
often have problems such as mental health 
problems, family problems, homelessness, drug 
problems, lack of skills and training and possibly 
debt and money problems. We can help people 
to stop offending by helping them with these 
problems.

We believe we can prevent problems by:

• Promoting community safety and 
encouraging people to take positive action 
(such as not leaving valuables on show, 
locking their bikes, not starting fires in 
moorland areas);

• Working to address some of the issues that 
make it more likely that some people will 
commit crimes or cause other problems (such 
as mental health, financial problems substance 
misuse, and housing); and 

• Supporting and strengthening our 
communities (such as providing support 
to community and voluntary groups and 
activities). 

REDUCE

We will work together to tackle the problems 
that matter most to people in their local area.

We recognise that a small number of people 
can cause a lot of problems for others because 
of their behaviour. We will try and make sure 
that there is support for these people to help 
them to stop causing problems for others BUT 
we will do all we can to catch and convict those 
who, despite our offers of support, carry on 
committing crimes or causing other problems.

We believe that we can reduce the impact of 
problems by:

• taking early, preventative action to ‘nip 
problems in the bud’; 

• targeting enforcement action on those who 
cause the most problems for others.

• helping those people who most need our 
support to stop them from being a victim 
of crime, anti-social behaviour or other 
problems.

SUPPORT

Victims - Being a victim of crime, anti-social 
behaviour, a fire, or a road accident can be a 
horrible experience for someone to cope with. 
Everyone reacts differently and how you react 
depends on lots of different things. This includes 
the incident itself, the sort of person you are, 
things that have happened to you in the past, 
and the support you have around you. The 
effects can be even worse when you also have 
other problems to deal with such as a health 
or mental health problem, financial difficulties, 
bereavement, or housing problems. We think 
it is important the people are able to access 
support when and if they need it.

Offenders - If we can stop offenders committing 
more crimes then we will have a safer Borough 
with fewer victims of crime. Helping offenders to 
stop offending and get a job or training can also 
mean that they can then contribute to society, 
and improve their life chances and those of their 
children and families. We can also save money 
for tax payers if we can reduce the number of 
offenders because we will not have to spend as 
much money on things such as prisons.

Our Plan

P
age 279



8

We believe that we can support our community 
by making sure that:

• there are support services for victims of 
crime and other problems;

• there are services for those people who are 
causing problems (offenders);

• making sure that people know how to access 
support.

HOW WILL WE WORK 
TOGETHER?
Each member of our partnership has their own 
services and targets that they need to deliver. 
But we know that many problems can only be 
solved by organisations and people working 
together.

This document sets out our overall plan for 
working together to make High Peak a place 
where people feel safe and supported, the 
diversity of our community is valued, and our 
environment is protected. 

Each year we also develop a detailed plan (we 
call this our action plan) that will show in detail 
how we will work together to take action to 
tackle the key problems in our Borough. Many 
of these problems change over time so we will 
write a new action plan each year to make sure 
that we are always tackling the problems that 
matter most to you.

We will also meet regularly throughout the year 
and take action to tackle any new problems 
that come to our attention and that can only be 
solved by us working together.

Representatives from the responsible 
authorities, and from other key organisations, 
meet every three months to look at whether we 
are meeting the targets that we have set. We 
call this group our Strategy Group.

Other officers meet more regularly to look at 
the levels of problems within the Borough and 
report to the Strategy Group if it does not look 
like we will meet our targets.

We also want to involve local people wherever 
possible. This includes:

• asking you what the main problems are in 
your area;

• involving you in helping to decide how to 
solve problems;

• providing support if you want to get involved 
in action to improve your area; and

• letting you know what we’ve done to reduce 
problems in your area.

We also work with other important partnerships 
such as the Derbyshire Safer Communities 
Board, High Peak Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership, High Peak Place Alliance, Local 
Children’s Partnership and the Derbyshire Adult 
and Children’s Safeguarding Boards.

HOW WILL YOU KNOW THAT 
WE’VE DONE WHAT WE SET 
OUT TO DO?
We will publish our action plan each year so that 
you can see what we plan to do. We will provide 
you with regular updates on what we have 
achieved throughout the year and a final update 
once each year has ended.

WHAT DO WE NEED TO 
DELIVER OUR PLAN?
We can deliver many actions within our 
plans without needing any additional money, 
equipment or other resources. We can 
do this by bringing together the people, 
skills, equipment and so on from different 
organisations, and from the local community, to 
work together to solve problems. This generally 
produces better results than when organisations 
try and tackle problems on their own.

We can also sometimes work together to 
think of new ways of tackling problems that 
don’t have an additional cost or we change the 
way that we normally respond to problems to 
produce better results.

In some cases, additional money is needed to 
tackle problems. If this is the case, then we use 
money provided by Derbyshire’s Police and 
Crime Commissioner or contributions from 
individual organisations when these are available. 

Our Plan

P
age 280



9

OUR PROMISE
We will work together to:

• Focus on the most important problems within the Borough.

• Each year we will carry out a strategic assessment to help us to identify priorities and then produce a plan that shows how we will 
tackle those priorities.

• Talk to you (our communities) about crime and disorder issues in your area and about what you think are the most important 
problems to tackle.

• We will use this information to make sure that we are focussing on the issues that are most important to you. 

• Take early action to nip problems in the bud or ideally prevent them from happening in the first place.

• Take quick, firm action against those who break the law and cause problems in our Borough. 

• Support those people within the Borough who most need our help and who may be at particular risk from crime, antisocial 
behaviour, fires or other community safety problems.

• Some people might be more vulnerable than others because of their age or for other reasons such as physical, emotional or 
mental-health difficulties. Others are vulnerable because they have been the victim of crime or antisocial behaviour. 

• Work with people who break the law (offenders) to stop them from committing more crime (reoffending) in the future 

• Work with you (our communities) and provide opportunities to work together to tackle problems. 

• The Borough Council will hold at least one meeting each year to look at whether the partnership has done what it said it would.

•  This meeting will be held in public so you know what is said.

• Provide you with information so that you know what we are doing to make High Peak safer.

•   This will include publishing a summary of our action plan. 

Pl
an

ni
ng

 w
ha

t w
e 

do
Ta

ki
ng

 a
ct

io
n

Re
po

rt
in

g 
ba

ck
 to

 y
ou

Our Promise

P
age 281



10

OUR ACTIONS (2021 TO 2022)
Every borough in the country must have a partnership (a group of organisations) that meets to look at crime and disorder issues. 
We call our partnership the High Peak Community Safety Partnership.

Our Vision
Our vision is for High Peak to be a place where 
people feel safe and supported, the diversity of 
our community is valued, and our environment is 
protected.

Our Partners
The organisations that must work together 
in the partnership are set down by law. These 
organisations are known as the “responsible 
authorities” and are High Peak Borough Council, 
Derbyshire County Council, The Chief Officer 
of Derbyshire Constabulary, Providers of 
probation services, Derbyshire Fire and Rescue 
Authority; and NHS Derby and Derbyshire 
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), and NHS 
Tameside and Glossop CCG.

There are lots of other organisations who 
work with the responsible authorities to make 
our Borough safer. These include community 
groups, residents associations, parish and town 
councils, schools and colleges, and organisations 
such; Crossroads Derbyshire; Derbyshire Fire 
and Rescue Service; High Peak Community 
and Voluntary Services; HM Prison & Probation 

Service; Peak District National Park Authority; 
and the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Derbyshire.

What we have to do
By law, we must prepare and deliver a plan to:

• Reduce crime 

• Reduce disorder in the High Peak, including 
anti-social behaviour and other behaviour 
that affects the local environment 

• Combat the misuse of drugs, alcohol, and 
other substances.

• Reduce reoffending in the High Peak.

We call these our ‘key areas’. We have also 
included improving people’s safety and cross-
cutting issues as key areas.

Our Approach
We believe that we can achieve our vision if we:

• PREVENT problems from occurring in the 
first place

• REDUCE the impact of community safety 
problems

• SUPPORT those affected by problems and 
provide support to help stop people from 
reoffending

Our Actions

P
age 282



11

Our Priorities
We can’t solve every problem and some issues cause more problems in the High Peak than others. 
Each year we look at lots of different information, including what our residents have told us, to see 
what problems we need to focus on during the next year. These are our priorities for 2021/22.

Acquisitive and Drug-Related Crime

Anti-Social Behaviour

Domestic Abuse

Personal Safety

Preventing re-offending

Rural Problems

P
age 283



12

Key Area 1: Reducing Crime and Improving Safety
Our priorities:
1) Acquisitive and Drug-Related Crime

2) Domestic abuse

3) Personal safety

£OPCC – this indicates those projects that will be funded wholly or in 
part from grant funding provided by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Derbyshire

Why are these our priorities?
The number of burglaries in the Borough were more than 10% higher than the 3-year monthly average for each month from December 2020 to March 
2021. The number of thefts of motor vehicles was almost 30% higher in 2020/21 when compared to the previous year.

Derbyshire Constabulary recorded 1,226 domestic abuse crimes in High Peak between April 2020 and March 2021.

We want to help people to keep safe and feel safe. This is why we have included ‘personal safety’ as one of our priorities. Swimming in open water and 
quarries can be dangerous, and we also want to work with young drivers to make sure that they are aware of the risk of road accidents. There were 132 
road traffic collisions from May 2020 to April 2021 that resulted in death/injury (and 345 involving damage only). We want to make sure that people are 
able to travel home safely in taxis and also to raise awareness of the risk of the sexual exploitation of children.
Priority 1: Acquisitive and Drug-Related Crime
 What do we want to 

achieve?
How will we do it? When will we 

do it
How will we 
know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from making it 
happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

1.1 We want to reduce 
the number of 
burglaries from 
people’s houses.

We will create a plan (a 
Problem Solving Plan) with 
actions such as:

• Actions to prevent 
burglaries happening in 
the first place

• Awareness raising 
Providing advice for 
victims

We will deliver the actions 
in the plan.

Plan created 
by end of 
June 2021 
Actions 
delivered 
from July 
2021 to 
March 2022

Number of 
burglaries

Action plan 
produced 
 
Number of 
actions in plan 
delivered

We need to target our activities 
towards the areas with most problems.

We need the support of the community

Police

£OPCC

P
age 284



13

1.2 We want to reduce 
the number of thefts 
from sheds

We will create a plan (a 
‘Problem Solving Plan’) 
with actions such as:

• Actions to prevent 
thefts happening in the 
first place

• Awareness raising

• Providing shed alarms

We will deliver the actions 
in the plan.

Plan created 
by end of 
June 2021

Actions 
delivered 
from July 
2021 to 
March 2022

Number of 
shed thefts

Action plan 
produced

Number of 
actions in plan 
delivered

We need to target our activities 
towards the areas with most problems.

We need the support of the community

Derbyshire 
Constabulary

£OPCC

1.3 We want to reduce 
the number of thefts 
of pedal cycles.

We will create a plan (a 
Problem Solving Plan) with 
actions such as:

• Actions to prevent 
thefts happening in the 
first place

• Awareness raising

• bike marking surgeries

• Providing bike locks

We will deliver the actions 
in the plan.

Plan created 
by end of 
June 2021

Actions 
delivered 
from July 
2021 to 
March 2022

Number of 
pedal cycle 
thefts.

Problem 
Solving Plan 
produced

% of actions in 
plan delivered

We need to target our activities 
towards the areas with most problems.

We need the support of the community

Derbyshire 
Constabulary

£OPCC

Key Area 1: Reducing Crime and Improving Safety

P
age 285



14

1.4 We want to reduce 
the number of thefts 
of vehicles.

• We will create a plan (a 
Problem Solving Plan) 
to reduce thefts of 
vehicles.

We will deliver the actions 
in the plan.

Plan created 
by end of 
June 2021

Actions 
delivered 
from July 
2021 to 
March 2022

Number of 
thefts of 
vehicles.

Problem 
Solving Plan 
produced

% of actions in 
plan delivered

We need to target our activities 
towards the areas with most problems.

We need the support of the community

Derbyshire 
Constabulary

£OPCC

1.5 We want to reduce 
the amount of drug-
related crime on the 
Fairfield Estate

We want to increase 
awareness of the 
impact of crime 
on families and the 
community.

We want to 
encourage people to 
give us information 
about the people 
causing the problems 
so that we can take 
action to stop them.

We will work with 
Crimestoppers to create a 
campaign for Fairfield to:

• Raise awareness of 
Crimestoppers and 
Fearless anonymous 
service.

• Increase the quality 
and quantity actionable 
information received by 
the Police.

Deliver the campaign

Use any information we 
receive to take action

We will 
develop the 
campaign by 
the end of 
August 2021.

Campaign 
material 
produced

Number of 
households 
contacted

Number 
of reports 
received

Actions taken

The project will not work if local 
residents don’t want to take part.

We think that Crimestoppers will have 
better chance than the police and other 
organisations like the Borough Council 
of collecting information.

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council

£OPCC

Key Area 1: Reducing Crime and Improving Safety

P
age 286



15

Priority 2: Domestic Abuse
 What do we want to 

achieve?
How will we do it? When will we 

do it
How will we 
know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from making it 
happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

2.1 We want to help 
victims of domestic 
abuse to stay safely in 
their homes

We will give money to 
Crossroads so that they 
can buy locks, CCTV, 
and alarms and to pay 
for tradesmen to fit 
the additional security 
measures. 

This will 
take place 
throughout 
the year.

Number of 
people helped.

We may not be able to provide help to 
everyone who needs it.

The security measures may not be 
enough to allow people to stay in safety

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council 
working with 
Crossroads

£OPCC

2.2 We want to help 
women who have 
experienced domestic 
abuse in the past or 
who are currently 
in an abusive 
relationship.

We will deliver two 12-
week training sessions 
(Freedom Programme) in 
the areas where they are 
most needed

We will 
deliver two 
programmes 
before the 
end of March 
2022

Number of 
people taking 
part

We will ask 
people who 
attend to tell 
us what they 
thought about 
the course 
and if it has 
helped them

Victims must want to take part in the 
sessions. They must also be able to get 
to the venue.

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council 
working with 
Crossroads

£OPCC

Key Area 1: Reducing Crime and Improving Safety

P
age 287



16

Priority 3: Personal Safety
 What do we want to 

achieve?
How will we do it? When will we 

do it
How will we 
know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from making it 
happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

3.1 We want to help 
people to get home 
safely when using 
taxis

Get me home safe 
campaign

Taxi providers will be asked  
to provide passengers with 
details of drivers through 
using social media and 
websites (eg profiles of 
drivers and driver rotas)

Taxi firms will also be 
asked to promote ‘Get Me 
Home’ prepayment cards 
that parents can buy for 
young people to ensure 
they always have enough 
money to get home after a 
night out.

Taxi providers will be asked 
to promote the scheme 
with support from HPBC 
and the police.

Pilot approach with 1 or 2 
local taxi providers.

April 2021 to 
April 2022

Checks of 
providers 
websites and 
social media. 
Numbers of 
vouchers sold

Buy in from the general public Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council

£OPCC

Key Area 1: Reducing Crime and Improving Safety

P
age 288



17

3.2 We want to reduce 
the number of people 
who are hurt or 
killed in road and fire 
accidents, and reduce 
accidents in open 
water (particularly in 
quarries).

We will purchase and 
distribute advertising 
material, signage to put up 
in hotspot areas, and fire 
safety equipment.

We will deliver events to 
young drivers about the 
dangers of risky driving.

We will support water 
safety talks delivered by 
Lex Leisure and water 
safety campaigns organised 
by the Mineral Products 
Association (MPA)

We will 
hold at least 
two events 
before the 
end of March 
2022

Number 
of items 
distributed.

We will ask 
people who 
attend to tell 
us what they 
thought about 
the course 
and if it has 
helped them

We will need the support of schools, 
colleges and the quarrying industry

Derbyshire Fire and 
Rescue Service

£OPCC

3.3 We want to keep 
young people safe by 
raising the awareness 
of the threat of child 
sexual exploitation 
(CSE). We want to 
help young people to 
recognise the signs of 
CSE and what healthy 
relationships look like.

Derbyshire County 
Council’s Children’s 
Services and Derbyshire 
Constabulary will work 
together to deliver 
information sessions in 
Secondary Schools.

We will also work with 
the High Peak Children’s 
Partnership.

We will produce advice 
booklets to give to young 
people.

We will also purchase 
promotional material to 
promote the key safety 
messages.

We will 
deliver the 
project in 
Secondary 
Schools 
between 
September 
2021 and 
March 2022.

Number of 
events

Number of 
young people 
attending 
events

We will ask 
people who 
attend to tell 
us what they 
thought about 
the course 
and if it has 
helped them

Number of 
publicity items 
handed out.

The project will not work if schools are 
not willing and able to take part.

Derbyshire County 
Council’s Children’s 
Services

£OPCC

Key Area 1: Reducing Crime and Improving Safety

P
age 289



18

3.4 We want to keep 
people safe when on 
line and prevent fraud 
and other cyber-
crime

We will support the work 
of the Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership’s Social 
Connectedness Sub-group 
to make sure that on-line 
safety is considered within 
their plans.

This will 
take place 
throughout 
the year

On-line safety 
is recognised 
in key plans 
and projects

We will not be able to deliver this if we 
are not able to influence the priorities 
of other groups and partnerships

Community Safety 
Strategy Group

Key Area 1: Reducing Crime and Improving Safety

P
age 290



19

Key Area 2: Reduce disorder including anti-social behaviour and other behaviour that affects the local environment
Our priorities:
4) Anti-social behaviour

5) Problems in rural areas

£OPCC – this indicates those projects that will be funded wholly or in part from 
grant funding provided by the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Derbyshire

Why are these our priorities?
Derbyshire Constabulary received 4,314 calls about anti-social behaviour in High Peak in 2020/2021. This was an increase of around 124% compared 
to the previous year. However, we know that much of this was because of people reporting breaches of Coronavirus Regulations to the police. Anti-social 
behaviour remains a key concern for local residents. 

We have lots of visitors to our rural areas and this can lead to problems for local residents. This can include littering, lighting barbecues and other fires, 
causing problems by bad parking, and other behaviours that damage the local environment. The relaxation of lockdown measures in response to the Covid 
pandemic in 2020 led to high numbers of people coming to our area and an increase in reports of problems in our rural areas and we anticipate a similar 
situation in summer 2021 as people take ‘staycations’.
Priority 4: Anti-social behaviour
 What do we want to 

achieve?
How will we do it? When will we 

do it
How will we 
know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from making it 
happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

4.1 We want to make 
sure that people 
know what anti-
social behaviour is, 
what they can do if 
they are a victim, and 
where they can find 
support

We will produce 
information for residents 
and link to a planned 
countywide campaign.

We will make this 
information available to 
residents

We will have 
updated 
information 
available by 
the end of 
July 2021

Guidance will 
be produced.

Number 
of people 
looking at 
guidance

The information needs to be helpful to 
victims of anti-social behaviour.

We will need to make sure that people 
are able to get the information when 
they need it.

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council

£OPCC

P
age 291



20

4.2 We want to take 
action against those 
who act anti-socially. 
We will focus on 
those people that 
cause the most 
problems.

We want to reduce 
problems in areas 
where people keep 
acting anti socially

We will prepare Problem 
Solving Plans where they 
are needed

We will 
do this 
throughout 
the year 
when we 
need to

Number 
of people 
reporting 
problems

Number 
of plans 
produced

% of actions 
delivered

We are unlikely to be able to respond 
to all problems. This means that we will 
need to focus on the most important 
problems.

We may not be able to solve all 
problems. If we can’t fix a problem 
then we will do our best to reduce the 
problem and provide support to victims.

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council

£OPCC

4.3 We want to reduce 
the number of 
reports of anti-social 
behaviour by young 
people by providing 
activities.

We will provide funding 
and support for a twice-
weekly football project 
in Buxton (GOALZ). This 
project is also funded by 
the Football League.

We will work with the 
Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership, Local 
Children’s Partnership 
and others to encourage 
the provision of suitable 
activities for young people 
in ‘hot spot’ areas

This will 
take place 
throughout 
the year.

Number of 
sessions

Number of 
young people 
attending

We need to make sure that young 
people want to go, and to continue 
going, to the activities.

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council

£OPCC

Key Area 2: Reduce disorder including anti-social behaviour and other behaviour that affects the local environment

P
age 292



21

4.4 We want to work 
with our communities 
to improve the 
quality of life in our 
neighbourhoods.

We will work with 
local communities 
to deliver “Love Your 
Neighbourhood” projects 
across the Borough.

These will include things 
like action to clean up and 
improve the local area, 
crime prevention advice, 
and fire safety checks.

April 2021 to 
March 2022

Number 
of projects 
delivered.

Number of 
agencies 
involved.

Number of 
residents 
engage with

The project will not be successful if 
we do not have the support of other 
agencies, services and local residents

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council

£OPCC

Key Area 2: Reduce disorder including anti-social behaviour and other behaviour that affects the local environment

P
age 293



22

Priority 5: Problems in rural areas
 What do we want to 

achieve?
How will we do it? When will we 

do it
How will we 
know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from making it 
happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

5.1 We want to 
reduce crime, anti-
social behaviour, 
environmental crime 
and fear of crime in 
the rural areas

We will work with key 
partners including 
Derbyshire Dales CSP, 
parish councils, Peak 
District National Park 
Authority, National Trust 
and NFU to jointly identify 
and tackle problems.

We will develop a Problem 
Solving Plan to tackle 
problems in rural areas.

We will promote the 
Wildfire Public Spaces 
Protection Order that has 
been introduced by the 
Borough Council.

We will develop and 
deliver a communications 
campaign (particularly in 
relation to potential post-
lockdown issues)

We will deliver a campaign 
to encourage people to 
dispose of their waste 
appropriately and stop fly-
tipping.

Plan produced 
and actions 
delivered

PSPO 
introduced

Number 
of media 
campaigns

Number of 
reports of fly-
tipping

There are likely to be difficulties in 
enforcing prohibitions over a large 
geographic area.

Many of the people causing problems 
are visitors from outside the Borough. It 
is more difficult to make sure that they 
see our key messages.

The project will not work if we do not 
have support from local agencies, 
organisations and local communities.

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council

£OPCC

Key Area 2: Reduce disorder including anti-social behaviour and other behaviour that affects the local environment

P
age 294



23

Key Area 3: Combat the misuse of drugs, alcohol, and other substances
Our priorities:
6) Alcohol misuse

7) Substance misuse

£OPCC – this indicates those projects that will be funded wholly or in 
part from grant funding provided by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Derbyshire

Why are these our priorities?
People with alcohol and other substance misuse problems can be more likely to commit crime or anti-social behaviour. 

Derbyshire Constabulary recorded 602 alcohol-related crimes and 448 drug-related crimes in High Peak the period from April 2020 to March 2021.
Priority 6: Alcohol misuse
 What do we want to 

achieve?
How will we do it? When will we 

do it
How will we 
know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from making it 
happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

6.1 We want to better 
understand the 
provision of alcohol-
related services in the 
Borough

We will work with Public 
Health and others to 
identify the demand for 
services, the current 
services available, and any 
gaps in service.

We will 
complete the 
review by 
December 
2021

Review 
complete

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council 
working with Public 
Health

Priority 7: Substance misuse
7.1 We want to 

better understand 
the provision of 
substance misuse 
services in the 
Borough

We will work with Public 
Health and others to 
identify the demand for 
services, the current 
services available, and any 
gaps in service.

We will 
complete the 
review by 
December 
2021

Review 
complete

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council 
working with Public 
Health

P
age 295



24

Key Area 4: Preventing re-offending
Our priorities:
8) Stop people from becoming involved in offending

9) Support ex-offenders

£OPCC – this indicates those projects that will be funded wholly or in 
part from grant funding provided by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Derbyshire

Why are these our priorities?
If we can stop offenders committing more crimes then we will have a safer Borough with fewer victims of crime. Helping offenders to stop offending and get 
a job or training can also mean that they can then contribute to society, and improve their life chances and those of their children and families. We can also 
save money for tax payers if we can reduce the number of offenders because we will not have to spend as much money on things such as prisons.
Priority 8: Stop people from becoming involved in offending
 What do we want to 

achieve?
How will we do it? When will we 

do it
How will we 
know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from making it 
happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

8.1 We want support 
to be available for 
people who are 
experiencing the 
kind of problems and 
issues that increase 
the risk of offending

We will work with other 
key partnerships within 
the Borough, including 
the Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership, to improve 
support for those with 
mental health, financial 
problems, substance 
misuse issues, or housing/
homelessness difficulties.

Throughout 
the year

The risk 
factors for 
offending are 
recognised in 
key plans and 
projects

We will not be able to deliver this if we 
are not able to influence the priorities 
of other groups and partnerships

Community Safety 
Strategy Group

P
age 296



25

Priority 9: Support ex-offenders
 What do we want to 

achieve?
How will we do it? When will we 

do it
How will we 
know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from making it 
happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

9.1 We want to better 
understand the needs 
of ex offenders within 
the Borough

We will work with the 
Probation Service to 
identify the demand for 
services, the current 
services available, and any 
gaps in service.

We will 
complete the 
review by 
December 
2021

Review 
complete

Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council 
working with the 
Safer Derbyshire. 
Research and 
Information team 
(SDRI) and the 
Probation Service.

9.2 We want to reduce 
the levels of re 
offending by ex 
offenders in the 
Borough.

We will support the 
Countywide scheme to 
track ex-offenders with 
their agreement through 
the tagging scheme called 
Buddy trekker

This project 
will be 
delivered 
throughout 
the year.

Number of 
offenders 
tagged

Number of 
offences 
committed 
once tagged

Ex-offenders from High Peak must be 
willing to sign up to the scheme.

Derbyshire 
Integrated Offender 
Management

9.3 We want to create 
positive opportunities 
for ex-offenders

We will look at the 
possibility of developing 
a project that provides 
opportunities and 
support for ex-offenders 
whilst making use of the 
Borough’s green areas.

Plan 
produced 
by end of 
December 
2021

Plan for 
pilot project 
produced

We may not be able to identify a 
suitable scheme

High Peak CVS

Public Health

£OPCC

Key Area 4: Preventing re-offending

P
age 297



26

Key Area 5: Cross-cutting issues
Our priorities:
10) Work with our communities and voluntary sector

11) Improve mental health

£OPCC – this indicates those projects that will be funded wholly or in 
part from grant funding provided by the Office of the Police and Crime 
Commissioner for Derbyshire

Why are these our priorities?
We have a very active voluntary sector within High Peak. We want to support local groups who know what is needed in their area and who are keen to 
improve their neighbourhood.

Mental health difficulties can make it more likely that some people become involved in crime or anti-social behaviour. Those with such problems can also be 
vulnerable and may become victims of crime and other problems. Victims of crime, anti-social behaviour, a fire, or a road accident may find it difficult to deal 
with their experience and may require additional support.
Priority 10: Encourage local community safety projects
 What do we want to 

achieve?
How will we do it? When will we 

do it
How will we 
know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from making it 
happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

10.1 We want to support 
local community and 
voluntary groups to 
improve community 
safety

Work with HPCVS to 
administer a small grants 
scheme utilising funding 
from the OPCC.

Number 
of groups 
supported

Amount 
of money 
distributed

We can only run this project if the 
Police and Crime Commissioner 
chooses to continue providing funding.

We also need community groups to be 
interested in applying for funding and 
running projects

High Peak CVS and 
Community Safety 
Team, High Peak 
Borough Council

£OPCC

P
age 298



27

Priority 11: Improve mental health
 What do we want to 

achieve?
How will we do it? When will we 

do it
How will we 
know it’s 
working?

What else needs to happen?

What could stop us from making it 
happen?

Who will make sure 
that it happens?

11.1 We want to improve 
the support for 
victims and offenders 
in the Borough who 
are having difficulties 
with their mental 
health

We will work with the 
Health & Well-being 
Partnership’s Mental 
Health sub-group to make 
sure that the needs of 
victims and offenders are 
considered within their 
plans

This will 
take place 
throughout 
the year

The mental 
health of 
victims and 
offenders is 
recognised in 
key plans and 
projects

We will not be able to deliver this if we 
are not able to influence the priorities 
of other groups and partnerships

Community Safety 
Strategy Group

Key Area 5: Cross-cutting issues

P
age 299



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Page 301



This page is intentionally left blank



 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
The Executive 

 
1 July 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Working in Partnership to Deliver Aim 1 of 
the Corporate Plan 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor Anthony McKeown - Council 
Leader HPBC 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
David Smith - Principal Officer Communities 
& Partnerships 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
All 

 
 

Appendices Attached – Appendix A:Partnership Working and Delivery of the 
Corporate Plan; Appendix B: High Peak Together Partnership Structure; 
Appendix C: Wider determinants of health. 

 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan identifies effective relationships with strategic 

partners as a key objective. This report describes how the Council works in 
partnership to deliver Aim 1 of the Corporate Plan and makes 
recommendations for further developing partnership working. 

 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That the Executive approves that: 
 

 The principles at 11.3 for partnership working that are set out in this 
report should be adopted. 

 Each key partnership be invited annually to the relevant Select 
Committee to present an overview of activity. 

 Councillors should be provided with regular updates on work in 
partnership with an emphasis on how this has helped to achieve the 
Council’s corporate objectives. 

 The appointment of a representative on the Place Alliance should be 
formally agreed, and added to list of outside body appointments. 

Page 303

Agenda Item 7



 Training for Officers and Elected Members should be arranged to further 
develop the tools and practical approaches needed for managing 
relationships and effective partnership working.  

 Officers should continue discussions with key partners to review and 
further strengthen partnership working. 

 
2.2 That the Committee notes the partnership working that currently contributes 

towards the delivery of Aim 1 of the Council’s Corporate Plan.  
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 High Peak Borough Council’s corporate plan emphasises working in 

partnership as a means of delivering the Council’s aims and objectives. This 
report describes how partnership-working can help the Council to deliver 
Aim 1 of the corporate plan: to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak. It 
focuses on those key partnerships whose priorities align with Aim 1, and does 
not seek to capture all partnership working the Council is engaged in. It does, 
however, highlight where the partnership working also supports other aims 
within the corporate plan. 
 

3.2 Partnerships that assist the Council to meet its priorities around the ‘healthier’ 
agenda include: 
 

 High Peak Health & Wellbeing Partnership. 

 High Peak Place Alliance Group; and 

 Glossop Strategic Partnership. 

 
3.3 The key partnership delivering on the ‘safer’ agenda is the High Peak 

Community Safety Partnership. 
 

3.4 The key partnership delivering on the ‘cleaner’ agenda is the High Peak 
include : 
 

 Derbyshire Fly-tipping Forum; and  

 High Peak Green Network. 

 
3.5 The Covid-19 crisis has emphasised the importance of partnership working 

and it has been increasingly recognised that involvement in the various 
partnership structures and their sub-groups can assist the Council more 
broadly to deliver its corporate priorities and services. Fortunately, the local 
response to the pandemic highlighted the strong commitment to partnership 
working that already exists within High Peak across statutory and non-
statutory organisations and groups. 
  

3.6 The report also presents recommendations for ways in which the Council can 
improve its approach to partnership working. The raised importance of, and 
increased emphasis on, partnership-working has also prompted partners in 

Page 304



High Peak to review current arrangements and identify areas for further 
development and improvement.  
 

4. How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 This report focuses primarily on Aim 1 of the corporate plan: to create a 

healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak 
 
5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 Working in partnership with community, voluntary and partner groups and 

organisations is an essential part of the Council’s work and this report looks at 
how we can strengthen those arrangements. 

 
6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
 
The report considers how the Council works in partnership with 
others to improve community safety. 
 

6.2 Workforce 
 
None specifically arising from the report. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
 
None. 
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
 
None. 
 

6.5 Legal 
 
The report highlights where the Council is statutorily obliged to 
work in partnership. 
 

6.6 Climate Change 
 
Partnership working can assist the Council to respond to the 
climate emergency (Aim 4 of the Council’s Corporate Plan). 
 
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
 
The contents of the report have been discussed with 
representatives of the various partnerships that are described in 
the report. 
 

Page 305



6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
 
None 

 
Mark Trillo 

Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 
 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

 David Smith 
Principal Officer Communities & Partnerships 
david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
7. Working in Partnership 
 
7.1 High Peak Borough Council’s corporate plan emphasises partnership working 

as a means of delivering the Council’s aims and objectives, and includes the 
following key objectives: 

 

 “Effective relationships with strategic partners” (Aim 1);  

 “Work with our partners and the community to address health inequality, 
food and fuel poverty, mental health and loneliness” (Aim 1); and 

 “Use innovation, technology and partnership with others to help improve 
the efficiency of services, improve customer satisfaction and reduce our 
impact on the environment” (Aim 2). 

 
7.2 The plan also commits the council to working with and supporting partners to 

influence a variety of positive outcomes for the Borough, including: 
 

 maintaining the provision of accessible health and social care (Aim 1); 

 dealing with antisocial behaviour (Aim 1); 

 More effective use of council assets to benefit our communities (Aim 2);  

 regeneration, development and job creations schemes (Aim 3); and 

 responding to the climate emergency (Aim 4). 

 
7.3 To support this focus on partnership working, the Council maintains a register 

of partnerships and conducts an annual review of how the partnerships 
contribute to corporate aims and priorities, and seeks to identify any risks and 
opportunities. 

 
7.4 This report describes how partnership working can help the Council to deliver 

Aim 1 of the corporate plan: to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak. It 
focuses on those key partnerships whose priorities align with Aim 1 and does 
not seek to capture all partnership working the Council is engaged in. It does, 
however, highlight where the partnership working also supports other aims 
within the corporate plan. 

Page 306



 
7.5 Commencing this year, the Council has requested information from the key 

partnerships that support Aim 1 and has asked them to highlight any notable 
achievements, progress towards delivery of the partnership’s plan, challenges 
and lessons learned, and any future challenges or opportunities. 

 
7.6  This report is one of a series of three. The Community Select Committee 

considered a report on how the Council works in partnership with the 
Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise (VCSE) Sector on 31 March 
2021, and a further report on how the Council works with the Arts Sector will 
be brought before the committee later in the year. 

 
Peak District Partnership 
 
7.7 Although the report focuses on those partnerships that can assist the Council 

to deliver Aim 1 of the Corporate Plan, the cross-cutting nature of the Peak 
District Partnership (PDP) also requires highlighting. The PDP was 
established to function as the Local Strategic Partnership1 for the High Peak 
and Derbyshire Dales . In 2019 it was agreed that the PDP would focus on 
delivering an annual ‘think tank’ event and any follow-up action. The PDP has 
delivered two ‘think tank’ events to date: one focusing on “the impact of 
demographic change on the Peak District from both an economic and health 
and wellbeing perspective, looking 15 years ahead”, and the second 
examining the “future proofing of the Peak District’s town centres”. 

 
7.8 A new ‘think tank’ meeting is planned for July 2021 to “explore the 

opportunities and challenges likely to be faced by those seeking to establish 
community focused social enterprises within the Peak District”. It will also 
consider the opportunities that might arise from the Government’s £150m 
Community Ownership Fund. 

 
8 ‘Healthier’ 
 
Health & Well-being Partnership (HWP) 
 
8.1 Derbyshire’s Health and Wellbeing Board (HWB), which is required by 

statute2, exists to advance the health and wellbeing of people in Derbyshire, 
and to encourage local health and social care service providers to work in an 
integrated manner. Derbyshire's Health and Wellbeing Strategy sets out 5 
priorities and focuses action to address the wider determinants of health3: 

 
1. Enable people in Derbyshire to live healthy lives. 

2. Work to lower levels of air pollution. 

                                            
1
 Local Strategic Partnerships (LSPs) are non-statutory public, private and voluntary and community 

sector partnerships. LSPs provided a mechanism for developing and implementing a Community 
Strategy. Each local authority had a statutory to prepare such a strategy from 2000 until the duty was 
repealed by the Deregulation Act 2015. 
2
 Sections 194 and 195 Health and Social Care Act 2012 

3
 Wider determinants of health – Appendix C. 

Page 307



3. Build mental health and wellbeing across the life course. 

4. Support our vulnerable populations to live in well-planned and healthy 
homes. 

5. Strengthen opportunities for quality employment and lifelong learning. 

 
8.2 The work of the HWB is supported locally by the High Peak Health & 

Wellbeing Partnership. The HWP identified six priorities for the period 2018-
2020. The priorities are due to be refreshed but it is likely that they will remain 
very similar: 

 

 Supporting younger people. 

 Supporting older people. 

 Mental health & wellbeing. 

 Increasing physical activity. 

 Financial inclusion. 

 Access to activities, volunteering and services. 

 
8.3 Four sub-groups have been established by the HWP to support the delivery of 

these priorities: 
 

 Improving Mental Wellbeing. 

 Physical Activity. 

 Financial Inclusion. 

 Social Connectedness (two working groups: Digital Inclusion; 
Befriending- Communications 

 
8.4 In addition to supporting overall action to improve the health of High Peak 

communities, the HWP provides the Council with a forum to work in 
partnership to deliver corporate priorities such as access to leisure and use of 
parks and open spaces, delivering the Council’s Access to Services Strategy, 
and addressing food and fuel poverty through linkages to the Council’s 
Revenues and Benefits Service. 

 
 

Page 308



Place Alliance (not including Glossop) 
 
8.5 Joined Up Care Derbyshire, also known as Derbyshire’s Integrated Care 

System4 (ICS), brings together health and social care organisations across 
Derbyshire (not including Glossopdale) to provide a more joined-up approach 
to health and social care. The JUC Board established eight “Place Alliances” 
across Derbyshire to focus on: 

 
 supporting people to stay well for longer through a consistent set of work 

areas which include frailty, falls, care homes and supporting people to 
die well; and 

 locally identified health and wellbeing needs. 

 

8.6 The High Peak Place Alliance has established four priorities for the High 
Peak: 

 Ageing Well 

 Mental Health  

 Integrated Care 

 Community Resilience 

8.7 This work is developed by multi organisational sub-groups including: 

 Dementia Working Group 

 Hub Working Group focusing on integrated working at Cavendish 
Hospital 

 Mental Health sub group & Living Well Collaborative 

 Community resilience Group led by the High Peak Alliance (Voluntary 
Sector) 

8.8 The Place Alliance changed its emphasis during the pandemic and acted as a 
COVID-19 Community Resilience Forum. This allowed organisations to share 
COVID resources (such as information leaflets), information on service 
delivery, and community intelligence. It also allowed trends and gaps in 
provision to be identified. 

 
 

                                            
4
 https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/what-is-integrated-care/ 

Page 309



Glossop Neighbourhood Delivery Group (GNDG) and Strategic Partnership 
 
8.9 Glossop residents have their health care commissioned by the NHS Tameside 

and Glossop Clinical Commissioning Group.  

 
8.10 The Glossop Neighbourhood Delivery Group (GNDG) is chaired by the 

Integrated Neighbourhood Manager from the Tameside & Glossop Integrated 
Care NHS Foundation Trust. In addition to the Foundation Trust, the group is 
attended by Derbyshire County Council, NW Ambulance Service, Glossop 
Primary Care Network, The Bureau, and patient representatives. The group 
has the following priorities: 

 

 Long term conditions (Prevention, Identification and Early Intervention). 

 Frailty and Falls. 

 Living well with long-term conditions. 

 Palliative & End of Life Care 

 Digital Inclusion. 

 
8.11 The Glossop Strategic Partnership is not a formally constituted group, but was 

established during the Covid pandemic and provides an opportunity for the 
Council to discuss health issues in Glossop with partners. 

 
8.12 The main link between the work of the Place Alliance and GNDG and the 

Council’s corporate priorities and service delivery is through the provision of 
social housing and, in particular, ‘frailty and falls’ and the delivery of the 
Council’s Carelink service. Consequently, it is suggested that Housing 
Services should represent the Council on these groups. 

 
Housing and Homelessness 
 
8.13 In addition to the above, there are also a number of borough-wide partnership 

meetings to consider the housing/homelessness agenda, which are a key 
wider determinant of health (Appendix C). These include the High Peak 
Homelessness Forum, Rough Sleeper Action Group, and Empty Property 
Working Group. The Borough Council also attends the Derbyshire Housing 
Health Systems Group, Young Persons Positive Pathway Group and Strategic 
Housing Officers Group. 

 
Regeneration Civic and Arts Partnerships  
 
8.14 The quality of the built environment is one of the wider determinants of health 

(Appendix C). This report does not consider the Council’s involvement in 
Regeneration and Civic Partnerships but their contribution to the health and 
well-being agenda should be recognised.  

 
8.15 Organisations, including the World Health Organisation, have recognised that 

the arts can influence the social factors related to health, contribute to 
children's development, promote health-enhancing behaviour, prevent 

Page 310



illnesses and support treatment of patients. The Council’s support for the Arts 
Sector will be described in a further report. 

 

Page 311



Table 1 Current Council Officer Representation on Health Partnerships 

Partnership/Group/Sub-Group Link to Corporate Plan Council Representation Role 

Aim Objective(s) 

Health & Wellbeing 
Partnership 

1 

 

Address health inequality and mental 
health 

Principal Officer (Communities and 
Partnerships) 

Group member 

- Physical Activity  1 

 

 

 

4 

Address health inequality and mental 
health 

Provision of high-quality leisure facilities 
both in formal leisure centres and 
swimming pools and out in our 
communities 

Effective provision of quality parks and 
open spaces 

Principal Officer (Leisure and 
Recreation) 

Chair 

- Financial Inclusion  1 Address food and fuel poverty Head of Revenues & Benefits  

Housing Strategy Technical Officer 

Group member 

- Improving Mental 
Wellbeing 

1 Address mental health None  

- Social Connectedness 
 

- Digital Inclusion 
Working Group 

 
 

- Communication and 
Community Engagement 
Working Group 

1 
 
2 

Address loneliness 
 
Ensure our services are readily available 
to all our residents in the appropriate 
channels and provided “right first time” 
 
Use innovation, technology and 
partnership with others to help improve 
the efficiency of services, improve 
customer satisfaction and reduce our 
impact on the environment. 
 
 

 
 
Head of Customer Services 
 
 
 
Head of Customer Services 
 
Communications Business Partner 
 
 

 
 
Group member 
 
 
 
Vice-Chair 
 
Group Member 
 

P
age 312



Place Alliance 1 
 
 

Loneliness 
 
 
Fit for purpose housing that meets the 
need of tenants and residents (links to 
Carelink Service 

Principal Officer (Communities and 
Partnerships) 
 
 

Group member 
 
 

Glossop Neighbourhood 
Delivery Group (GNDG) 

Glossop Strategic Partnership 

 

1 Loneliness 

Fit for purpose housing that meets the 
need of tenants and residents (links to 
Carelink Service 

GNDG – no current representation 

Principal Officer (Communities and 
Partnerships) 

 

Group member 

P
age 313



9 ‘Safer’ 

Community Safety Partnership 
 
9.1 The Borough Council is required to work with partners to formulate and 

implement a community safety strategy. The Council discharges this duty 
through its involvement in the High Peak Community Safety Partnership 
(CSP). A separate report on how the Council delivers its community safety 
functions is an agenda item for this meeting of the Select Committee. 

 
9.2 The CSP’s strategy must focus on: 
 

 Reducing crime and disorder in the area (including anti-social and other 
behaviour adversely affecting the local environment);  

 Combatting the misuse of drugs, alcohol and other substances in the 
area; and 

 Reducing re-offending in the area. 

 
9.3 To achieve these broad aims, the CSP has identified the following priorities for 

2021/22: 
 

 Acquisitive and Drug-Related Crime. 

 Anti-Social Behaviour. 

 Domestic Abuse. 

 Personal Safety. 

 Preventing re-offending. 

 Rural Problems.. 

 
9.4 The partnership has also identified two cross-cutting priorities: working with 

the community and voluntary sector, and improving mental health. 
 
9.5 The CSP has two sub-groups: a Multi-agency Problem Solving Group, which 

meets monthly, and a Violence and Licensing Group, which meets quarterly. 
In addition, the Council also attends fortnightly police tasking meetings. 

 
9.6 The CSP is part of a Countywide structure that includes the Derbyshire Safer 

Communities Board, which meets every quarter, and various sub groups. The 
Board meeting is supported by a Core Group, which is made up of Community 
Safety Officers from across the County with other key partners. 

 

Page 314



9.7 Key successes and activities in 20/21 include: 
 

 Funding Crossroads to deliver two training programmes empowering women 
to improve the quality of their lives through understanding domestic violence. 

 Funding a fencing scheme and upgrade of lighting around the shop and hub 
area on the Fairfield Estate to help to reduced anti-social behaviour. 

 Working with the Council’s Housing Service to allocate funding to social 
housing tenants for improved security in response to safety concerns  

 Purchasing and distributing heavy duty bike locks, and shed and driveway 
alarms to reduce crime. 

 

Page 315



Table 2 Current Council Officer and Member Representation on the Community Safety Partnerships 

Partnership/Group/Sub-Group Link to Corporate Plan Council Representation Role 

Aim Objective(s) 

CSP Strategy Group 1 
 

Practical support of community safety 
arrangements 

Executive Member for Climate 
Change, Environment and Community 
Safety  
 
Executive Director (Governance & 
Commissioning) 
 
Principal Officer (Communities and 
Partnerships) 
 
Community Project Officer 

Chair 
 
 
Group member 
 
 
Support Officer 
 
 
Support Officer 

Multi-Agency Problem Solving 
Group (MAPS) 

1 Practical support of community safety 
arrangements 

Community Project Officer Group member 

Violence and Licensing Group 1 Practical support of community safety 
arrangements 

Senior Officer (Housing, Public Health 
and Licensing) 
 
Licensing Officer 

Chair 
 
 
Goup member 

County ASB Group 1 Practical support of community safety 
arrangements 

Community Project Officer Group member 

County Core Group 1 Practical support of community safety 
arrangements 

Community Project Officer Group member 

Derbyshire Safer Communities 
Board 

1 Practical support of community safety 
arrangements 

Executive Member for Climate 
Change, Environment and Community 
Safety 
 
Principal Officer (Communities and 
Partnerships) 

Chair 
 
 
 
Group member 

P
age 316



10 ‘Cleaner’ (and ‘Greener’) 

Derbyshire Waste Partnership 
 
10.1 The Derbyshire Waste Partnership primarily focuses on waste and recycling 

but the agenda frequently includes issues such as litter and fly tipping. This 
includes discussions of patterns and incident trends, and sharing of best 
practice. The Environment Agency also attend the meetings and provides 
updates on their work. 

 
High Peak Green Network 
 
10.2 The quality of the natural environment is one of the wider determinants of 

health (Aim 1) and also links to Aim 4 of the corporate plan and the objectives 
around effective waste management, and provision of open spaces.  

 
10.3 The High Peak Green Network is a recently formed affiliation of green groups 

across the High Peak. It was originally established to work with High Peak 
Borough Council on its declaration of a Climate Emergency. The following 
organisations are part of the network: 

 

 Acclimatise Whaley 

 Biodiversity Buxton 

 Hope Valley Climate action 

 Sustainable Hayfield 

 Transition Buxton 

 Transition New Mills 

 High Peak Green New Deal. 

 
10.4 Successes and activities to date include: 
 

 Working with High Peak Borough Council following the Climate 
Emergency declaration; 

 Establishing a HPGN Bio-diversity Group and a group to work with 
young people on Climate/Biodiversity issues; 

 Established WARM AND ECO HOMES HIGH PEAK Facebook page to 
act as a forum for those retrofitting and draught proofing their homes. 

 

Page 317



Table 3 Current Council Officer Representation on ‘Greener’ Partnerships 

Partnership/Group/Sub-Group Link to Corporate Plan Council Representation Role 

Aim Objective(s) 

Derbyshire Waste Partnership 1 
 
 
 
4 

Effective provision of high-quality public 
amenities, clean streets and 
environmental health 
 
Effective recycling and waste 
management 

Head of Service Commissioning 
 

Group member 

High Peak Green Network 1 
 
4 
 

Meeting the challenge of climate change 
and working with residents and business 
across the High Peak to implement the 
climate change action plan 

The Council has a regular liaison 
meeting with the Network. 

None 

 

 

 

P
age 318



  

11 Conclusions 

11.1 The Covid-19 health crisis required a multi-agency response and the Borough 
Council has actively increased its representation on key partnerships over the 
last 12 months. The crisis emphasised the importance of partnership working 
and it has been increasingly recognised that involvement in the various 
partnerships and their sub-groups can assist the Council more broadly to 
deliver its corporate priorities and services. Fortunately, the local response to 
the pandemic highlighted the strong commitment to partnership working that 
already exists within High Peak across statutory and non-statutory 
organisations and groups.  

 
11.2 Appendix A shows how working with key partnerships can assist the Council 

to deliver key objectives in its Corporate Plan.  
 
Principles 
 
11.3 The recommendations presented in this section are underpinned by the 

following principles: 
 

 The Council’s involvement in partnerships should support the delivery of 
the Council’s corporate objectives. 

 The Council will identify the most appropriate person, and at which level 
in the organisation, to support partnership activity according the aims of 
each partnership. 

 The Council will identify the most appropriate way of engaging with each 
partnership. This may involve establishing and administering some 
partnerships; helping to influence the priorities and actions of others; or 
maintaining an awareness of partnership activity without direct 
participation.  

 The Council’s Select Committees should play an active role in 
supporting and scrutinising partnership activity. 

 Councillors should be provided with regular updates on partnership 
working with an emphasis on how this has helped to achieve the 
Council’s corporate objectives. 

 
Areas for Improvement 
 
11.4 The raised importance of, and increased emphasis on, partnership working 

has prompted partners in High Peak to review current arrangements and 
identify some areas for further development and improvement.  

 
11.5 The complexity of the partnership landscape can make it difficult to obtain 

and maintain an overview of partnership activity. This creates the risk of: 

 Duplication; 

 Omission (issues falling through the gaps); 

 Inefficient use of resources (including time); 

 Missed opportunities; 

 Activity not being recognised, celebrated and/or promoted. 

Page 319



  

11.6 It is not always clear where some issues should sit within the structure (such 
as domestic abuse). In some cases, more than one group has been 
established to address the same issue (such as mental health) and it can be 
difficult to decide how to best deliver some cross-cutting issues (such as 
communication and community engagement/resilience). 

 
11.7 Some partnerships have strong links with each other (such as the Place 

Alliance and Health & Wellbeing Partnership), whilst others such as the 
Homelessness Forum, Sleeper Action Group and Local Children’s Partnership 
currently have little or no connection with other partnerships. 

 
11.8 Not all partnerships or groups have action plans or the plans are out of date 

(this is partly because development work was put on hold to respond to 
Covid). This can result in a lack of focus and it can be difficult to demonstrate 
how and where some partnerships add value. It can also make it more difficult 
for partners to know how and where to best engage. This is particularly 
problematical for smaller organisation who lack the capacity to attend multiple 
meetings; or where an organisation has an interest in only a small area of a 
partnership’s activities. 

 
Developing Partnership Working within the Council 
 
11.9 Partnership working and stakeholder engagement are widely recognised as 

crucial elements in the effective delivery of services in the public, private and 
third sectors. Given the emphasis within the Corporate Plan on partnership 
working as a delivery model, it is important that Council Officers and Elected 
Members are helped to further develop the tools and practical approaches 
needed for managing relationships and effective partnership working. 
Consequently, it is recommended that the Council arranges for suitable 
training for Officers and Elected Members. 

 
11.10 Service plans will be required to identify how individual services will work in 

partnership with others (including the Voluntary, Community and Social 
Enterprise (VCSE) Sector). The development of effective relationships with 
strategic partners will be further encouraged and prioritised by the inclusion of 
partnership working within staff appraisals for Heads of Service and those 
within other key positions that involve partnership working. 

 
11.13 Appendix A describes officer representation on the key partnerships that 

assist with the delivery of Aim 1 of the Corporate Plan. Most arrangements in 
place but some require further development, which will take place over the 
coming year. 

 
Councillor involvement 
 
11.11 As noted above, Councillors have a key role in scrutinising the Council’s work 

in partnership with others. The Council also appoints Councillors to represent 
the authority on certain partnerships: 

 

 

Page 320



  

Partnership Representative 

Peak District Partnership 
 

Leader or Deputy Leader 
 

High Peak Community Safety 
Partnership Strategy Group 
 
Safer Communities Board 
 

Cllr Todd 
 

Place Alliance 
 

To be appointed 

 

11.12 The following actions are proposed to formalise and further develop the 
involvement of Councillors in scrutinising partnership activity: 

 

 The appropriate Select Committee should invite each key partnership to 
present an annual overview of activity. 

 Councillors should be provided with regular updates on work in 
partnership with an emphasis on how this has helped to achieve the 
Council’s corporate objectives. 

 The appointment of  representative on the Place Alliance should be 
formally agreed. 

 
High Peak Together  
 
11.12 Preliminary discussions have taken place with representatives from the 

Place Alliance, Health & Wellbeing Partnership and Community Safety 
Partnership about ways of improving partnership working across the High 
Peak. This approached has been branded as ‘High Peak Together’. 

 
11.13 Adopting a more joined-up approach to working together offers the possibility 

of overcoming those risks and presents an opportunity to: 
 

 Improve communication between partners and with the community; 

 Promote diverse thinking; 

 Encourage holistic approaches to takling problems; 

 Identify and develop synergies; 

 Further promote partnership working, including involvement of the 
voluntary sector, through greater transparency of priorities and activities 
resulting in a better understanding of how organisations can contribute 
and add value; and 

 Put the voice of the community at the heart of decision making. 

 
11.14 An emerging option is to develop a new more strategic group to sit at the 

heart of the current partnership structures, to be called the High Peak 
Together Strategic Forum, that would meet quarterly or biannually to : 

Page 321



  

 

 Allow oversight of partnership activity and provide a mechanism for 
reducing the risks identified above; 

 Provide a forum for discussing the ‘big issues’ affecting High Peak; 

 Provide a mechanism for co-ordinating partnership activity; 

 Influence organisational and other priorities; and 

 Provide a united voice for High Peak. 

 
11.15 One of the proposed functions of the High Peak Together Strategic Forum 

would to be to develop and implement common processes for partnerships 
(as far as possible). This would include: 

 

 action plan templates 

 performance frameworks, and 

 reporting mechanisms (from sub-groups to partnerships, and 
partnerships to Forum). 

 
11.16 The Forum should provide great transparency, allow the Council to evaluate 

the value of partnership working and make it easier to obtain an overview of 
partnership activity without having to attend all partnership meetings. 

 
11.17 Three main options have been identified: 
 

Option 1 Chairs of the key partnerships/groups plus representatives of 

other key agencies that would otherwise be excluded. 

- Not all key agencies chair a subgroup and would not be 

represented on the group if the membership was limited 

to partnership chairs. 

- The Community Safety Partnership is atypical in that it is 

Chaired by an Elected Member. 

Option 2 A more senior group of officers from key organisations 

- This option would provide an escalation mechanism. 

- Senior representation could assist in removing 

barriers/making things happen. 

- It would also require attendance by partnership chairs 

to present reports/information, which could make the 

group too big. 

Page 322



  

Option 3 A two-tier model with an Executive Group and Key Officer 

Group. 

- The Key Officer Group would meet prior to the 

Executive Group to set the agenda and prepare papers 

for the Executive Group. 

- This option creates an additional meeting (but would be 

required to make the Forum work). 

 

11.18 A series of risks associated with introduction of the revised approach can be 
identified: 

 

 The Forum just becomes a ‘talking shop’ (although dissemination of 
information is one aim) 

 Lack of agency buy-in/lack of buy-in at the right level 

 Adds another tier(s) of meetings  

 Increased bureaucracy (although the introduction of common plans, 
templates is designed to assist with this) 

 The Forum would require administrative support. 

 
11.19 Appendix B provides an overview of partnership activity, with the High Peak 

Together Forum at the centre of the complex web of partnership activity. The 
partnership diagram is based upon the wider determinants of health model  
(Appendix C), which provides a framework, or lens, for viewing the 
interactions and contributions of partnership activity.  

 
11.20 The diagram highlights a number of areas where partnership working can be 

rationalised (for example, there are two groups looking at mental health). 
Although there are groups that look at housing provision, these do not 
currently link with the other partnerships. This may present an opportunity 
given the importance of housing to improving health and also the work of the 
Community Safety partnership around domestic abuse. 

 
11.21 The partnership diagram at Appendix B includes the High Peak & North Dales 

Locality Children’s Partnership, which is described in more detail below. High 
Peak Borough Council is not represented on this partnership and has a 
limited role in contributing to the partnership’s direct priorities. However, 
delivery of the partnership’s first priority would contribute towards the 
Corporate Plan objectives of addressing mental health and health 
inequalities. Actions to support the emotional wellbeing may also 
contribute to community safety. This is an example of where the Borough 
Council could develop better links to the Partnership, and understanding of 
its activities, via the High Peak Together Forum without having to attend 
the Children’s Partnership meetings. 

Page 323



  

 

High Peak & North Dales Locality Children’s Partnership 

The Partnership, which is Chaired by  the Head teacher of Elton School, 
Matlock), has the following priorities: 
 
 Improving and supporting the emotional wellbeing of children 0-19 in 

High Peak and North Dales, including development conditions.  

 Children and Young People to be school ready and transition ready, 
to achieve and aspire to all they can be. 

 To support Early Help Services5 being delivered by key agencies 
within the locality.  

The High Peak and North Dales Youth Forum supports the creation and 
delivery of the partnership’s action plan. 
 
Key successes and activities include: 
 

 Establishment of a Transition Team following the review of the Early 
Help Offer to work at a community development level supporting 
voluntary groups, volunteers and parent led groups to deliver universal 
services. 

 Youth and Community Engagement Workers are also working in 
partnership with the High Peak CVS to develop a Youth Forum to ensure 
that the voice of the young people is heard and listened to help identify 
their needs and any gaps in provision. 

 Derbyshire County Council’s Early Help Team (Children’s Services) has 
introduced creative methods to deliver child development programmes to 
parents to support their child’s development during lockdown. 

 A specialist CAMHS Advisor (SCA) regularly attends LCP, Early Help 
Practitioners Meetings and Vulnerable Children Meeting (VCM). 

 

 

11.22 Similarly, the Borough Council does not provide direct mental health 
services but does refer customers to such services for support and 
provides a range of supporting elements such as parks, leisure and related 
activities. The need for mental health support has been increasingly 
highlighted by Council services, such as Housing and Customer Services, 
and the High Peak Together Forum could provide a mechanism for the 
Council to better influence and support service provision.  

                                            
5
 The Early Help approach supports a shift of focus away from managing short-term crises and 

towards effective support for children and young people and their families at an earlier stage, with 
them at the centre of enabling environments rather than them being dependent on organised public 
services. www.derbyshire.gov.uk/social-health/children-and-families/support-for-families/early-
help/early-help.aspx 

Page 324

http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/social-health/children-and-families/support-for-families/early-help/early-help.aspx
http://www.derbyshire.gov.uk/social-health/children-and-families/support-for-families/early-help/early-help.aspx


APPENDIX A Partnership Working and Delivery of the Corporate Plan 

Aim 1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak 

 

Key objectives for 2019-2023: Delivery Lead Officer(s) 

Effective relationship with strategic partners Appropriate engagement 
with partnership 
structures 

Chief Executive, 
Executive Directors, 
Head of 
Communities and 
Climate Change;  

Fit for purpose housing that meets the need of 
tenants and residents  

- Place Alliance 

- Glossop Strategic 
Partnership 

Head of Housing 
Services 

Practical support of community safety 
arrangements 

Community Safety 
Partnership 

Executive Director 
(Community Safety 
Team) 

Provision of high-quality leisure facilities both in 
formal leisure centres and swimming pools and out 
in our communities 

Physical Activity Sub-
group 

Principal Officer 
(Leisure and 
Recreation) 

Work with our partners and the community to 
address: 

 

 Health inequality Health and Well-being 
Partnership 

Principal Officer 
Communities and 
Partnerships 

 Food and fuel poverty Financial Inclusion Sub-
group 

Head of Revenues 
& Benefits 

 Mental health ‘Improving Mental 
Wellbeing’ Sub-group 

 

 Loneliness Digital Inclusion Sub-
group 

 

Head of Customer 
Services 

Effective provision of high-quality public amenities, 
clean streets and environmental health 

Derbyshire Waste 
Partnership 

Support for ‘cleaner 
greener’ and Friends 
groups 

Head of Service 
Commissioning  

Aim 2: A responsive, smart, financially resilient and forward-thinking council 

 

Key objectives for 2019-2023   

Ensure our future financial resilience can be 
financially sustainable whilst offering value for 
money 

VFM via partnership 
working 

All 

Ensure our services are readily available to all our 
residents in the appropriate channels and provided 
“right first time” 

Digital Inclusion Sub-
group 

 

Head of Customer 
Services 

More effective use of council assets to benefit our 
communities 

No specific group Head of Assets 

Effective procurement with a focus on local 
businesses 

No specific group but 
generally supports the 
objective of locally 
procured services and 
goods. 

Head of Service 
Commissioning 

Page 325



Use innovation, technology and partnership with 
others to help improve the efficiency of services, 
improve customer satisfaction and reduce our 
impact on the environment 

Digital Inclusion Sub-
group 

Head of Customer 
Services 

Aim 4: Protect and improve the environment including responding to the climate 
emergency 

Key objectives for 2019-2023   

Effective recycling and waste management Derbyshire Waste 
Partnership 

Head of Service 
Commissioning 

Effective provision of quality parks and open 
spaces 

Support for ‘Friends’ 
Groups 

Principal Officer 
(Leisure and 
Recreation) 

Meeting the challenge of climate change and 
working with residents and business across the 
High Peak to implement the climate change action 
plan 

High Peak Green 
Network 

Head of Democratic 
and Community 
Services 

 

Page 326



High Peak
Together
Strategic

Forum

I've been thinking about how the layout could work. 
The Health bit of the diagram is the most complicat-
ed bit and it's the only theme where there are some 
partnerships that just cover Glossop and some that 
cover all the borough. Confusingly, the High Peak 
Place Alliance and High Peak Primary Care Trust both 
don't include Glossop.  There is a separate Primary 
Care Trust for Glossop and the Glossop Strategic 
Partnership is the equivalent of the Place Alliance.

I've had a go at another layout below. Basically, a 
coloured arc round the green that just lists the 
themes: Food, Education, Unemployment, Health 
and Housing. I’ve removed one theme from your 
original diagram: ‘work environment’ . Ideally, ‘Living 
and Working Conditions’ should be at the top 
because that’s a sort of header for all the others in 
that arc. The order of the themes doesn’t really 
matter: I’ve pretty much kept with the original order 
(see diagram at very bottom as an example) but they 
could be re-ordered to make them �t better. 

Then, could we have another coloured arch that lists 
the partnerships and sub-groups. I’ve done Health as 
a separate diagram just because it was too compli-
cated to put on my main (left) one – we just need to 
end up with one diagram though. We need someway 
of distinguishing between the partnership names 
(black on mine) and the sub-group names (purple on 
mine). Doesn’t have to be purple – that was just the 
�rst coloured pen I found.

Outside that is the orange segment as before. I 
though that the heading should go in a box (or 
whatever) for consistency (and I’ve dropped the word 
‘general’).

Does that make sense/work? Sorry for so many 
changes.

So
cia

l and community networks
Gl

os
so

p 

Co
m

m
un

ity

Gra
nt

s P
an

elHi
gh

 P
ea

k V
oluntary

Se
cto

r
Fo

ru
m

Community andCommunica�onsForum Com
m

unity

M
essaging

Forum

High Peak
Com

m
unity

Forum

Fo
od

Ed
uc

a�
on

U
ne

m
pl

oy
m

en
t

Living and working condi�ons

Health

Hou
sin

g

Glossop
Prim

ary Care
Network

Glossop Neighbourhood
Glossop

Strategic
Partnership

Delivery Group
Dem

en�a
W

orking
Group

Ageing W
ell

W
orking

Group
High Peak Prim

ary

Care Network

M
ental Health

W
orking 

Group
Hub

W
orking

Group

Community
Resilience

Working Group High Peak Place Alliance

High Peak Health and W
ellbeing Partnership

Physical Ac�vity
Group

Im
proving M

ental
W

ellbeing Group
Children, Young

People and

New
 Fam

ilies

Socal Connectedness *(Digital Inclusion
Working Group & Befriending
 Communica�on Group

Financial
InclusionGroup

Fo
od

 B
an

k,

 Pa
nt

rie
s &

Gro
win

g

Sc
he

m
es

Lo
ca

l 

Ch
ild

re
n’

s

Pa
rt

ne
rh

sip

Bu
sin

es
s

Pe
ak

 D
ist

ric
t

Violence andLicensing
GroupMul�-agency

Problem Solving

(MAPS)
(MAPS)

Community Safety Partnership

Ro
ug

h S
lee

per
High

 Pe
ak

Ho
m

ele
ssn

ess

Fo
ru

m
Ac
�o

n G
ro

up

Socio-economic, cultural and environmental condi�ons

Vi
sio

n B
ux

to
n

Buxton Civic Associa�on

High Peak Green Network

Glossop Crea�ve Trust

High Peak Arts Forum

P
age 327



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Wider Determinants of Health 

 

 

Dahlgren, G. and Whitehead, M. (1993) Tackling inequalities in health: what can we 
learn from what has been tried? 

 

Page 329



This page is intentionally left blank



HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

The Executive 
 

1 July 2021 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

ANNEX A - Proforma for Purchase of Property to HRA  
 

1. Reason for the Report  
 
1.1      The purpose of the report is to propose a policy methodology to enable the 

Council to purchase additional housing stock to the Housing Revenue 
Account (HRA). 

 
1.2  This includes properties previously sold under the Right to Buy, former 

Council properties advertised on the open market and bespoke purchase of 
properties for families with complex needs.  

 
2. Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Executive: 

 

 Agree the policy methodology 
 

 Delegate approval of purchasing suitable properties to the Executive 
Director (Finance & Customer Services), in liaison with the Executive 
Councillor for Housing & Licensing and Executive Councillor for 
Corporate Services & Finance, with a maximum net expenditure of 
£300,000.  

 

 Approve that prior to formal appointment of the Executive Director 
(Finance & Customer Services), delegation will be to the Executive 
Director & Monitoring Officer and Interim Executive Director & S151 
Officer 

 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The Council’s Corporate Plan 2019-2023 includes a key objective under AIM 

1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High 

TITLE: Purchase of Additional Stock to the HRA  

EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR Cllr Fiona Sloman – Executive Councillor for 

Housing & Licensing 

Cllr Alan Barrow – Executive Councillor for 

Corporate Services & Finance 

CONTACT OFFICERS: Helen Core – Head of Housing Services 

WARDS INVOLVED:  All 

Page 331

Agenda Item 8



Peak to provide ‘Fit for purpose housing that meets the need of tenants and 
residents’. 

 
3.2 In line with this objective, the Council would like to increase the availability of 

its social housing stock, providing affordable rental accommodation to those 
individuals/families that need it.  Particularly in recognition of the reduction in 
stock over recent years as a result of the Right to Buy (RTB) scheme and 
evident demand for such housing type. 

 
3.3 The Council has almost £2.2 million in right to buy receipts, the spend of 

which is time bound. These funds can be used to fund 40% of the purchase 
costs of additional housing stock to the HRA. 

 
3.4 One option to increase housing stock, but also target specific properties 

based on housing need, is to outright purchase existing properties. 
 
3.5 In recent months, the Council has had the right of first refusal on two ex-RTB 

properties, whereby the business case for doing so has been assessed and 
proven viable.   

 
3.6 The business case has followed a process involving a number of services 

including Housing, Assets, Legal and Finance.  An Individual Executive 
Decision report has been approved for each of these potential purchases, 
which are currently going through the conveyancing process. 

 
3.7 Going forward, to avoid any unnecessary delays and in order to be 

competitive in a fast moving housing market, this reports establishes a policy 
methodology by which Council Officers will follow when dealing with potential 
property purchases.  It is proposed that this process is then delegated to 
Officers in liaison with the relevant Executive Councillors, to avoid individual 
reports having to be presented for each potential purchase.   

 
4.       How this Report Links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 As part of the Corporate Plan aim ‘Supporting our communities to create a 

healthier, safer, cleaner High Peak’, where one of the key priorities is:  

 Increased supply of affordable housing 
 

In purchasing additional appropriate properties, the Council is adding to its 
social housing stock.  
 

5.        Alternative Options 
 
5.1   There are two options:- 
 

 APPROVE  (RECOMMENDED) – to approve the policy methodology and 
delegated decision making to enable the timely purchase of appropriate 
additional stock to the HRA 

 

 DON’T APPROVE (NOT RECOMMENDED) – each individual property 
will need separate reporting and decision making, delaying the process 

Page 332



and making the Council less attractive to vendors, potentially preventing 
the purchase of appropriate stock  

6. Implications 
 

6.1
  

Community Safety - (Crime and Disorder Act 1998) 
Not applicable  
 

6.2 Workforce 
It is unlikely that any additional or specific impact to staff is 
expected from individual purchases. 
 

6.3 Equality and Diversity/Equality Impact Assessment 
No specific implications  
 

6.4 Financial Considerations 
As part of the business case, the financial implications associated 
with the purchase of the individual property will be considered. 
 

6.5 Legal 
Legal implications are considered as part of the business case 
developed for any purchase.   
 

6.6 Climate Change 
No specific implications, future measures to address climate 
change issues within properties will be considered as part of the 
HRA capital program.  
 

6.7 
 

Consultation 
Relevant ward members for prospective purchases will be 
consulted as part of the process. 
 

6.8 
 

Risk Assessment 
A business case pro forma and financial template has developed in 
consideration of the sale. 

 
 
 
 

CLAIRE HAZELDENE 
Interim Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

 Contact details 

 

n/a 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Helen Core 
Head of Housing Services 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 333



 
 
6. Introduction & Background 
 
6.1  The Council’s Corporate Plan 2019-2023 includes a key objective under AIM 

1: Supporting our communities to create a healthier, safer, cleaner High 
Peak to provide ‘Fit for purpose housing that meets the need of tenants and 
residents’. 

 
6.2 A key priority being ‘increased supply of affordable housing’.  Consequently, 

the Council is progressing a number of projects as part of the accelerated 
housing delivery programme as part of the approved Local Plan.  These will 
largely result in affordable housing via ownership or shared ownership 
arrangements.   

 
6.3 However, demand for social housing is also very high, with 2,378 applicants 

currently on the Housing register.  High demand, coupled with slower turnover 
of stock (particularly in light of Covid-19) is leading to long and frustrating wait 
times.   

 
6.4 In addition, the Council is seeing an increase of applications for families 

specifically requiring four bedroomed properties - of which the Council owns 
just 72, which seldom become vacant.  The Council is also approached by 
families with complex needs who in some instances require specialist housing 
which is not readily or easily available at affordable rentals. 

 
6.5 Therefore, the Council would also like to increase the availability of its social 

housing stock, providing affordable rental accommodation to those 
individuals/families that need it.  Particularly in recognition of the reduction in 
stock over recent years as a result of the Right to Buy (RTB) scheme and 
evident demand for such housing type. 

 
7. Right to Buy Scheme 
 
7.1 Under current legislation, tenants can purchase their Council property at a 

reduced rate after 3 years under the ‘Right to Buy’ scheme, the discount being 
dependant on tenancy length. The financial gain is ringfenced for 
reinvestment in housing within the Borough, which can be used to fund up to 
40% of the costs of additional stock 

 
7.2  With rising house prices, this has led to a reduction of stock over the past 5 

years as follows:- 

 2016/2017 - 32 

 2017/2018 - 25 

 2018/2019 - 21 

 2019/2020 - 30 

 2020/2021 - 24 

Page 334



7.3  The Council currently has £2,182,452 set aside from Right to Buy (RTB) 
receipts, which has a deadline on spending as set out in the table below (the 
deadlines have recently been extended in light of Covid-19):- 

Spent By RTB Receipt 
(£) 

Capital Spend 
Required  

(£) 

Mar-23 476,691 1,191,728 

Mar-24 374,438 936,096 

Mar-25 925,857 2,314,643 

Mar-26 405,465 1,013,662 

TOTAL 2,182,452 5,456,129 

 
7.4  The Council has entered into an agreement (‘Reinvigorating RTB’) with 

Government to retain additional 1-4-1 capital receipts from the proceeds of 
RTB sales.  These 1-4-1 receipts are ring fenced and must be used for 
replacement homes and can only make up a maximum of 40% of the total 
scheme cost.  Any receipts not used within five years have to be repaid to 
Government with interest.    

 
7.5 The Council has more recently allocated 1-4-1 RTB receipts to third party 

housing providers as a contribution towards the provision of affordable 
housing.  However, due to the restrictions in place around usage and 
timescale, it has been extremely difficult historically to fully utilise these 
receipts and consequently, repayments have had to be made to Government. 

 
7.5 Under the terms of RTB, the Council has the right of first refusal to re-

purchase any properties sold under the scheme that are subsequently offered 
for sale within a 10 year period.  If the property is sold on within 5 years of the 
RTB purchase, part of the discount originally provide on the RTB sale is 
repayable to the Council – on a sliding scale depending on when the property 
is sold on. 

 

Discount Repayable if Property Sold 
Within: 

% 

First Year 100% 

Second Year 80% 

Third Year 60% 

Fourth Year 40% 

Fifth Year 20% 

 
8.  Purchase of Housing Stock  
 
8.1 One option to increase housing stock, but also target specific properties 

based on housing need, is to outright purchase existing properties.  
 
8.2 As stated, when an individual who has attained their property through the RTB 

scheme wishes to sell it on (within 10 years of purchase), the Council has the 
legal right of “first refusal”.  

 

Page 335



8.3 In recent months, the Council has had the right of first refusal on two 
properties, whereby the business case for doing so has been assessed and 
proven viable.  The business case has followed a process involving a number 
of services including Housing, Assets, Legal and Finance.   

 
8.4 Consequently with estimated net costs of purchase (including capital costs 

required to ensure the property is able to be let and after RTB receipts are 
applied), annual estimated revenue costs, offset by annual rental receipts, the 
purchases would make an annual net revenue contribution to the Housing 
Revenue Account (HRA). 

 
8.5 An Individual Executive Decision report has been approved for each of these 

potential purchases, which are currently going through the conveyancing 
process. 

 
8.6 Other routes to identify properties for potential purchase would be on the open 

market for sale, identification by staff whilst on site visits and bespoke 
purchasing for families with complex needs in collaboration with health 
colleagues.   

 
8.7 Going forward, to avoid any unnecessary delays and in order to be 

competitive in a fast moving housing market, the next section forms a policy 
methodology by which Council Officers will follow when dealing with potential 
property purchases.  It is proposed that this process is then delegated to 
Officers in liaison with the relevant Executive Councillors, to avoid individual 
reports having to be presented for each potential purchase.   

 
9.  Purchase of Properties – Policy Methodology 
 
9.1  In assessing the business case for a potential property purchase a number of 

factors need to be taken into account involving input from various service 
areas within the Council. 

 
9.2 The table below summaries the checklist of factors that will be considered 

when assessing the business case for a potential purchase: 
 

SERVICE 
AREA 

PURCHASE OF PROPETIES – POLICY CHECKLIST 

HOUSING  
 

o Determine if the property in an area where there is 
housing demand  

o Determine if is it the right kind of property to match 
demand 

o Confirm rent / service charges for that type of property 
o Understand occupancy status  

 has property been empty for a long period – liaise 
with Revenues 

 any enforcement action involvement – liaise with 
Environmental Health 

ASSETS 
 

o Confirm purchase price represents market value 
o Undertake initial external assessment  

Page 336



o Understand property details (year of build, type of 
property etc) 

o Undertake full internal/external assessment/surveys to 
determine any initial capital expenditure requirements 
(structural / H&S / cosmetic) / ensure valuation correct 

FINANCE 
 

o Undertaken initial financial business case based on 
property value / rental income / revenue expenditure 

o Update financial business case to include further cost 
information 

o Forecast rental income and revenue expenditure 
(repairs, Asset Management Plan spend etc) over the 
50 years including inflation provision 

o Allocate proportion of RTB receipts to purchase price / 
initial capital expenditure / legal fees 

o Calculate any RTB discount repayable from current 
owner 

o Undertake calculation to work out financial benefit/cost 
to HRA 30 year business plan to determine viability of 
purchase utilising the property purchase financial 
template. 

LEGAL 
 

o Liaise with seller solicitors on potential purchase (or 
engage third party legal support to deal with this on our 
behalf) 

o Establish offer price in liaison with Assets 
o Calculate cost of conveyancing / legal fees to 

incorporate into the business case costings 

 
9.3  If these factors indicate the property is suitable and viable and there is a 

financial business case (i.e. revenue neutral / contribution to the HRA) then an 
offer can be made. 

 
9.4 Any offer made will be in line with what the Council’s Senior Land & 

Commercial Officer (Chartered Surveyor and RICS qualified valuer) has 
determined is a reasonable purchase price after surveying the property and 
taking into account housing market conditions in the area. 

 
9.5 In order to record and evidence this decision making and maintain an audit 

trail, a proforma for each property will be completed, an example of which is at 
ANNEX A of this report.  Alongside this proforma, the financial business case 
template and inspection/survey documentation will be completed by Finance / 
Assets Officers. 

 
9.6 Internal Audit have been consulted and have provided feedback that based on 

the information contained within this report, the process proposed seems 
reasonable with the proforma requiring input from all relevant services and the 
delegated authorisation being in accordance with the Procurement Procedure 
Rules. 

 
9.7     Any decision to go ahead with a property purchase will then require formal 

sign off from an authorised officer.  Therefore, this report recommends:  

Page 337



 Delegated approval of purchasing suitable properties to the Executive 
Director (Finance & Customer Services), in liaison with the Executive 
Councillor for Housing & Licensing and Executive Councillor for 
Corporate Services & Finance, with a maximum net expenditure of 
£300,000.  

 Prior to formal appointment of the Executive Director (Finance & 
Customer Services), delegation will be to the Executive Director & 
Monitoring Officer and/or Interim Executive Director & S151 Officer 

 
9.8 It is recommended that this policy is reviewed in 12 months to ensure it is 

working effectively and to reflect on any purchases that have progressed.  
 
 

Page 338



ANNEX A 

PROFORMA FOR PURCHASE OF ADDITIONAL PROPERTY TO HRA 

 

Property Address  

Property Size  

Date Sold under RTB:   

 
HOUSING 
 

Demand for Property (area and 
property type): 

 

Likely Rental Income: £ 

Currently Tenanted YES / NO 

Other HPBC stock in area: YES / NO 

Any occupancy issues (long-term 
empty / enforcement issues etc) 

YES / NO 

Bespoke Purchase: YES / NO 

Rationale if Bespoke Purchase  

 
 

Recommendation of Housing: PROCEED  / DO NOT PROCEED 

 
ASSETS  
 

Valuation Range: £……….…….….. to  £…………………. 

Property Type / Year of build  

 

Projected Capital Cost: 

Example of works required £ 

Structural works £ 

Kitchen £ 

Bathroom £ 

Internal fixtures / fittings £ 

Outdoor Area / garden £ 

Boiler / Heating £ 

Rewiring £ 

Other (i.e. require removal of fixtures/fittings – detail in comments) £ 

TOTAL £ 

 

Is Property viable for 50 years: YES/NO 

Confirm survey / inspection documents completed
  

YES/NO 

 
      
  

Page 339



Recommendation of Assets: PROCEED  / DO NOT PROCEED 
 

 

Assets Comments: 
 

 
 

Completed by (Officer in Assets): 
 
 

 

FINANCE (output from Property Purchase financial template) 
 

 £ 

Initial Purchase cost  

Projected Capital Costs  

Other Initial Costs to re-let  

Legal Costs (Conveyancing and Stamp Duty)  

TOTAL  

RTB Repayment Discount  

RTB Offset against Purchase cost  

NET Purchase Cost  

 
Average Annual Income / Expenditure over 30 Years: 

 £ 

Rental Income  

Maintenance Costs (R&M)  

Revenue costs associated with Capital spend  

Treasury implications of net purchase cost  

Net Return on Investment  

 

OVERALL PAYBACK PERIOD (within 50 year 
life of asset)  

 

Recommendation of Finance:    PROCEED / DO NOT PROCEED   

Completed By (Officer in Finance):  
 

 

FINAL RECOMMENDATION – PROCEED WITH OFFER OF:      
 

£………………..… UP TO MAXIMUM OF £…………………… 
 
Liaison with Executive Councillor Housing & Licencing / Executive Councillor 
Corporate Services & Finance    YES / NO …………………………………………… 
 
Consulted Ward Members:  YES / NO ………………………………………………… 
 

 
Signed: ……………………………………………………. 
 

Executive Director (Finance & Customer Services) 

Page 340



  

 
HIGH PEAK BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
The Executive 

 
1 July 2021 

 

 
TITLE: 

 
Appointments to Outside Bodies 

 
EXECUTIVE COUNCILLOR: 

 
Councillor A McKeown - Council Leader 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: 

 
Linden Vernon – Senior Officer (Governance 
and Member Support) 

 
WARDS INVOLVED: 
 

 
Non-Specific 

 
 

Appendix A Attached – Outside Bodies 
 
 
1. Reason for the Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of the report is to appoint councillors to Outside Bodies. 
 
 
2. Recommendation 

2.1 That councillors be appointed to the various outside bodies, as detailed in 
Appendix A. 

 
 
3. Executive Summary 
 
3.1 The Local Government Act 2000 and subsequent regulations prescribe that 

the Executive should make appointments to all those outside bodies whose 
functions are executive functions.  All other appointments should be made by 
Council. 
 
 

4.        How this report links to Corporate Priorities  
 
4.1 Provide quality services in partnership with communities. 

 
 

5. Alternative Options 
 
5.1 Statutory guidance for authorities operating executive arrangements, states 

that the Executive should make appointments to all those outside bodies 
whose functions are executive functions.  All other appointments should be 

Page 341

Agenda Item 9



  

made by Council.  Appendix A lists the organisations for which representatives 
are appointed.   

 
 

Mark Trillo 
Executive Director (Governance & Commissioning) 

 
Web Links and 
Background Papers 

Contact details 

Appendix A – Outside Bodies Linden Vernon 
Senior Officer (Governance and Member Support) 
linden.vernon@highpeak.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 

 

Page 342



APPENDIX A

Organisation Secretary Address Tel. No. e-mail address
Frequency of 
Meetings Venue Aims of the Organisation

2021-2022  
Representative(s)

sw

East Midlands 
Councils 

Lisa Hopkins, PA to 
Stuart Young, 
Executive Director

East Midlands 
Councils, First Floor 
Office, South Annexe, 
Pera Business Park, 
Nottingham Road, 
Melton Mowbray, 
Leicestershire LE13 
0PB

01664 
502630

lisa.hopkins@emc
ouncils.gov.uk Bi-annual Melton Mowbray

The consultative forum for all 40 
local authorities in the East 
Midlands.  It represents the interest 
of local councils to national 
government and other 
organisations. Leader or Deputy Leader

LGA General 
Assembly

Local Government 
House, Smith Square, 
London, SW1P 3HZ

020 7664 
3000

memberservices@
local.gov.uk Annual London

To promote the interests of English 
& Welsh local authorities. To 
promote better local government. Leader or Deputy Leader

District Councils' 
Network

18 Smith Square, 
Westminster, London, 
SW1P 3HZ

0207 664 
3048 DCN@local.gov.uk Annual Various

The DCN strives to support the 
priorities of better lives and stronger 
economies. Leader or Deputy Leader

Local Government 
Information Unit 
(LGIU) Assembly

Debra Stanislas - 
Corporate 
Governance 
Administrator

3rd Floor, 251 
Pentonville Road, 
London, N1 9NG

0207 554 
2800 debra.stanislas@lgiAnnual London

To strengthen local democracy to 
put citizens in control of their own 
lives, communities and local 
services. Cll A. McKeown

P
age 343

mailto:lisa.hopkins@emcouncils.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.hopkins@emcouncils.gov.uk
mailto:memberservices@local.gov.uk
mailto:memberservices@local.gov.uk
mailto:DCN@local.gov.uk
mailto:debra.stanislas@lgiu.org.uk


Organisation Secretary Address Tel. No. e-mail address
Frequency of 
Meetings Venue Aims of the Organisation

2021-2022  
Representative(s)

Peak District 
Partnership Giles Dann

Derbyshire Dales 
District Council, Town 
Hall, Bank Road, 
Matlock, Derbyshire 
DE4 3NN

01629 
761211

giles.dann@derby
shiredales.gov.uk Annual Various

Focused on the delivery of an 
annual think tank and follow-
up actions Leader or Deputy Leader

Safer Communities 
Board Julia Ashbrook

Community Safety 
unit, Commissioning, 
Communities and 
Policy, DCC, County 
Hall, Matlock DE4 
3AG

01629 
536626

julia.ashbrook@de
rbyshire.gov.uk 4 per year

County Hall, 
Matlock & Police 
HQ, Ripley Cllr Todd

Glossop/Bad Vilbel 
Twinning 
Association Peter Greenhalgh

10 Edward Street
Glossop
Derbyshire
SK13 7AF 01457 

861319 n/a 8-10 per year Various
To promote & encourage links 
between the two towns. The Mayor

Buxton/Bad 
Nauheim Twinning 
Association Keith Ray Advised Advised Advised Various Various

To promote & encourage links 
between the two towns. The Mayor

Fairfield Endowed 
School Trustees Caitlin Bisknell

124 Brown Edge 
Road, Buxton, 
Derbyshire SK17 7AB

01298 
212369 / 
07983 
246912

festgrants@gmail.
com 5 per year Buxton

Grants to young people living in 
Fairfield.

Cllr Quinn (May 2019) & 
Mr M Bisknell (May 
2019)

P
age 344

mailto:giles.dann@derbyshiredales.gov.uk
mailto:giles.dann@derbyshiredales.gov.uk
mailto:julia.ashbrook@derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:julia.ashbrook@derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:festgrants@gmail.com
mailto:festgrants@gmail.com


Organisation Secretary Address Tel. No. e-mail address
Frequency of 
Meetings Venue Aims of the Organisation

2021-2022  
Representative(s)

Mary Ellen Allen 
Charity Mr T Lawton

8 Spinney Close, 
Glossop, SK13 7BR

0793275069
3

tony@tlawton.co.u
k

minimum of 2 
per year

Municipal Buildings, 
Glossop Relief of hardship for elderly people.

Cllrs Oakley & J 
Wharmby (elected 2019 
to 2023) and The Mayor 
as ex-officio

High Peak 
Community and 
Voluntary Support James Bromley

Dunbar House, 105 
Buxton Road, Whaley 
Bridge, High Peak 
SK23 7HX

01663 
735350

james@highpeakc
vs.org.uk 6 per year

High Peak CVS, 
Whaley Bridge

p p y q y  
community/voluntary sector in High 
Peak.  Establish/nurture effective 
working relationships between and 
within sectors. Provide services to 
meet needs of community and 
voluntary sector within High Peak.  
Develop confident, effective 
voluntary/community groups able to 
influence local development.  Create 
secure & effective CVS in line with 
member needs.  Support 
voluntary/community sector to be 
influential & equal partner within 
partnerships relevant to High Peak. Cllr Todd

Connex Community 
Support Gill Geddes

16 Eagle Parade, 
Buxton, SK17 6EQ 01298 23970

gill@connex.org.u
k Quarterly

Buxton or 
Ashbourne

Provide support services to the 
people and communities of the 
Derbyshire Dales and High Peak, 
making lives happier, healthier and 
more fulfilled. Cllr Savage

The Bureau
Sophie Glinka Chief 
Officer

Bank House, 22 Henry 
Street, Glossop. SK13 
8BW

01457 
865722

sophie@the-
bureau.org.uk 6 per year

Bank House, 22 
Henry Street, 
Glossop. SK13 
8BW

To identify and link together 
community needs and solutions to 
enable people to live independently 
and improve the quality of life for 
local communities Cllr Baker

P
age 345

mailto:tony@tlawton.co.uk
mailto:tony@tlawton.co.uk
mailto:james@highpeakcvs.org.uk
mailto:james@highpeakcvs.org.uk
mailto:gill@connex.org.uk
mailto:gill@connex.org.uk
mailto:sophie@the-bureau.org.uk
mailto:sophie@the-bureau.org.uk


Organisation Secretary Address Tel. No. e-mail address
Frequency of 
Meetings Venue Aims of the Organisation

2021-2022  
Representative(s)

New Mills & District 
Volunteer Centre

Beverley Jenkinson 
Company Secretary 
and Centre 
Manager

c/o 33/35 Union Road, 
New Mills, SK22 3EL

01663 
744196 mail@nmvc.org Bi-monthly

33/35 Union Road, 
New Mills

The provision of a wide range of 
essential frontline preventative 
services Cllr Ashton

Tintwistle 
Community Centre 
Committee Ms B M Lowrie

Tintwistle Parish 
Council, Village Hall, 
Sexton Street, 
Tintwistle, SK13 1JN

tpcounciloffices@a
ol.com

meets 
infrequently as 
and when 
required.

Village Hall, Sexton 
Street, Tintwistle Cllr Baker

High Peak 
Community Safety 
Partnership 
Strategy Group David Smith

Buxton Town Hall, 
Market Place, Buxton 
SK17 6EL

01298 28400 
ex. 4165

david.smith@high
peak.gov.uk Quarterly Various

Improve the delivery of crime 
reduction initiatives & activities 
across the district of High Peak. Cllr Todd

Active Derbyshire Active Derbyshire

Active Partners Trust, 
Ofice 206, Cubo Derby 
The Old Post Office, 
Victorial Street, Derby 
DE1 1EQ

01773 
748907

info@activederbys
hire.org.uk

To work together through sport to 
improve the quality of life for the 
people of Derbyshire. Cllr Quinn

Whaley Bridge 
Sports Association Allison Lugg

Mechanics Institute, 
Market Street, Whaley 
Bridge, SK23 7AA

01663 
733068

sportsbookings@w
haleybridge.com 2 per year

Sports Pavilion, 
Park Road, Whaley 
Bridge

To manage the Sports Pavilion and 
the floodlit Multi Use Games Area.

Cllr Shannon-Kate 
Thomson

Chapel Mobile 
Physiotherapy 
Services Sandra Higgins

3 Church Brow, 
Chapel en le Frith, 
High Peak SK23 oEU

07932 
073234

ChapelMobilePhysi
o@outlook.com Bi-monthly TBC

To provide free physiotherapy 
treatment to patients in their own 
home. Cllrs Sizeland & Young

Tameside & 
Glossop Integrated 
Care NHS 
Foundation Trust

Mr Steve Parsons, 
Company Secretary

 Tameside General 
Hospital, Fountain 
Street, Ashton-under-
lyne, OL6 9RW

0161 922 
6007

Steve.Parsons@tg
h.nhs.uk Quarterly

Werneth House, 
Tamesdie General 
Hospital Cllr A McKeown

P
age 346

mailto:mail@nmvc.org
mailto:tpcounciloffices@aol.com
mailto:tpcounciloffices@aol.com
mailto:david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:david.smith@highpeak.gov.uk
mailto:info@activederbyshire.org.uk
mailto:info@activederbyshire.org.uk
mailto:sportsbookings@whaleybridge.com
mailto:sportsbookings@whaleybridge.com
mailto:ChapelMobilePhysio@outlook.com
mailto:ChapelMobilePhysio@outlook.com
mailto:Steve.Parsons@tgh.nhs.uk
mailto:Steve.Parsons@tgh.nhs.uk


Organisation Secretary Address Tel. No. e-mail address
Frequency of 
Meetings Venue Aims of the Organisation

2021-2022  
Representative(s)

High Peak Place 
Alliance

Amy Busby – 
Place Officer or 
Jonathan Wardle 
– Place Manager

Scarsdale Hospital, 
Nightingale Close, 
Off Newbold Road, 
Chesterfield S41 
7PF

07584 
008999

jonathan.wardle@
nhs.net. 
Amy.busby@nhs.n
et Monthly MS Teams

1. Ageing Well Agenda - Integrated 
Care, Enhanced Health in Care 
Homes and Community Urgent 
Repsone / Team Up! 2. Mental 
Health, 3. Community Resilience

Age Concern 
Glossop & District

Joyce Brocklehurst, 
Secretary

Bradbury Community 
House, Market Street,, 
Glossop SK13 8AR

joyce@glossopage
concern.org.uk Monthly

Bradbury 
Community House, 
Market Street, 
Glossop

To improve later life for everyone 
through our information and advice, 
campaigns, products, training and 
research.

Cllr Oakley

Glossop Heritage 
Trust Tony Wright (Chair)

c/o Aspinall Wright, 65 
High Street West, 
Glossop, SK13 8AZ

01457 
854645

aw@awandco.co.u
k bi-monthly

To show the way in which the town, 
its setting & its people have 
developed in the known ten 
thousand years of its history, so that 
both residents & visitors are 
encouraged to gain a better 
understanding of its unique 
character & tradition. Cllr Oakley

High Peak Theatre 
Trust Limited Susanne Howe

Head of Finance, High 
Peak Theatre Trust 
Limited, Water Strreet, 
Buxton SK17 6XN 01298 72050

showe@boh.org.u
k 4/5 per year No6 The S No6 The Square Cllr Savage

Trans Pennine Trail
Mandy Loach, TPT 
Officer

P.O. Box 597, 
Barnsley, S70 9EW

info@transpennine
trail.org.uk Annually

Rota between 
partner authorities

A coast to coast multi-user trail. The 
TPT partnership continues to 
promote and seek the further 
development of the trail. Cllr Gardner

Vision Buxton Martin Wragg

c/o Brooke-Taylors 
Solicitors, 4 The 
Quadrant, Buxton 
Sk17 6AW

administrator@visi
onbuxton.co.uk Various Various Cllr Todd

P
age 347

mailto:joyce@glossopageconcern.org.uk
mailto:joyce@glossopageconcern.org.uk
mailto:aw@awandco.co.uk
mailto:aw@awandco.co.uk
mailto:showe@boh.org.uk
mailto:showe@boh.org.uk
mailto:info@transpenninetrail.org.uk
mailto:info@transpenninetrail.org.uk
mailto:administrator@visionbuxton.co.uk
mailto:administrator@visionbuxton.co.uk


Organisation Secretary Address Tel. No. e-mail address
Frequency of 
Meetings Venue Aims of the Organisation

2021-2022  
Representative(s)

Derbyshire Rural 
and Farming 
Network (Formerly 
known as Peak 
District Rural 
Forum)

Mrs Amanda 
Brown, DEP Co-
ordinator

Derbyshire County 
Council, Room 78, 
County Hall, Smedley 
Street, Matlock, DE4 
3AG/

01629 
533190

amanda.brown2@
derbyshire.gov.uk six-monthly various

To stimulate economic development 
& regeneration activity in the Peak 
District and responsible for 
economic activity in the area on 
behalf of the Derbyshire Dales & 
High Peak LSP. Cllr Greenhalgh

Visit Peak District & 
Derbyshire 

Ms Lindsay Rae, 
Marketing Peak 
District and 
Derbyshire

Commerce House, 
Millennium Way, 
Chesterfield S41 8ND

01246 
212924 lindsay.rae@marke Quarterly, plus so    Bakewell

To deliver a range of tourism 
services in agreement with the Peak 
District & Derbyshire Destination 
Management Partnership. Cllr Greenhalgh

High Peak and 
Hope Valley 
Community Rail 
Partnership

Catherine Croney 
/ Helen Wright

c/o Derbyshire 
County Council, 
County Hall, 
Matlock, DE4 3AG

01629 
538093

catherine.croney@
derbyshire.gov.uk Quarterly Various

To address the rail transport 
needs of people living in the 
Partnership's area Cllr A McKeown

Buxton Crescent 
Heritage Trust

TBC

The University of 
Derby
1 Devonshire Road
Buxton
SK17 6RY

01298 33844

ceo@buxtoncresc
enttrust.org

Various
The Devonshire 
Dome, Buxton

To promote for the benefit of the 
public the conservation, protection 
and improvement of the physical 
and natural environment 
comprising the Buxton Crescent & 
Thermal Spa Cllr Todd

P
age 348

mailto:amanda.brown2@derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:amanda.brown2@derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:lindsay.rae@marketingpdd.com
mailto:catherine.croney@derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:catherine.croney@derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:ceo@buxtoncrescenttrust.org
mailto:ceo@buxtoncrescenttrust.org


Document is Restricted

Page 349

Agenda Item 11
By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 3, 4, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 355

Agenda Item 12
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 365

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 367

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 To approve the minutes of the previous meeting
	4 Climate Change Plan (Part 1)
	Appendix 1
	Contents
	Introduction
	Background
	The Paris Agreement
	UK commitment
	High Peak - Declaring a climate emergency
	High Peak - Current emissions profile
	Carbon budget
	Mapping the emissions of High Peak Borough Council
	Initial activity
	HPBC plan - 2021/22
	HPBC Emissions - council offices
	HPBC Emissions - other buildings
	HPBC Emissions - vehicles/travel
	HPBC Emissions - procurement
	HPBC Emissions - operations
	HPBC Emissions - enabling
	Budget
	Tackling greenhouse gas emissions across the Borough - 
towards the climate change action plan part 2


	5 Parks Strategy
	Appendix 1 - HPBC Parks Strategy Final
	Appendix 2 Howard Park Management Plan 2021 - 2031 draft
	Appendix 2 Manor Park Management Plan 2021 - 2031 draft
	Appendix 2 Memorial Park Management Plan 2021 - 2031 draft
	Appendix 2 Pavilion Gardens and Serpentine Walks Management Plan 2020 - 2030 draft LV
	Appendix 3 - Parks Strategy Consultation Summary
	Appendix 4 - Howard Park Consultation Response
	Appendix 4 - Manor Park Consultation Response
	Appendix 4 - Pavilion Gardens and Serpentine Walks Consulation Response
	Appendix 4 -Memorial Park Consultation Response
	Appendix 6 - Neighbourhood Parks and Green Spaces
	Sheet1


	6 Community Safety Partnership Review and Refreshed Community Safety Strategy
	Appendix A
	Our Vision
	Who are we?

	Our Plan
	What do we need to do?
	Our Priorities
	National drivers
	Countywide drivers
	Our Priorities for High Peak


	How will we do it?
	PREVENT 
	REDUCE
	SUPPORT


	How will we work together?
	How will you know that we’ve done what we set out to do?
	What do we need to deliver our plan?

	Our Promise
	Planning what we do
	Taking action
	Reporting
back to you


	Our Actions (2021 to 2022)
	Key Area 1: Reducing Crime and Improving Safety
	Key Area 2: Reduce disorder including anti-social behaviour and other behaviour that affects the local environment
	Priority 4: Anti-social behaviour
	Key Area 3: Combat the misuse of drugs, alcohol, and other substances
	Key Area 4: Preventing re-offending
	Key Area 5: Cross-cutting issues



	Appendix B

	7 Working in Partnership to Deliver Aim 1 of the Corporate Plan
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C

	8 Purchase of Additional Stock to the HRA
	9 Appointments to Outside Bodies
	Appendix A
	Sheet1


	11 To approve the exempt minutes of the previous meeting
	12 Glossop Town Hall Complex Update
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2


